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Part Three: Retaliations, Conquest and Revenge 
 

The Brigade Headquarters decided to raze Koniuchy to 

the ground to set an example to others. One evening a 

hundred and twenty of the best partisans é set out in 

the direction of the village. There were about 50 Jews 

among them é The order was not to leave any one alive 

é With torches prepared in advance, the partisans  

burned the houses, stables, and granaries, while opening 

heavy fire on the houses. é The mission was completed 

within a short while. Sixty households, numbering about 

300 people, were destroyed, with no survivors. 

Chaim Lazar 

 

Immediately after the return of the Red Army to 

Lithuania, there was very close collaboration between 

the Jews and the Soviets, considered by the Holocaust 

survivors as their savior. Moscow trusted the Jewish 

survivors more than those who had been anti- 

Communists before the war; more than the Lithuanians 

who were Communists in the past but behaved in 

a doubtful way under the Nazis.  

Aba Gefen 

 

 

German Measures to Curtail Contacts and Poison Relations Between Poles and Jews 

   The notion that Poles treated Jews with endemic hostility and took every opportunity to strike at them for 

racial or religious reasons is a stereotype, promoted by ethnonationalists, that has little basis in fact. By and 

large, relations between Jews and Poles in the countryside had traditionally been peaceful and were not 

marred by the type of incidents that occurred from time to time in cities and towns. As numerous German 

reports and Jewish testimonies confirm, this relatively favourable situation prevailed in the 

Generalgouvernement during the first years of the occupation. It is to this initial period of the German 

occupation of Poland that the rescue of Jews in Western Europe should be compared,
1
 if at all, and certainly 

                                                           
1 There were no specific laws penalizing non-Jews who helped Jews in German-occupied France, Belgium, Denmark or 

Italy. Therefore, the risk of punishment was negligible, as arbitrary acts carried out by the Germans beyond legislative 

norms for such activities were rare. In the Netherlands, where conditions were the harshest, if Gentiles who helped 

Jews were punished, usually short-term (up to six months) ñprotective custodyò was imposed only severe cases, such 

defiance of orders by policemen, were sent to concentration camps. (On May 9, 1943, 1,604 Gentiles were incarcerated 

for helping Jews; slightly more than a year later, the number had increased to 1,997.) In many cases, however, those 

who were caught harbouring Jews, even repeatedly, were left at liberty. A substantial portion of the rescue activities in 

France, Belgium and the Netherlands was paid, in other words, the Jews themselves had to absorb the costs of those 

services. In Belgium, for example, the Jewish self-help organization Comit® de D®fense des Juifs raised huge sums of 

money, most of it from individual Jews and Jewish groups, and paid thousands of rescuers generous monthly stipends 

of 300ï500 Belgian francs per charge. Only very small numbers of people were actively engaged in helping Jews and 

not the population at large. (The population of the Netherlands around nine million in 1942, and that of Belgium was 

around 8,400,000 in 1939.) The notion that rescue was a socially acceptable norm in Western Europe is simply belied 

by many factors. The extent of denunciations and betrayal was significant. Of the estimated 28,000 Jews who tried to 

evade capture in the Netherlands, at least 12,000 were caught, most of them betrayed or hunted down by Dutch 

collaborators. (While the number of Jewish survivors, approximately 16,000, is known, the number of Jews who went 

into hiding and those who were caught could have been several thousand higher in each category.) Of the 30,000 Jews 
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who hid inside Belgium after the deportations, 8,240 were arrested, again largely because of denunciations. The Dutch 

police, like the French police, played a central role in the deportation of Jews. This was especially true in the smaller 

cities and villages, where the German police were usually not involved in the deportations. As in Paris, ninety percent 

of the Amsterdam police reportedly cooperated with the round-ups, and a German occupation official (Lages, head of 

the Security Police and SD in Amsterdam) proclaimed after the war that without the Dutch police ñit would have been 

practically impossible to seize even ten percent of Dutch Jewry.ò See Marnix Croes, ñThe Holocaust in the Netherlands 

and the Rate of Jewish Survival,ò Holocaust and Genocide Studies, vol. 20, no. 3 (Winter 2006): 474ï99; Bob Moore, 

Victims and Survivors: The Nazi Persecution of the Jews in the Netherlands 1940ï1945 (London: Arnold; New York: 

St. Martinôs, 1997); Bob Moore, Survivors: Jewish Self-Help and Rescue in Nazi-Occupied Western Europe (Oxford 

and New York: Oxford University Press, 2010), chapters 5ï13, passim; Pim Griffioen and Ron Zeller, ñAnti-Jewish 

Policy and Organization of the Deportations in France and the Netherlands, 1940ï1944: A Comparative Study,ò 

Holocaust and Genocide Studies, vol. 20, no. 3 (Winter 2006): 437ï73. Conditions in Norway, with a population of 3 

million in 1942 including about 1,800 Jews, was also very precarious. Hundreds of Norwegian police took part in raids 

to capture Jews in the fall of 1942, thus ensuring their deportation to the German death camps. (Of the 761 Jews who 

were deported, only 24 returned.) The survival of the Jews depended on their ability to reach neighbouring neutral 

Sweden (about 1,000 succeeeded in doing so, two were killed and robbed by smugglers), and the smuggling services 

provided by Norwegians couriers were usually paid for by the Jews themselves. Only about forty Jews actually 

survived in hiding inside the country. See Raul Hilberg, The Destruction of the European Jews, Third edition (New 

Haven and London: Yale University Press, 2003), vol. 2, 584ï89; Saul S. Friedman, A History of the Holocaust 

(London and Portland, Oregon: Vallentine Mitchell, 2004), 327ï29; Moore, Survivors, chapter 4. In the German-

occupied British Channel Islands, which was home to only a handful of Jews, local officials even registered individuals 

who were not legally speaking Jewish, and then handed them over to the Gestapo. Most of these Jews later died in 

concentration or death camps. According to one important study, ñhigh-ranking government, police and bureaucratic 

officials in Jersey and Guernsey participated wholeheartedly and almost without question in the persecution of resident 

Jews and in the programme of Aryanization aimed at the exclusion of Jewish economic and business interests. They did 

not protest. They did not invoke underlying principles of British justice or of basic humanity. Instead they not only 

complied with German commands, but they frequently took the initiative in seeking out Jewish individuals or Jewish 

businesses for the sole purpose of applying Nazi legalized anti-Semitism as fully as possible. é The entire legal, police 

and bureaucratic machinery of the Channel Islands actively assisted in the implementation of Nazi anti-Semitic legal 

norms and practices.ò See David Fraser, The Jews of the Channel Islands and the Rule of Law, 1940ï1945: óQuite 

contrary to the principles of British justiceô (Brighton and Portland: Sussex Academic Press, 2000). 

   Comparisons to Denmark, which even by Western European experiences was entirely exceptional, are virtually 

meaningless. Denmark, a country of 3,900,000 in 1942 including 7,800 Jews, was Nazi Germanyôs ñmodel 

protectorate.ò Denmark surrendered without virtually any resistance, cooperated fully with the invaders, and raised 

6,000 recruits for the Wadden-SS to support the German war effort. Following the invasion, Denmark was occupied by 

a single German infantry division and even that division was withdrawn in May 1940 to participate in the campaign 

against France and the Low Countries. Allowed to retain its king, ministry, parliament, political parties, army, and 

police forces, Denmark was supervised by eighty-five German civilian officials and an additional 130 employees. The 

Germans interfered very little in its internal affairs, and remarkably the standard of living actually improved during the 

war. Damage to property and loss of lives was minimal (perhaps several thousand civilians were killed during the entire 

war), so unlike what the citizens of unoccupied Britain endured. Until the fall of 1943 Danish Jews were unmolested. 

The much lauded evacuation of the Jewish population was in fact orchestrated by the Germans and posed virtually no 

risk for the Danes who took part in the operation. SS general Dr. Werner Best, the German in charge in Denmark, gave 

a free hand to Georg Ferdinand Duckwitz, the martime attach® at the German embassy in Copenhagen, to do whatever 

was necessary to derail the planned deportation of the Jews. Duckwitz flew to Sweden, where he secretly met with 

President Per Albin Hannson, who assured him that, should the action against the Danish Jews take place, Sweden 

would in principle be ready to admit them. When the round-up of Jews was about to begin, Duckwitz made his way 

back to Sweden to alert the Swedish government to be ready to admit the fleeing Jews. The local German naval 

command warned the Danish underground of the impending fate of the Jews, disabled the German harbour patrol, and 

turned a blind eye to the rescue operation. The Jews who were transported to Sweden by Danish boatmen were allowed 

entry. Since the rescue operation took place with the collusion of the local German naval command, there were no 

casualties either among the Jews or among the boatmen. No Dane faced punishment from the Germans for taking part 

in this operation. While many Danes provided Jews with short-term assistance until they could make arrangements to 

leave Denmark, the Jews were expected to pay for their transportation out of the country. During the initial stages of 

the rescue operation, only well-to-do Danish Jews could afford the short passage to Sweden. Private boatmen (mostly 

fishermen) set their own price and the costs were prohibitive, ranging from 1,000 to 10,000 kroner per person ($160 to 

$1600 U.S. in the currency of that period). The boat owners considered these hefty payments as a form of guarantee of 

indemnity for any loss of or damage to their boats. Afterwards, when organized Danish rescue groups stepped in to 

coordinate the flight and to collect funds, the average price per person fell to 2,000 and then 500 kroner. The total cost 

of the rescue operation was about 12 million kroner, of which the Jews paid about 7 million kroner, including a 

750,000 kroner loan which the Jews had to repay after the war. See Raul Hilberg, The Destruction of the European 
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not to later periods when the Germans imposed a death penalty in Poland for any assistance rendered to 

Jews. 

   During the first eastward flights of Jews in September 1939, tens of thousands of Christians took them in 

and fed them without charge.
2
 A Jewish doctor, who was part of a group of Jewish refugees from Ğ·dŦ, 

recalled: ñThe peasants let us sleep in their barns, and by and large were fairly well disposed toward us.ò
3
 A 

similar situation prevailed when Jews fled to the countryside by the thousands to escape executions and 

                                                                                                                                                                             
Jews, Third edition (New Haven and London: Yale University Press, 2003), vol. 2, 589ï99; Gunnar S. Paulsson, ñThe 

óBridge over the Ïresundô: The Historiography on the Expulsion of the Jews from Nazi-Occupied Denmark,ò Journal 

of Contemporary History, vol. 30 (1995): 431ï64; Deb·rah Dwork and Robert Jan van Pelt, Holocaust: A History 

(New York and London: W.W. Norton & Company, 2002), 153; Mordecai Paldiel, The Righteous Among the Nations 

(Jerusalem: Yad Vashem; New York: Collins, 2007), 105ï109; Leni Yahil, The Rescue of Danish Jewry: Test of a 

Democracy (Philadelphia: Jewish Publication Society of America, 1969), 261ï65, 269. Many Jews trying to leave 

Denmark were turned back by greedy Danish boatmen in the initial stages, and anti-Jewish comments were heard 

frequently in Denmark at that time. Not only were Danish fishermen not prepared to risk their lives, they were also not 

prepared to risk their boats. A member of the Danish resistance explains why the entire undertaking was so costly: 

ñAnother member of the group, a girl, knew a fisherman who had moved his boat to Copenhagen and she went down to 

see him and asked him if he would approach his colleagues and try to help because we wanted boats to transport the 

Jews across the Sound. His answer was yes, but we would have to guarantee new boats in case we were caught by the 

police or the Germans and lose the boats.ò See See Emily Taitz, ed., Holocaust Survivors (Westport, Connecticut and 

London: Greenwood Press, 2007), vol. 1, 181, 216ï17; Smith, Forgotten Voices of the Holocaust, 196. That the 

boatmen were gouging the Jews is beyond question: Jewish organizations were able to bring Bundists fleeing from the 

Soviet Union in 1940, from Wilno (Vilnius) to the United States via Vladivostok and Yokohama, for $518 US per 

person. See Daniel Blatman, For Our Freedom and Yours: The Jewish Labour Bund in Poland, 1939ï1949 (London 

and Portland, Oregon: Vallentine Mitchell, 2003), 28. As Sofie Lene Bakôs Nothing to Speak of: Wartime Experiences 

of the Danish Jews 1943ï1945 (Copenhagen: Danish Jewish Museum, 2011) makes clear, ñit can no longer be ignored 

that money was the hinge on which the whole escape apparatus turned.ò Money was needed to organize the fishermen 

and their boats and ensure there were enough of them. The price was based on supply and demand. Some fishermen 

earned a fortune at the Jewsô expense. The average price was 1,000 kroner per person. There were some payments of 

50,000 kroner, but an average of 10,000 kroner for a family of four people. The monthly wage for a skilled worker in 

1943 was 414 kroner. However, in the case of Denmark, charging these exorbitant amounts has been justified. We are 

told that the demands for payment must be viewed in relation the danger of the crossing, the risks of losing their boats, 

which would bring a loss of earnings, and the ability to support their families, as well as the possibilities of arrest. 

However, there were no Germans policing the strait between Denmark and Sweden during October 1943, and not a 

single boat with Jewish refugees was captured at sea by the Germans. Although the hunt for Jews who remained behind 

after the evacuation lasted only three weeks and was not carried out with any severity, some 120 Danish Jews were 

betrayed. Some 60ï70 Jews who had taken refuge in the loft of the Gilleleje church were captured by the Germans after 

being tipped off by Danish informants. Only about 100 Jews survived in hiding with the local population inside 

Denmark. According to historian Vilhjalmur ¥rn Vilhjalmsson of the Danish Center for Holocaust and Genocide 

Studies, Danish officials voluntarily handed over at least 132 Jews to the Germans between 1940 and 1944 and later 

tried to alter documents to make it look as if they had acted under German orders. (Those same officials rose to 

prominent positions in the police force and the legal system after the war.) On their return to Denmark after the war, 

many Jews found that their property and belongings had been sold to finance their rescue and met with ill-feeling and 

opposition from Danes who had taken over Jewish businesses. See Poul Borschenius, The History of the Jews (New 

York: Simon and Schuster, 1956), vol. 5, 57.  
2 See, for example, Ruta Sakowska, ed., Archiwum Ringelbluma: Konspiracyjne Archiwum Getta Warszawskiego, vol. 

2: Dzieciðtajne nauczanie w getcie warszawskim (Warsaw: ŧydowski Instytut Historyczny IN-B, 2000), 46; Havi 

Ben-Sasson, ñPolish-Jewish Relations during the Holocaust: A Changing Jewish Viewpoint,ò in Robert Cherry and 

Annamaria Orla-Bukowska, eds., Rethinking Poles and Jews: Troubled Past, Brighter Future (Lanham, Maryland: 

Rowman & Littlefield, 2007), 89ï97. Ben-Sasson points out that the initial more objective portrayal of Poles in 

Holocaust accounts later gave way to negative stereotypes. 

 
3 Edward Reicher, Country of Ash: A Jewish Doctor in Poland, 1939ï1945 (New York: Bellevue Literary Press, 2013), 

30. 
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round-ups in later months.
4
 One member of a group of four young Jewish men who set out from Ostroğňka 

westward towards ĞomŨa, ultimately in vain, recalled: 

 

In order to hide from the Germans, we went through the Czerwoni-Bor [Czerwony B·r] Forest. In 

the forest, we met many escaping soldiers. We saw corpses of people and horses lying everywhere, 

and heard the croaking of the ravens swooping down over our heads. 

   In the afternoon, we reached the village of Puchala [Puchağy]. We stayed with a farmer woman, 

who was alone in her house because her husband had been drafted into the army. She was glad to 

put us up for the night. She cooked potatoes with onions for us. She knew that we were Jews and, 

therefore, did not serve us pork. é [we] left, but got stuck at the other end of the village. The 

farmers advised us not to leave, because the Germans were attacking in the vicinity. A goodhearted 

farmer let us in to his granary. We stayed there that night, during which the thunder of the bombing 

and shelling of the area did not stop. In the morning, we learned that the nearby village of Gac 

[Gaĺ] was shelled during the night and that many people were injured or killed, among them Jews 

who had fled Lomza [ĞomŨa] because of the bombing.5 

 

Irena Bakowska, then a teenager, was part of a group of six Jews smuggled out of Warsaw to the 

countryside: 

 

We entered into a single train compartment occupied already by the Christian Poles é We were 

greeted in a friendly manner, and the man sitting by himself moved over and sat with his four 

companions. é The conductor, a Christian Pole, entered the compartment to check the tickets. é we 

uncovered our armbands to identify ourselves. I watched the reaction of the Christian Polish 

passengers with great apprehension. ... But the attitude of the Christian passengers was sympathetic 

and not at all hostile. They started talking with us, and urged us to throw away our armbands and our 

Jewish identity. é Those five people seemed truly to care about my survival, repeating over and over 

again that I could be saved and survive as a Pole. They persuaded me that all Poles did not hate us, 

did not wish us to perish.ò6 

 

                                                           
4 When Jewish men were ordered by the Germans to report in Cheğm, ñA few hundred Jews left for the surrounding 

shtetlekh and villages in order to hear from afar what the Germans had done with the Jews at the market. Hundreds of 

Jews hid with Christian acquaintances, or hid in closed up cellars, in stalls and did not appear at the market on the 1st of 

December [1939].ò See Lazar Kahan, ñThe Slaughter of the Jews in Chelm,ò in M. Bakalczuk, ed., Commemoration 

Book Chelm, Internet: <http://www.jewishgen.org/yizkor/chelm/chelm.html>, translation of Yisker-bukh Chelm 

(Johannesburg: Former Residents of Chelm, 1954), 508. When the Germans carried out round-ups of Jews in Tarğ·w 

near Ostrowiec świňtokrzyski, ñfew were successful. Usually, by the time the Germans were able to surround the 

village, local Jews had run into the fields or hid with their Polish neighbors.ò See Dean, Encyclopedia of Camps and 

Ghettos, 1933ï1945, vol. 2, Part A, 334. 

 
5 Yehuda Chamiel, ñOn the Brink of the Holocaust,ò in Yitzchak Ivri, ed., Book of Kehilat Ostrolenka: Yizkor Book of 

the Jewish Community of Ostrolenka (Tel Aviv: Irgun Yotzei Ostrolenka in Israel, 2009), 341. 

 
6 Irena Bakowska, Not All Was Lost: A Young Womanôs Memoir, 1939ï1946 (Kingston, Ontario: Karijan, 1998), 142ï

44. 
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Such spontaneous assistance and concern extended to complete strangers should not be taken for granted. 

Jews expelled to Warsaw from the small surrounding towns left scathing reports regarding their shameful 

treatment by the Jewish population of Warsaw.
7
 Similar reports can be found about Jews in other cities who 

were unwilling to help fellow Jews on the run.
8
 (Christians in Western Europe did not encounter large 

groups of Jews going door-to-door begging for food on a regular basis, so their track record is unproven.) 

   Jews who were forced to leave their homes often had to survive by turning to Christians for support. A 

Jew who was expelled from his hometown of Wilczyn near Inowrocğaw in March 1940 recalled how 

bartering soon gave way to begging from impoverished Poles as Jews ventured into the countryside. 

 

The wagons traveled in a single file in one long xcolumn, a peculiar sight to the Poles who stood in 

the streets of the villages we passed, curiously watching this endless wagon train go by. After 

traveling about thirty miles, we came to the small to the small city of Zag·r·w, which the Germans 

renamed Hinterberg é From the square we were taken to homes previously inhabited by Polish 

families. Some were empty, but some were still occupied. My family was taken with three other 

families and put into a two-room house. é the Germans had gathered about two thousand of us 

from cities across the regionðincluding Wilczyn, Kleczew, Mogilno, Slesin [ślesin] and Golinað

and squeezed us into this ghetto. We were told we could live here é but we were not to leave the 

city boundaries. é 

   Families were given food for a week, maybe two. In order to get more, we had to go into town 

and barter with the Polish people. And so we did. At times we fought among ourselves, stealing 

food from each other in order to eat. The few valuables we brought é we sold to the Polish people. 

When we had nothing left to trade, we were forced to beg and steal.  

   By November 1940, we were starving, and my father decided to risk leaving the ghetto to find 

food. He hired a Polish man with a horse and wagon to take him to the countryside around Wilczyn, 

where he had Polish friends. I often accompanied him, going door to door, asking for food, and we 

felt like beggars, stripped of our dignity. We gladly took what they gave usða few loaves of bread, 

a few pounds of rice and potatoes. 

                                                           
7 Magdalena Siek, ed., Archiwum Ringelbluma: Konspiracyjne Archiwum Getta Warszawskiego, vol. 8: Tereny 

wcielone do Rzeszy: Okrňg Rzeszy GdaŒsk-Prusy Zachodnie, rejencja ciechanowska, G·rny ślŃsk (Warsaw: ŧydowski 

Instytut Historyczny im. Emanuela Ringelbluma, 2012), 56ï57, 212; Magdalena Siek, ed., Archiwum Ringelbluma: 

Konspiracyjne Archiwum Getta Warszawskiego, vol. 9: Tereny wcielone do Rzeszy: Kraj Warty (Warsaw: ŧydowski 

Instytut Historyczny im. Emanuela Ringelbluma, 2012), 44. On the other hand, many reports attest to the helpfulness of 

Jews in small towns and of Polish villagers. 

 
8 After escaping from the Janowska concentration camp in December 1941 and making his way back to the ghetto in 

Lw·w, William Koenig went from place to place in the ghetto trying to find a place to spend the night. People were 

afraid to take him in. He was fortunate enough to find a cousin of his motherôs who took him in even though it would 

mean great danger for him. See the Oral History Interview with William Koenig, dated November 10, 1987, Phoenix 

Holocaust Survivorsô Association in affiliation with the Cline Library of Northern Arizona University, Internet: 

<http://collections.ushmm.org/oh_findingaids/RG-50.060.0026_sum_en.pdf>.  
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   I will never forget one miserable, cold and rainy day, trudging through the slush and snow on our 

way back to Zag·r·w. é We brought back enough food to feed the family for a couple of weeks, 

We were taking a great risk by leaving Zag·r·w. We would have been shot if they had caught us.9 

 

After being sent to a labour camp on RŃbinek, the food quests continued. However, fewer and fewer Jews 

risked venturing and Poles became more reluctant to extend help because of the harsh retaliations meted 

out by the Germans. But no one turned the Jewish beggars over to the Germans. 

 

The SS lived in a nearby city and went home at night. Once we realized this, we came up with a 

scheme to bring in more food. é Every night two boys would sneak out, head off in the direction of 

MŃtwy, knock on doors and beg for food. é In the beginning, things went well. The people were 

shocked to see usðstarving, dirty boys at their doors and they were generous, offering potatoes, a 

little meat, whatever they had. For many weeks, we gathered scraps of food and shared it. But the 

Polish people began learning about the campôs existence and they were suddenly afraid they would 

be caught. Many no longer gave us food, but we didnôt give up. We kept at it until we found a kind 

soul here or there who would risk helping us. é 

   One night I was chosen to go with a boy I had known from the Zag·r·w Ghetto é We knocked 

on doors, and most people said no or were too afraid to come to the door. A few actually started 

kissing us and calling is poor dears and lost souls. It was a good nightðwe had a nice bundle of 

food from about fifteen homes and we wanted to get back and divvy it up.10 

 

   Up until at least 1942, when the Germans started to enforce with more frequency the death penalty for 

assisting Jews, thousands of Jews found temporary refuge with Polish farmers and were often employed as 

farmhands. Thousands of Jews, very often children, went begging door-to-door and received handouts of 

food from Poles.
11

 After escaping from the Warsaw ghetto in July 1941, without interference from the 

Polish police standing guard outside the ghetto walls, 10-year-old Szlama Jakubowicz and his older brother 

made their way to their hometown of Sochaczew. Along the way, they received assistance from a number 

of farmers whom they turned to for food and lodging. They were greeted warmly by their former 

neighbours in Sochaczew, and then wandered in the vicinity begging for handouts from farmers until they 

found jobs as farmhands on two different farms. Several other Jewish boys were working as farmhands in 

that particular village. They remained there until May 1943, when Szlamaôs brother was apprehended by 

the Germans and executed. Frightened by what happened, Szlama was told to leave for a distant village 

where he would not be known. Szlama secured positions with at least four other farmers and help from 

                                                           
9 Abraham W. Landau, Branded on My Arm and on My Soul: A Holocaust Memoir (New Bedford, Massachusetts: 

Spinner Publications with The Jewish Federation of Greater New Bedford, 2011), 40ï41. 

 
10 Landau, Branded on My Arm and on My Soul, 50. 

 
11 See, for example, Aleksandra BaŒkowska, ed., Archiwum Ringelbluma: Konspiracyjne Archiwum Getta 

Warszawskiego, vol. 6: Generalne Gubernatorstwo: Relacje i dokumenty (Warsaw: ŧydowski Instytut Historyczny im. 

Emanuela Ringelbluma, 2012), 536ï39. 
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several others, thereby surviving the German occupation in that area. On his return to Sochaczew after the 

war, he was again received warmly by his former neighbours.
12

 

   A Jewish witness who frequently traversed the Polish countryside recalled the conditions he had observed 

in Lublin province in the first years of the German occupation:  

 

Traveling through the Polish countryside in the summer of 1940, the uninformed observer could get 

the impression that life continued relatively peacefully in those small communities. Most men still 

wore their Eastern Jewish attire; old Jews, looking like patriarchs out of the Bible were standing 

dignified in front of their houses, the Star of David on their arms. This picture already belonged to 

the past in the big cities. It was also pleasing to notice that most Polish peasants treated the Jews in 

a rather friendly way. They seemed more tolerant than gentiles in the larger centers. Denunciations 

were exceptional.13 

 

  According to a diary entry from July 1942, by Jewish chronicler Avraham Lewin, 

 

As for the Poles in the small towns [near Warsaw] that I have listed é Their relationship to the 

Jews has recentlyðaccording to my informant (and the voice of the people is as the voice of 

God)ðbecome better, friendly. She sensed sympathy, and a sharing of the Jewsô suffering, on the 

part of the Polish population.
14

 

 

   Despite a huge smuggling enterprise bringing enormous amounts of food into the Warsaw ghetto,
15

 

resettled Jews from the outlying towns became the vulnerable underclass of the ghetto and were 

particularly prone to hunger, starvation and disease.
16

 However, outside Warsaw, ghettosðespecially the 

                                                           
12 Testimony of Szlama Jakubowicz, Archive of the Jewish Historical Institute (Warsaw), no. 301/2427. 

 
13

 Gary A. Keins, A Journey Through the Valley of Perdition ([United States]: n.p., 1985), 72ï73. Another Jewish 

survivor describes a Jewish wedding in the village of Chorzew near Jňdrzej·w, at the beginning of 1940, which was 

attended by many Polish guests. Young Polish boys, who believed her to be the daughter of a rabbi, eagerly asked her 

to dance. See Sabina Rachel Kağowska, Uciekaĺ, aby Ũyĺ (Lublin: Norbertinum, 2000), 52; English translation: Sabina 

Rachel Kağowska, No Place for Tears: From Jňdrzej·w to Denmark (Jerusalem: Yad Vashem, 2012). 

 
14

 Havi Ben-Sasson and Lea Preiss, ñTwighlight Days: Missing Pages from Avraham Lewinôs Warsaw Ghetto Diary, 

MayïJuly 1942,ò Yad Vashem Studies, vol. 33 (2005): 51ï52. 

 
15

 About 80 percent of the food that entered the Warsaw ghetto was smuggled. Smuggling was done by individuals, 

including children, and by organized groups. The professional smugglers became members of the ghetto elite, living it 

up on their profits, patronizing the more than 60 restaurants and clubs in the ghetto. Kosher butchers from the ghettos 

of Miğosna, Okuniew, and Rembert·w were the main source of meat for the Warsaw ghetto, supplying up to 2,000 

kilograms (4,410 pounds) per month with the help of Polish smugglers. The establishment of the ghetto in Warsaw did 

little to do ongoning Polish-Jewish trade, which was tolerated by the Polish policemen. Wheat was smuggled into the 

ghetto regularly, and a significant part of the bread made in the suburb of Falenica was sent to the Warsaw ghetto. See 

Dean, Encyclopedia of Camps and Ghettos, 1933ï1945, vol. 2, Part A, 361, 369, 405, 457. 

 
16 Of the approximately 60,000 Jews who died in the Warsaw ghetto in 1940 and 1941, the vast majority were not 

natives of Warsaw but had been resettled there from other towns or had sought refuge in Warsaw. See Andrzej 

ŧbikowski, ñŧydowscy przesiedleŒcy z dystryktu warszawskiego w getcie warszawskim, 1939ï1942,ò in Engelking, 

Leociak, and Libionka, Prowincja noc, 224ï28. See, for example, the fate of the Jews from G·ra Kalwaria, Jeziorna, 

and JeŨ·w in Dean, Encyclopedia of Camps and Ghettos, 1933ï1945, vol. 2, Part A, 374, 381, 382. In his diary, Chaim 
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smaller onesðdid not generally experience starvation. Thanks to their continuing contacts with Poles, with 

whom Jews continued to do business, food was readily obtainable.
17

 Thousands of Jews engaged in 

lucrative blackmarket activities such as illegal trade and smuggling throughout Poland, often traversing 

considerable distances and even borders.
18

 Accounts from Mğawa, Rejowiec and Stasz·w state: 

 

Yet despite what we considered to be oppressive conditions, during the first fifteen months of Nazi 

occupation, the Jews of Mlawa [Mğawa] were more fortunate than Jews in other cities é The city 

remained open, and no ghetto was established é For the most part, we were permitted to continue 

living in our homes. Although Jews were not permitted to own businesses, those who owned 

merchandise were able to do business secretly. Farms surrounding our city continued to produce 

plentiful supplies of food, which the farmers frequently brought to the city and made available to us. 

Secretly, my father would personally make contact with the visiting farmers and let them know that 

he had merchandise for sale. He would invite those who showed interest to come to our house to 

complete a sale. é There was enough food available in Mlawa during that period.
19

 

 

The Jews of Rejowiec received ration cards, but very little food could be obtained with these pieces 

of paper. Instead, most Jews traded with local peasants who lived in the surrounding countryside, 

and people did not suffer from hunger.
20

 

                                                                                                                                                                             
Kaplan notes that widespread tax evasion by the well-off residents of the ghetto seriously exacerbated starvation among 

the ghetto poor. See Abraham I. Katsh, ed., Scroll of Agony: The Warsaw Diary of Chaim A. Kaplan (New York: 

Macmillan; London: Collier-Macmillan, 1965), 262. 

 
17 According to Israeli historian David Silberklangô study on the Lublin District, ñYet despite the resultant 

overcrowding, beyond even the Nazisô plan, and despite the presence of gnawing hunger, there was little starvation in 

1940 and 1941, especially outside the city of Lublin. é The Lublin District Jewsô contacts with their non-Jewish 

neighbors é meant the Jews could procure food, some income, information, and human contact.ò See David 

Silberklang, Gates of Tears: The Holocaust in the Lublin District (Jerusalem: Yad Vashem, 2013), 219. The ghetto in 

Biağystok, which numbered 41,000 residents in January 1943, did not suffer from starvation. See Sara Bender, 

ñSimilarity and Differences: A Comparative Study between the Ghettos in Biağystok and Kielce,ò in Norman J.W. 

Goda, ed., Jewish Histories of the Holocaust: New Transnational Approaches (New York and Oxford: Berghahn, 

2014), 80. For reports about smaller towns see, for example, Sakowska, Archiwum Ringelbluma: Konspiracyjne 

Archiwum Getta Warszawskiego, vol. 2: Dzieciðtajne nauczanie w getcie warszawskim, 48 (Piaseczno near Warsaw), 

52 (Pustelnik). 

 
18

 A testimony from ZwoleŒ near Radom states: ñDespite all the dangers, the Jews of Zwolin [sic] é established trade 

with the Radom ghetto, exchanging goodsðespecially foodstuff: butter, eggs, cheese.ò See Chaim Sharit-Shlufman 

ñFrom Radom Through Zwolin in the Concentration Camps,ò in Berl Kagan, ed., Zvoliner Yizkor Bukh (New York: 

New York Independent Zvoliner Benevolent Society, 1982), 45ï46 (English section). See also the testimony of Israel 

Ber Cukerman in J. Schwiezer, ed., Pinkas Szczekociny (Tel Aviv: Former Residents of Szczekociny in Israel, 1959), 

translated into Polish as Ksiňga Pamiňci Szczekocin: ŧycie i zagğada Ũydowskiego miasteczka (Szczekociny: ReBorn 

Roots, 2010), 198. Many Jews made a living by smuggling goods, mainly textiles, from Reichsgau Wartheland into the 

Generalgouvernement. See Dean, Encyclopedia of Camps and Ghettos, 1933ï1945, vol. 2, Part A, 125. Jews from 

Kğobuck were able to smuggle goods across the border into the Generalgouvernement and trade with Poles to acquire 

food. Ibid., 154. For additional examples of extremely profitable transborder and long-distance smuggling see Barbara 

Engelking and Jan Grabowski, ñŧyd·w ğamiŃcych prawo naleŨy karaĺ ŜmierciŃ!ò: ñPrzetňpczoŜĺò ŧyd·w w 

Warszawie 1939ï1942 (Warsaw: Stowarzyszenie Centrum BadaŒ nad ZagğadŃ ŧyd·w, 2010), 172, 180. 

 
19

 Baruch G. Goldstein, For Decades I Was Silent: A Holocaust Survivorôs Journey Back to Faith (Tuscaloosa, 

Alabama: The University of Alabama Press, 2008), 36. 

 
20

 Dean, Encyclopedia of Camps and Ghettos, 1933ï1945, vol. 2, Part A, 704. 
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As long as we lived with the Poles, we still traded with them. é [They] brought food and bought all 

kinds of goods é But when the ghetto [in Stasz·w] was sealed [in July 1942] é it became much 

more limited and much more difficult é Anyone who had no direct contact with Polish merchants 

suffered.21 

 

After leaving the Warsaw ghetto, where conditions were described as abysmal for the poorer Jews, Jerry 

Koeing moved to the small town of Kos·w Lacki where he found conditions entirely bearable: ñWhen we 

arrived, we found that é things were absolutely normal there.ò
22

 A survivor from Sierpc, north of Pğock, 

recalled: ñWe were not hungry in the ghetto. Everyone had their own farmers they knew in the villages. 

People sneaked out of the ghetto and arranged for food.ò
23

 

   Economic conditions for Jews in Biağystok were also tolerable well into 1942. According to a Jewish 

wartime report, 

 

The war with the Soviets left Biağystok Jews in a good sithuation, from an economic point of view. 

During the Soviet occupation one could earn a good salary and save some money because there was 

lots of work. Besides that speculation was rampant. From the large sums they accumulated most 

Jews bought all sorts of goods that the Soviets kept dumping in Biağystok. So that when the 

Germans entered Biağystok, Jews had sufficient surpluses of goods and clothing, and from mid-year 

of the first year of the war [i.e., 1941] they would sell these things and make their living. Poles 

bought these things from Jews and they paid a good price for them.
24

   

 

In Grajewo, in the Biağystok district, up until November 1942, 

 

Economically, life was not of the worst in the Ghetto. It can be said that during its existence, there 

was no starvation there. é 

   The Nazi authorities permitted the peasants of the surrounding villages to bring food, peat, and 

wood into the ghetto. The peasants who had come to market on the specified days, would drive 

                                                                                                                                                                             
 
21

 Sara Bender, ñThe Jews of Stasz·w, 1939ï1943: History Through a Diaristôs Eyes: A comparative Discussion,ò Yad 

Vashem Studies, vol. 43, no. 1 (2015): 133ï69, here at 145. 
22 Smith, Forgotten Voices of the Holocaust, 119. 

 
23 Hela Listapad-Izakowicz, ñLife in the Ghetto and the Activity of the Partisans,ò in E. Talmi (Wloka), ed., The 

Community of Sierpc: Memorial Book, Internet: <http://www.jewishgen.org/yizkor/Sierpc/Sierpc.html#TOC392>, 

translation of Kehilat Sierpc: Sefer zikaron (Tel Aviv: Former Residents of Sierpc in Israel and Abroad, 1959), 451. 

Hela Listapad-Izakowicz also noted: ñIn general, the Poles did not behave badly toward the Jews. The more intellectual 

Poles were also persecuted by the Germansðof course, not to the same degree as the Jews. However, they were 

expelled from their fine houses.ò For a period of 16 months she was sheltered by Celina Kokowska, a very poor Polish 

woman, but left on her own when the village population became aware of her presence. After her benefactorôs arrest by 

the Germans, the information of her arrest spread and, understandably, the farmers became very reluctant to help her. 

See Hela Listapad-Izakowicz, ñIn the Sierpc Ghetto and in the Camps,ò in ibid., 446ï47.   

 
24

 Andrzej ŧbikowski, ed., Archiwum Ringelbluma: Konspiracyjne Archiwum Getta Warszawskiego, vol. 3: Relacje z 

Kres·w (Warsaw: ŧydowski Instytut Historyczny IN-B, 2000), 3009. 
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straight to the ghetto, without even stopping at the general market place. On these days, the streets 

of the ghetto would be choked with wagons as at a fair in the old days, and the Jews would buy out 

all the produce. This created the following paradox: The Jews who were walled-in the ghetto, 

completely isolated, had more essential commodities than the Polish population outside. The latter 

were forced to buy these essentials [at marked-up prices] from the Jews in the Ghetto.25 

 

The situation was much the same in the nearby town of GoniŃdz: 

 

The Jewish population of Goniondz [GoniŃdz] consisted of three classes. The first were the rich 

who were merchants before the War and also manufacturers of such items as leather goods and 

shoes. They didnôt have to work for a living. Most of them had hidden their goods in bunkers or 

among peasants they knew in the villages. From time-to-time, they would sell off a bit of goods, 

which were high-priced then, and buy food and other necessities. They could have existed like this 

for years.  

   The second class, consisting of craftsmen, didnôt have things so bad either. Their ten fingers were 

enough to earn a living. The peasants paid well for their work because the supply of craftsmen was 

limited. é Because they paid a fixed sum to the Judenrat, the craftsmen did not have to do forced 

labor. é  

   The third class consisted of poor people, who had even been poor pre-war. They had it much 

worse than anyone else. They were the small merchants who had run the grocery stores. At one 

time they had had a small amount of goods, but now it was eaten up or sold during the first few 

months of the War. They were, therefore, part of the squeezed Jews. They did business with the 

peasants and bartered their Sabbath clothes, furniture which they had received as wedding gifts, 

tools é Since a money economy didnôt exist for the peasants, a barter system was instituted. All 

transactions were underground, because there were huge penalties if one was caught.
26

 

 

   Even in the areas incorporated into the Reich Jews did not starve.
27

 In small towns they were not cut off 

entirely from the surrounding Polish population. In Beğchat·w, a town near Ğ·dŦ, 

                                                                                                                                                                             
 
25

 Nachman Rapp, ñHistory of Grayevo Ghetto,ò in George Gorin, ed., Grayevo Memorial Book (New York: United 

Grayever Relief Committee, 1950), xliiïxliii. Rapp goes on to add: ñActually, this was a well-planned maneuver of the 

German propagandists. They were out to convince the Polish population that the ózhidesô [Jews] take all for themselves 

and only when they will be wiped out, will there be enough food for the Poles.ò 

 
26

 Tuviah Ivri (Yevraiski), ñThe Destruction of Goniondz,ò Part 14, in Our Hometown Goniondz, Internet: 

<http://www.jewishgen.org/yizkor/goniadz/Goniadz.html>; translation of J. Ben-Meir (Treshansky) and A.L. Fayans, 

eds., Sefer yizkor Goniadz (Tel-Aviv: The Committee of Goniondz Association in the U.S.A. and in Israel, 1960), 

591ff.  

 
27 In the Ğ·dŦ ghetto, the food rations were reduced from 1,600 calories in 1940 to 1,000 in 1942; however, this was 

offset by massive smuggling of food into the ghetto. In the analogous period, food rations for Poles in the 

Generalgouvernment were 736 and 400, respectively. See Grzegorz Berendt, ñCena Ũyciaðekonomiczne 

uwarunkowania egzystencji ŧyd·w po óaryjskiej stronieô,ò in Zagğada ŧyd·w: Studia i materiağy, vol. 4 (Warsaw: 

Centrum BadaŒ nad ZagğadŃ ŧyd·w, IFiS PAN, 2008): 115, 118; Grzegorz Berendt, ñThe Price of Life: Economic 

Determinants of Jewsô Existence on the ñAryanò Side,ò in Sebastian Rejak and ElŨbieta Frister, eds., Inferno of 

Choices: Poles and the Holocaust, Second edition (Warsaw: Oficyna Wydawnicza Rytm, 2012), 122, 128. While 
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Until the German-Russian war began in 1941, the Jewish population of Belchatow [Beğchat·w] was 

integrated into the everyday life of the town. Craftsmen and weavers continued their work illegally, 

and when someone was caught, he bought himself free after paying a bribe. At night smugglers 

transported textiles to the Gouvernement and brought back shoemakers accessories such as leather, 

nails, pegs, and other things, tailors accessories, cigarettes, candles, in other words everything that 

was not available in our town. Jews displaced from surrounding villages snuck back to their former 

houses and smuggled butter, eggs, meat, as well as other agricultural products for us. 

   Thanks to the group of Jews mentioned above, the rest of us were able to survive, some by 

trading, some acting as middlemen. In other words, nobody was starving. The people sold 

everything that they possessed, willing to survive at any price. They knew that the future would be 

better, without fears or war, and they expected this new life and the end of the war very soon.
28

 

 

   Despite repeated German warnings, trade with the local population assumed massive proportions: 

 

In Turobin [south of Lublin], one of the hundreds of Jewish towns scattered around Poland, where I 

had fled from the Warsaw ghetto, the strong arm of the Germans was not felt. é At the same time 

that so many people were dying daily in the [Warsaw] ghetto, life went on as usual in Turobinð

shoemakers made boots for farmers, tailors made them coats; my Uncle Michael traveled around 

the village é selling notions. The Jews of the town continued to pray each morning, in their 

synagogue. There was poverty, but no one was starving. The Germans forced the villagers to 

supply them with a quantity of gold or merchandise such as leather or pelts, and threatened them if 

they refusedðand the rich complained, but they paid. From time to time, the Germans imposed 

compulsory work details and later, the SS passed through the village and killed dozens of Jews for 

no reason, but life had somehow returned to normal. No one in Turobin, or in the many similar 

villages, could imagine that their days were numbered, that the Germans were going to kill all of 

the Jews without exceptionðcould a normal human being imagine such a thing?29 

                                                                                                                                                                             
Polish language schools in Ğ·dŦ were closed down in December 1939, Jewish schools in the ghetto continued to 

function until the fall of 1941, as did Jewish cultural life, something that was also the Polish population was denied. 

See Adam Sitarek, ñTrzy miasta: DzieŒ powszedni w Litzmannsadtðwybrane problemy,ò in ChinciŒski, Przemoc i 

dzieŒ powszedni w okupowanej Polsce, 471ï74, 478. The marked pauperization of the Polish population was also 

reflected in the dramatic increase in the prices of various commodities which, by mid-1941, had risen 30 to 40 times 

from the prewar levels and continued to soar during the remainder of the German occupation. Housing costs in large 

cities also escalated enormously. The cost of a modest room in Warsaw increased two to threefold between 1940 and 

1944, from 150 zğoty to 500 zğoty monthly. See Grzegorz Berendt, ñThe Price of Life: Economic Determinants of 

Jewsô Existence on the ñAryanò Side,ò in ibid., 118, 127. Unemployment among Poles also soared; for example, in the 

Krak·w district, employment in 1940 stood at just forty percent of the prewar level. Ibid., 117. 

 
28 M. [Mendel] Kaufman, ñIn the Years of the Holocaust,ò in Mark Tarkov and Abraham Mittleberg, eds., Belchatow 

Memorial Book, Internet: <http://jewishgen.org/yizkor/Belchatow/belchatow.html>, a translation of Belchatow yizker-

bukh (Buenos Aires: Association of Polish Jews in Argentina, 1951), 463. 

 
29

 Dov Freiberg, To Survive Sobibor (Jerusalem and New York: Gefen, 2007), 528. For a Jewish report attesting to 

widespread trade between Jews and peasants in the Hrubiesz·w area in 1941 and 1942, see Adam Kopciowski and 

Dariusz Libionka, eds., ñŧycie i Zagğada w Hrubieszowie w oczach warszawskich ŧyd·w,ò Zagğada ŧyd·w: Studia i 

materiağy, vol. 3 (Warsaw: Centrum BadaŒ nad ZagğadŃ ŧyd·w IFiS PAN, 2007): 229ï40, here at p. 231. 
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Suzin, the work manager, had been a functionary in the Magistrateôs Court before World War II é 

Now, he had become a beggar for contributions from the workers in his group. For example, the 

workers supplied Suzin with bread and butter, honey, cheese, and eggs. In exchange, he did not 

hurry them at their work, and even allowed them to leave work when they wanted. There were 

workers who came in the morning to register with him and afterwards they would leave for the 

entire day, to trade with workers from Bialystok [Biağystok]. The men from Sokoly [Sokoğy] traded 

with the men from Bialystok for food, clothing, shoes, fabrics, and leather smuggled from the 

Bialystok Ghetto. The smugglers would earn tens and hundreds of marks in a day from their 

trading. 

   The majority of the workers in Suzinôs group did not work very much. Every one of them held a 

spade or a hoe in his hand on the pretext that he was working. When a ñKrokò (German gendarme) 

was relieved from guard duty, they began to work energetically. Suzin himself took care not to be 

tripped up by the German supervisors. When he saw at a distance a German or the Grandfather, 

who came from time to time to supervise the work, Suzin would immediately shout, in Polish, 

ñKalopczi, wada!ò [ñChğopcy, woda!ò] (ñBoys, water!ò). Everyone understood that now they must 

work intensively for a few minutes.
30

 

 

   In many areas, daily life continued in this way until the deportations began in 1942. Relations with the 

local population were generally favourable, much to the dissatisfaction of the Germans. Poles continued to 

trade with Jews, as they did before the war. Jews frequently stole out of the ghettos to sell goods and 

brought back food which was often resold at a handsome profit.
31

 For some Jews trade continued on a 

grand scale and smuggling became a fairly lucrative business: 

 

We in Stroza [Str·Ũa], and even in Krasnik [KraŜnik], were far away from the large Jewish centers, 

so at first we did not feel the impact of the German policy of extermination of the Jewish people. In 

fact, until the end of 1941 our area remained quiet, more or less. We knew what was going on 

elsewhere, but for a long time, practically until December, 1941, we were in contact with 

businessmen from Cracow [Krak·w] who continued to import food from our area. Father was the 

biggest exporter in this field, and the importers from Cracow used to visit us quite often. I still 

remember one particular Jewish businessman, dressed as a priest. He was probably our most 

important customer.
32

 

  

                                                           
30

 Maik, Deliverance, 63. 

 
31

 See, for example, Abram and Sonia Hurman, as told to Halina Birenbaum, Pod osğonŃ nocy: Wspomnienia z lat 

1939ï1945 (Krak·w and OŜwiňcim: Fundacja Instytut Studi·w Strategicznych and PaŒstwowe Museum Auschwitz-

Birkenau w OŜwiňcimiu, 2007), 18, 20, 27ï28; Browning, Remembering Survival, 56. 

 
32

 Sam Edelstein, Tzadikim in Sodom (Righteous Gentiles): Memoir of a Survivor of World War II (Toronto: North 

American Press Limited, 1990), 20. 
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Zalman Storch became a big shot and an excellent smuggler. He had been a coachman before the 

war and during the early period of the German occupation went on carrying passengers in his 

covered coach to Tarnow [Tarn·w]. é He found out soon that carrying people was no business. 

One day Jechiel Brand, the son of Shielle Brand, asked Zalman why he wasnôt carrying grain to 

Tarnow; Jechiel himself did not have permission to do so. Zalman agreed to carry the grain but 

named his price. He was as familiar with the route to Tarnow as with the contents of his own 

pockets. He knew exactly how to avoid the check-posts situated along the road. It worked perfectly 

and business flourished. But soon Zalman was fed up with sitting behind the horses, so Brand had 

to make him his partner. On the other hand Zalman was perfectly aware of Brandôs capacity as a 

businessman so the partnership was a big success and both men got rich in a short period of time.  

   Later, Zalman did not have to avoid the posts; both the Poles and the Germans were bribed and 

co-operated. Others who tried to do the same thing were lucky once or twice and then were caught 

red-handed. Their goods were confiscated and they had to run for their lives; often beaten cruelly. 

(After awhile they would not beat a Jew; instead they would shoot him or send him to a camp-

camp). Nevertheless Jews kept on smuggling food to Tarnow because it paid well. The city of 

Tarnow consumed tons of flour, meat and eggs and Radomysl [RadomyŜl Wielki] was one of the 

towns to provide those necessities. Since most provisions were sent to Tarnow, the prices of food in 

Radomysl went up. I had already mentioned that food was rationed there were ration-cards. Bread 

and sugar rations were hardly enough for one meal. The rest had to be obtained on the black market 

for a lot of money. Only those who were in business could afford black-market prices.
33

 

 

   The Germans decided to take decisive action to put an end to this state of affairs. On July 3, 1941, Gazeta 

Czňstochowska, an official German newspaper published in Polish, complained: ñThe cases multiply, when 

Polish peasants, impelled by dangerous sympathy for the Jewish rabble, smuggle products into the ghetto 

and sell them at even cheaper prices than to their own Polish brethren. Such persons are warned of severe 

measures against them.ò
34

 The county supervisor (starosta) of Puğawy, Lublin province, reported that ña 

significant portionò of the Polish population demonstrated compassion toward Jews.ò
35

 On October 15, 

1941, Hans Frank, the Governor of the Generalgouvernement, issued an ordinance providing for the death 

penalty for Jews found outside ghettos without permission and for persons offering them shelter.
36

 That 

                                                           
33

 Pinchas Reichman, ñLife in Camp,ò in H. Harshoshanim, et al., ed.s, Radomysl Rabati ve-ha-seviva: Sefer yizkor 

(Tel Aviv: Former Residents of Radomysl and Surroundings in Israel, 1965); translated as Radomysl Wielki and 

Neighborhood: Memorial Book, Internet: <http://www.jewishgen.org/yizkor/radomysl/Radomysl.html>. 

 
34

 Cited in S. (Samuel) Mendelsohn (Shloyme Mendelson), The Polish Jews Behind the Nazi Ghetto Walls (New York: 

The Yiddish Scientific InstituteïYIVO, 1942), 14. 

 
35

 Dieter Pohl, Von der ñJudenpolitikò zum Judenmord: Der Distrikt Lublin des Generalgouvernements 1939ï1944 

(Frankfurt am Main: Peter Lang, 1993), 64ï65. 

 
36 Governor Frankôs ordinance is reproduced in Bartoszewski and Lewin, Righteous Among Nations, 632. The 

ordinance was subject to the following qualification: ñIn less serious cases the punishment may be imprisonment with 

hard labour or imprisonment.ò In the Warsaw District, on November 10, 1941, Governor Ludwig Fischer removed 

entirely the possibility of lesser sentences for Poles while expanding that penalty to include providing even a nightôs 

lodging providing, food or transportation. Ibid., 633. For other similar orders and proclamations see pp. 634, 639ï44. 
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same month, the German county supervisor in KraŜnik remarked with incensed incredulity: ñaccording to 

my observations, the enforcement of this decree [i.e., forbidding the Jews to leave the Jewish quarter] is 

absolutely necessary because in my entire two years of duty in the East I have never experienced a situation 

where the Jews wander in such a [free] manner from one locality to another as I have observed here.ò In 

January 1942, the Nazis again voiced their anger about the fact that there was no negative reaction on the 

part of Poles toward Jewish beggars.
37

 In their view, the ñproblemò of the local population coming to the 

aid of Jews was widespread and persistent, and for that reason stricter measures had to be implemented to 

eradicate it. Gazeta Lwowska, an official German daily published in the Polish language, stated on April 

11, 1942: 

 

It is unfortunate that the rural population continueðnowadays furtivelyðto assist Jews, thus doing 

harm to the community, and hence to themselves, by this disloyal attitude. Villagers take advantage 

of all illegal ways, applying all their cunning and circumventing regulations in order to supply the 

local Jewry with all kinds of foodstuffs in every amount é 

   The rural population must be cut off and separated from the Jews, once and for all, must be 

weaned from the extremely anti-social habit of assisting the Jews.
38

 

 

As we shall see, the Germans soon imposed the death penalty in occupied Poland for all such 

transgressionsðsomething unheard of in Western Europe and rarely used in most of Eastern Europe. The 

Germans also punished severely those Poles who took pity on captured Soviet prisoners of war, whose fate 

at the hands of the Germans turned out to be no better than that of the Jews. A Jew held in a work camp in 

the village of Czernice Borowe near Mğawa recalled: 

 

Not far from our camp was a prisoner camp for Russian soldiers, whom we saw almost every day 

marching in groups of tens. They looked terribleðthin, pale, barely able to stand. The Germans 

were letting them starve. They did get some food from some Polish farmers who were transporting 

stones in their wagons, to be used to pave the road. Risking their lives, the farmers managed to find 

ways to give these prisoners small amounts of food to eat. But two of the farmers did pay for this 

with their lives. When the Germans caught them they took these farmers to the nearby town of 

Prosnicz [Przesnysz], assembled the entire town in a place where two gallows had already been 

prepared, and hung them.
39

 

 

                                                           
37

 Chodakiewicz, Between Nazis and Soviets, 173ï74. 

 
38

 Reproduced in Bartoszewski and Lewin, Righteous Among Nations, 638ï39. 

 
39 Elya Tzala, ñPain and Suffering in the Second World War,ò in M. Harpaz, ed., My Town: In Memory of the 

Communities Dobrzyn-Gollob, Internet: <http://www.jewishgen.org/yizkor/Golub_dobrzyn/Golub_dobrzyn.html>, 

translation of Ayarati: Sefer zikaron le-ayarot Dobrzyn-Golub (Tel Aviv: Association of Former Residents of Dobrzyn-

Golub, 1969), 368ff. 
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   The Germans played a large part in encouraging and exploiting friction between Poles and Jews, and in 

pitting them against each other. A Jewish survivor from Wilczyn near Inowrocğaw recalled how the 

Germans tried, unsuccessfully, to incite the Poles by having Jews desecrate Catholic shrines. 

 

The Germans were inventive in tormenting us. They forced us to carry out acts of desecration 

against our Christian neighbors so they would turn against us. The Christians worshiped in chapels 

situated in the town squares. We could see small crucifixes glowing inside, circling and protecting 

a statue of the Madonna. Such a chapel sat in the middle of Wilczyn, where Christians went to 

worship and pray to the Madonna é 

   On a cold snowy day in mid-January [1940], German soldiers were marching door to door, 

rounding up Jewish boys and men. I was among the recruits yet again, and I wondered what plans 

they had for us tonight. They ordered us to enter the chapel, remove the Madonna and roll her 

around the city square. We were horrified but went ahead and rolled and flipped and spun her 

around the square. We thought we would die of cold and exhaustion. Finally, they demanded that 

we take the Madonna to the beautiful home of one of the wealthiest Jews in Wilczyn and throw it 

through his front window. We felt such shame and humiliation when we returned home. 

   The next day a Jewish friend told me the story of what happened after that. A German soldier 

went to the manôs house and said, ñLook, we hear you are hiding something in here.ò The man 

stood frozen, not knowing what to say. They searched his house and found the Madonna, then 

demanded the family bury it in the Jewish cemetery. The Poles observed all this and were stunned 

and confused by the incident. They knew they couldnôt blame the Jews.40 

 

   The ñdivide and conquerò strategy was employed in a variety of ways. In the early months of the war, 

Jews were employed in the executions of Poles. Rev. Roman Pawğowski, a 70-year-old priest from Chocz, 

was publicly shot in Kalisz in November 1939, in front of the local inhabitants who were driven to the 

public square to watch the spectacle. 

 

Agents of the Gestapo forced local Jews to tie Fr. Pawlowski to the post, after which he was shot in 

front of the assembled multitude. The Jews were made to kiss the feet of the corpse, unbind it, put it 

on a cart, and take it to the Jewish cemetery and bury it according to the Jewish rite.41 

 

In the fall of 1939 both Poles and Jews were imprisoned, tortured and murdered in G·rka Klasztorna near 

ĞobŨenica by the Selbstschutz, a paramilitary formation composed of ethnic Germans who were prewar 

residents Poland. On November 23, a rope was tied to each of Anna Jaworskaôs legs and two groups of 

Jews were ordered to pull the ropes in opposite directions until her body was ripped in half.
42
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   Historians Tatiana Berenstein and Adam Rutkowski write: 

 

The Nazis contrived in every way possible to provoke resentment and animosity between the 

national groups. For example, in February 1941 the warders for a Jewish labour camp were 

recruited from among Poles and Ukrainians, while early the same year the occupation authorities in 

Bňdzin employed Jews in compiling the registers of Poles liable to deportation from the town. 

Again, in the spring of 1942, five Jews were assigned for wholly clerical duties to the Treblinka I 

labour camp for Poles. Expedients like these all made for a continuous embitterment and vitiation 

of relations between Poles and Jews.43 

 

These examples could be multiplied. For instance, in the hard-labour camp for Poles in Pğasz·w, many 

functionsðincluding hanging Polish inmatesðwere assigned to Jewish prisoners from the adjoining 

concentration camp.
44

 In Auschwitz, Polish inmates were processed by Jews and vice versa.
45

 

   The Germans also unleashed a barrage of anti-Semitic propaganda that played into the prejudices of some 

Poles and fostered anti-Polish feelings among Jews. Berenstein and Rutkowski comment on the scope of 

this divisive tactic: 

 

In support of their policy of persecution of the Jews in Poland the Nazi authorities mounted a vast 

propaganda campaign of ferocious virulence which preyed on the lowest instincts of the 

unenlightened sections of the population. The Nazi Polish-language gutter press é strove 

unremittingly to whip up the Poles against the Jews. New posters continually appeared on the 

walls, in trams, in railway stations and other public places vilifying the Jews.46 

 

According to one Jewish survivor, ñWe also did not think about why they [the Germans] wanted to kill us. 

We knew that we were like rats. Their propaganda not only influenced the Gentiles, it also influenced us 
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Jews. It took away from us our human dignity.ò
47

 Jews played into this strategy by spreading anti-Polish 

propaganda in the ghettos, going so far as to claim that the Poles were inciting the Germans. A wartime 

report from the Warsaw ghetto spoke of the authorôs efforts to convince Jews ñabout the feelings in Polish 

society towards the Jews. They are inciting the occupier against the Jews, in order to save themselves by 

this stratagem.ò He also questioned the sincerity of the Polish democratic opposition and preached about 

the ñabject baseness of behavior among the Poles.ò
48

 Not surprisingly, Emanuel Ringelblum notes, in his 

wartime journal, that hatred towards Polish Christians grew in the Warsaw ghetto because it was widely 

believed that they were responsible for the economic restrictions that befell the Jews.
49

 

   Many Jews could not comprehend why it was they, rather than the Poles, who were suffering the brunt of 

the German brutality. Stories spread in the ghetto that Poles were leading ñnormal livesò outside the ghetto: 

ñEverything there is brimming with life. Everyone eats and drinks until they are full. é On the other side, 

the houses are like palaces é there is freedom to the full é complete safety é justice reigns.ò
50

 A young 

Jew who witnessed the expulsion of the Poles after the failed Warsaw Uprising of August 1944 recalled: ñI 

must admit that we even derived a certain schadenfreude from seeing Poles treated like Jews, driven like 

cattle through the streets the way Jews had been herded, beaten down and hardly saying a word. é This 

was so reminiscent of when we had first been evicted from our home and forced into the crowded ghetto 

more than two years before. How ironic. For the first time we were equal é Poles now [sic] also had a 

taste of what it was like to be at the receiving end of Nazi brutality and retribution.ò
51

 (As if Poles had not 

experienced mass expulsions and executions before!) 

   The ensuing resentment many Jews felt toward the Poles was noted in his wartime diary by Samuel 

Golfard, a perceptive Jewish observer the residing in PrzemyŜlany, Eastern Galicia. 

 

I am constantly writing about the martyrdom of the Jews. But I know that not only we are suffering. 

In the camps, the flower of the Polish nation is perishing. Millions of Poles in Germany do the 

work of hard labor convicts. Tens of thousands have perished in camps. Suffering and disease, the 

whole nation gives itself with blood for the ñcontribution.ò Children are torn away from their 

mothers. Fourteen-year-old girls carry on the hardest jobs as farmhands on German farmsteads. The 

[Polish] nation in bondage is carrying a heavy yoke. But not for a moment does the nation lose 

hope that freedom and the fatherland will be restored. Such hope has been taken away from the 
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Jews, and this is why their fate is so tragic, why it is so difficult to last through every death-branded 

day. They envy the Poles and rightfully so. Moreover, they bear a grudge against the Poles for not 

being fellow sufferers in misery and brothers in misfortune. They forget that the Polish nation is 

defenseless. é The thing of greatest consequence is that there is general passivity dictated by 

weakness. No one can save his neighbor. Everyoneôs life is threatened. And if in a moment of great 

danger somebody is in a position to save the life of someone else, he cannot do so while being in 

ghastly fear for his own life. However, there are even such people who, endangering their own 

lives, hide and save Jews. é  

   Perhaps there also are those who in the face of the massacres think, not without a certain 

satisfaction, that the Germans render a service to Poland by clearing it of Jews. I believe there are 

few such people.52 

 

Golfard then compares accounts of Poles who were utterly indifferent to the sufferings of Jews, with Jews 

who were utterly indifferent to the sufferings of other Jews, giving several examples of the latter.
53

 Golfard 

rejects the dialectic of Jews as victims and Poles and Ukrainians as victimizers, and alludes to the 

demoralization caused by Nazi policies. He comments: 

 

They can be found in each nation, even among the Jews, who in the past were famous for being 

repulsed by bloodshed. While in camp, I saw human beasts among Jewish group leaders 

[grupenf¿hrerzy], the Ukrainian militia, and the German Gestapomen. It is they who are guilty of 

letting loose manôs most primitive animal instincts as the war made human life worthless and all 

morality a museum relic. People are embarrassed to affirm the former moral ñsuperstitions.ò The 

day-to-day ethics of the prewar.54 

 

Golfardôs observations are also relevant for the earlier Soviet occupation of that region in 1939ï1941.  

   Of course, the Germans played it both ways. While disseminating anti-Polish propaganda among the 

Jews, they also claimed to be their protectors. One Jew recalls: 

 

I remembered the order to assemble on the lawn in front of the Judenrat headquarters in Grabowiec, 

the announcement that all the Jews of Grabowiec would be óresettledô in Hrubieszow 

[Hrubiesz·w], where the SS officer had told us, the Jews would live and work together in a 

miniature óJewish state,ô protected by the kindly German authorities from the wrath of the local 

Gentile populace.55 
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In Sğonim, 

 

As soon as the Jews were enclosed in the ghetto, the head of the German gendarmerie é and his 

deputy é called all the Jews to a meeting, where they were assured there would be no more 

Aktions. They said the previous Aktion had been a Polish provocation, and that as long as Jews 

worked hard, they would survive the war.56 

 

In view of this constant bombardment of propaganda it is not surprising that some Poles repeated such 

diatribes, just as some Jews resorted to anti-Polish barbs.
57

 

   Because warnings, anti-Semitic propaganda, and sanctions such as fines and imprisonment failed to curb 

Polish behaviour and isolate the Jews, which was a precondition for their annihilation, the Germans felt 

compelled to introduce Draconian measures to curtail contacts between Poles and Jews, to the fullest extent 

possible. A circular issued on September 21, 1942, by the SS and Police Chief in Radom District, outlined 

and justified those measures in the following terms: 

 

The experience of the last few weeks has shown that Jews, in order to evade evacuation, tend to 

flee from the small Jewish residential districts [i.e., ghettos] in the communities above all. 

   These Jews must have been taken in by Poles. I am requesting you to order all mayors and village 

heads as soon as possible that every Pole who takes in a Jew makes himself guilty under the Third 

Ordinance on restrictions on residence in the Government General of October 15, 1941 (GG 

Official Gazette, p. 595). 

   As accomplices are also considered those Poles who feed run-away Jews or sell them foodstuffs, 

even if they do not offer them shelter. Whatever the case, these Poles are liable to the death 

penalty.58 

 

These warnings were not hollow. Adolf Folkmann recalled the scenes he had witnessed in June 1943 

during the final liquidation of the ghetto in Lw·w: 

 

After a day or so the action extended beyond the Ghetto confines into the town. S.S. and Ukrainian 

Militia looked everywhere for escaped Jews. The corpses of Poles who had been discovered giving 

shelter to Jews and the corpses of the Jews themselves could be seen all over the town, in the 

streets, in the squares and in all residential quarters. The extent of the terror increased. Hundreds of 
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non-Jewish Poles who had made themselves suspect were murdered. The S.S. indulged in an orgy 

of blood-lust, and for three weeks no law existed in Lwow [Lw·w] but their arbitrary will.59 

 

   Several thousand Christian Polesðmen, women and children, entire families and even whole 

communitiesðwere tortured to death, summarily executed, or burned alive by the Germans for rendering 

assistance to Jews.
60

 Such harsh punitive measures, coupled with their own mistreatment at the hands of the 
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Good Samaritans, and Reconciliation (Jersey City, New Jersey: Ktav Publishing House, 2006), 131ï32. Even in 

Germany, there was no speficic law that prohibited helping Jews. The closest thing was a decree by the Head Office for 

Reich Security, dated October 24, 1941, that prescribed ñon educational groundsò protective custody or up to three 

monthsô imprisonment in a concentration camp to persons of German blood who openly displayed friendly relations to 

Jews. See Israel Gutman, ed., The Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations: Rescuers of Jews during the 

Holocaust, vol. 8: Europe (Part I) and Other Countries (Jerusalem: Yad Vashem, 2007), liii. However, there is no 

evidence of any death penalty being issued for helping Jews within German borders. While branded ñas the abnormal 
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Beate Kosmala points out, ñUltimately, many Catholic priests who defended their Corpus Christi processions, people 
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Germany, 1941ï1945: Jewish and Non-Jewish Responses,ò in Beate Kosmala and Feliks Tych, eds., Facing the Nazi 

Genocide: Non-Jews and Jews in Europe (Berlin: Metropol, 2004), 35ï36. Elsewhere we learn: ñThe risk for non-

Jewish helpers was difficult to calculate. It could result in being sent to a concentration camp (in some cases leading to 

death), prison or penitentiary sentences, a relatively short period of imprisonment in a Gestapo prison, warnings and 

intimidation, or simply a small fine. Sometimes it happened that Jews in hiding were arrested in their non-Jewish 

helpersô flat, without anything happening to the latter.ò See Marnix Croes and Beate Kosmala, ñFacing Deportation in 

Germany and the Netherlands: Survival in Holland,ò in Kosmala and Verbeeck, Facing the Catastrophe, 123. 

Moreover, unlike in occupied Poland, a significant group of people defined as ñmixed raceò and even Jews married to 

Germans could escape most of the Nazi regimeôs anti-Semitic policies, provided they and their children did not practice 

the Jewish faith. However, thousands of Jews subsequently committed suicide when their protection came to an end. 

See Richard J. Evans, The Third Reich at War, 1939ï1945 (London: Allen Lane/Penguin Books, 2008), 70ï71, 251, 

272ï73. Likewise, in Austria no specific penalty was legally established for concealing Jews, yet rescue efforts there, 

as in Germany proper, were exceedingly rare. See Gutman, The Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations, vol. 

8: Europe (Part I) and Other Countries, xxix. Such laxity was virtually unheard of in occupied Poland, where the death 

penalty was meted out routinely with utmost rigour. Although the death penalty was also found on the books in some 

other jurisdictions such as Norway and the Czech Protectorate, it was used infrequently. See Nechama Tec, When Light 

Pierced the Darkness: Christian Rescue of Jews in Nazi-Occupied Poland (New York: Oxford University Press, 1986), 

215ï16; ZajŃczkowski, Martyrs of Charity, Part One, 111ï18, 284ï86, 294, 295. Several Norwegian resistance fighters 

were executed for helping Jews to escape to Sweden, and a number of others imprisoned. See Paldiel, The Path of the 

Righteous, 366. Several dozen individuals in the Czech Protectorate were charged by Nazi special courts and sentenced 

to death. See Livia Rothkirchen, The Jews of Bohemia and Moravia: Facing the Holocaust (Lincoln: University of 

Nebraska Press, and Jerusalem: Yad Vashem, 2005), 218ï27, 303ï304. Rescuers were also put to death in other 

occupied countries such as Lithuania the occupied territories of the Soviet Union. See Alfonsas Eidintas, Jews, 

Lithuanians and the Holocaust (Vilnius: Versus Aureus, 2003), 326ï27; Yitzhak Arad, The Holocaust in the Soviet 

Union (Lincoln, Nebraska: University of Nebraska Press; Jerusalem: Yad Vashem, 2009), 428, 438. 

   Jan T. Gross ignores the reasons given by the Germans themselves for introducing the death penalty in Poland, and he 

dismisses factors such as the qualitatively harsher nature of the occupation in Poland and the Germansô total disregard 

for Polish public opinion, or the fact that Poland was chosen as the place where the murder of millions of Jews and 

others was carried out for practical and logistical reasons. Rather he advances the bizarre argument that ñit is because 

the Poles were not ready to assist the Jews and by and large refrained from doing so that the death punishment for 

harboring Jews was meted out by the Germans systematically and without reprieve and the task of helping the Jews 

was so difficult. é The deviant behavior of a few, who were censored for helping the Jews by their own community, 

was sanctioned severely and very effectively policed.ò See Jan T. Gross, ñA Tangled Web: Confronting Stereotypes 

Concerning Relations between Poles, Germans, Jews, and Communists,ò in Istv§n De§k, Jan T. Gross, and Tony Judt, 

eds., The Politics of Retribution in Europe: World War II and Its Aftermath (Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton 

University Press, 2000), 74ï129, especially pp. 80, 87. Under the circumstances, one wonders why the Germans would 

need, or even want, to impose any sanctions, and would not simply rely on courting public sentiment as a more 

effective means of compliance. Gross offers no empirical evidence for his speculative premise, one that is so out-of-

keeping with the attitude of grateful survivors that, it is fair to say, only someone who would not take such a risk could 

possibly formulate it. Moreover, Grossôs theory is thoroughly discredited by the example of Germany, where help for 

Jews was a rare commodity and yet no death penalty was deemed necessary, and it has not found acceptance among 

Holocaust historians who have conducted solid and extensive research in this area. For example, Livia Rothkirchen 

contends: ñUltimately, the nature and extent of German control were the primary factors determining the toll of Jewish 

lives. é Perhaps the most crucial point was the degree of intimidation and the punishment meted out by the Nazis to 

gentiles who were ready to extend assistance to the persecuted Jews.ò See Rothkirchen, The Jews of Bohemia and 

Moravia, 217, 304. Nor does Gross offer any empirical evidence (relying instead on impressions gathered from a small 

selection of anecdotal material) in support of his claim that Polish assistance to Jews was negligible (unlike, allegedly, 

the situation in other countries) and that providing help was frowned on by Polish society. Gross also contends that the 

risks and efforts it took to shelter a Jew were not significantly more onerous or dangerous than concealing a gun or an 

illegal underground publication or engaging in black marketeering, and adds that the former activity never assumed the 

massive proportions of the latter. This disingenuous argument presupposes that both sets of activities had comparable 

risk of discovery, and comparable experiencing of the death penalty if caught. In fact, they were not. According to 

scholarly studies on the German courts in occupied Poland, capital punishment was rarely meted out, and was reserved 

only for the most heinous crimes and aiding Jews. See Andrzej Wrzyszcz, Okupacyjne sŃdownictwo niemieckie w 

Generalnym Gubernatorstwie 1939ï1945: Organizacja i funkcjonowanie (Lublin: Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Marii 

Curie-Skğodowskiej, 2008), 199, 202. The equating of risk in black market activity and that of aiding Jews, as argued 

by some in order to disparage Polish fears of the German-imposed death penalty, is clearly misplaced. Gross treats 

black marketeering, which virtually everyone including Jews had to engage in order just to survive, as part of a 

universal anti-German conspiracy, rather than the basic necessity that it was. In fact, only a small minority of Poles 

(and even a much smaller minority of Jews) were active in the underground. Objectively speaking, it does not take 

much intuition to discern that secreting a flyer or purchasing some food, which is soon disposed of or consumed, hardly 
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constitutes the same order of risk, not to mention effort, as concealing and caring for a person for a long period of time. 

Moreover, Gross conveniently ignores the fact that if someone was caught hiding a Jew, his or her entire family could 

also be executed summarily. On the other hand, the punishment for blackmarketeering varied enormously, the activity 

was often overlooked by the authorities, and even German soldiers and officials took part in it. Grossôs lack of 

appreciation of conditions in wartime Poland and Holocaust sources is apparent in the following statement, among 

many similar, of a Jewish underground fighter from Warsaw, who writes: ñOpen black markets in primary products 

were working in different parts of Warsaw. The German authorities looked the other way where Poles were concerned. 

Germans were making the greatest profits anyway.ò See David J. Landau, alias Dudek, Janek and Jan, Caged: A Story 

of Jewish Resistance (Sydney: Macmillan, 2000), 58. It should be noted that Jews who dealt on the black market for 

food rarely ever contemplated engaging in risky ventures such as obtaining a weapon or joining an underground 

organization in the relative safety of the ghetto, where only a fellow Jew could betray them. As pointed out by a 

renowned historian, with considerable dismay, the Jews in the Warsaw ghetto preferred to rely on the Polish 

underground transmitters for their contact with the outside world rather than run the risks associated with the 

construction of their own, despite the available expertise and materials to manufacture wireless transmitters inside the 

ghetto. See Walter Laqueur, The Terrible Secret: Suppression of the Truth about Hitlerôs ñFinal Solutionò (London: 

Weidenfeld and Nicolson, 1980; reissued in 1982 by Penguin Books), 107. 

   Gross, who has a marked penchant for advancing the most unfavourable interpretation of Polish attitudes possible, 

then goes on to develop another highly skewed theory of widespread complicity of the Poles in the Holocaust, as 

evidenced by their ñgeneralized, diffuse hostility toward the Jewsò (at p. 84) and the alleged, near-universal eagerness 

of ordinary citizens, including children, to rob and betray Jews on the run. It is altogether amazing how, based on the 

scant evidence he actually marshals, Gross does not shy away from advancing sweeping and partisan generalizations 

about Polish conduct. While treating objectionable behaviour on the part of the Jews as non-consequential (to the extent 

he even cares to acknowledge such behaviour), Gross builds his case against the Poles based precisely by focusing on 

such exceptions. Curiously, he sees himself, and his jaded polemics (which are highly reminiscent of those advanced 

decades prior by Lucy Dawidowicz), as part of an avant-garde poised to make an important historical breakthrough: 

ñWe are on the verge, I believe, of a major reassessment of the epoch by Polish historiographyéò (at p. 129). At one 

point, after referring to some anecdotal material from the Lublin district, Gross even contends that the majority of Jews 

were killed not in the death camps, but in plain view of the Polish population, who ñby and large did little to impede it, 

to slow it down, or to interfere with itò (at p. 91). The existing scholarship clearly establishes that Gross is very far off 

the mark: the vast majority of Jews in that district, some 242,000 people, were murdered in the death camps (BeğŨec, 

Sobib·r, Treblinka, Majdanek); the number of Jews executed outside the camps, including labour camps, was relatively 

small, perhaps 10,000ï15,000. See T. [Tamara] Berenstein, ñMartyrologia, op·r i zagğada ludnoŜci Ũydowskiej w 

dystrykcie lubelskim,ò Biuletyn ŧydowskiego Instytutu Historycznego, no. 21 (1957): 32ï45; Janina KieğboŒ, Migracje 

ludnoŜci w dystrykcie lubelskim w latach 1939ï1944 (Lublin: PaŒstwowe Museum na Majdanku, 1995), 175ï76. The 

proportion of Jews executed outside camps in the districts of Warsaw, Radom and Krak·w, as well as in the so-called 

Wartheland, was even smaller. Moreover, Gross displays a remarkable lack of awareness of the extent and conditions 

of rescue in Poland and other countries (these are described below). Despite his cutting edge tone, Grossôs arguments 

are by no means novel. Moshe Bejski of the Yad Vashem Institute, who too claimed that ñin Poland possibilities of 

rescue by individuals did not exist in a lesser degree than they did elsewhere,ò offered the following explanation for the 

Nazisô modus operandi more than two decades ago: Where a criminal offenceðand such was in the Nazisô view aid to 

Jewsðhardly ever took place, as allegedly was the case in Poland, the penalty for it was escalated up to automatic 

execution on the spot, but where this kind of ñcrimeò was rampant, as allegedly was the case in Holland, the penalty 

was reduced. See ZajŃczkowski, Martyrs of Charity, Part One, 60. 

   In this regard, it is worth noting, first of all, that the effort to win informers, which in Poland escalated from material 

rewards to the death penalty for failing to inform, in Holland dropped to only 7İ gulden (about 2 U.S. dollars) from the 

original price of 50 to 70 florin. See Friedman, Their Brothersô Keepers, 184. Moreover, as we shall see, rescue of Jews 

in Holland was not a more frequent occurrence than in Poland and there are ample testimonies that show that betrayal 

was very common. See, for example, Martin Gilbert, The Righteous: The Unsung Heroes of the Holocaust (Toronto: 

Key Porter, 2003), 320ï55; Jozeph Michman and Bert Jan Flim, eds., The Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the 

Nations: Rescuers of Jews during the Holocaust, vols. 2 and 3: Netherlands, Part One and Two (Jerusalem: Yad 

Vashem, 2004), passim; Mordecai Paldiel, Sheltering Jews: Stories of Holocaust Rescuers (Minneapolis: Fortress 

Press, 1996), 15, 169, 170; Mordecai Paldiel, The Righteous Among the Nations (Jerusalem: Yad Vashem; New York: 

HarperCollins, 2007), 53, 56, 98, 172, 208, 215, 251, 254, 519, 554; Emily Taitz, ed., Holocaust Survivors, vol. 1 

(Westport, Connecticut, and London, 2007), 24, 108; Interviews with Ursula Stern, Selma Wijnberg, and Jozef Wins, 

Internet: <http://www.sobiborinterviews.nl/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=6>. The so-called 

Henneicke Column (Colonne Henneicke), a group of 54 Dutch Nazis who hunted down Jews for blood money (Jew 

hunters were paid out of the proceeds of stolen Jewish property), caught between 8,000ï9,000 Jews, which represents 

almost half of the Jews who attempted to hide. They first extorted money from the Jews, and then when the Germans 

started paying large rewards they handed over Jews to the Gestapo. Few of these Jews would have been apprehended 

without some form of betrayal or denunciation by ordinary citizens. The work was based on tip-offs. The Henneicke 

Column had a vast network of informants who fed him information by post and telephone. See Ad van Liempt, 
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Kopgeld: Niederlandse premiejagers op zoek naar joden, 1943 (Amsterdam: Balans, 2002). Those who were caught 

sheltering Jews were often not punished at all, others faced short detentions, and in severe cases a small number were 

sent to concentration camps. 

   Glib remarks about Polish conduct during the war should be contrasted with the balanced assessment made by 

Columbia University historian Isvt§n De§k, who wrote perceptively: ñThe penalty for assisting or even trading with a 

Jew in German-occupied Poland was death, a fact that makes all comparisons between wartime Polish-Jewish relations 

and, say, Danish-Jewish relations blatantly unfair. Yet such comparisons are made again and again in Western 

historiesðand virtually always to the detriment of Poles, with scarce notice taken of the fifty thousand to one hundred 

thousand Jews said to have been saved by the efforts of Poles to hide or otherwise help them. é it was far easier for a 

Pole to be a part of the underground resistance than to help a Jew.ò See Istv§n De§k, Essays on Hitlerôs Europe 

(Lincoln and London: University of Nebraska Press, 2001), 71, 143. Empirical studies carried out by historian Gunnar 

S. Paulsson on the rescue efforts in the Warsaw area (referred to below) not only confirm wartime reports about the 

numbers of Jews sheltered by Poles, but also that the incidence of rescue in Poland was no less frequent than in 

Western European countries such as Holland and France, and much higher than in the Czech Protectorate and other 

Eastern European countries occupied by Germany. The number of Jews rescued by the Christian Polesðwho 

numbered no more than 23 million in 1939 (this was before their large wartime losses of some two to three million and 

massive deportations to the Soviet Union and Germany)ðis variously estimated: 50,000 according to Philip Friedman; 

80,000 according to Szymon Datner of the Jewish Historical Institute in Warsaw; and 100ï120,000 according to Joseph 

Kermish from the Yad Vashem Institute in Jerusalem. Given that most of the Jewish population was expelled from the 

Polish territories incorporated directly into the Third Reich before the Holocaust got underway in 1942 (except for the 

hermetically sealed Ğ·dŦ ghetto), Polish rescue activity was confined largely to the Generalgouvernement, where some 

11 million Poles resided, and to a much lesser extent the Polish territories to the north and east. 

   By way of comparison, in Holland, a country with a Christian population of about 9 million and a highly integrated 

Jewish population of 140,000, 115,000 Jews were deported to Nazi camps with a high degree of Dutch cooperation. It 

is estimated that only some 7,000 out of the 25,000 Jews who attempted to hide survived; the higher figure of 16,000 

who survived in Holland appears to include 8,000 to 9,000 intermarried Jews and another 4,000 belonging to other 

special categories exempt from deportation. (Such ñspecial categoriesò of exempt Jews were unknown in occupied 

Poland, but in Berlin there some 800 ñprivileged Jewò married to Gentiles who were spared.) See Raul Hilberg, The 

Destruction of the European Jews, Revised and definitive edition (New York: Holmes & Meier, 1985), vol. 2, 593ï94. 

Despite the fact that Dutch rescue activity was neither numerically nor relatively a more frequent occurrence than that 

of the Poles, Holland has enjoyed a rather favourable treatment in Holocaust writing and public opinion. In fact, 

denunciation was rampant and rescue in Holland faced obstacles similar to those in Poland: ñIn the Netherlands, for 

instance, experience taught the hosts as well as the hiders that movement and frequent changes of hiding places were 

essential for survival. There were blackmailers anxious to inform on a Jew in hiding in return for even a petty reward. 

The Gestapo é routinely paid one quart of brandy, four pounds of sugar, and a carton of cigarettes, or a small amount 

of money, to anyone turning in a Jew.ò See Mordecai Paldiel, Sheltering the Jews: Stories of Holocaust Rescuers 

(Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1996), 15. In recent years, Hollandôs rescue efforts have undergone considerable 

downward reassessment. See, for example, Suzanne D. Rutland, ñA Reassessment of the Dutch Record During the 

Holocaust,ò in John K. Roth and Elisabeth Maxwell, eds., Remembering for the Future: The Holocaust in an Age of 

Genocide (Houndmills, Basingstoke, Hampshire and New York: Palgrave, 2001), vol. 1, 527ï42, which makes the 

important point the Dutch were far more likely to collaborate with the Germans than fight in the resistance. By way of 

further comparison, it is estimated that no more than 500 Jews were rescued by the Czechs, then a nation of about 7 

million, who too generally enjoy a favourable treatment in Holocaust literature. See Livia Rothkirchen, ñCzech 

Attitudes towards the Jews during the Nazi Regime,ò Yad Vashem Studies, vol. 13 (1979): 314: ñAt the end of the war, 

it is estimated that about 424 persons survived óundergroundô in Bohemia and Moravia, some hiding with Czech friends 

and acquaintances, and others living under assumed names or with forged Christian papers.ò This article was reprinted 

in Michael R. Marrus, ed., The Nazi Holocaust: Historical Articles on the Destruction of European Jews (Public 

Opinion and Relations to the Jews in Nazi Occupied Europe) (Westport, Connecticut and London: Meckler, 1989), vol. 

1, part 5, 415ï48. Neither Dutch nor Czechoslovak Christians, whose global wartime losses were in the vicinity of 

100,000 and 75,000 respectively (as opposed to Polish losses of up to three million), routinely had to face summary 

execution if caught concealing or otherwise assisting Jews, as was the case in Poland. 

   Regarding Norway, historian Istv§n De§k wrote in The New York Review of Books (ñHolocaust Heroes,ò November 

5, 1992): ñNorwayôs Response to the Holocaust: A Historical Perspective [New York: Holocaust Library, 1991], by 

Samuel Abrahamsen, is a book sponsored by the óThanks to Scandinaviaô Foundation ... but having read this eminently 

objective account, I wonder why Jews should be particularly thankful, at least in the case of Norway. Nearly half of 

that countryôs minuscule Jewish population of 1,600 (0.05 percent of the total population) was killed during the war 

and, as Abrahamsen, a professor emeritus at Brooklyn College in New York, points out, none would have died without 

Norwegian collaboration. Norway had only a few convinced Nazis but enough anti-Semites and law-abiding policemen 

and bureaucrats to make the Final Solution a near-success. To begin with, the small number of Jews in Norway was the 

result of a long and, at least to me, astonishing tradition of anti-Semitism combined with an extremely restrictive 

interwar immigration law that kept out nearly all refugees from Nazi terror. During the war, many Norwegians who 



 26 

                                                                                                                                                                             
would otherwise not have helped the Germans, took part in registering, arresting, and handing over Jews to the German 

authorities. As for the powerful Norwegian resistance movement, it resembled all the other European resistance 

movements in caring little about what happened to the Jews. Just as elsewhere, there were thousands of decent 

Norwegians who helped hundreds of Jews escape, for the most part across the Swedish border.ò Those Norwegian Jews 

who did survive the war were not sheltered in Norway for long years, as was the case in Poland, but took refuge in 

Sweden where they were out of reach of the Germans. Only a few dozen Jews actually survived by hiding in Norway. 

See Raul Hilberg, The Destruction of the European Jews, Third edition (New Haven and London: Yale University 

Press, 2003), vol. 2, 584ï89. One should further add that, unlike in Poland, where German forces were plentiful and the 

degree of control absolute, the objective conditions for rescue were far more favourable in Western European countries 

like the Netherlands, Norway and Vichy France, as ñGerman manpower was stretched very thinò and ñlocal 

administrative assistance was essential in registering, arresting, and deporting the Jews and Gypsies.ò See Donald 

Niewyk and Francis Nicosia, The Columbia Guide to the Holocaust (New York: Columbia University Press, 2000), 

87ï88. 

   As for the accomplishments of Poles in rescuing Jews, the most in-depth study is that conducted by Gunnar S. 

Paulsson, who has summarized some of his findings about conditions in Warsaw in an article entitled, ñThe Rescue of 

Jews by Non-Jews in Nazi-Occupied Poland,ò which appeared in The Journal of Holocaust Education, vol. 7, nos. 1 & 

2 (summer/autumn 1998): 19ï44, as follows: ñIn the league of people who are known to have risked their lives to 

rescue Jews, Poland stands at the very top, accounting for more than a third of all the óRighteous Gentilesô. é Of the 

27,000 Jewish fugitives in Warsaw, 17,000 were still alive 15 months after the destruction of the ghetto, on the eve of 

the Polish uprising in 1944. Of the 23,500 who were not drawn in by the Hotel Polski scheme, 17,000 survived until 

then. Of these 17,000, 5,000 died in the 1944 Warsaw Uprising, and about 10,500 were still alive at liberation. é As it 

happens, there is an excellent standard of comparison, because it is estimated that in the Netherlands, 20ï25,000 Jews 

went into hidingðabout the same number as in Warsawðof whom 10ï15,000 survivedðagain, about the same 

number. é The conclusion, then, is quite startling: leaving aside acts of war and Nazi perfidy, a Jewôs chances of 

survival in hiding were no worse in Warsaw, at any rate, than in the Netherlands. é The small number of survivors, 

therefore, is not a direct result of Polish hostility to the Jews é The Jews were deported from the ghettos to the death 

camps, not by Poles, but by German gendarmes, reinforced by Ukrainian and Baltic auxiliaries, and with the enforced 

co-operation of the ghetto police. Neither the Polish police nor any group of Polish civilians was involved in the 

deportations to any significant degree, nor did they staff the death camps. Nor did the fate of the Jews who were taken 

to their deaths depend to any significant degree on the attitudes and actions of a people from whom they were isolated 

by brick walls and barbed wire. é the 27,000 Jews in hiding in Warsaw relied on about 50ï60,000 people who 

provided hiding-places and another 20ï30,000 who provided other forms of help; on the other hand, blackmailers, 

police agents, and other actively anti-Jewish elements numbered perhaps 2ï3,000, each striking at two or three victims 

a month. In other words, helpers outnumbered hunters by about 20 or 30 to one. The active helpers of Jews thus made 

up seven to nine per cent of the population of Warsaw; the Jews themselves, 2.7 per cent; the hunters, perhaps 0.3 per 

cent; and the whole networkðJews, helpers and huntersðconstituted a secret city of at least 100,000: one tenth of the 

people of Warsaw; more than twice as many as the 40,000 members of the vaunted Polish military underground, the 

AK. é How many people in Poland rescued Jews? Of those that meet Yad Vashemôs criteriaðperhaps 100,000. Of 

those that offered minor forms of helpðperhaps two or three times as many. Of those who were passively protectiveð

undoubtedly the majority of the population. All these acts, great and small, were necessary to rescue Jews in Poland.ò 

   Another study of this topic by Gunnar S. Paulsson, entitled ñThe Demography of Jews Hiding in Warsaw, 1943ï

1944,ò appeared in Polin: Studies in Polish Jewry, vol. 13 (2000): 78ï103. There Paulsson wrote (at pp. 96, 99): 

ñDespite frequent house searches and the prevailing Nazi terror in Warsaw (conditions absent in the Netherlands), and 

despite extortionists, blackmailers, and antisemitic traditions (much less widespread in the Netherlands), the chance 

that a Jew in hiding would be betrayed seems to have been lower in Warsaw than in the Netherlands. é it is clear that 

Warsaw was the most important centre of rescue activity, certainly in Poland and probably in the whole of occupied 

Europe. é The 27,000 Jews in hiding there also constituted undoubtedly the largest group of its kind in Europe.ò See 

also Gunnar S. Paulsson, ñEvading the Holocaust: The Unexplored Continent of Holocaust Historiography,ò in John K. 

Roth and Elisabeth Maxwell, Remembering for the Future: The Holocaust in an Age of Genocide (Houndmills, 

Basingstoke, Hampshire and New York: Palgrave, 2001), vol. 1, 302ï318; Gunnar S. Paulsson, ñRingelblum Revisited: 

Polish-Jewish Relations in Occupied Warsaw, 1940ï1945,ò in Joshua D. Zimmerman, Contested Memories: Poles and 

Jews during the Holocaust and Its Aftermath (New Brunswick, New Jersey and London: Rutgers University Press, 

2003), 173ï92; Gunnar S. Paulsson, Secret City: The Hidden Jews of Warsaw, 1940ï1945 (New Haven and London: 

Yale University Press, 2002), passim. 

   Wacğaw ZajŃczkowski has pointed out the inherent distortion in assessing the willingness of the local population to 

help the Jews by stressing the number of Jews actually saved as a proportion of the countryôs prewar population: ñHere, 

again, Catholic Poland is severely censored because the number of Jews saved by the Poles is unfavorably compared 

with the great number of Jews permitted since immemorable times to enjoy Polish tolerance and hospitality.ò As 

ZajŃczkowski points out, this fallacy was remarked on by historian Teresa Prekerowa, who was active in the ŧegota, 

the wartime Council for Aid to Jews, in her book, Konspiracyjna Rada Pomocy ŧydom w Warszawie 1942ï1945 

(Warsaw: PaŒstwowy Instytut Wydawniczy 1982), 324ï26. ñHuge numbers of Jews to be saved in Poland certainly did 
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not make the job easier than did the minute number of Jews to be saved in Denmark.ò See ZajŃczkowski, Martyrs of 

Charity, Part One, 61. Unfortunately, this fallacy permeates much of Holocaust literature. After acknowledging that 

ŧegota helped some 50,000 Jews, the entry ñPoland: Jewish Polish Relations During the Warò in Encyclopaedia 

Judaica (Jerusalem: The MacMillan Company, 1971), vol. 13, column 777ò, goes on to state: ñOf all the occupied 

countries, the percentage of Jews saved in Poland was the smallest, since the predominant attitude was hostile, while 

rescue an exception to the rule.ò Reliance on such statistical manipulations masks the inherently unfair expectation that 

Poles should have saved significantly more Jews than others, despite their incomparably more difficult objective 

circumstances (which are generally ignored), simply because Polandôs Jewish population was numerically much larger. 

The holders of such views also somehow manage to overlook the fact that it took heroic individuals to rescue 

individual Jews in every countryðone was not rescuing a percentage of the population. There is no evidence that the 

number of persons taking part in rescue activities in Poland, as a proportion of the total population, was smaller than in 

any other country under German occupation. The same lack of balance is evident in other statements found throughout 

Encyclopaedia Judaica, where patently untrue variations on the theme of lack of Polish assistance are harped on. For 

example, in vol. 8, column 876, one reads: ñWith the exception of the Polish-Soviet area, the extent of indigenous anti-

Semitism generally had no bearing on the number of victims.ò The fallacy of this argument, in relation to countries 

such as France, Holland and Norway, is all too apparent. 

   In Western Europe, the extent of Jewish vulnerability varied with the degree of German control exercised within a 

particular jurisdiction. The fewer the escape routes, the tighter the controls, the further removed geographically, and the 

smaller the number of Jews, the proportion of Jews who perished rose dramatically. For a survey of conditions in 

Holland and France, see Hilberg, The Destruction of the European Jews, Third edition, vol. 2, 600ï32 (The 

Netherlands), and 645ï703 (France). According to Raul Hilberg, ñIn the Netherlands the Jews were destroyed with a 

thoroughness comparable to the relentless uprooting process in the Reich itself.ò Although Holland had no puppet 

regime, the local bureaucracy and police played a pivotal role in the Final Solution. The various Dutch police forcesð

the Security Police, the Order Police, the Dutch police from Amsterdam and the Hague, the Dutch auxiliary police (not 

to mention the Jewish Order Police from Westerbork)ðwere crucial to the success of German designs. Ninety percent 

of the Amsterdam police reportedly cooperated with the round-ups, and a German occupation official proclaimed after 

the war that without the Dutch police ñit would have been practically impossible to seize even ten percent of Dutch 

Jewry.ò In the small towns and villages ñboth the local mayors and the police were complicit in the round-ups.ò 

Westerbork, the transit camp where Dutch Jews were loaded onto trains for the gassing centres, was guarded by the 

illustrious Royal Marechaussee, comparable to the Royal Canadian Mounted Police. Equally accommodating and 

essential to the Germans were the personnel of the Dutch transport system who hauled the Jews from the localities to 

Westerbork and thence east, i.e., to the border where German railroad personnel took over. See Bob Moore, Victims 

and Survivors: The Nazi Persecution of the Jews in the Netherlands 1940ï1945 (London: Arnold; New York: St. 

Martinôs, 1997), passim. However, inside Westerbork, the Germans set up an elaborate Jewish camp directorate, Jewish 

clerks made up weekly lists of Jews for deportation, and the Jewish order police supervised the loading of Jews onto 

trains. That the survival rate was as high as it was had to do in large measure with the exemption created for 8,000ï

9,000 Jews in mixed marriages and some 4,000 Jews in special categories who were spared deportation to the death and 

concentration camps. See Hilberg, The Destruction of the European Jews, Third edition, vol. 2, 619, 622ï24, 229 n139. 

   Regarding the situation in France, historian Michael R. Marrus states: ñThe Germans needed and received a great 

deal of assistance from the French to carry out their plans. é Most of the work was done by the French police. ... it 

seems highly unlikely that the Germans would have been capable of deporting large numbers of Jews from France 

without the help provided by the French authorities. é Unlike Poland, where there was always a heavy German police 

presence, there were few men to spare for Franceðonly three battalions for the occupied zone, for example, or about 

three thousand men.ò Therefore reliance on the French police to carry out the round-up and deportation of the Jews was 

absolutely essential. See ñFrance: The Jews and the Holocaust,ò in Israel Gutman, ed., Encyclopedia of the Holocaust 

(New York: Macmillan; London: Collier Macmillan, 1990), vol. 2, 509ï13; see also the entry for the infamous French 

assembly and detention camp in the Paris suburb of Drancy in vol. 1, 404ï6. By way of comparison, there were about 

150,000 SS or Waffen SS stationed in Poland in 1944. See Teresa Prekerowa, Zegota: Commission dôaide aux Juifs 

(Monaco: £ditions du Rocher, 1999), 285. American historian Joseph Rothschild writes: ñthe achievements of the 

Polish resistance movement were indeed prodigious. It tied down approximately 500,000 German occupation troops 

and, according to official German figures, prevented one out of every eight Wehrmacht transports headed for the 

Russian front from reaching its destination. é And Poland was the only Axis-occupied country in Europe without a 

quisling.ò See Joseph Rothschild, Return to Diversity: A Political History of East Central Europe Since World War II, 

Second edition (New York: Oxford University Press, 1993), 28. The peak strength and accomplishments of the Polish 

underground occurred in 1944ï1945; by that time, however, the Holocaust of Polish Jews was essentially over. 

   A recent revelation of the extent of West European complicity in the Holocaust came in January 1993 with the release 

of documents implicating the English authorities on the Channel Island of Guernsey of close cooperation with the 

German military in identifying and tracking down that occupied islandôs small Jewish community. Only one member of 

the eight-member cabinet categorically refused his assent to anti-Jewish edicts. As indicated earlier, the Holocaust in 

Poland was not dependent on such forms of collaboration. See ñGuernsey officials put Jews into Nazi hands, records 

show,ò The Toronto Star, January 6, 1993; Madeleine Bunting, The Model Occupation: The Channel Islands under 
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German occupiers, naturally had an impact on the attitude of the local population. According to historian 

Arno Mayer, they ñbecame indifferent to the torments of the Jews less because of any residual Judeophobia 

                                                                                                                                                                             
German Rule, 1940ï1945, Revised paperback edition (London: HarperCollins, 1996). Writing about the Holocaust in 

Belgium, historian Jean-Philippe Schreiber arrived at a conclusion that aptly sums up the experience of the Jewish 

population throughout Western Europe: The truth of the matter was that, as elsewhere, the average Belgian ñdoes not 

like the Jews.ò (Indeed, anti-Semitism was pervasive in Western countries in the interwar period even though Jews 

constituted a microscopic minority.) Moreover, ñthe suggestion that there would be a direct link between democratic 

values and a century of emancipation of the Jews in Western Europe and a widespread readiness to help them is 

superficial and not substantiated by the facts revealed through a close analysis of the rescuers.ò See Jean-Philippe 

Schreiber, ñBelgium and the Jews Under Nazi Rule: Beyond the Myths,ò in David Bankier and Israel Gutman, eds., 

Nazi Europe and the Final Solution (Jerusalem: Yad Vashem The Holocaust Martyrsô and Heroesô Remembrance 

Authority and The International Institute for Holocaust Research, 2003), 480. 

   Szymon Datner, an historian with the Jewish Historical Museum in Warsaw, arrived at the following balanced 

assessment on conditions in occupied Poland: ñOn the other hand, to speak concretely of the attitude of Poles toward 

Jews: the majority of Poles behaved passively, but that can be explained by the terror and also by the fact that Poles, 

too, were being systematically murdered on a mass scale by the Germans. On the other hand, aside from passivity, 

which I regard as entirely justified by a situation in which every action was heroic, there also existed an indifference 

that I regard as negativeðalthough even here one could look for a psychological explanation. Next, as if on parallel 

lines, come two active groups. Those who betrayed, attacked, or murdered either from a desire for gain or out of pure 

hatred, and those who sheltered Jews and aided them in various ways. The second group was more numerous and more 

representative both of Poles and of the leadership of the Polish underground. Yet the first group was more effective in 

its actions. We sometimes forget that saving one Jew often took several or even a dozen or more people, with actions 

that generally lasted for long years. On the other hand, one person and one moment were enough to betray a Jew. 

Second, many attempts at aid ended in failure. Both the Jew and the Pole sheltering him died, and this is not counted in 

the positive statistics.ò See Mağgorzata Niezabitowska, Remnants: The Last Jews of Poland (New York: Friendly Press, 

1986), 249ï50. 

   As alluded to already, successfully sheltering a Jew in Poland was rarely the accomplishment or one person, or even 

one family. Commenting on the estimate of 100,000 Polish rescuers made by Joseph Kermish of the Yad Vashem 

Institute, in an open letter to Bônai Bôrith dated February 7, 1996, Joseph S. Kutrzeba wrote: ñThis may still be a very 

conservative view, for it is generally ascertained that it was impossible for anyone to singly save a Jew during World 

War II in Poland; rather, it had taken the cooperation of a number of persons to achieve thisðPoland being the only 

country in Nazi-occupied Europe where a death penalty was mandated for assisting a Jew in any way. In my own case, 

it had taken the cooperation of nine persons to save my life, not including some 20 whoôd aided me along the way. 

Only one has been recognized by Yad Vashem.ò Hanna Krall, a well-known journalist and author, counted 45 Poles 

who risked their lives to shelter her. See Polityka (Warsaw), April 20, 1968. Anna Forkasiewicz identified three Polish 

families (consisting of 11 people), three individual Poles, four priests, and a boarding school run by nuns. Her 

testimony is found in Andrzej Chciuk, ed., Saving Jews in War-Torn Poland 1939ï1945 (Clayton, Victoria: Wilke and 

Company, 1969), 26ï27. Another Jewish woman had to change hiding places 25 times. See Nathan Gross, ñUnlucky 

Clara,ò Yad Vashem Bulletin, no. 10ï11 (1956): 34. The renowned immunologist Ludwik Hirszfeld moved eleven 

times. See Ludwik Hirszfeld, Historia jednego Ũycia (Warsaw: Czytelnik 1946; Pax, 1957), translated as The Story of 

One Life (Rochester: Rochester University Press, 2010). When asked ñWhat help did the residents of Warsaw provide 

to people of Jewish origin who hid?ò, Wğadysğaw Szpilman, the protagonist of Roman PolaŒskiôs film The Pianist, 

replied: ñA great deal. Poland is not an anti-Semitic country. Those who state the opposite donôt speak the truth and 

perform a bad service that is hostile to Poland. Let us remember that for taking part in rescue activities on behalf of 

Jews one was threatened with death. Not everyone could muster up the strength to run this risk. Not everyone is born a 

hero. At least thirty Poles were engaged in rescuing me. At least thirty, at the risk of their lives.ò See Tadeusz Knade, 

ñWğadysğaw Szpilman ostatni wywiad,ò Rzeczpospolita, October 12, 2002. Unfortunately, such opinions are generally 

overlooked or discounted, whereas a great deal of unwarranted legitimacy is given to extremely unfavourable, 

impressionsistic views about Poles which fly in the face of in-depth research such as Paulssonôs (cited above). For 

example, Calek Perechodnik, a Jewish policeman from the town of Otwock near the outskirts of Warsaw who 

dispatched his own wife and daughter to Treblinka, claims that only one out of every 10,000 Poles was prepared to help 

Jews in any way, which translates to a little over 2,000 Poles in all of Poland. See Calek Perechodnik, SpowiedŦ 

(Warsaw: Karta, 2004). Unfortunately, such views are widely held and disseminated. Interviewed on Dutch television 

in 1979, former Israeli Prime Minister Menachem Begin stated: ñWhat concerns the Jews, the Poles were collaborating 

with the Germans. Of the thirty-five million of Poles [actually, there were no more than 23 million ethnic Poles at that 

timeðM.P.], only at most one hundred people have been helping Jews. Between ten and twenty thousand Polish priests 

did not save even one Jewish life. All these death camps were (therefore) established on Polish soil.ò See Stewart 

Stevens, The Poles (London: Collins/Harvill, 1982), 317. 
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than because they, too, were being terrorized and brutalized, even if to a lesser extent.ò
61

 One must reject, 

therefore, the charges that Poles were not just innocent bystanders and that they failed to act (that is, to defy 

the might of the Nazis!) because the Jews remained outside their sense or circle of moral responsibility. 

First of all, neither the Jewish nor Christian religion imposes a duty on someone to risk their life for another 

person. Secondly, most Jews considered themselves to be a nation apart from the Poles, and the Poles, as 

the ñother,ò remained outside the Jewsô sense or circle of moral responsibility. Finally, very few people in 

Western Europe came to the assistance of Jews even though they risked no punishment for doing so, as it 

was not forbidden by law, or perhaps a monetary fine or short period of incarceration.    

   The ability of the average Pole to extend assistance to anyone, for any significant period of time, was also 

severely circumscribed by the poverty that afflicted most of the population.
62

 Even before the war Poland 

was one of the poorest countries in Europe and its workers were among the lowest paid. The average 

working family occupied a one-room dwelling, usually without a toilet and running water, often without 

electricity, and almost never with gas. These tiny dwellings were generally occupied by five or more 

people. The Great Depression hit Poland hard and the country struggled to try to attain pre-World War I 

economic levels. In the countryside, millions of impoverished families owned little or no land and lived in 

humble one or two-room cottages, often with dirt floors. After the German invasion, conditions deteriorated 

considerably and soon destitution became the norm for most city dwellers and farmers. It was therefore 

extremely difficult, if not impossible, for the average Pole to care for a Jew for an extended period of 

time.
63

 The advantage that farmers had over town dwellers was space, in the form of a barn and a small plot 

of land, and privacy, provided their farm was at the edge of or outside a village. However, rarely did they 

have enough food to share with others for any duration. The assistance provided was therefore, generally 

casual or short term and usually without charge. Such assistance was widespread. Jewish fugitives had to 

rely on a number of Poles to survive and often had to resort to petty theft whichðunlike robberyðmost 

farmers grudgingly tolerated: 

 

My father [Isaac Gamss] and uncles began taking turns sneaking out at night in search of food. In 

the summer, they stole plums, apples, and pears from neighborsô gardens. And they went into fields 

to gather carrots, radishes, tomatoes, and onionsðvegetables that could be eaten raw. 

   Besides what they picked outside, they also gathered food that sympathetic neighbors left out for 

them on doorsteps. Because they knew that as Jews we kept kosher, neighbors mostly set out 

potatoes, beans, or bread. From time to time, my father and uncles chanced knocking on the doors 
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of casual acquaintances. Often they were turned away with angry replies, which was not surprising. 

Even if they were not anti-Semitic, Poles were terrified of being caught helping a Jew.
64

 

 

When [Jews] had neither money nor goods to exchange, they begged for food or stole it. This was 

the case with Szoszana Atğasowicz, who while hiding with her brothers exchanged various items 

with the peasants. When that source of income was exhausted, she was forced to steal. In her 

testimony she writes, ñIn the beginning, at night, the Poles would let us into their houses, and we 

would exchange some items of clothing and other objects for food. Later on, the Poles were afraid 

of a Jew as if he had been a ghost; they shut their door before us. So we stole from the basements 

[food storage cellars] and granaries; usually turnips, carrots, potatoes. Weôd bring the loot into our 

hideout.ò
65

 

 

   The notion that Poles were eager to see the Jews being mistreated and abused by the Germans and 

relished in their misfortune is discredited by first-hand observers, as many Jewish testimonies attest to.
66

 

Most Poles were appalled at the treatment the Germans meted out to Jews. General Johannes Blaskowitz, 

commander of the Eighth German Army during the September 1939 campaign and subsequently 

Commander-in-Chief of the Eastern Territories, wrote to Field Marshal Walther von Brauchitsch, the 

Commander-in-Chief of the German Army, in his report of February 6, 1940: ñThe acts of violence carried 

out in public against Jews are arousing in religious Poles [literally, ñin the Polish population, which is 

fundamentally pious (or God-fearing)ò] not only the deepest disgust but also a great sense of pity for the 
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Jewish population.ò
67

 A Jewish eyewitness from Parczew recalled that the burial of 200 Jewish prisoners of 

war executed by the Germans in February 1940 ñmade a huge impression on the population both Jewish 

and Polish.ò
68

 Villagers from Wyszk·w near Dolina described ñwith horrorò how the Gestapo murdered 

hundreds of Hungarian Jews in the summer of 1941.
69

 On two different occasions, when the Germans were 

parading or humiliating the Jews before killing them, Bruno Shatyn observed: ñThe Poles lined the 

sidewalks, looking on in absolute silence, as though frozen in place.ò Also: ñPoles gathered on the 

sidewalks, incredulous, some crossing themselves at this monstrous sight.ò
70

 

   Rabbi Chaim Yitchok Wolgelernter noted in his memoir that most Poles in Dziağoszyce displayed 

empathy, prayer, and crying as the Jews were taken by the Germans to be shot.
71

 According to Rabbi 

Wolgelernter, 

 

It was easier to save oneself in the countryside. The simple peasant did not feel hatred towatds us; 

on the contrary, he always contacted Jews eagerly and trusted them in every matter. If a Jew did not 

entrust his belongings to him to care for, there was no reason to harm him or do him wrong. The 
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peasants empathized with us in our suffering and misfortune. They showed this by welcoming us 

with bread and water. It was true they were fearful of letting us into their homes but the reason for 

that was that, in every village, notices were posted warning that whoever takes a Jew in or gives 

him a piece of bread would pay with their life. Notwithstanding, when things quietened down a 

little, they let us sleep in their barns, and they even took women and children into their homes.
72

 

 

A survivor from Radom recalled: 

 

All inmates of the Szkolna Street camp [in Radom] were lined up by the Germans and ordered to 

march in the direction of Opoczno. The S.S. men hurried the tardy marchers along with the aid of 

their clubs and whips. The Jews all marched togetherðold men, women, children and the sick. é 

They passed farms and hamlets and noticed how the Polish villagers locked themselves behind their 

doors, hoping thus to shut out the sight of the Jewish prisoners walking and falling again toward an 

unknown destination. é 

   They were marched to the railroad station to board a train; no one suspected that these were death 

trains speeding to the crematoria. Some of the Polish railroad men working on the wheels of the 

locomotive whispered to the prisoners: 

   ñYou poor beggars, theyôre taking you to Auschwitz. Save yourselves, if you can.ò
73

 

 

A Jewish underground journal, Undzere Weg, wrote on March 1, 1942: 

 

The Poles, who avoided any negotiations and contacts with the Germans and who didnôt want to 

hear anything about establishing a Polish government which would obey the Germans and their 

rulers, announced their sympathy for the tortured Jews on every occasion. That was the reaction 

from members of the Polish intelligentsia, the Polish workers and peasants; they stressed that the 

Poles, as a people with beliefs, a politically mature people, would not be tempted to catch the racial 

hook. é The occupier did everything in his power to isolate the Jews from the Poles.
74

 

 

These accounts, and many others, contradict the selectively-chosen ones of Poles rejoicing at Jewish 

suffering. A thorough review of the Polish underground press of all political stripes has not revealed any 

evidence of approval for the crimes of the Holocaust; on the contrary, those involved in atrocities 
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committed against the Jews were unequivocally condemned by all political factions, including those on the 

extreme right.
75

 

   We must be cautious in attributing ñindifferenceò to the passivity most of the population (including the 

vast majority of the Jews) demonstrated in the face of relentless German terror. Such charges are 

unpalatable if they come from the mouth or pen of someone who does not have an exemplary record of 

humanitarian accomplishments or has not displayed personal heroism. Fair-minded Jews who lived through 

those times eschew such generalizations. Rabbi Abraham D. Feffer, a Holocaust survivor from Drobin, 

wrote: 

 

Yet many fortunate survivors from my own shtetl, remember well and with great fondness and 

admiration the help of the brave Christian farmers who lived in nearby villages where we worked on 

cold winter days. (In Poland, hiding a Jew, or feeding him was punishable by death, usually hanging). 

We remember how these men and women, at great peril, opened their poor ñchatkisò [cottages] to 

share with us warm soup, bread and potatoes.76 

 

Z. Ben-Moshe from the town of Ğask wrote about both named and unnamed rescuers, none of whom have 

ever been recognized as Righteous by Yad Vashem: 

 

We must remined [sicðbe mindful of] all those people, not Jews, who gave their hand to save many 

of our town when they escaped from the Nazi murderers. Also in Lask [Ğask] there were good 

Christians who suffered seeing how the Jews of their town suffered. In the hard days of distress and 

banishment, they endangered themselves by hiding Jews and giving them from their bread. 

Gabrionchik and his wife from Lask [Ğask]; he gave documents and food [to] two escapers: Vovtche 

Raichbard and Shmuel Friedman. A Christian woman emerged as a saver-angel, when they had to 

pass the boundary of the German protectorate [i.e., into the Generalgouvernement]. Heinzel, 

Skibinski [SkibiŒski]ôs son-in-law, guided the two to the Polish secret organization in order to receive 

German documents, and hid them in his home some days. He gave them the address of Zvi 

Michalovitz in Grushkovitza [Gorzkowice], and did so that they would be accepted by a priest, who 

was the chief of the secret organization in this place. This priest, whose name is unknown, accepted 

them with bright face, and immediately gave them the necessary documents. The young Christian, 

who knew they were Jews, hid them in her parentsô house, telling them these two are Polish officers 

from Varsha [Warsaw], who escaped from the Gestapo. 

   The Polish policeman Krakovski [Krakowski], who saved Zvi Michalovitz from the death-waggon 

[sic], just in the last minute, and brought him to a refuge place. The family Banashchiek, who hid him 

in the threshing-floor, and gave him all he needed for lessons he gave their children in the nights. é 

The villagers who disperse pieces of bread and turnip on the ways, for the caravans of hungry people, 
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who went under the watching of the S.S. The villagers who gave their shoes to barefooted and weak. 

How can we forget the villagers who refused to give food [to] the watchers of the women-caravans 

who were transported from work-camp. Shraga Noiman tells about a Polish boy who worked as an 

electrician in Kolomna. He offered to save the whole group of Jews that worked there, and to transfer 

them to a secure place near Varsha. This electrician and his fellows, who acted a period of time to 

save Jews, were caught at last by the Nazis.77 

 

   Matus Radzivilover, a cantor who hails from Warsaw, stated: 

 

I never had the tendency to be a nationalist. I am positively devoted to my Jewish brethren and I am 

proud of my heritage, but I also loved the country of my birth, Poland. I loved my neighbors, the 

Poles I grew up with and lived with in love and peace. I never accused them of failing to help us 

because they were in great danger themselves. Hundreds of thousands of them were killed or deported 

to concentration camps. They paid their price under Nazism, too. Hitlerôs intentions were to 

exterminate the Poles after he was done with the Jews.78 

 

   About the Polesô reaction to the plight of the Jews, Raul Hilberg, whose knowledge of archival sources is 

second to none, wrote: 

 

For some right-wing Poles, who had always wanted the Jews to depart, the deportations came 

virtually as a wish fulfillment. The broader center, however, had more complex thoughts. Poles 

knew that they were not a favored group in German eyes, and the realization that the end had come 

for the Jews inevitably raised questions whether the Poles would be next. The reaction was 

observed in Volhynia, and it surfaced again in the Lublin District, where the Germans followed 

their roundup of the Jews with a more benign, but forcible resettlement of Poles from one zone to 

another.
79

 

 

Overall, the general Polish population is not mentioned in German documents in respect of its 

participation as harassing Jews and helping the Germans. To the contrary; many German reports 

indicate that Poles felt anxiety for their own safety after the Jews disappeared. There are some 

German documents that mention some Poles, notably Polish police, railroad-workers and low-level 

employees in German offices but there was no Polish central authority collaborating with the 

Germans, as we find in e.g. Norway and its Quisling government or France and its Vichy regime. 

This was never the case in Poland. 
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   As was the case in many European countries, there were also Polish individuals that played 

extortion games with Jews, but then there were also Poles that helped Jews under risk of facing 

death penalty from the German occupants. Both categories were relatively small in comparison to 

the general population, albeit one must take into consideration that most survivors made it through 

the war by Polish help and protection. A friend of mine, Bronia Klebanski, who is Jewish but lived 

on the ñAryanò side of society and was an active member of the Jewish underground in the 

Bialystok [Biağystok] area, once told me a story of how she at a time took the train during the war, 

and was suddenly pointed out by a little girl who yelled ñJew!ò. All the Polish passengers sat 

quietly, and nobody said anything to instigate further interest. This account is a small example of the 

general practice of non-collaboration among the Poles during the war. 

   é In Ukraine, contrary to Poland, where the Germans built secluded death camps, Jews were 

often massacred on the spot. The Nazi death camps in occupied Poland such as Treblinka, Belzec 

[BeğŨec], Sobibor [Sobib·r] and Chelmno [Cheğmno] were all hidden to the public.80 

 

Of all the native police forces in occupied Eastern Europe, those of Poland were least involved in 

anti-Jewish actions. é The Germans could not view them as collaborators, for in German eyes they 

were not even worthy of that role. They in turn could not join the Germans in major operations 

against Jews or Polish resistors, lest they be considered traitors by virtually every Polish onlooker. 

Their task in the destruction of the Jews was therefore limited.81 

 

   After the Jews were deported from the cities and towns, what property of value Jews left behind (by then, 

much of it had already been officially seized or privately looted by the Germans or sold or hidden away by 

the Jews themselves) was for the most part taken by the Germans. The less valuable items, including 

wooden cottages and market stands, were put up for sale by auction. Given the shortages of basic 

neccesities such as clothing and wood, it is not suprising that buyers could be found.
82

 Not all Poles, 

however, rushed to take over Jewish property. A Jewish memoir from Dziağoszyce memoir mentions that 

some local Poles took part in such auctions, while others did not. In fact, the Poles around Dziağoszyce 

came to the soon-to-be-doomed Jews and offered to buy their property in advance. ñWe have your benefit 

in mind,ò they explained. ñIf you sell us your possessions, at least youôll get some money out of it. With 

public auctions taking place all over, what do the Jews gain by leaving their things behind?ò The auction of 
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the remaining belongings of the Jews of Dziağoszyce eventually took place. The Polish farmers of nearby 

Szyszczyce refused to take part. Ironically, one of the chief duties the local Jewish collaborators was to 

empty Jewish houses of valuables so that they could be shipped to the Reichðall done so that the property 

would not get auctioned off and fall into the hands of the Poles.
83

 

   A Polish partisan from the Klimont·w area recalled: 

 

Several weeks after the deportation of the Jews of Klimontow [Klimont·w], the Nazis held an 

auction of the property left in the Jewish homes. As an eyewitness of the auction, I know for sure 

that no one in our village of Jeziory or in the neighboring villages bought anything at that auction. 

Our good people were saying, ñWhy should we buy Jewish property from the Nazi criminals? As 

soon as they liquidate the Jews, they will begin liquidating us.ò84 

 

In Biağa Rawska, abandoned Jewish homes remained empty throughout the war, and it was only with the 

encouragement of the Communist regime that they were occupied by the local poor after the war.
85

 Given 

the widespread poverty, it is not surprising that there was also a great deal of looting, even though this was 

a risky business as looters caught in the act could face severe punishment. Those who looted did not loot 

because the property belonged to Jews, but rather because it had been abandoned, as it were. There is more 

than ample evidence that looting is a universal phenomenon during warime and civil strife. It would be 

surprising if there was none under such conditions. Therefore, spontaneousðas opposed to (state) 

organizedðlooting should properly be attributed to opportunistic greed rather than to racial motives.
86
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Jewish porters in the Warsaw ghetto were notorious for stealing Jewish property (and acting as informers for the 
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Germans), as were Jewish gravediggers. Groups of teenagers, among others, also engaged in that lucrative activity. A 

memoir of a participant recalled how these youngsters descended on Warsawôs burial grounds and used ploers and 

knives to extract gold teeth, crowns and bridges from the mouths of corpses. See Bogdan Wojdowski, Bread for the 

Departed (Evanston, Illinois: Northwestern University Press, 1997), 299ï315. The Jewish police was second-to-none 

in their ability to extort money and other valuables, especially during deportations from the ghetto. Looting was a 

common occurrence when the size of the Warsaw ghetto was reduced due to population attrition: ñThe fact that the 

Jewish mob stole mercilessly from their fellow men during such shifts only magnified the feeling of contempt for those 

who were perishing.ò During the great deportation in the summer of 1942, they looted vacated apartments on a massive 

scale, amassing considerable fortunes for themselves. Afterwards, the remaining Jews widely looted property left 

behind by Jews seized for deportation and began dealing in such property on a massive scale. See Itamar Levin, Walls 

Around: The Plunder of Warsaw Jewry during World War II and Its Aftermath (Westport, Connecticut and London: 

Praeger, 2004), 90ï91, 96, 98, 149ï54; Barbara Engelking and Jacek Leociak, The Warsaw Ghetto: A Guide to the 

Perished City (New Haven, Connecticut and London: Yale University Press, 2009), 479, 749; Henryk Makower, 

Pamiňtnik z getta warszawskiego: PaŦdziernik 1940ïstyczeŒ 1943 (Wrocğaw: Zakğad Narodowy im. OssoliŒskich, 

1987), 62; Calel Perechodnik, Am I a Murderer?: Testament of a Jewish Ghetto Policeman (Boulder, Colorado: 

Westview Press/HarperCollins, 1996), 104; Engelking and Libionka, ŧydzi w powstaŒczej Warszawie, 279, 300, 306; 

Ludwik Hirszfeld, Ludwik Hirszfeld: The Story of One Life (Rochester, New York: University of Rochester Press, 

2010), 234, 235; Reicher, Country of Ash, 122. A Jewish woman who discovered a large cache of money (52,000 zğoty) 

during the Warsaw uprising of August 1944 thought nothing of dividing up the loot with her sister. See Alejandro 

Parisi, El ghetto de las ocho puertas (Buenos Aires: Editorial Sudamericana, 2009), 139. After the failed Warsaw 

Uprising of August 1944, Jews who remained in the ruins of Warsaw acquired belongings from evacuated Poles for a 

pittance and formed expeditions to search for valuables buried by Poles (in the hope of digging them out later) and 

appropriated them. See Bernard Goldstein, The Stars Bear Witness (London: Victor Gollancz, 1950), 251ï52, 262, 

270ï71. Chiel Rajchman, who took refuge in bombed-out Warsaw, recalled how he and other Jews went to abandoned 

warehouses and homes of people who were forced to evacuate the city and ñcarried off a couple of hundred pounds of 

food and clothes.ò See the Interview with Chiel Rajchman, December 7, 1988, United States Holocaust Memorial 

Museum, Washington, D.C. Rubin Katz also engaged in the desecration of the deceased. When he lacked candles for 

illumination, he stole candles from a local Catholic cemetery, and hid this behaviour from his Polish colleagues.ò Katz, 

Gone to Pitchipoµ, 231ï32. After the Soviet front passed through, Jews also took part in removing valuables from the 

corpses of German and Soviet soldiers. See Uri Huppert, Podr·Ũ do Ŧr·değ pamiňci (Warsaw: WiňŦ, 2004). The 

situation was much the same in other localities. Jews seized belongings left behind by Jews who had been deported 

from the ghettos. See Sara Bender, The Jews of Biağystok During World War II and the Holocaust (Waltham, 

Massachusetts: Brandeis University Press, 2008), 202, 211. ñJumpersò left the ghetto in Ostrowiec świňtokrzyski to 

bring back some of the belongings abandoned by Jews when they were forced to move into the ghetto, considering that 

they were entitled to inherit ownerless Jewish property. Rubin Katz boasts of the advantage that Jewish looters had 

over Polish ones; the latter ñdidnôt know where to dig for valuables. It was only fair that we should benefit from what 

the Poles called óJewish bootyô rather than them, or the Germans.ò See Isaiah Trunk, Judenrat: The Jewish Councils in 

Eastern Europe under Nazi Occupation (Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press, 1996), 563; Katz, Gone to Pitchipoµ, 

87. A Jewish itinerant trader active in Lublin province in 1942, ñused to bring to the villagers bedclothes, clothing worn 

left behind by murdered Jews. The villagers bought them.ò See Goldberg, The Undefeated, 129. A Jew from Cheğm 

recalled how his property was misappropriated by fellow Jews: 

 

The Jewish police went to each house after the Aktion and made new lists of the remaining 

populationðthose who had survived. The Germans then ordered the survivors to live closer together, 

in a more narrowly restricted area. Two families, with 4 children, were sent to live in my home. é 

My new neighbors resented my presenceðthey would have preferred to have the house all to 

themselves. 

   é I was completely dejected, totally depressed. In my house there were strangers now who dressed 

in my wifeôs clothes; their children wore my little oneôs clothes. é When I saw them in those clothes 

I just couldnôt control my tears. They slept in my bed and I no longer had a bed to sleep in. I kept a bit 

of merchandise in a chest, so I slept on the lid of that chest. I had lost my bed because I was 

outnumbered by them; they simply took over the bed and that was that. é 

   A big camp, using the military barracks of Chelm as a nucleus, was built. é Then a new order was 

issued: all Jews had to report to the barracks. é 

   I didnôt report to that camp. Some of my neighbors in my flat also didnôt report. Because of them I 

could no longer use my false-beam hiding place. Anyhow, they wanted to get rid of me. With me 

gone, there would be one less body in the crowded room. And they could ñhelp themselvesò to my 

meager possessions. One woman in the flat lost her husband so she wanted all Jewish husbands 

everywhere to die. Another had lost 2 brothers who were my age, so she looked at me and her eyes 

seemed to say: óWhy are you alive and theyôre not?ô Somebody in my house squealed on me. One day 

the Gestapo burst into the flat, ran right over to me and told me to tell them where I had hidden my 
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merchandise. é I showed them where all the merchandise was. They brought a truck and I had to 

load all the merchandise on it. é I had to go with the Gestapo men there and unload the merchandise. 

When I finished they beat me and drove me straight to the big new military barracks camp and shoved 

me in. I was no longer a free man. 

 

See Kalmen Wewryk, To Sobibor and Back: An Eyewitness Account (Montreal: Concordia University Chair in 

Canadian Jewish Studies and The Montreal Institute for Genocide and Human Rights Studies, 1999), 25ï27. A 

characteristic attitude on the part of Jews acquiring post-Jewish property during the war has been aptly summed up as 

follows: ñIt is an established social order that the living inherit from the dead. What is wrong, some argued, in taking 

over the abandoned property of an evacuee? The conscious individual was the one who was first on the scene, acting on 

the assumption that ósomeone will do it if I donôtô. Of course, there was always the possibility that there remained in 

the ghetto a close or distant relative, under almost any law the rightful heir of the evacuee. The conscious would meet 

this objection with the assurance that, should an heir of the former appear, the goods would be returned (something 

which hardly ever happened), while easing his conscience with the knowledge that he had saved the goods from falling 

into the hands of the Germans éò See Ben A. Soifer, Between Life & Death: History of Jewish Life in Wartime Poland 

1939-1945 (London, England: Janus Publishing Company, 1995), 45. 

   During the Soviet-occupation of Eastern Poland in 1939ï1941, the property of Poles often fell into the hands of their 

unscrupulous Jewish neighbours. The estate of the Kiersnowski family in Podweryszki near Bieniakonie was totally 

stripped of its belongings in September 1939 by roving gangs, one of which was led by a local Jew. See Kiersnowski, 

Tam i wtedy, 39. When the village of Miğk·w was cleared of its Polish inhabitants (they were deported by cattle car to 

Bessarabia in the dead of winter in January 1940), Jews descended on the village with their carriages and dismantled 

and plundered what remained. See J·zef Mroczkowski, ñWojna w Oleszycach,ò Karta (Warsaw), no. 24 (1998): 108. 

When Poles were evicted from their homes in the villages of Jaremecz and Mikulczyn they were taken over by Jews. 

See Grzegorz Mazur, Pokucie w latach drugiej wojny Ŝwiatowej: PoğoŨenie ludnoŜci, polityka okupant·w, dziağalnoŜĺ 

podziemia (Krak·w: Uniwersytet JagielloŒski, 1994), 44. Frequently the property of Poles deported to the Gulag was 

simply confiscated by Jewish militiamen or by Jewish neighbours who had ostensibly taken it for ñsafekeeping.ò See, 

for example, the account of Izabella DybczyŒska from Telechany: 

 

Before the war these Jews behaved in a very friendly manner, but as soon as the Bolsheviks arrived 

they joined forces with them. They pretended to be friendly, but in an underhanded way they 

ñinformedò us of what might happen and offered their help. é 

   Right after the entry of the Bolsheviks, some Jews told my parents that they should hide their 

clothing because it would, in all likelihood, be taken from us. I remember very well packing suits and 

fur coats belonging to my parents é Two huge suitcases (that folded twice) were taken by these Jews 

for safekeeping. Soon after another man arrivedðsent, it appears, by these Jewsðwho told us to get 

ready by evening a desk and two more suits which would be ñborrowed.ò By November [1939] we 

were living in two nearly empty rooms. Our furniture was ñborrowedò and some people had occupied 

the remainder of the dwelling. 

   The situation became progressively worse since we had to live from something. My mother 

approached Szamszel to return the clothing he had taken for safekeeping. This exchange probably 

lasted for a few days and finally he told her that he would not return anything. It was all his and we 

shouldnôt make any claims or things might get worse. What was ñworseò actually occurred on 

December 21, when my father was taken away. Two days later he was shipped out of Telechany; to 

this day I do not know where he was murdered. In April 1940 my mother and I were deported to 

Kazakhstan, where we spent six years. 

  

See Jerzy Robert Nowak, Przemilczane zbrodnie: ŧydzi i Polacy na Kresach w latach 1939ï1941 (Warsaw: von 

borowiecky, 1999), 134ï35. When the Soviets retreated in June 1941 in advance of the Germans, Jews plundered state 

property in many localities. See Kazimierz LeszczyŒski, ñDziennik wojenny Batalionu Policji 322 (Opracowanie i 

tğumaczenie dokumentu),ò Biuletyn Gğ·wnej Komisji Badania Zbrodni Hitlerowskich w Polsce, no. 17 (1967): 219 

(Biağystok); Meir Peker, ñIn the Bielsk Ghetto & the Camps,ò in Haim Rabin, ed., Bielsk-Podliask: Book in the Holy 

Memory of the Bielsk Podliask Jews Whose Lives Were Taken During the Holocaust Between 1939 and 1941 (Tel 

Aviv: Bielsk Immigrantsô Association of Israel and the United States of America, 1975), 29 (Bielsk Podlaski); Maik, 

Deliverance, 20 (Sokoğy near Biağystok); G. Beil, ñThe Holocaust (The Shoah),ò in Betzalel Shwartz and Israel Chaim 

Biltzki, eds., The Book of Kobrin: The Scroll of Life and Destruction (San Francisco: Holocaust Center of Northern 

California, 1992), 382 (KobryŒ); ŧbikowski, Archiwum Ringelbluma, vol. 3, 172, 202 (Sğonim); Wierzbicki, Polacy i 

ŧydzi w zaborze sowieckim, 218 (Sğonim); Samuel Lipa Tennenbaum, Zloczow Memoir (New York: Shengold 

Publishers, 1986), 167ï68 (Zğocz·w). 

   Throughout Europe Nazi German policies were responsible for the widescale plunder of Jewish property. A case in 

point is the city of Salonica (Thessaloniki) in northern Greece, home to that countryôs largest Jewish community. Not 

only did the local authorities facilitate the expropriation of Jewish property including the large Jewish cemetery, which 



 39 

                                                                                                                                                                             
was destroyed by 500 Greek workers, but also the local population engaged in looting on a massive scale. Even the 

leaders of the Jewish police tortured, extorted and killed their fellow Jews in order to force them to reveal where their 

possessions were kept. Despite a police warning against looting, the deported Jewsô empty homes and shops were 

quickly plundered by Greek gangs looking for valuables which had been left behind: ñAs soon as they were marched 

away, people rushed into their houses, tore up floorboards and battered down walls and ceilings, hoping to find hidden 

valuables.ò There was a ñcomplete breakdown of law and orderò wrote an official at the time, and the second-hand 

shops of the city began to fill up with stolen goods. Residential property was invaded by squatters after the authorities 

removed furniture to warehouses. Only a small number of Greeks helped Jews to hide, and few of them survived even 

though the penalty for helping a Jew was no more than imprisonment. On their return the survivors found Jewish 

tombstones in urinals and driveways; they had been used to make the dance-floor of a taverna built over a corner of the 

former cemetery. Because graves had been ransacked for the treasure that had been supposedly hidden there, many 

Jewish skulls and bones were visible. See Mark Mazower, Salonica, City of Ghosts: Christians, Muslims and Jews, 

1430ï1950 (New York: Knopf, 2005), 397ï98, 403, 405, 406, 412ï13, 418. There is ample evidence that residents of 

wealthy nations are equally prone to looting. When Germany invaded France in June 1940, both Frenchmen and 

Germans soldiers took turns looting stores and other premises. See Evans, The Third Reich at War, 1939ï1945, 132. 

After the Jewish diamond dealers were deported from Antwerp, vacated Jewish dwelling were searched with a fine-

tooth comb by Nazis and their local helpers to locate hidden loot (diamonds and jewelry); they ripped up floors, took 

apart bricks, and dug in cellars. See Elaine Saphier Fox, ed., Out of Chaos: Hidden Children Remember the Holocaust 

(Evanston, Illinois: Northwestern University Press, 2013), 198. In wartime Britain, the problem became critical despite 

the fact that there was no occupation or breakdown of state apparatus: 

 

Looting occurred as soon as the bombs of the Blitz began to fall. Bombed houses were raided. 

Valuables disappeared. Carpets and lead pipes were ripped out. In the first prosecutions in November 

1940, it was members of the ARP and of the AFS who faced the charges. The blackout created ideal 

conditions for burglars, pickpockets and rapists. Offences proliferated as the rate of police successes 

dropped. 

   Fraudulent claims provided another problem. People who had lost their home were entitled to a 

Ã500 advance on post-war compensation up to Ã20,000. People who took in evacuees or service 

personnel were entitled to payment of 10s. 6d. per week. The National Assistance Office was 

swamped with claimants, and found it easier to pay than to verify. 

   A British MP called black-marketeering ótreason of the worst kindô. But, with food, fuel and clothes 

rationing in force, illegal trade of all sorts flourished. In Glasgow, many people died from drinking 

home-brewed óhoochô. 

   Murders in England and Wales increased by 22 per cent. The increase was partly due to the ready 

supply of firearms, and partly to opportunism. Bombed-out ruins provided good cover for murderers, 

who sought to disguise their prey as Blitz victims. 

 

See Norman Davies, Europe at War, 1939ï1945: No Simple Victory (London, Basingstoke and Oxford: Macmillan, 

2006), 382. From the summer of 1944, looting grew more widespread in Germany, especially during night-time air 

raids; however, it seems that only foreign workers caught looting were executed by the German authorities or lynched 

by German mobs. See Evans, The Third Reich at War, 1939ï1945, 703ï6. At warôs end, Allied soldiersðAmerican, 

French, and Britishðengaged in widespread plundering in war-ravaged Europe. Looting began even before the 

German frontier was crossed in 1945: American reports confirmed that pillage of Belgian civilian property by U.S. 

troops took place on a considerable scale. Once in Germany looting became a full-blown epidemic, with the military 

authorities joining in to confiscate works of art, resources and technical equipment. See Antony Beevor, The Fall of 

Berlin 1945 (New York: Penguin/Viking, 2002), 192ï93; Norman G. Finkelstein, The Holocaust Industry: Reflections 

on the Exploitation of Jewish Suffering, Second paperback edition (London and New York: Verso, 2003), 178; Giles 

MacDonogh, After the Reich: From the Liberation of Vienna to the Berlin Airlift (London: John Murray, 2007), 240, 

269ï71, 310, 382, 388ï90, 404, 419. Of course, pillaging by the Soviets also took on massive proportions. See 

MacDonogh, After the Reich, 297ff., 381ï88. 

   After the Second World War, the Palestinian (Arab) population was driven out of Israel en masse, leaving behind 

most of their possessions, including their homes, furnishings and personal effects. These were then systematically 

looted by Jewish soldiers, officials and civilians. Most of the land owned by Palestinians was expropriated by the 

Israeli state and their abandoned dwellings were allocated to Jewish immigrants. ñLegalò measures were put in place to 

ensure that none of this property would ever return to its lawful owners. Tom Segev describes what happened: 

 

During the [1948 Arab-Israeli] war and afterwards plundering and looting were very common. ñThe 

only thing that surprised me,ò said David Ben-Gurion at a Cabinet meeting, ñand surprised me 

bitterly, was the discovery of such moral failings among us, which I had never suspected. I mean the 

mass robbery in which all parts of the population participated.ò Soldiers who entered abandoned 

houses in the towns and villages they occupied grabbed whatever they could. Some took the stuff for 
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themselves, others ñfor the boysò or for the kibbutz. They stole household effects, cash, heavy 

equipment, trucks and whole flocks of cattle. Behor Shitrit told his colleagues of the Ministerial 

Committee for Abandoned Property that he had visited some of the occupied areas and saw the 

looting with his own eyes. ñFrom Lydda alone,ò he said, ñthe army took out 1,800 truck-loads of 

property.ò Minister of Finance Kaplan admitted: ñAs a matter of fact, neither the Ministry of Finance 

nor the Custodian of Abandoned Property is in control of the situation, and the army does what it 

wants.ò The Custodian, Dov Shafrir, told the ministers that the regional commanders and their 

adjutants wanted to stop the looting, ñbut not the storekeepers of the various companies and squads.ò 

é 

   In Haifa, Jaffa and Jerusalem there were many civilians among the looters. ñThe urge to grab has 

seized everyone,ò noted writer Moshe Smilansky. ñIndividuals, groups and communities, men, 

women and children, all fell on the spoils. Doors, windows, lintels, bricks, roof-tiles, floor-tiles, junk 

and machine parts. éò He could have also added to the list toilet bowls, sinks, faucets and light 

bulbs. é 

   Amin Jarjouria, MK of the (Arabic) Nazareth Democratic List, which was associated with MAPAI, 

reported: ñTwo days after the seizure of Jish, in the Safed district, the army surrounded the village 

and carried out searches. In the course of the search soldiers robbed several of the houses and stole 

605 pounds, jewelry and other valuables. When the people who were robbed insisted on being given 

receipts for their property, they were taken to a remote place and shot dead. The villagers protested to 

the local commander, Manu Friedmann, who had the bodies brought back to the village. The finger of 

one of the dead had been cut off to remove a ring. ...ò é 

   Altogether, between 140,000 and 160,000 immigrants were settled in abandoned homes: in Jaffa 

some 45,000, in downtown Haifa about 40,000, and in Acre about 5,000. é By the end of the year 

some 600 shops in Ramlah had been distributed to immigrants. é  

   And so tens of thousands of Israelis, soldiers and civilians, helped themselves to the spoils. One 

took an armchair, another a rug, a third took a sewing machine and a fourth-a combine; one took an 

apartment and another took a vineyard. Very quickly and easily a whole class-albeit a small one-of 

newly prosperous people appeared on the scene: merchants, speculators, contractors, agents of all 

sorts, industrialists and farmers. Some stole what property they could, others received theirs legally. A 

good many of the transactions fell into that gray area between what the law permitted and what was 

considered illegal, between outright robbery and official expropriation. é 

   Starting in the latter half of 1948, the Ministry of Justice worked on the drafting of an Absenteesô 

Property Law, giving the Custodian a share in the ownership of the property he had hitherto 

controlled as a trustee, and authorizing him to transfer it to a newly established ñDevelopment 

Authority.ò The Ministryôs draft proposed a literal definition of the term ñabsentee,ò namely, one who 

was no longer present in the territory of the state. When the draft was brought before the Ministerial 

Committee, Moshe Sharett demanded that the definition be changed to designate anyone who had left 

his home after a certain date (November 29, 1947), regardless of where he might have lived 

thereafter. He drew attention to thousands of refugees who had left their villages and settled in 

Nazareth. If they were not defined as absentees, it would be necessary to let them return to their 

homes. Sharett also raised the possibility that Israel might one day seize Nablus on the West Bank, 

which was a ñreasonable likelihood,ò he thought. In that case thousands of refugees would come 

within Israelôs jurisdiction and they would demand to return to their homes and take back the 

properties they had abandoned. Sharettôs reservation was accepted. Consequently, the definition in the 

law was changed to embrace all who had abandoned their ñusual place of residence,ò even if they 

were still living in Israel. Some time after, the Custodian was authorized to sell the abandoned 

property to the development authority, and the Government of Israel authorized the latter to sell it to 

the Jewish National Fund. More than half a million acres were thus expropriated from their owners. A 

few thousand of these owners were actually living in Israel, yet the law defined them as absentees, 

even if they had only left their homes for a few days and stayed with relatives in a nearby village or 

town, waiting for the fighting to end. Later they came to be referred to as ñpresent absentees.ò The 

majority of them were not allowed to return to their homes. Those refugees who were permitted to 

return to Israel after the war were also formally absentees and their property was not restored to them. 

é 

The authority of the military governors was also utilized to expropriate lands. The military governor 

would issue an order to expel villagers from their homes, or forbid them entrance to their fields and 

thereby prevent them from cultivating them. Then the Minister of Agriculture would declare the lands 

to be uncultivated and use his authority to hand them over to others to cultivate. In this way Arab 

farmers lost their lands without actually losing their title to them. Other laws which served the same 

purpose were later passed. é 
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   During deportation operations, Jews would often attempt to flee into the countryside from the smaller 

ghettos, only to return to their homes after the danger of deportation had passed.87 It was not primarily the 

antipathy of the local population that drove the Jews away, but rather the Polesô fear of harsh reprisals for 

aiding Jews and the difficult conditions of survival in forests and moving from place to place. Lea Reisner 

recalled her departure and return to the ghetto in Izbica: 

 

Exhausted, my mother insisted that my brother and I must run away. ñGo to a village; there must be 

some kind people somewhere; your life may be saved,ò she said. The moment we got to the other 

side of the ghetto, an SS officer saw us. He shot and killed my brother. I reached the forest all alone 

                                                                                                                                                                             
   In the latter half of 1948, the settlement department of the Jewish Agency prepared a list of several 

dozen Arab villages which it proposed to repopulate with new immigrants. Most of the villages had 

been abandoned, but a few were not quite empty. Some were meant to be demolished and their lands 

to be used for new settlements. Some of the Cabinet ministers criticized the army for demolishing 

some of the villages it occupied. 

 

See Tom Segev, 1949: The First Israelis (New York: Henry Holt, 1998), 68ï91. Even in recent years, the Israeli army 

has continued to engage in looting of poor Palestinian villages and in wartime operations directed against Palestinians. 

See Dan Williams, Reuters News Agency, ñIsraeli Army Under Fire For Looting,ò Toronto Star, August 26, 2002; Gili 

Cohen, ñIsraeli Army to Charge Soldiers With Looting Palestinian Homes During Gaza Operation,ò Haaretz, February 

4, 2015. 

   Looting is a common feature of civil strife, social upheaval and natural disasters. Race riots in the United States have 

always been accompanied by looting on a massive scale. For a modern twist, the 9/11 tragedy led to thousands of cases 

of fraudulent bank transactions in New York City, and many of those involved were city employees. See Devlin 

Barrett, AP, ñThousands Investigated in 9/11 Fraud: Bank Accounts Overdrawn to Tune of $15M,ò Toronto Star, 

August 6, 2002. In early 2014, more than 130 retired New York City firefighters and police officers were arrested for 

falsely claming social security benefits in the wake of the September 11 attacks on the World Trade Centre. Retirees 

lied about their alleged mental and physical diabilities, even though some of them were never at the scene. Many of 

them claimed they couldnôt sleep, work, drive a car, or even leave their homes as a result of their disabilities, only for 

investigators to find they were flying helicopters, riding on jet skis, leading martial arts classes, and more. Investigators 

believe that up to $400 million in funds could have been stolen. In the so-called ñBlackBerry riots,ò between August 6 

to 11, 2011, thousands of people rioted in several London boroughs and in cities and towns across England. Vehicles, 

homes and shops were attacked and set alight. The resulting chaos generated looting, arson, and mass deployment of 

police. At least 100 homes were destroyed. The following days saw similar scenes in other parts of London. From 8 

until 10 August, other cities in England including Birmingham, Bristol, and Manchester, along with several towns, saw 

what was described by the media as ñcopycat violence.ò By August 15, 2011, about 3,100 people had been arrested, of 

whom more than 1,000 had been charged. There was a total 3,443 crimes across London linked to the disorder. Along 

with five deaths, at least 16 others were injured as a direct result of related violent acts. In total, 189 police and 

community support officers were injured. An estimated Ã200 million worth of property damage was incurred. When 

devastating floods hit England in December 2015, business and evacuated homes were broken into by opportunistic 

thieves and even a school was also reportedly looted. A police strike in Argentina in December 2013 resulted in more 

than a week of looting on a massive scale throughout that country. Many Argentines armed and barricaded themselves 

in their homes and stores as mobs of people swarmed into the streets, attacking people, smashing through storefronts, 

fighting over merchandise inside, and hauling out anything they can carry. At least eight people were killed, including a 

police officer and a store owner whose burned body was found in his looted and torched market. The others died while 

looting. Hundreds were injured and thousands of stores ransacked (by crowds of as many as 500 to 1,000 looters at a 

time) and homes robbed as the violence spread to at least 19 of the countryôs 23 provinces. See Michael Warren 

(Associated Press), ñDeadly Looting, Police Strikes Test Argentina on 30th Anniversary of Dictatorshipôs End,ò The 

Globe and Mail (Toronto), December 10, 2013; Michael Warren (Associated Press), ñLooters Take Advantage of 

Police Strikes in Argentina,ò The Globe and Mail (Toronto), December 10, 2013; Shane Romig, ñWave of Looting 

Sweeps Argentina,ò The Wall Street Journal, December 10, 2013. 
 
87

 For example, the Jews who went into hiding in the forests or with Poles in the course of the deportation in early 

October 1942, returned to Chmielnik later that month and joined the 72 Jews who had cleared the selection and were 

left behind in the town. Sara Bender, ñThe Jews of Stasz·w, 1939ï1943: History Through a Diaristôs Eyes: A 

comparative Discussion,ò Yad Vashem Studies, vol. 43, no. 1 (2015): 133ï69, here at 160. 
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and found some fugitives. We spent the days lying on the ground, and at night we stole potatoes in 

the fields. 

   The peasant we met were kind, but were too frightened to help us. They said, ñThere is a new 

ghetto in Izbica; you canôt spend the winter here, you will die.ò Desperate, I returned to Izbica, but 

my parents were gone.
88

 

 

A wartime diary describes why, after fleeing from the ghetto in Sokoğy near Biağystok by the hundreds to 

nearby forests, Jewish fugitives soon returned to the ghetto: 

  

Notices had been posted in all the villagesðwarnings to the residents that anyone hiding a Jew 

would be punished by death. Notices were also sent to each head of a village council (Soltis 

[soğtys]), stating that every farmer was obligated to inform the Soltis about where Jews could be 

found and to reveal the places where Jews were hiding. Anyone who handed a Jew over to the 

regime would be awarded a prize, and anyone hiding information about the location of Jews would 

be punished severely. 

   The warnings spread panic and fear among the farmers. Even close friends who had been 

prepared to help the Jews in their trouble were afraid of endangering their own lives and the lives of 

their families.
89

 

 

Executions of Poles caught sheltering Jews understandably instilled great fear into many benefactorsðfear 

for themselves and their families, and thus many Jewish charges were asked to leave their shelters. In 

extreme cases, the fear that their charges might betray them under duress if caught or do so willingly in 

revenge for being expelled so overpowered some rescuers that in desperation they took their chargesô 

lives.90 

   The Germans conducted endless searches within the ghettos and raids in the countrysideðsometimes 

conscripting the Jewish police, the Polish police, and the local population to assist in this taskðto capture 

Jews who had hidden or escaped during the liquidation of the ghettos. 

 

The liquidation of the Jewish community in Kos·w Lacki began on September 22, 1942. é SS 

officers ordered the Judenrat and Jewish Police to gather all the Jews in the marketplace but 
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separated off the families of the labor camp craftsmen in the building where the Judenrat met. SS 

and Ukrainian auxiliaries accompanied the Jewish Police on a house-to-house search for those in 

hiding, shooting those they found. é About 150 ghetto residents were killed trying to flee and were 

buried in a mass grave at the Jewish cemetery. The next day, the SS searched Polish houses 

throughout the town and in the surrounding countryside, killing Jews they discovered there.91 

 

é more than 1,000 Jews, including from Markusz·w, [were] hidden in the Wola and Borek 

Forests. Joined subsequently by escaped Soviet prisoners of war (POWs) and fugitives from the 

deportations of the Garb·w and Kamionka Jewish communities, they formed three partisan units. 

However, the partisans mostly were closer to Lublin in December 1942, when a group of SS and 

Ukrainian auxiliaries arrived to search the two forests closer to Markusz·w for hidden Jews. On 

December 2, the first day of the search, about 400 Jews were killed. Another 600 perished before 

the sweep ended on January 20, 1943. 

   é on December 10, 1942, and February 18, 1943, the Germans executed at least 14 Wola Poles 

for aiding Jews. Four others, similarly accused, disappeared without a trace. é After the 

executions, many Poles ordered Jews they were protecting to find other hiding places. Most ended 

up in the forests and fell victim to subsequent forest sweeps, including in the Borek Forest during 

the winter of 1942ï1943, which claimed the lives of 42 Jews.92 

 

The Germans also continued to search for Jews in hiding. The day after the liquidation of the 

Baczki and Ğopianka ghettos, Gendarmes shot more than 50 Jews found in the Perlis factory. In 

Budziska that day, the Gendarme Hartmann shot another 10 Jews. é In September 1943, the 

Gendarmes shot 16 Jews in Ğopianka. They also killed Jews hiding in Budziska and Jasion·wka. In 

May 1944, the Gendarmes shot 25 Jews in Kamionna village, south of Baczki. The Germans 

murdered the largest number of Jewish survivors in the forest areas north of Ğoch·w, in 

neighboring Sadowne. There between January and February 1943, they killed about 300 Jews and 

escaped Soviet POWs. In the winter of 1942ï1943, the Germans also attempted to extricate hidden 

Jews by taking punitive measures against Poles though to be assisting them. These Aktions included 

an execution on January 13, 1943, of 2 Jewish women, outside of Sadowne, along with the baker 

Leon Lubkiewicz, his wife, and son, for having given the women bread. From March 16 to 31, 

1943, the SS tortured and then executed 16 farmers from around Zarzetka (Sadowne parish), 

arrested about 150 others suspected of aiding Jews and escaped Soviet prisoners, stripped villagers 

of their livestock and agricultural stores, and then set fire to a part of Zarzetka. The number of Jews 

who perished in this reprisal is unknown.93 

 

Forewarned by local Poles several days before Yom Kippur 1942 about German plans to liquidate 

SterdyŒôs ghetto, the Judenrat announced the impending liquidation of their community on 
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September 22. About 700 of the villageôs 1,200 Jews found hiding places in forests, villages, and 

estates surrounding SterdyŒ. When the Germans arrived the next morning to liquidate the ghetto, 

they found only 500 of the villageôs Jews there. Those who did not seek shelter were marched, on 

foot by some accounts, to their deaths at the Treblinka extermination camp, located 26.3 kilometers 

(16 miles) northwest of SterdyŒ. Over the next two days, the Germans extricated between 270 and 

300 Jews from hiding places. These Jews were shot in SterdyŒ and buried in a mass grave there. 

   Beginning in the winter of 1942ï1943, the Germans embarked on a series of measures to find 

Jews from SterdyŒ still in hiding. To discern where Jews were sheltered, the Germans planted at 

least one agent in the forest surrounding part of the town. Based on this information, the Germans 

began rounding up and executing Jews who had survived the ghettoôs liquidation. In March and 

April 1943, for instance, the Germans murdered 1 Jewish woman and 3 Jewish children. In the 

autumn, the German Gendarmes executed 40 Jewish men, women, and children. The Germans 

simultaneously took punitive measures against Poles know to be hiding Jews from SterdyŒ. The 

best documented of these reprisal Aktions was on February 24, 1943, at the Paulin·w estate just 

south of SterdyŒ. There the Germans shot 10 Poles suspected of providing food and shelter to Jews 

from SterdyŒ. From March 25 to April 23, 1943, the Germans executed as many as 47 other Poles 

and may have arrested 140 others suspected of rendering assistance to SterdyŒôs Jews. These 

reprisals, coupled as they were with similar punitive actions in Sadowne, near the Ğoch·w and 

Stoczek ghettos, provoked many polish villagers to renege on promises of assistance they had 

extended to SterdyŒôs Jews. Following the reprisals, some Poles [out of fear] purportedly murdered 

Jews they had agreed initially to protect.94 

 

   The following account, by a Jewish survivor from a village near Zambr·w, tells how his Polish rescuer 

and the largely friendly or passive villagers were transformed into ñJew huntersò by order of the German 

authorities, who commonly took hostages in the village to ensure compliance: 

 

Every evening, under cover of darkness, I made my way alone to Tishkeôs house. At a pre-arranged 

time, I waited for him in a field behind the cowshed and he would bring us food, including bread, 

milk and other items. We wanted to pay Tishke for all the help he had given us, but he refused to 

hear of it. 

   One dark night, Yudke and I decided to leave our families in the forest hideout and visit our 

friend Biali [Biağy]. 

   When we arrived at his house he welcomed us with open arms. é We continued to make 

occasional nocturnal excursions to visit him, in order to wash and to obtain food. é 

   On one of our visits Biali said that we should all come over to his house, women and children 

included, so that we could all wash ourselves, have a proper meal and relax. é 

   It was getting late, when suddenly there was a knock at the door. Biali did not open it at once, he 

first rushed us to a hiding place, some room at the back of the house where we sat with bated 

                                                                                                                                                                             
 
94

 Dean, Encyclopedia of Camps and Ghettos, 1933ï1945, vol. 2, Part A, 447. 

 



 45 

breath. The unexpected visitor was Bialiôs neighbor. He entered the house, complaining that he had 

been kept waiting, and that he had something urgent to say that could not be delayed. The neighbor 

informed Biali that a meeting was about to take place in the house of the Commissar and that 

attendance was compulsory. The meeting was all about the Jews who had managed to escape to the 

forests and who were receiving aid from the villagers. é 

   A few hours later he returned. It was clear from his report that the following day the Germans had 

arranged for a thorough roundup of all Jews hiding in the forests. This time the armed Germans 

would not rely on the villagers to carry out this deed, they themselves would be in charge and every 

effort would be made to cover all the ground; the villagers would act as their assistants. At the 

meeting, the villagers were warned that anyone caught helping the Jews by providing food or 

shelter would share their fate. We were taken aback by this information. I told Biali that I did not 

want him to endanger himself for our sakes, but he insisted that we were not to leave until after the 

roundup. é 

   The following day the search and the roundup began. Biali, like all the villagers joined in at the 

command of the Germans, but before he left he made sure to hide the women and children in the 

potato store pit. Yudke and I hid in the hayloft. From our hiding place we were within earshot of 

the mayhem: the creams, the gunshots, the sound of weeping and the curses. Much thought and 

rigorous preparation had gone into the planning of this roundup and it resulted in many victims 

being killed or wounded. Those who the Germans did not kill were caught and deported. 

   By evening, everything was completely quiet. The mission was accomplished and the villagers 

who aided the Germans were released. Biali came to our hiding place quaking with fear é 

   Biali told us that he was sorry, but he could no longer give us shelter. He would continue to 

supply us with food as far as he was able, but it was too dangerous for him and his family to 

continue to let us stay in his home. He mounted his horse and went off to town to find out what had 

really happened. 

   On his return, he informed us that those who were caught, and there were many, had been taken 

to Chervony Bur [Czerwony B·r] and were let loose there for one evening. They were free to walk 

around the town to make as many purchases as they wished before being deported to the work 

camp at Zambrov [Zambr·w]. The Germans knew that they could not escape; they had nowhere to 

go. 

   There was a heavy snowfall that day é
95

 

 

   Jews, and their Polish benefactors, could also be discovered in the periodic raids conducted by the 

Germans to apprehend young Poles for forced labour in the Reich. A Jew who was hidden in a village near 

Kağuszyn recalled: 

  

The distant roar of motors tell us the village is surrounded. People are fleeing in terror. é 
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   Suddenly huge hounds, followed by German police on bicycles é All helmeted, rifles swung 

over their shoulders, pistols at their side. é 

   They went from house to house and ransacked every attic, cellar, and barn. They were looking for 

young men to send as forced labor to Germany. There was no hiding from them. They smashed 

walls and found camouflaged bunkers. They searched everywhere é 

   This wasnôt the first raid on the village. Weôve already lived through several dozen such searches. 

They always last about a day é
96

 

 

   Although one often reads stories about posses of villagers organizing ñspontaneouslyò to rid the area of 

Jews hiding in the forests, the reality was quite different. The following account describes conditions in the 

environs of Cheğm, where the Germans pacified the village of Wereszczyn on May 26, 1942. After 

providing assistance to escaped Soviet prisoners of war, at least one of whom was in the services of the 

Nazis and denounced them, fourteen villagers were executed and the village was set on fire. The Germans 

also used this opportunity to strike at the local Jewish population. 

  

After the pacification of Wereszczyn the Germans still did not give us peace. They travelled to 

villages and caught people to ship to Germany [for forced labour]. é In the following months of 

1942, the Germans carried out raids to capture Jews hiding in the forests. 

   The manhunts for Jews looked like this. There was a German gendarmerie outpost in Cyc·w, and 

in Urszulin there was an outpost of the Polish police, the so-called ñblueò police. The commander 

of the ñblueò police in Urszulin was a certain G. [Grajek]. The manhunt was organized by the 

Germans, and those who executed it were the ñblueò police and peasants. On instructions from the 

Germans the local authorities ordered the village administrators [soğtys] to round up peasants from 

the surrounding villages and have them take part in the manhunt. é 

   In December 1942 German gendarmes rounded up peasants from several villages for the 

manhunt. They caught one Jew, and later I saw two or three more who were shot dead. Of our Jews 

from Wereszczyn poor Alta and his son were hiding in the forest. They sat in a stack of grain at 

Podstawskiôs farm. During this manhunt the peasant Stacho D. ran there with his pitchfork and 

chased out these two Jews of ours. The commander of the ñblueò police in Urszulin, named G., told 

them to undress, remove their shoes, and then shot both of them. This was strange because that 

same G. had transported our Maszka [Miriam Zonsztajn, a five-year-old Jewish girl] to a 

grandmother named [Marianna] Kozğowska in Urszulin. First he procured a certificate for her in the 

name of Maria Kozğowska. é Later the Germans killed him in the Lublin Castle [which had been 

turned into a prisonðM.P.]. Supposedly this was for his cooperation with the underground. In any 

event commander G. saved Maszka, but shot Alta and his son. é 

   The peasant Stacho D., who hunted down Alta and his son, perished during that manhunt in 

December. Nobody felt sorry for him. He was a bad fellow. Earlier Stacho D. had caught a Polish 

boy by the name of Lolek Biernacki, who was escaping from Germans who were pursuing him. He 

caught him and turned him over to the Germans. A German took out his revolver and shot Lolek. 
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He was an innocent boy. Then he hunted down Alta and his son in the stack of grain and sent them 

to their deaths. Finally, during the December manhunt, someone mentioned the three Soviet 

prisoners of war hiding in the forest. Stacho D. was so zealous that he perished while hunting them 

down. The Soviets were soldiers and did not allow themselves to be apprehended so easily. One of 

them perished, but first he had shot Stacho D., who wanted to block their escape route. Nobody felt 

sorry for him. And the two Soviet prisoners of war who managed to survive the manhunt escaped to 

[the nearby village of] Wincencin.97 

 

As this account shows, both the local police and peasants were simply ordered to participate in manhunts 

and other activities organized by the Germans, such as digging graves. Those who refused to take part 

could face harsh retaliations. Historian Martin Gilbert notes that Christian conscripts from RaduŒ who 

refused to dig pits for Jews who were still alive were killed on the spot, together with the Jews.
98

 

   Few of the Poles conscripted for service by the Germans displayed ardour in the tasks meted out to them. 

Those who did often had an equally grim track record when it came to other victims of Nazi repressions, 

regardless of their nationality. Moreover, their deeds were generally frowned on by the community. This 

was equally true in other places, where denouncers of Jews became social outcasts.
99

 In many rural 

localities, the Jewish police was also employed to round up Jews working in the countryside and bring 

them to town for deportation to the camps: 
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At the beginning of November 1942, Jewish militia men went to all the villages near Hrubiesz·w, 

and also to the small towns, in which Jews still remained, with an order to the w·jt [village mayor] 

and the mayor, that all Jews must appear é in Hrubiesz·w. In fact, all of them appeared.100 

 

   The manhunts in the countryside pale in comparison with the round-ups of hundreds of thousands of Jews 

in large the ghettos of Warsaw, Lublin, Sosnowiec, Czňstochowa, Krak·w, Ğ·dŦ, and others, which were 

carried out not by the Polish police, but by the Jewish police, often with the assistance of Ukrainians and 

Balts, with little or no direct German participation. Poles were in no way responsible for the ghettoization 

of the Jews and were every bit as powerless to stop the deportations, just as the Jews themselves were.
101

 

Efforts to assist Jews were fraught with danger and often unsuccessful. Barbara Szacka, an eminent 

sociologist, recalls an incident that occurred when she was twelve years of age: 

 

In the summer of 1942 my brother and I went to see a cousin who worked in Biadoliny, a village 

near the Krak·w-Tarn·w railway line. Trains carrying Jews and Soviet prisoners of war used to 

pass by. The trains stopped at the signal. People riding in the trains extended their hands through the 

small grilled windows of the freight wagons begging for food and water. é 

   We wanted to help those in the train. There was one obstacleða German. Dressed in a uniform 

and armed, he stood between the wagons, but was not visible to the passengers. We tried to explain 

with grimaces that we wanted to hand a cup of water to the thirsty. We took a step in the direction 

of the train. Then aother step, while staring at the guard. What will he do? Will he nod his head with 

approval? Will he go for his rifle? He often went for his rifle, so we backed away. 

   Those pantomimes with the guard, who was not visible to the people in the wagon, were probably 

seen by them as mocking them. 

   My cousin went to the station with a pail of water and backed away when threatened with a rifle. 

An old Jew in the train, who did not see the entire situation, then started to curse him terribly. ñAnd 

you know,ò said my cousin, ñthough I am ashamed to say it, I returned his abuse.ò
102

 

 

   In the face of these obstacles, and unable to find long-term hiding places or cope with severe conditions 

in the forests, tens of thousands of Jewish fugitives decided to return to the ghettos on their own accord. 
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Many Jews were lured back by false promises of clemency by the German authorities.
103

 In November 

1942, 

 

the Germans announced that four gathering places would be organized for Jews. Among them was 

Radomsk [Radomsko]. The Germans well knew that hundreds, or perhaps thousands, of Jews could 

be found in the woods, in bunkers, with Poles or óonô Aryan papers or the like. In order to seduce 

the Jews back into their hands, the Germans legalized four areas for the Jews, and there began a 

mass migration of the hiding Jews with their wives and children back into the ghetto. A large 

number of them knew that this was a devilish plan to seduce the Jews and to gather them in one 

place. However, they found themselves in such condition that they had no choice but to return to the 

ghetto. 

   Jews arrived from the Lodz [Ğ·dŦ] area, hundreds of Jews from Zhurek (Zharki [ŧarki]), from the 

Czenstochow [Czňstochowa] area, so that the number of Jews in the small ghetto reached four 

thousand five hundred souls. Life in the ghetto began to become more normal, one should 

understand, to the extent that the Germans had an interest in it doing so.
104

 

 

However, the Jewsô enemies were not the Poles. The vast majority of Poles never harmed a Jew during the 

war, nor did they harbour any such intention. During one of the last Aktions in Ğuk·w, when the Germans 

came to round up Jews working outside the ghetto, their Polish co-workers did not cooperate with the 

Germans: 

 

A few days later, one of the women who sometimes let me stay at her house brought me a birth 

certificate froma Polish girl who had died. She asked me to leave and live with her as a Christian, 

and that her priest would help me. Again, I had to say noðI didnôt want to leave my Tateh [i.e., 

dad] and brothers. é 

   In all of Lukow [Ğuk·w] there were only four Poles who openly worked with the Germans, 

including one man whose wife flicked chickens at the factory. When they came to take us out, a 

little Jewish boy came running in and she grabbed him to cover him with her skirt. When the 

Germans came in and asked, ñAre there any Jews hiding here?ò the Poles all said no. 

   Tateh was still hidden behind the crates, in an area where about eight Poles were working. Again 

the Germans asked if Jews were present, and the Poles said no. They never found Tateh and I 

managed to get him out later, with help from the workers. 
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   After that, the Germans closed the factory and told everyone to go to the ghetto, where, with no 

access to water, people were starving and suffering from infectious diseases. Many died.
105

 

  

   Conditions in the countryside continued to worsen. As the Germans became more demanding and strict in 

enforcing contributions of foodstuff from the peasants, there was less and less to go around. The Germans 

seized more grain and sugar in the Generalgouvernement than in occupied France, Holland, Serbia, and the 

Czech Protectorate and Moravia combined, and three times as many potatoes as in those countries.
106

 Much 

of the Polish population was on the verge of starvation and was in no position to offer extended assistance 

to strangers. The goodwill of the peasants was also squandered by various partisan and forest groups who 

treated them as no more than a source of provisions. 

 

Lawlessness and Banditry 

   Holocaust historians have traditionally laid the blame entirely on the Poles for confrontations between 

Poles and Jews during the German occupation. A careful analysis of the documentary evidence, however, 

does not support this one-sided view. The principal culprit was lawlessness. After analyzing scores of 

accounts of Jews who escaped from the death camps of Treblinka, Sobib·r and BeğŨec, historian Teresa 

Prekerowa, who was active in ŧegota, the wartime Council for Aid to Jews, dismissed the notion that anti-

Semitism was the driving force behind the reaction of the local population to the plight of Jewish fugitives 

hiding in the countryside. While denunciations and even altercations did occur, these were not the norm, 

but rather the activities of a relatively small number of people who were motivated by greed or involved in 

criminal activity. Prekerowa also notes that Jewish groups often took food and other belongings from 

farmers by force, something that no farmer appreciated.
107

 Over time relations between Jewish fugitives 
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107 See Teresa Prekerowaôs study ñStosunek ludnoŜci polskiej do Ũydowskich uciekinier·w z oboz·w zagğady w 

Treblince, Sobiborze i BeğŨcu w Ŝwietle relacji Ũydowskich i polskich,ò Biuletyn Gğ·wnej Komisji Badania Zbrodni 

przeciwko Narodowi PolskiemuïInstytutu Pamiňci Narodowej, vol. 35 (1993): 100ï14, translated as ñThe Attitude of 

the Polish Population Towards Jewish Escapees from the Treblinka, Sobib·r, and BeğŨec Death Camps in Light of 

Jewish and Polish Testimonies, in Chodakiewicz, MuszyŒski, and Styrna, Golden Harvest or Hearts of Gold?, 97ï116. 

Jewish accounts attesting to the seizure of possessions, especially food, from farmers by force are plentiful and 

numerous examples have been cited herein. Historians have identified many other cases that are not described in this 

work. See, for example, the testimonies of Tuwie Miller and Ignacy Zimmerman in the Yad Vashem Archives, files 

03/2078 and 03/2213, respectively, cited in Grzegorz Berendt, ñCena Ũyciaðekonomiczne uwarunkowania egzystencji 

ŧyd·w po óaryjskiej stronieô,ò in Zagğada ŧyd·w: Studia i materiağy, vol. 4 (2008): 136, 140; and a Jewish account 

describing the activities of a Jewish ñself-defenceò group from Jad·w near Ğoch·w led by Mosze Zieleniec that robbed 

landowners already in 1942. See BaŒkowska, Archiwum Ringelbluma, vol. 6, 657. It is in this context that the following 

quotation from Zygmunt Klukowskiôs diary should be placed: ñThere are several Jews active with the bandits. The 

villages have turned against the Jews because of this and try to find them in the fields and forests. It is hard to believe 

but the attitude toward Jews is changing. There are many people who see the Jews not as human beings but as animals 

that must be destroyed.ò See Zygmunt Klukowski, Diary from the Years of Occupation, 1939ï44 (Urbana and Chicago: 

University of Illinois Press, 1993), 227. Authors like Jan Gross, Jan Grabowski and others cite only the last sentence as 

allegedly showing that the Poles started to imitate the Nazis by de-humanizing the Jews, without acknowleding 
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and Polish farmers turned sour largely because of increasingly frequent and violent confrontations over 

food and other supplies. However, one cannot generalize and accuse all or even most Jews of behaving like 

common robbers; nor should one accuse all or even most Poles of innate hostility toward Jews. Indeed, 

there are many recorded cases of entire villages sympathizing with Jewish fugitives and participating in 

their rescue.
108

 

                                                                                                                                                                             
Klukowskiôs observation that rampant banditry is what explains eventual anti-Jewish attitudes on the part of some 

Poles. 

 
108 This well-documented phenomenon goes contrary to what is often claimed in Holocaust literature. Moreover, with 

rare exceptions, these rescuers have not been recognized by Yad Vashem. See Ryszard Tyndorf, ñCollective Rescue 

Efforts by Poles on Behalf of Jews in the German-Occupied Polish Countryside,ò in Chodakiewicz, MuszyŒski, and 

Styrna, Golden Harvest or Hearts of Gold?, 153ï200. Some examples follow. Emanuel Ringelblum recorded: ñI heard 

from Jews of Glowno [Gğowno] how peasants helped them during the whole of the winter. A Jew who went out to a 

village in search of food usually returned with a bag of potatoes é In many villages, the peasants showed open 

sympathy for the Jews. They threw bread and other food [through the barbed-wire fence] into the camps é located in 

their neighborhood.ò See Philip Friedman, Their Brothersô Keepers (New York: Holocaust Library, 1978), 116. Hercek 

Cedrowski, Tojwje Drajhorm and Jankiel Borkowski wrote in 1947: ñThe Jews of Ozork·w maintained contact with 

the Poles. The Polish population did not help the Germans in the liquidation of the Jews. They traded with the Jews and 

brought food to the ghetto. The Jews were afraid of speaking with Poles, and Poles were afraid of helping Jews, but 

there were no denunciations of Jews.ò See Grynberg and Kotowska, ŧycie i zagğada ŧyd·w polskich 1939ï1945, 488. 

Isadore Burstyn, as a boy of eleven, was able to survive through the kindness of people in the village of Gğupianka near 

Otwock (outside of Warsaw), where he passed as a local boy and herded cows. He hid in the forest when his presence 

threatened the family with whom he often stayed and friends from the village would bring him food. ñIn my case the 

entire village sheltered me even though I know there were still about 20 per cent anti-Semites among them.ò See 

ñEdmonton survivor returns to Poland,ò The Canadian Jewish News (Toronto), August 2, 1990, and ñReturn to Otwock 

brings back rush of memories,ò The Canadian Jewish News, August 30, 1990; Mary Kaye Ritz, ñHolocaust Survivor 

Sees Own childhood on Film,ò Honolulu Advertiser, January 31, 2003. See also Gutman and Bender, The Encyclopedia 

of the Righteous Among the Nations, vol. 5: Poland, Part 2, 927. Abram Jakub Zand, a tailor from the village of 

Bolim·w near Skierniewice, ñstole back to his village; the local peasants welcomed him back, and he was passed from 

house to house, working a week or two in each. é óIf I were to thank everyone, whole villages would have to visit 

me.ôò Both he and his sister survived in this way. See Tatiana Berenstein and Adam Rutkowski, Assistance to the Jews 

in Poland, 1939ï1945 (Warsaw: Polonia Publishing House, 1963), 27; Engelking, Jest taki piňkny sğoneczny dzieŒé, 

123ï24. Shmuel Eliraz, then known as Ludwik PoznaŒski, was born in Warsaw in 1935. Confined in the Warsaw 

ghetto with his parents, they arranged for their little son to be taken to safety, and entrusted him to his motherôs former 

nanny, Maria Walewska. Walewska was unmarried, had no children of her own, and after a long service to their family 

had moved to the village of Nowy Kawňczyn near Skierniewice. Shmuel became Wiesiu, Mariaôs nephew. When she 

first brought the boy home, her neighbours were distrustful and suspected that she was hiding a Jewish child. However, 

they eventually left them in peace. He remained in the village under Walewskaôs care for the rest of the war years. See 

Maria Walewska, The Righteous Database, Yad Vashem, Internet: 

<http://www.yadvashem.org/yv/en/righteous/stories/walewska.asp>. A Polish Red Cross worker gave over to a Polish 

couple by the name of Kaczmarek, themselves refugees from Western Poland living in the town of ŧyrard·w near 

Warsaw, a young Jewish girl found abandoned in an empty death train: ñMany of the neighbours knew that she was 

Jewish, yet no one informed.ò See Zbigniew Pakula, The Jews of PoznaŒ (London and Portland, Oregon: Vallentine 

Mitchell, 2003), 51. Ten-year-old Estera Borensztajn was sheltered by the villagers of Osiny, between ŧelech·w and 

Ğuk·w: ñthe peasants arranged among themselves that each would hide a Jewish girl for a certain period so that 

óeveryone would be guilty and no one could inform.ôò See Berenstein and Rutkowski, Assistance to the Jews in Poland, 

1939ï1945, 27. Sara Bryn took up residence in the village of Adam·w near Ğuk·w with her young child, passing as a 

Christian by the name of Stefania Romaniuk. Although it was widely suspected that she was Jewish, and she was told 

as much, no one betrayed her. See Janina Hera, Polacy ratujŃcy ŧyd·w: Sğownik (Warsaw: Neriton, 2014), 165; 

Stefania Romaniuk, ñMoja okupacja,ò Odra, no. 5 (1988): 24ï32 , here at 30ï31. The LatoszyŒski family of Lendo 

Wielkie near Ryki took in 12-year-old Arthur Cytryniaz (later Citrin) from Warsaw as a farmhand, at the behest of his 

mother, who also hid in the vicinity under a false identity and visited her son from time to time. Although the boy had a 

good command of Polish, his motherôs Polish accent gave her Jewish identity away. Among the people on the farm it 

was never openly said that he was Jewish but everybody knew it. See Israel Gutman, ed., The Encyclopedia of the 

Righteous Among the Nations: Rescuers of Jews during the Holocaust: Supplementary Volumes (2000ï2005), volume 

II (Jerusalem: Yad Vashem, 2010), 586ï87. Hinda ŧaboklicka was rescued by Salicki family in the village of Zğotokğos 

near Warsaw. The rescuers were her prewar teachers, who smuggled her from the ghetto in Kağuszyn and brought her 

to their home. They obtained false identification for her and kept her for the rest of the occupation, even though the 
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neighbours suspected she was Jewish and some of them expressed concerns anout the risk this posed. See Joanna 

Michlic, ñStories of Rescue Activities in the Letters of Jewish Survivors about Christian Polish Rescuers, 1944ï1949,ò 

in Glenn Dynner and Fran­ois Guesnet, eds., Warsaw: The Jewish Metropolis (Leiden and Boston: Brill, 2015), 530ï

31. Henryk Prajs survived the war passing as a Pole in the village of Podwierzbie near Magnuszew where the fact that 

he was Jewish was widely known, with the protection of the head of the village. See the testimony of Henryk Prajs, 

January 2005, Internet: <http://www.centropa.org>. Hana Grynberg, who was just ten years old when she escaped from 

the ghetto in Kozienice in 1942, lived openly with the Polish Bratos family in the village of TrzebieŒ near Magnuszew 

for some two years, where the fact that she was Jewish was widely known. See Gutman and Bender, The Encyclopedia 

of the Righteous Among the Nations, volume 4, Part 1, 112. In the small village of Bokowo Wielkie near Sierpc four 

Jews were rescued by diverse Polish farmers. See Leon Gongoğa, ñO prawach i ludziach,ò Polska (Warsaw), no. 7 

(1971): 170ï72. Mindzia Kirszenbaum (Mindze Kirschenbaum) was taken in by the family of Bolesğaw Topolewski in 

the village of Przeradz Mağy near BieŨuŒ, where she lived openly for some two years and her origin was known to the 

villagers. Previously she had lived with farmers in the village of Lutocin where her origin was also known. See Artur 

K.F. Woğosz, ed., Ksiňga pamiňci ŧyd·w bieŨuŒskich (BieŨuŒ: Towarzystwo Przyjaci·ğ BieŨunia and Muzeum Mağego 

Miasta w BieŨuniu, Oddziağ Muzeum Wsi Mazowieckiej w Sierpcu, 2009), 100ï1; translation of Sefer ha-zikaron le-

kedoshei Biezun (Tel Aviv: Former Residents of Biezun, 1956). After being smuggled out of the Warsaw ghetto with 

her bother and wandering around villages working for farmers as shepherds, 12-year-old Ester Rotfing (later Livny) 

began working for the Jankowski family in the village of Mğyniec(?). She remained with them until the end of the 

German occupation, even though many of the villagers knew that she was Jewish. See Gutman, The Encyclopedia of 

the Righteous Among the Nations: Rescuers of Jews during the Holocaust: Supplementary Volumes (2000ï2005), 

volume II, 563ï64. After escaping from the Warsaw ghetto in August 1942, 13-year-old Chana Ajzenfisz and her ten-

year-old sister Chaya wandered for two weeks from village to village, in the countryside north of Warsaw. Unkempt 

and dirty, they were readily recognizable as Jews by their appearance and accent but received food and temporary 

lodging from farmers on whose doors they knocked. When they arrived in the village of Krzyczki-PieniŃŨki near 

Nasielsk, about 50 kilometres from Warsaw, they were taken in by the extended Krzyczkowski family. The girls lived 

in the village openly, passed off as distant family members, for the rest of the war. Although the villagers were aware 

of their Jewish origin no one betrayed them. See Jacek Leociak, Ratowanie: OpowieŜci Polak·w i ŧyd·w (Krak·w: 

Wydawnictwo Literackie, 2010), 23ï24, 128ï29, 131ï35. After marrying and converting to Catholicism, shortly before 

the war Wğadysğaw Gugla, a school teacher, settled in the village of Chociszewo, north of Warsaw, where his origin 

was widely known. He survived with assistance of a number of villagers who sheltered him, as he moved from place to 

place, teaching village children clandestinely. See Suzanne Rozdeba, ñA Polish Villageôs Secret: A Farming Town Hid 

a Jewish-born Teacher During the Holocaust,ò Tablet, August 21, 2012. Yisrael Golos, then a 12-year-old boy, 

managed to escape from the ghetto in Ciechan·w during an Aktion. He took on an assumed Polish identity and began to 

wander in the area, hiring himself out to do farm work in villages where he was not known. In early 1943, he arrived at 

the home of Stanisğaw and Maria Pajewski in the village of Mierzanowo near Grudusk. They hired Golos in return for 

room and board. One day a farmer from another village happened to arrive at their house. He recognized Golos and 

revealed that he was Jewish. ñTo Golosôs surprise, not only did his employers not treat him any worse as a result, they 

treated him even better. From that time on, the family took special precautions to safeguard Golosôs life and the 

neighbors demonstrated solidarity with the Pajewski family and did not inform on them to the Germans.ò See Gutman 

and Bender, The Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations, vol. 5, Part 2, 575. After escaping from a German 

camp, Margita (Miriam) Weiss-Lºwy, a Czech Jew made her way to the farm of J·zef and Maria Sadurski in 

KoŒskowola near Puğawy. Although the neighbours were aware of her presence, she remained there safely until the end 

of the German occupation. See ñJak moŨna podziňkowaĺ za Ũycie: Sprawiedliwi wŜr·d narod·w Ŝwiata z Lublina i 

KoŒskowoli,ò Dziennik Wschodni, April 26, 2015. A Jewish man by the name of Duczy lived openly, without any 

problems, in his native village of Tarzymiechy near ZamoŜĺ throughout the entire war. He had always been on good 

terms with the villagers and was so well liked that he lived there safely, without fear of being betrayed to the Germans. 

He also arranged for several Jews to hide on the farm of a Catholic family in that village. See Philip ñFiszelò Bialowitz 

with Joseph Bialowitz, A Promise at Sobib·r: A Jewish Boyôs Story of Revolt and Survival in Nazi-Occupied Poland 

(Madison, Wisconsin: University of Wisconsin Press, 2010), 141ï42. The case of author Jerzy KosiŒski and his 

parents, who lived openly in DŃbrowa Rzeczycka near Stalowa Wola, is another example. The KosiŒski family 

attended church in nearby Wola Rzeczycka, obtained food from villagers in Kňpa Rzeczycka, and were sheltered 

temporarily in Rzeczyca OkrŃgğa. Other Jews were also assisted by the local villagers. See James Park Sloan, Jerzy 

Kosinski: A Biography (New York: Dutton/Penguin, 1996), 7ï54. Faiga Rosenbluth, a penniless teenage Jewish girl 

from KaŒczuga, roamed the countryside moving from one village to the next for some two years; she helped out by 

very many peasants and was not betrayed, even though she was readily recognized as a Jew. See Fay Walker and Leo 

Rosen (with Caren S. Neile), Hidden: A Sister and Brother in Nazi Poland (Madison, Wisconsin: The University of 

Wisconsin Press, 2002), passim. Menachem Superman, who survived in the Rzesz·w area, wrote: ñthe entire village 

knew that I was Jewish, but [my rescuer] always said to me that I shouldnôt be afraid, because no one will hand me 

over to the Germans.ò See ElŨbieta RŃczy, Pomoc Polak·w dla ludnoŜci Ũydowskiej na RzeszowszczyŦnie 1939ï1945 

(Rzesz·w: Instytut Pamiňci NarodowejïKomisja ścigania Zbrodni przeciwko Narodowi Polskiemu, 2008), 128. The 

teenager J·zef Leichter was hired as a farmhand by Jan Trojanowski, from Nowy Borek near Rzesz·w. Although it was 



 53 

                                                                                                                                                                             
common knowledge in the surrounding villages that the boy was a Jew, the farmer allowed the boy to stay despite the 

danger. On the advice of the village headman, the boy did not venture out. Despite some threats, he was not denounced. 

See Maria Hochberg-MariaŒska and Noe Gr¿ss, eds., The Children Accuse (London and Portland, Oregon: Vallentine 

Mitchell, 1996), 68ï72. Fifteen members of the extended family of Isaac and Leah Gamss were hidden from 1942 to 

1944 in the attic of a farmhouse belonging to Stanisğaw and Maria Grocholski in the vicinity of Urzejowice near 

Przeworsk. The villagers knew the Grocholskis were hiding Jews because several members of the group called on a 

number of villagers to ask for food and it was the only house that in the winter did not have snow on the roof. Leslie 

Gilbert-Lurie, the daughter of one of the hidden Jews, states: ñI would say it took a whole village of people for my 

motherôs family to survive.ò See Leslie Gilbert-Lurie with Rita Lurie, Bending Toward the Sun: A Mother and 

Daughter Memoir (New York: HarperCollins, 2009), 46ï47, 58, 293. The KŃdzioğka family of Wiňckowice near 

Jarosğaw took in two siblings, MojŨesz and Blima Katz, from the neighbouring village of Czelatyce. They were joined 

by a third person, Mejer Blau, and were visited occasionally by the brother, Icek, who was welcomed to eat with them. 

The neighbours suspected that the KŃdzioğkas were hiding Jews but said nothing. See Gutman, The Encyclopedia of the 

Righteous Among the Nations: Rescuers of Jews During the Holocaust: Supplementary Volumes (2000ï2005), volume 

II, 567ï68. Barbara Mikğasz, an elderly woman from Pruchnik near Jarosğaw, sheltered ElŨbieta Roserman (born 1940) 

at the behest of her parents, who were deported by the Germans. The villagers were aware of this as the child lived 

there openly throughout the occupation, and remained with her adoptive family after the war. See Sprawiedliwa wŜr·d 

narod·w ŜwiataðBarbara Mikğasz, Gimnazjum Publiczne im. Ks. Bronisğawa Markiewicza w Pruchniku, Onternet: 

<http://www.gimnazjumpruchnik.pl/projekty/sprawiedliwa.pdf>. Marian Goğňbiowski, who was awarded by Yad 

Vashem, placed Dr. Bernard Ryszard Hellreich (later Ingram) and his future wife Irena Szumska, who went by the 

names of Zbigniew and Irena Jakobiszyn, in the village of Czermna near Jasğo, where their presence was known to all 

the villagers and they enjoyed the protection of the owners and manager of a local estate. See Piotr Zychowicz, 

ñRatowali ŧyd·w i nie godzŃ sie na kğamstwa,ò Rzeczpospolita, October 30, 2009; The Polish Righteous: Internet: 

<http://www.sprawiedliwi.org.pl/en/family/335,golebiowski-marian/>. Marcin and Maria BrykczyŒski had an estate in 

Skoğyszyn, a village west of Jasğo, where they lived with their four children. In 1940, they took in a Polish family who 

had been expelled by the Germans from PoznaŒ. Feliks Sandauer, born in 1928, was brought there from Lw·w by 

Maria BrykczyŒskaôs sister in 1941, and ostensibly passed as their nephew, Feliks Sawicki. Although word of this 

spread among the villagers, no one betrayed them. See Hera, Polacy ratujŃcy ŧyd·w, 153; Chodorska, Godni synowie 

naszej Ojczyzny, Part Two, 214ï18. J·zef and J·zefa Marĺ hid at least twelve Jews in the attic of their house in Jedlicze 

near Krosno, among them many members of the Fries family. They were assisted by their son and the Zub family, who 

lived in the neighbourhood. Many inhabitants of the village were aware of this but no one betrayed them. See ElŨbieta 

RŃczy and Igor Witowicz, Polacy ratujŃcy ŧyd·w na RzeszowszczyŦnie w latach 1939ï1945 / Poles Rescuing Jews in 

the Rzesz·w Region in the Years 1939ï1945 (Rzesz·w: Instytut Pamiňci Narodowej, 2011), 92. Zila Weinstein-Beer 

(later Cipora Reôem or Zippora Ram), born in 1939, was taken in Maria and Stanisğaw Dudek of the village of 

OdrzykoŒ near Krosno. She was able to pass with the assistance of the local pastor, who baptized her, and the solidarity 

of the Dudeksô neighbours. Most of the villagers knew where the little girl, the daughter of a local timber plant owner, 

had come from, but kept silent. See Stanisğaw & Maria Dudek, The Righteous Database, Yad Vashem, Internet: 

<http://db.yadvashem.org/righteous/family.html?language=en&itemId=4211640>; The Dudek Family, The Polish 

Righteous, Internet: <http://www.sprawiedliwi.org.pl/en/family/626,the-dudek-family/>. Five Polish families in the 

neaby villages of Przyb·wka and Niepla, lying between Jasğo and KrosnoðObara, Zajchowski, Stefanik, Pomprowicz, 

and Faryniarzðsheltered the Abraham and Regina Bigajer and their daughters, who also hailed from Przyb·wka. See 

Gutman, The Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations: Rescuers of Jews during the Holocaust: 

Supplementary Volumes (2000ï2005), volume II, 601; RŃczy and Witowicz, Polacy ratujŃcy ŧyd·w na 

RzeszowszczyŦnie w latach 1939ï1945 / Poles Rescuing Jews in the Rzesz·w Region in the Years 1939ï1945, 158. A 

network of Polish families was instrumental in rescuing the 8-member Kr¿ger family, consisting of parents and six 

children, of Sowina, a village located north of Jasğo, and Jacek Klec, a tailor from the Warsaw area. The rescuers 

included two families from Sowina who were recognized by Yad Vashem as Righteous Gentiles, namely Stanisğaw and 

Anna Kopeĺ and Jan and Kunegunda FrŃczek, and their daughter Adela Liszka, as well the Stasiowski and Hendzel 

families and others. See ñAnna Kopec,ò The Jewish Foundation for the Righteous, Internet: 

<http://www.jfr.org/pages/rescuer-support/stories/poland-/-anna-kopec>; ñThe Kopeĺ Family,ò The Polish Righteous, 

Internet: <http://www.sprawiedliwi.org.pl/en/family/647,the-kopec-family/>; Testimony of Anna Kopeĺ, Internet: 

<http://www.sprawiedliwi.org.pl/pl/media/1079/>. The entire village of Ciechania, located south of Jasğo near the 

Slovak border, rescued a local Jew, who moved from one farmer to another. See Zuzanna Schnepf-Koğacz, ñóIn the 

Ciechania Presbyteryô: The Story of Saving Zofia Trembska: A Case Study,ò Holocaust: Studies and Materials 

(Warsaw: Polish Center for Holocaust Research), vol. 2 (2010), 367. Several dozen Polish families sheltered Jews in 

the villages of Ropa, Moszczenica and Rzepiennik StrzyŨewski near Gorlice. See Michağ Kalisz and ElŨbieta RŃczy, 

Dzieje spoğecznoŜci Ũydowskiej powiatu gorlickiego podczas okupacji niemieckiej 1939ï1945 (Rzesz·w: Instytut 

Pamiňci NarodowejïKomisja ścigania Zbrodni przeciwko Narodowi Polskiemu, Oddziağ w Rzeszowie, 2015), 87ï89. 

Henryk Schºnker recalled that when he was fingered in Wieliczka by a boy who started to chase him, the passers-by 

ignored the boyôs cry to ñcatch the Jew.ò No one made an effort to apprehend him. One of the onlookers seized the boy 

and admonished him. See Henryk Schºnker, Dotkniňcie anioğa (Warsaw: OŜrodek Karta, 2005), 135ï36. The case of 
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Doctor Olga Lilien, a Holocaust survivor from Lw·w with a very marked Jewish appearance, who lived with a Polish 

family near Tarnobrzeg, is another example of solidarity among the Polish villagers. A German came looking for a 

fugitive and summoned the villagers to a meeting to question them about his whereabouts. ñSuddenly he looked at me 

and said, óOh, but this is a Jewess.ô The head of the village said, óOh, no, she cooks at the school. She is a very good 

cook.ô Nobody said, óOh, well, she is Jewish. Take her.ô He let me go. The population of the village was about two 

thousand. They all knew there was something ówrongô with me. Any one of them could have sold me to the Germans 

for two hundred deutsche marks, but out of two thousand people nobody did it. Everybody in the village protected me. 

I had very good relations with them.ò See Ellen Land-Weber, To Save a Life: Stories of Holocaust Rescue (Urbana and 

Chicago: University of Illinois Press, 2000), 204ï206, 246. The villagers of Czajk·w near Stasz·w were known for the 

support they gave to Jews who were hiding from the Germans: ñit was something exceptional to see the humane way 

the villagers behaved. These simple people helped us of their own free will, and without receiving any money in return. 

From them we often heard some kind words, quite apart from the money, loaves of bread and boiled potatoes they gave 

us from time to time.ò See Gabriel Singer, ñAs Beasts in the Woods,ò in Elhanan Ehrlich, ed., Sefer Staszow (Tel Aviv: 

Organization of Staszowites in Israel with the Assistance of the Staszowite Organizations in the Diaspora, 1962), xviii 

(English section). More than a dozen villagers have been recognized by Yad Vashem as Righteous Gentiles. See 

Gutman and Bender, The Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations, vols. 4 and 5: Poland, Part 1, 197; Part 2, 

670. Two Polish families in the village of Rytwiany sheltered the Mandel family, consisting of parents and their four 

children, from nearby Stasz·w, even though people in the village suspected them of hiding Jews. See Gutman, The 

Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations: Rescuers of Jews During the Holocaust: Supplementary Volumes 

(2000ï2005), volume II, 609ï10. Many villagers in Gğuch·w near ĞaŒcut were also engaged in sheltering Jews, and 

did so with the support of the entire community. See Mariusz Kamieniecki, ñRatowali ŧyd·w przed zagğadŃ,ò Nasz 

Dziennik, November 24, 2005; Institute of National Remembrance, Wystawa ñSprawiedliwi wŜrod Narod·w świataòð

15 czerwca 2004 r., Rzesz·w, Internet: <http://www.ipn.gov.pl/portal/pl/359/913/>. An illiterate Jewish woman who 

survived in a village near Lublin acknowledged that ñthe entire village rescued me. They all wanted me to survive. And 

when the Germans were routed, I left the village and shall never return there.ò When asked why she didnôt want to see 

the people who saved her life, she replied: ñBecause I would be beholden to the entire village. So I left and wonôt 

return.ò See Klara Mirska, W cieniu wiecznego strachu: Wspomnienia (Paris, n.p.: 1980), 455. Marianna Krasnodňbska 

(n®e Jarosz), whose family was awarded by Yad Vashem for rescuing thirteen Jews in Piaski near Lublin, stated: ñWith 

absolute confidence and with a clear conscience,ò she states, ñI can say that none of the residents of Piaski ever 

betrayed the Jews in hiding. They might have been too afraid to help, but would not sell one out. There were two 

informers, but they were executed by the Home Army.ò See Poles Who Rescued Jews During the Holocaust: Recalling 

Forgotten History (Warsaw: Chancellery of the President of the Republic of Poland and Museum of the History of 

Polish Jews, 2008), 79. The villagers of Wola Przybysğawska near Lublin took turns sheltering and caring for a young 

Jewish girl who survived a German raid on a forest bunker. She was passed from one home to another, thus ensuring 

there wouldnôt be any informing. See Goldberg, The Undefeated, 166ï67. A Jewish woman named Berkowa (n®e 

Zelman) was rescued by Jan ĞoŜ in the village of ŧabno near ŧ·ğkiewka; although this was widely known, no one 

betrayed her. The Wajc family, consisting of Mendel and Ryfka and their two young sons, Jankiel and Zygmunt, 

survived in the village of R·Ũki near ŧ·ğkiewka, where they were known to the villagers. See Chaim Zylberklang, Z 

ŧ·ğkiewki do Erec Israel: Przez Kotğas, Buzuğuk, Ural, Polskň, Niemcy i Francjň, Second revised and expanded edition 

(Lublin: Akko, 2004), 169, 171ï72. Moshe Frank, a teenager from ZamoŜĺ, was taken in by a poor farmer in Dňbowiec 

who lived in a one-room hut with his wife and sister-in-law. Upon learning he was Jewish, they consulted with relatives 

and friends about what to do, and decided to go on behaving as though Moshe were a Christian. See Nahum Bogner, At 

the Mercy of Strangers: The Rescue of Jewish Children with Assumed Identities in Poland (Jerusalem: Yad Vashem, 

2009), 88ï89, 97. Jakub Hersz Griner, an 11-year-old boy from ZamoŜĺ, looking for a job as a farmhand, was taken in 

by a poor Polish family in Biağowola. Although he posed as a Polish orphan named Grzegorz Pawğowski, his flawed 

Polish and behaviour gave him away. He had been wandering through the villages from one farmhouse to another. He 

remained with this family for about a year, and then worked for another family in this same village. News that the boy 

was Jewish had long spread in the village, but no one openly mentioned this. The boy remained in the village until 

liberation. See Gutman, The Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations: Rescuers of Jews During the 

Holocaust: Supplementary Volumes (2000ï2005), volume II, 530ï31. A Jewish boy of seven or eight years named 

Abraham, who tended geese for a farmer near Sandomierz, was known to the peasants as ñŧydekò (little Jew). See Eva 

Feldenkreiz-Grinbal, ed., Eth EzkeraðWhenever I Remember: Memorial Book of the Jewish Community in Tzoymir 

(Sandomierz) (Tel Aviv: Irgun yotsôe Tsoizmir be-Yisraôl: Moreshet, bet iedut óa. sh. Mordekhai Anilevitsô, 1993), 

544. The Idasiak family took in a teenaged Jewish boy by the name of Dawid, whom they sheltered for almost two 

years. The neighbours were fully aware that he was Jewish and also helped him. He herded cows and played with the 

village children. See the account of B. Idasiak, ñJedwabne: Dlaczego kğamstwa?,ò Nasz Dziennik, February 26, 2001. A 

9-year-old Jewish boy by the name of Wintluk (Wintel), who had lost his mother and three fingers when shot at by 

Germans while escaping, was taken in by a poor Polish family in Mulawicze near Bielsk Podlaski and then cared for 

and protected by the entire village who took pity on him: ñThe entire village, which was more aware of the danger, 

took responsibility for his survival. The village administrator gave warning of visits by the Germans, who were 

stationed in the village school. Thanks to this collective effort, the boy survived the war.ò See Alina Cağa, The Image of 
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the Jew in Polish Folk Culture (Jerusalem: The Magnes Press, The Hebrew Univeristy, 1995), 209ï10. Alfreda and 

Bolesğaw Pietraszek sheltered several Jewish families consisting of 18 people on their farm in Czekan·w near Sokoğ·w 

Podlaski for a period of two years. Although they had to rely on the assistance of neighbours for food for their charges, 

no one betrayed them. See ñOdznaczenia dla Sprawiedliwych,ò Internet: <http://www.forum-

znak.org.pl/index.php?t=wydarzenia&id=6109>. Two young Jewish men were passed from farmer to farmer in the 

village of Zdzieb·rz near Wyszk·w and were eventually accepted into the Home Army. See Krystian Brodacki, 

ñMusimy ich uszanowaĺ!ò Tygodnik SolidarnoŜĺ, December 17, 2004. Yitzhak Kuniak from Kağuszyn hid among 

peasants for whom he was sewing secretly. He moved about in a few villages where he was fed and sheltered. See Layb 

Rochman, ñWith Kuniak in Hiding,ò in A. Shamri and Sh. Soroka, eds., Sefer Kaluszyn: Geheylikt der khorev 

gevorener kehile (Tel Aviv: Former Residents of Kaluszyn in Israel, 1961), 437ff., translated as The Memorial Book of 

Kaluszyn, Internet: <http://jewishgen.org/Yizkor/kaluszyn/Kaluszyn.html>. A teenaged boy and his mother, who lived 

in a damaged, abandoned house in Drzewica where he openly played with village boys, survived the war despite his 

Semitic appearance. See Sven Sonnenberg, A Two Stop Journey to Hell (Montreal: Polish-Jewish Heritage Foundation 

of Canada, 2001). A poor Jewish tailor survived the war by being passed from home to home in the village of 

DŃbrowica near Ulan·w. See Chodorska, Godni synowie naszej Ojczyzny, Part Two, 161ï62. Jerzy and Irena Krňpeĺ, 

who were awarded by Yad Vashem, sheltered and otherwise assisted a number of Jews on their farm in GoğŃbki near 

Warsaw. Their son, a 14-year-old boy at the time, recalled: ñthe fact that they were hiding Jews was an open secret in 

the village. At times, there were 20 or 30 people living on the farm. Many of the visitors were urban Jews who spoke 

Polish with an accent. Their children attended underground schools that moved from house to house. óThe neighbors 

knew. It would have been impossible to manage this without people finding out. But everyone knew they had to keep 

quietðit was a matter of life or death.ôò In fact, many of the Krňpeĺôs Polish neighbours helped, ñif only to provide a 

meal.ò See Peggy Curran, ñDecent people: Polish couple honored for saving Jews from Nazis,ò Gazette (Montreal), 

December 10, 1994; Janice Arnold, ñPolish widow made Righteous Gentile,ò The Canadian Jewish News (Montreal 

edition), January 26, 1995; Tomaszewski and Werbowski, Zegota, 141ï42, ŧegota, 2nd edition, 131ï32; Code Name: 

ŧegota, 3rd edition, 140ï43. After living in Warsaw on Aryan papers passing as a Christian, Joseph Dattner moved to a 

vill age outside Warsaw in May 1944. Working as a tailor to earn food, he moved from house to house sewing clothes. 

Dattner recalls: ñI survived, like my brothers, by pretending to be Christian. I took the name Poluk but I was well-

known and most people knew I was Jewish.ò See the interview with Joseph Dattner, dated December 20, 1988, Phoenix 

Holocaust Survivorsô Association in affiliation with the Cline Library of Northern Arizona University; Al Sokol, 

ñHolocaust Theme Underscores Work of Artist,ò Toronto Star, November 7, 1996. After leaving the ghetto in JeŨ·w, 

Nathan Gold received extensive support from Poles in the nearby villages of Przybyszyce and Sğupia: ñSome ten 

families in the villages took turns hiding him, each one not knowing about the otherôs activities. They were poor 

people, many of the older ones illiterate, but all opened their hearts and their homes to him.ò See Tomaszewski and 

Werbowski, Code Name: ŧegota, 143. Ludwika Fiszer was one of three women who escaped naked from an execution 

pit where Jews from the Poniatowa labour camp were taken by Germans and their Ukrainian henchmen. Roaming from 

village to village, despite their dishevelled appearances, they received various forms of assistance, even though the 

peasants were clearly terrified of Ukrainian retaliation. Although most people were reluctant to keep them for any 

length of time, no one betrayed them, and several weeks later they met up with a Polish woman who took them safely 

to Warsaw. See the account of Ludwika Fiszer in the web site Women and the Holocaust (Personal ReflectionsðIn 

Ghettos/Camps), Internet: <http://www.theverylongview.com/WATH/> and 

<http:/www.zchor.org/poniatowa/fiszer.htm>. (Ludwika Fiszerôs account was recorded in early 1944; the account of 

Estera Rubinsztein, a fellow escapee, recorded in November 1945, neglects to mention many examples of assistance 

the women received from peasants, accentuates the negative experiences and even embellishes them. Even after 

making allowance for a variance in memory retention among survivors, these accounts shows not only how rapidly 

memory depreciates but also undermine the notion, advanced by sociologist Jan T. Gross, that many details of the more 

frequently bad than good contacts were very quickly suppressed. On the contrary, a comparison of these texts proves 

just the opposite and underscores the influence of negative stereotypes on later accounts. See Andrzej ŧbikowski, 

ñTexts Buried in Oblivion: Testimonies of Two Refugees from the Mass Grave at Poniatowa,ò Holocaust: Studies and 

Materials (Journal of the Polish Center for Holocaust Research, Warsaw), vol. 1 (2008): 76ï102.) In June 1943, Hary 

(Tzvi) Norich, born in Chorz·w in 1928, left the ghetto in Bňdzin and found shelter with Andrzej and Maria Skop in 

the village of WoŦniki, south of Czňstochowa. He stayed with the Skops for eight months, despite the fact that quite a 

few people from Chorz·w could have recognized him as Jewish, and did a few times, and many people in WoŦniki 

knew his parents, who had lived there for a while after their marriage, and saw their likeness in him. He decided to look 

for a different hideout so as not to endager the Skops, and survived the war with the help of another Polisg family. See 

Skop Family, The Righteous Database, Yad Vashem, Internet: 

<http://db.yadvashem.org/righteous/family.html?language=en&itemId=8033905>. David Danieli, a 9-year-old boy 

from Rybnik, was taken in by a Polish family who looked after him devotedly and saw to all his needs. He later 

discovered that many people had known he was Jewish but had not denounced his adoptive parents. See Bogner, At the 

Mercy of Strangers, 62ï63. After escaping from the Sosnowiec ghetto, Adela Gr¿nfeld and her son Leon took up 

residence in Bujak·w near Bielsko-Biağa, in the Beskid Mountains. She was recognized by Bolesğaw Blachura, a friend 

from before the war and underground member hiding in the same village with the Wawak and Porňbski families. Adela 
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Gr¿nfeld brought many other Jews to the village, including her sister and brother-in-law. They stayed in the barn or in 

the attic, and only the boy Leon lived openly in the house. When asked about the danger of being denounced because of 

this large movement of people, Wğadysğaw Porňbski answers: ñI was only afraid of [being denounced by] Germans, not 

Poles, because one of them [the Poles] was in Auschwitz, another in forced labour, transported to Germany, another 

one was a partisan, yet another left in 1939 and never came backé These things united people.ò See Poles Who 

Rescued Jews During the Holocaust: Recalling Forgotten History (Warsaw: Chancellery of the President of the 

Republic of Poland and Museum of the History of Polish Jews, August 2009), 115. See also Gutman and Bender, The 

Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations, vol. 5: Poland, Part 2, 634ï35. Hania Gross was taken in by the 

Matlak family of Przecisz·w, a village near OŜwiňcim, at the age of nine. She was passed off as a distant relative, but 

the neighbours soon began to suspect the childôs true identity. Despite the danger posed to their lives, the Matlaks 

continued to care for Hania as if she were their own. ñThey were afraid they might get denounced. Fortunately, no one 

did.ò Hania lived a normal life, playing with other children, attending churchðnot in hiding at all. See Poles Who 

Rescued Jews During the Holocaust: Recalling Forgotten History (Warsaw: Chancellery of the President of the 

Republic of Poland and Museum of the History of Polish Jews, November 2008), 97. A Jew from Krak·w by the name 

of Gelbart settled in the nearby village of WyciŃŨe with his wife and child. They survived the occupation by moving 

from cottage to cottage, providing tailoring services in exchange for room and board. Their presence was known to 

hundreds of people, yet no one betrayed them. See Krystyna Samsonowska, ñPomoc dla ŧyd·w krakowskich w okresie 

okupacja hitlerowskiej,ò in ŧbikowski, Polacy i ŧydzi pod okupacjŃ niemieckŃ 1939ï1945, 856. Bogusğawa Lifszyc 

was smuggled out of the Warsaw ghetto and brought to the village of Laskowa near Nowy SŃcz, where she was taken 

in by the KraŜny family. Although posing as a Catholic, Halina Pisz, her dark features made her stand out and the 

villagers suspected she was Jewish. However, no one betrayed her. See Paweğ Knap, ñJak ci siň uda uratowaĺ, 

pamiňtajò: Relacje ñSprawiedliwychò i o ñSprawiedliwychò z wojew·dztwa zachodniopomorskiego (Szczecin: Instytut 

Pamiňci NarodowejïKomisja ścigania Zbrodni przeciwko Narodowi Polskiemu, Oddziağ w Szczecinie, 2010), 37ï38. 

Alter Szymszynowicz made soap for villagers near Opoczno and KoŒskie in exchange for food and shelter. See 

Engelking, Jest taki piňkny sğoneczny dzieŒé, 125ï26. In the village of Dziurk·w near Radom, a local Jew lived 

openly throughout the war with two Polish families under an assumed identity furnished by the Home Army, and even 

took seasonal employment with the Germans, without being betrayed. See Tadeusz Kozğowski, ñSpotkanie z 

Ũydowskim kolegŃ po 50 latach,ò Gazeta (Toronto), May 12ï14, 1995. In the village of Tarğ·w, between ZwoleŒ and 

Sandomierz, J·zef and Wiktoria Krawczyk agreed to shelter Ewa G·recka, the three-year-old daughter of a Jewish 

woman whom they did not know. They passed her off as their granddaughter, even though their two adult sons were 

childless and the neighbours knew she was not their granddaughter. They kept the child until 1949, when she was 

removed from them by deception. See Gutman, The Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations: Rescuers of 

Jews During the Holocaust: Supplementary Volumes (2000ï2005), volume II, 579ï80. When a Jew passing as a 

Christian became a driver and had to transport some German officials to his hometown of Wierzbnik, he wondered 

ñHow come no one recognized me? There are many gentiles who knew me in the town where I was born and raised and 

still I was not exposed.ò After the war he learned that many had indeed recognized him, but ñkept their mouths shut.ò 

See Menachem Mincberg, ñIn the Jaws of Destiny,ò in Mark Schutzman, ed., Wierzbnik-Starachowitz: A Memorial 

Book (Tel Aviv: Wierzbnik-Starachowitz Relief Society in Israel and Abroad, 1973), 201ff, translated as Wierzbnik-

Starachowitz: A Memorial Book, Internet: <http://www.jewishgen.org/yizkor/Wierzbnik/Wierzbnik.html>. The 

Konarski and Mermer families sheltered seven Jews who escaped from the Hassag labour camp in the attic of their 

house in the village of Komorniki, on the outskirts of Czňstochowa, for a period of twenty-two months. Although their 

neighbours were aware of the rescue, no one betrayed them. See ñSprawiedliwy WŜr·d Narod·w świata,ò Puls 

Regionu (Czňstochowa), May 2008 <http://region.czest.pl/cz50/sprawiedliwy.php>. In the village of Olsztyn near 

Czňstochowa, four Jewish families passed as Polish Christians with the collusion of the villagers. See Frank Morgens, 

Years at the Edge of Existence: War Memoirs, 1939ï1945 (Lanham, Maryland: University Press of America, 1996), 

97, 99. After escaping from the ghetto in Czňstochowa, Ignacy Jakobson and his colleagues joined a partisan unit near 

Koniecpol where they were assisted by a priest and a number of farmers in KoŜcielna: ñthe farmers in that village were 

most favourably disposed to us.ò See Bartoszewski and Lewin, Righteous Among Nations, 588ï89. Another eyewitness 

writes: ñIn Kielce Voivodship I know of cases where an entire village knew that a Jew or a Jewess were hiding out, 

disguised in peasant clothes, and no one betrayed them even though they were poor Jews who not only could not pay 

for their silence but had to be fed, clothed and housed.ò See Bartoszewski and Lewin, Righteous Among Nations, 361. 

A similar attitude in several villages near Ğowicz is described by Joseph Szmekura. See Gedaliah Shaiak, ed., Lowicz, 

A Town in Mazovia: Memorial Book (Tel Aviv: Lowitcher Landsmanshaften in Melbourne and Sydney, Australia, 

1966), xviïxvii. Hanna Mesz, along with her mother, spent the period September 1944 to February 1945 in the village 

of Korzeni·wka near Gr·jec, supporting themselves by working for various farmers who suspected they were Jewish. 

See Wiktoria śliwowska, ed., The Last Eyewitnesses: Children of the Holocaust Speak (Evanston, Illinois: 

Northwestern University Press, 1998), 120ï23. A similar case near Ğaskarzew is recorded in Mağgorzata 

Niezabitowska, Remnants: The Last Jews of Poland (New York: Friendly Press, 1986), 118ï24: Zygmunt Srul 

Warszawer hid for 26 months moving from place to place among numerous villages, such as Wielki Las, in the triangle 

formed by Ğaskarzew, Sobolew, and Wilga, ñvisiting every farm because he figured that if everyone helped him no one 

would turn him inðto do so would mean self-destruction.ò No one turned him away empty handed during those 26 
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months: ñóNo one ever refused to help you?ô óNo, not food! In twenty-six months, not once. Sometimes they were 

afraid to let me into the house, or into the barn. It varied, but their food they shared.ò Jankiel Grynblatt found shelter 

with farmers he knew in villages southeast of ŧelech·w, for whom he worked as a tailor. His presence there was known 

to other villagers who treated him well. See Diatğowicki, ŧydzi w walce 1939ï1945, vol. 1, 140. The young sons of 

Janina Dulman, namely Jerzy and Wğadysğaw, whose mother had married a Jew and converted to Judaism before the 

war, were sheltered by her their aunt, Wğadysğawa Kaszubska of ŧelech·w, who was Janinaôs younger sister. She hid 

them with different people in the surrounding villages until the liberation. See Gutman, The Encyclopedia of the 

Righteous Among the Nations: Rescuers of Jews During the Holocaust: Supplementary Volumes (2000ï2005), volume 

II, 569ï70. Lea Starowiejska, a young girl from Warsaw with Semitic features, somehow managed to make her way to 

ŧeliszew PodkoŜcielny, a village lying between MiŒsk Mazowiecki and Siedlce. She was taken in by Rev. Julian 

Borkowski, the local pastor, who taught her Catholic prayers so that she could play the part of a Polish orphan. The 

appeal for a Polish family to take her in was answered by the G·rzyŒskis, who cared for her like a daughter. They lived 

in the hamlet of Ğňki. Everyone there was aware that the child was Jewish. No one betrayed them. See Gutman, The 

Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations: Rescuers of Jews During the Holocaust: Supplementary Volumes 

(2000ï2005), volume II, 557; Bartoszewski and Lewin·na, Ten jest z ojczyzny mojej, 2nd ed., 1021; Edward Kop·wka 

and Paweğ Rytel-Andrianik, Dam im imiň na wieki: Polacy z okolic Treblinki ratujŃcy ŧyd·w (Oxford and Treblinka: 

DrohiczyŒskie Towarzystwo Naukowe and Kuria Diecezjalna w Drohiczynie, 2011), 304; Polacy ratujŃcy ŧyd·w w 

czasie Zagğady: Przywracanie pamiňci / Poles Who Rescued Jews During the Holocaust: Recalling Forgotten History 

(Warsaw: Chancellery of the President of the Republic of Poland and Museum of the History of Polish Jews, 2008), 53. 

The following examples can be found in Nechama Tec, Resilience and Courage: Women, Men, and the Holocaust 

(New Haven and London: Yale University Press, 2003). Eva Safszycka, not yet 20 at the time, left the ghetto in 

Siedlce, obtained false identity documents with the help of a Pole, a stranger she happened to encounter, and took a 

position as a domestic on an estate owned by a Pole. She recalled: ñI met with so much kindness from the Poles, so 

many were decent and helpful that it is unbelievable. é They hid other Jews, one of them a girl of eleven.ò Ibid., 224. 

Tema Rotman-Weinstock from the Lublin area presents a similar story. Dressed as a peasant, during the last stage of 

the war she roamed the familiar countryside moving from employer to employer, most of whom were hungry 

themselves and found it hard to feed her. She met a cousin who lived with his wife in a bunker in the forest, but he 

refused to let her join them. Once when she was on the verge of collapse, kind peasants took her into their home. After 

a month, afraid to keep her, they directed her to a woman who lived on a farm with her daughter in the village of 

Kajetan·wka. She remained there until the liberation, even though the word had spread that she was Jewish. 

ñFortunately, no bad consequences followed because she found a powerful protector in the local priest. He baptized 

Tema and defended her é óThe priest stood up for me, arguing that conversion was a wonderful Christian deed.ôò 

Ibid., 227ï29. Rina Eitani (11 years old at the time) and her mother and sister (10 years old) supported themselves by 

smuggling farm goods from the countryside to Warsaw. They worked separately to lessen the risk of discovery. While 

the Germans were ruthless toward smugglers, the natives treated them kindly: ñOne day I was buying something in a 

store. A little girl came in, warning me, óThe Gestapo are in the house where you live.ô Right away, the owner of the 

store, a woman, put me in the cellar. She wouldnôt let me go until the Gestapo left. é We stayed a lot in the villages 

where we bought the produce. The peasants were nice to us. They would feed us and sometimes, in exchange, we 

worked for them.ò Ibid., 231ï32. Chava Grinberg-Brown, who hailed from the village of Wiskitki, roamed the 

countryside near ŧyrard·w for the final years of the German occupation: ñéat the end of each day, I would beg people 

to let me come in and sleep. I remember that once someone gave me a place to stay and offered me chicken soup é In 

another home, one of the women gave me medication for my skin condition. They knew that I was Jewish é it was 

obvious. As I wandered from one little place to another, people fed me and let me sleep in their homes or close to them; 

in barns, pigstys, etc.ò When a Pole who recognized her wanted to turn her in, ñSome peasants who realized what he 

was after threatened to give him a beating he would never forget. That stopped him from bothering me.ò Her story 

continues: ñI went to the place I had worked before [the war]. I stayed there for a few days. After that, I kept moving 

from one place to another. Some refused me work. Then a peasant offered me a more stable job. é I remained with 

this peasant for most of the summer. Then I left and went to another village. I went from one village to another. Even 

during the summer I would change places. When the Poles sent me away, I was not angry. I understood that they were 

afraid or had not enough food and could not share the little they had. I did not particularly feel their anti-Semitism. é 

Most people knew right away when I came in that I was Jewish, but they did not harm me. Only a few times did I have 

to run away. é When I entered a village I would go first to the head of the village, and he would send me to a peasant. 

Usually they were not afraid if they had a note from the head of the village. é I have no bad feelings toward the 

Christians. I survived the war thanks to them.ò Ibid., 225ï27. A 31-year-old barber named Zimler, who wandered with 

his wife in the Wiskitki area near ŧyrard·w in 1941, cutting hair for farmers, wrote that ñthe attitude of the farmers to 

us was extremely good.ò The farmers in various villages such as Oryszew, Wycz·ğki and Jan·wka, allowed them to 

stay in their homes, gave them food, washed their laundry, and even invited them to a wedding. See Marta Markowska, 

ed., Archiwum Ringelbluma: DzieŒ po dniu Zagğady (Warsaw: OŜrodek Karta, Dom SpotkaŒ z HistoriŃ, and ŧydowski 

Instytut Historyczny, 2008), 100ï1. After escaping from the Warsaw ghetto, the teenage brothers Zwi and J·zef 

Ditman from Wisktiki wandered the villages in the area, looking for a place to stay, until they were taken in by a family 

in the village of Skrzelew. See Israel Gutman, ed., The Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations: Rescuers of 
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Jews During the Holocaust: Supplementary Volumes (2000ï2005), volume II (Jerusalem: Yad Vashem, 2010), 541ï42. 

In an unspecified village outside Warsaw, ñA Jew who had been starving in the woods turned up one day, asking for 

water. The farmer called the police, who shot the Jew on the spot. This had so outraged the village that the offender had 

to flee to Warsaw in fear of reprisal.ò See Natan Gross, Who Are You, Mr Grymek? (London and Portland, Oregon: 

Vallentine Mitchell, 2001), 248ï49. A number of Jews were sheltered in another unnamed village outside Warsaw, 

with the knowledge of the entire village, and no one was betrayed. See Bartoszewski and Lewin·wna, Ten jest z 

ojczyzny mojej, 2nd ed., 572ï73. J·zefa Grzegorek of the village of Nowa WieŜ near Sochaczew took in a Jewish girl 

from Zwierzyniec by the name of Jadwiga (later Bekir), whom she sheltered from 1942 until 1945. The entire village 

was aware of this, but no one betrayed the girl. See Hera, Polacy ratujŃcy ŧyd·w, 210. Franciszka Aronson, from a 

village near MiŒsk Mazowiecki, wandered about many villages, including villages where she was known, before she 

was taken in by nuns at a convent in Ignac·w where several Jews and a Gypsy woman were sheltered. See Ewa Kurek, 

Dzieci Ũydowskie w klasztorach: Udziağ ŨeŒskich zgromadzeŒ zakonnych w akcji ratowania dzieci Ũydowskich w Polsce 

a latach 1939ï1945 (Lublin: Clio, 2001), 116. Brindla (Bronka) and MojŨesz Siekierka and their two sons were 

sheltered by the family of Bronisğaw Bylicki in the village of ŧwir·wka without compensation. Stanisğawa RoŜ, a 

friend of Brindlaôs, brought them food and money for fuel on a regular basis, and Brindla would make the rounds in 

surrounding villages begging for food. See Justyna Kowalska-Leder, ñPomaganie skazanym na Zagğadň jako Ŧr·dğo 

destrukcjiðna podstawie dokument·w osobistych Brandli Siekierkowej,ò Zagğada ŧyd·w: Studia i materiağy 

(Warsaw: Centrum BadaŒ nad ZagğadŃ ŧyd·w, IFiS PAN, 2012), vol. 8, 176ï87. Dr. Zofia SzymaŒska, who was 

sheltered by the Grey Ursulines in OŨar·w, received material care and an abundance of spiritual comfort from many 

nuns and priests, without any effort on their part to convert her. News of her stay was widely known to the villagers but 

no one betrayed her, not even when a German military unit was, at one point, quartered in the convent. Her 10-year-old 

niece, who had a very Semitic appearance, was sheltered by the Sisters of the Immaculate Virgin Mary in Szyman·w, 

along with more than a dozen Jewish girls. All of the nuns were aware that their young charges were Jews, as were the 

lay staff, the parents of non-Jewish children and many villagers. None of the Christian parents removed their children 

from the school despite the potential danger, and in fact many of them contributed to the upkeep of the Jewish children. 

Dr. SzymaŒska wrote: ñThe children were under the protection of the entire convent and village. Not one traitor was to 

be found among them.ò See Zofia SzymaŒska, Byğam tylko lekarzemé (Warsaw: Pax, 1979), 149ï76. Another example 

is provided by Mary Rolicka, whose mother, one other Jewish woman and two Jewish men were sheltered by the 

Sisters of Charity, with the assistance of their chaplain, Rev. Albin Mağysiak, in the Helcel Institute in Krak·w and 

later at an old age home in Szczawnica. Rev. Mağysiak recalled: ñAll of the charges of the institute as well as the 

personnel (nuns and lay staff) knew that there were Jews hidden among us. It was impossible to conceal that fact, even 

though it was known what danger faced those who were responsible for sheltering Jews. After the passage of weeks 

and months many of the residents of Szczawnica learned of the Jewish boarders. No one betrayed this to the Germans, 

who were stationed in the immediate vicinity.ò See Mary Rolicka, ñA Memoir of Survival in Poland,ò Midstream, 

April 1988, 26ï27. It was universally known that the young daughter of Reb Moshe of Grodzisko near LeŨajsk was 

sheltered in an orphanage run by nuns in that village, yet no one betrayed her. See Bertha Ferderber-Salz, And the Sun 

Kept Shiningé (New York: Holocaust Library, 1980), 199. Marian Mağowist, who survived the war in the village of 

JabğoŒ near Parczew, said: ñThe family with whom I lived knew everything about meðin fact, two families knew. 

After the war it came out that more families knew, and also the chief of the navy-blue police, a Pole, a very decent 

person. Juliusz Kleiner was hiding in the neighbourhood; in the next village there was a Jewess; in that area many were 

hiding.ò See ñMarian Mağowist on History and Historians,ò Polin: Studies in Polish Jewry, vol. 13 (2000): 338. Jewish 

partisan Gustaw Alef-Bolkowiak identifies the following villages in the Parczew-Ostr·w Lubelski area as ones where 

ñalmost the entire population was actively engaged in helping fugitives from the ghettosò: Rudka, Jedlanka, Makoszka, 

TyŜmienica and B·jki. He also states that in the village of NiedŦwiada near Opole Lubleskie, the foresters sheltered 

several Jewish families with the knowledge of the entire village. See Bartoszewski and Lewin·wna, Ten jest z ojczyzny 

mojej, 2nd ed., 533ï34. The Pinkies family was rescued by the villagers of the hamlet of CzyŨyczka of Gierczyce near 

Bochnia. See Bartoszewski and Lewin·wna, Ten jest z ojczyzny mojej, 2nd ed., 815. About one hundred and fifty Poles 

were killed in mass executions in the villages of Biağka in the Parczew forest and SterdyŒ near Sokoğ·w Podlaski for 

extensive help given to Jews by those villages. See ZajŃczkowski, Martyrs of Charity, Part One, 123ï24, 228. More 

than a dozen villagers in Mňt·w near Gğusk, outside of Lublin, sheltered Jews. See Dariusz Libionka, ñPolska ludnoŜĺ 

chrzeŜcijaŒska wobec eksterminacji ŧyd·wðdystrykt lubelski,ò in Dariusz Libionka, ed., Akcja Reinhardt: Zagğada 

ŧyd·w w Generalnym Gubernatorstwie (Warsaw: Instytut Pamiňci NarodowejïKomisja ścigania Zbrodni przeciwko 

Narodowi Polskiemu, 2004), 325. Survivors from Sokoğy recall: ñThe village Landowa [Lendowo near BraŒsk] had a 

good name among the Jews who were hiding in the area around Sokoly, and they regarded it as a paradise. Many Jews 

began to stream there. é there wasnôt a house in Landowa where there werenôt three or four Jews.ò (Luba Goldberg-

Wrobelðsee below) ñFinally, we came to the village of Landowa [Lendowo]. é we knocked on the door of a house, 

not far from the forest. An old farmwoman brought us into the house. é I remained alone with the old farmwoman. é 

Over time, it became known to all of them that I was not related to her family and that I didnôt even know Polish. The 

farmwoman did not hesitate to admit that she had adopted me, a Jewish girl, as her daughter. é The farmwoman began 

to teach me Christian prayers, and on Sundays I went with her to church. é The goyim, residents of the village who 

knew I was Jewish, did not hand me over to the Germans.ò (Tzipora Tabak-Burstein) See Shmuel Kalisher, ed., Sokoly: 
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Bômaavak lôhaim (Tel Aviv: Organization of Sokoğy Emigr®s in Israel, 1975), 188ï207, translated as Sokoly: In the 

Fight for Life, Internet: <http://www.jewishgen.org/yizkor/sokoly/sokoly.html>. Another survivor writes: ñThis village 

Lendowo became a refuge for a lot of wandering Jews, they called this village the Garden of Eden. é here they opened 

wide the doors without having any fear. Soon there were Jews in every house.ò See Luba Wrobel Goldberg, A Sparkle 

of Hope: An Autobiography (Melbourne: n.p., 1998), 63. Several Jews, among them Ida Lewartowska and her 

daughter, were hidden in a forest bunker near the village of LeŒce, just north of Biağystok. The villagers in the area 

from Nowe Aleksandrowo, Dobrzyniewo Fabryczne and Letniki knew about these Jews, but no one denounced them. 

See Bartoszewski and Lewin·wna, Ten jest z ojczyzny mojej, 2nd ed., 741ï42. Szymon Datner recalls how his Jewish 

partisan group ñForojs,ò consisting of escapees from the Biağystok ghetto, were assisted by many villagers in 

Dworzysk. Among those mentioned as offering food and shelter to the partisans were Alfons and Stefania 

Radziwanowski and the SğawiŒski and Kuklik families. The entire village was aware of this assistance, and no one 

betrayed the partisans or rescuers. See Szymon Datner, ñSzkice do studi·w nad dziejami Ũydowskiego ruchu 

partyzanckiego w Okrňgu biağostockim (1941ï1944),ò Biuletyn ŧydowskiego Instytutu Historycznego, no. 73 (1970): 

45ï46; ŧbikowski, Polacy i ŧydzi pod okupacjŃ niemieckŃ 1939ï1945, 348ï50; Ewa Rogalewska, Getto biağostockie: 

DoŜwiadczenie ZagğadyðŜwiadectwa literatury i Ũycia (Biağystok: Instytut Pamiňci Narodowej Oddziağ w 

Biağymstoku, 2013), 196. Rywka Chus and her husband, a grain merchant from Ostr·w Mazowiecka, were protected 

by the villagers of Kr·le DuŨe who respected and helped them survive the war. See Andrzej ŧbikowski, U genezy 

Jedwabnego: ŧydzi na Kresach P·ğnocno-Wschodnich II Rzeczypospolitej. WrzesieŒ 1939ïlipiec 1941 (Warsaw: 

ŧydowski Instytut Historyczny, 2006), 69. Kalmen Wewryk describes the assistance he received, after his escape from 

Sobib·r, from numerous peasants as he wandered from village to village in an area south of Cheğm populated by decent 

but frightened Catholic Poles and some Ukrainian Baptists. A family of five Jews hid in Teresin near Cheğm: 

ñEverybody in the hamlet knew that this family was hiding, but nobody knew where and they didnôt want to know. 

Moishe told me how they were loved in that hamletðthere were decent people there.ò See Kalmen Wawryk, To 

Sobibor and Back: An Eyewitness Account (Montreal: The Concordia University Chair in Canadian Jewish Studies, and 

The Montreal Institute for Genocide and Human Rights Studies, 1999), 66ï68, 71. A teenager, Marian Finkielman 

wandered the villages in the vicinity of Dubeczno where he was employed as a farmhand by various farmers: ñIn 1941 

and 1942 many young Jews wandered from village to village, offering their services in exchange for room and board. 

The peasant farmers knew who they were, and for some time took advantage of their help, just as the farmer in the 

village of Kozaki benefited from my situation.ò In Kozaki, ñLuckily, during my stay there from April through July 

1942, é none of the inhabitants of the village, Ukrainians or Poles, informed of Jurekôs [a Jewish boy from Warsaw 

who also worked as a herdsman] or my existence. It seemed that there were no informants in this village éò See 

Marian Finkielman, Out of the Ghetto: A Young Jewish Orphan Boyôs Struggle for Survival (Montreal: The Concordia 

University Chair in Canadian Jewish Studies and The Montreal Institute for Genocide and Human Rights Studies, 

2000), 34ï36; Marian (Finkielman) Domanski, Fleeing from the Hunter (Toronto: Azrieli Foundation, 2010), 34ï35. 

Cypora Frydman, the daughter of a mill owner in Nowy Orzech·w near Ostr·w Lubelski, hid in a hut near a lake. She 

recalled: ñAll the peasants in the village knew me because all of them used to come to our mill, but not one of them 

denounced me even though everyone knew I was hiding near the lake. Sometimes they gave me bread for free, 

sometimes a little milk é I used to return from the village late at night and hid in my hut.ò See Engelking, Jest taki 

piňkny sğoneczny dzieŒé, 89. The villagers of Kubra near Radziğ·w (in the Biağystok District) did not betray the family 

of Helena Chilewicz when the Gestapo came looking for them in July 1942, and she and her mother survived the war 

penniless moving from village to village. See Danuta and Aleksander Wroniszewski, ñéaby Ũyĺ,ò Kontaktyï

ĞomŨyŒski Tygodnik Spoğeczny, July 10, 1988. Mirla Frydrich (Szternzys), from ŧ·ğkiewka, was shot in the thigh when 

she jumped from a train headed for the BeğŨec death camp. A Pole who happened to be driving by took her in his 

carriage and nursed her back to health with the help of another Pole. When Mirla returned to ŧ·ğkiewka she received 

assistance from a number of Poles in several nearby villages. See Zylberklang, Z ŧ·ğkiewki do Erec Israel, 181ï84. 

About 12 miles outside Lw·w, Abraham Trasawucki, dressed only in rags, jumped from a death train headed for 

BeğŨec in the middle of winter. Although he was easily identifiable as a Jew on the run, the villagers did not betray him, 

rather he was offered temporary shelter, food, clothing and money at two random Polish farmsteads, and given rides in 

the wagons of other Poles. He was sold a train ticket by an official, allowed on the train by a guard who checked his 

ticket, and not denounced by the passengers, even though everyone recognized him as a Jew. See Abraham Tracy, To 

Speak For the Silenced (Jerusalem and New York: Devora, 2007), 165ï72. Ryfka Goldiner, a Jewish infant, was 

rescued by Stanisğaw and Helena WiŜliŒski in BeğŨyce near Lublin. Although the villagers were aware of the childôs 

origin, no one betrayed them. The local priest did not agree to formally baptize the child in the event her parents 

survived the war. In fact, they did return for her after liberation. See Anna DŃbrowska, ed., światğa w ciemnoŜci: 

Sprawiedliwi WŜr·d Narod·w świata. Relacje (Lublin: OŜrodek ñBrama GrodzkaïTeatr NN,ò 2008), 56ï61. Luba 

Hochlerer, ten years of age, lived openly with J·zef and Bronisğawa ZajŃc in the hamlet of Witold·w near Wojsğawice, 

where she attended village school, yet no one betrayed her. Ibid., 106ï7. Hershel Mostyzer and Sara Fuks were directed 

by a mailman to the home of his mother, Franciszka Rybak, in the village of Rogalin near Hrubisz·w. Mostysser, a 

tailor by profession, did odd sewing jobs for his rescuerôs tenants and her neighbours in order to help support 

themselves. Despite some opposition because of the danger this created for the village, no one betrayed them. See 

Gutman and Bender, The Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations, vol. 5: Poland, Part 2, 684. Julia Pňpiak of 
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BeğŨec agreed to shelter Bronia Helman, the young daughter of her former neighbour and friend, Salomea Helman, 

something that became widely known in the village. The child remained with Pňpiak and was reclaimed by her mother 

after liberation. See Gutman and Bender, The Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations, vol. 5: Poland, Part 2, 

597; Zuzanna Schnepf-Kolacz, ñPomoc Polak·w dla ŧyd·w na wsi w czasie okupacji niemieckiej: Pr·ba opisu na 

przykğadzie Sprawiedliwych wŜr·d Narod·w świata,ò in Barbara Engelking and Jan Grabowski, eds., Zarys 

krajobrazu: WieŜ polska wobec zagğady ŧyd·w 1942ï1945 (Warsaw: Stowarzyszenie Centrum BadaŒ nad ZagğadŃ 

ŧyd·w, 2011), 236. Irena Sznycer, a Jewish girl with strikingly Semitic features, who was sheltered by a Polish woman 

in the village of BeğŨec, recalled shortly after the war: ñI was well cared for by that lady and was not afraid of anything. 

Although the neighbours knew I was Jewish, this lady had no enemies so nothing [bad] could happen.ò See Teresa 

Prekerowa, ñStosunek ludnoŜci polskiej do Ũydowskich uciekinier·w z oboz·w zagğady w Treblince, Sobiborze i 

BeğŨcu w Ŝwietle relacji Ũydowskich i polskich,ò Biuletyn Gğ·wnej Komisji Badania Zbrodni przeciwko Narodowi 

PolskiemuïInstytutu Pamiňci Narodowej, vol. 35 (1993): 104. According to three separate testimonies of Jewish 

escapees from the Treblinka and Sobib·r death camps, the fugitives ñwalked about the villagesò and were ñknown to 

everybody,ò including the farm-hands and school children, without being betrayed. Ibid., 108. Mieczysğaw Grajewski, 

who escaped from the Treblinka death camp, recalled the help he received from peasants: ñI was free. I walked to a 

village. é I knocked to ask for bread. The peasants looked at me in silence. óBread, bread.ô They saw my red hands, 

torn jacket, worn-out slippers, and handed me some hard, gray crusts. A peasant woman, huddled in shawls, gave me a 

bowl of hot milk and a bag. We didnôt talk: my body had turned red and blue from the blows and the cold, and my 

clothes, everything proclaimed Jew! But they gave me bread. Thank you Polish peasants. I slept in a stable near the 

animals, taking a little warm milk from the cow in the morning. My bag filled with bread.ò See Martin Gray with Max 

Gallo, For Those I Loved (Boston and Toronto: Little, Brown, 1972), 178. A Jew from Serock (north of Warsaw) who 

escaped from a German execution site badly wounded, was cared for by many villagers where he sought refuge. See 

Michağ Grynberg, ŧydzi w rejencji ciechanowskiej 1939ï1942 (Warsaw: PaŒstwowe Wydawnictwo Naukowe, 1984), 

134. Izaak Zemelman of Pğock recalled the assistance provided by a large number of Polish families in the nearby 

village of Sik·rz where he and his family took shelter: Stawiski, Romanowski, G·rski, Danielak, Adamski, KğosiŒski, 

and others. See Janusz SzczepaŒski, SpoğecznoŜĺ Ũydowska Mazowsza w XIXïXX wieku (Puğtusk: WyŨsza Szkoğa 

Humanistyczna imienia Aleksandra Gieysztora w Puğtusku, 2005), 492. Some Jews came to realize that their guise as 

Christian Poles was not as foolproof as they had believed, but this had not caused them to be betrayed. A Jew who 

called on farmhouses in the Urzňd·w area, pretending to be a Christian, recalled: ñI would cross myself, bless Jesus 

Christ, and ask for something to eat. I had made up a story in case questions were asked. Most farmers were not 

talkative. Viewed suspiciously, sometimes I would be given soup or bread and asked to leave quickly: sometimes I was 

just told to go. Later it dawned on me that I was crossing myself incorrectly, touching my chin rather than the chest.ò 

See David Makow, Dangerous Luck: Memories of a Hunted Life (New York: Shengold Publishers, 2000), 28. In 1942, 

Jerzy Mirewicz, a Jesuit priest, escorted a Jewish fugitive by train from Biğgoraj to Milan·wek near Warsaw, so that he 

could join members of his family who were being hidden by a Christian family. Even though the priest had permission 

to travel, officials were constantly checking the papers of passengers. When the train reached Dňblin, a policeman came 

into the car and demanded to know if his companion was a Jew. Fortunately for the priest and the fugitive, the whole 

compartment came to their rescue by insisting that priest was escorting a ñlunaticò to a hospital asylum. See Vincent A. 

Lapomarda, The Jesuits and the Third Reich (Lewiston/Queenston and Lampeter: The Edwin Mellen Press, 1989), 130. 

A Jewish lawyer was able to continue his practice in Mielec, in defiance of a Nazi ban, with the collusion of the townôs 

entire legal profession, until he was denounced by a fellow Jew, first to the Gestapo and then to the Justice Department. 

See Mark Verstandig, I Rest My Case (Melbourne: Saga Press, 1995), viii, 109ï13, 130ï32. In the village of Czajkowa 

near Mielec, where the brothers Zygie and Sol Allweiss were sheltered by the family of Maciej and Zofia Dudzik, 

neighbours who lived around the Dudzik farm were aware that Jewish boys were hiding there but chose not to betray 

the family: ñIn the village, if one knows something, everyone knows. They were our neighbors and they were good 

people.ò See Bill Tammeus and Jacques Cukierkorn, eds., They Were Just People: Stories of Rescue in Poland During 

the Holocaust (Columbia, Missouri and London: University of Missouri Press, 2009), 22. Menachem Kuperman, then a 

young teenage boy, wandered into the village of Borki NiziŒskie, north of the town of Mielec, without any documents. 

He entered the home of Eugeniusz Pier·g, a farmer whom he had never met before, and introduced himself as a Polish 

boy looking for farm work. Pier·g agreed to take him on as a farmhand. One day, when they were collecting wood in 

the forest, they came across German soldiers. Pier·g warned Kuperman not to approach them and on the way home 

said to the boy, ñDid you think I didnôt know you were Jewish?ò In time, Kuperman learned that not only did Pier·g 

know that he was Jewish but that there were others in the village who suspected his true identity. Whenever Kuperman 

became frightened that someone in the village would inform on him, Pier·g cheered him up, telling him not to fear 

because he had no enemies who would harm him in the village. Kuperman remained with Pier·g unharmed until the 

war ended. See Gutman and Bender, The Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations, vol. 5: Poland, Part 2, 

605. The Jewish Social Self-Help organization in the town of Proszowice near Miech·w, in November 1941, solicited 

food supplies from 20 Polish estates in the vicinity fot the soup kitchen in the ghetto; 19 owners promptly responded, 

promising produce free of charge. See Dean, Encyclopedia of Camps and Ghettos, 1933ï1945, vol. 2, Part A, 552. In 

the village of Goszcza near Miech·w, everyone was aware that Jews, some of them with a marked Semitic appearance, 

were being sheltered yet no one betrayed them. See Bartoszewski and Lewin·wna, Ten jest z ojczyzny mojej, 2nd ed., 
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643ï44. After fleeing the Szczucin ghetto during its liquidation, Shiyer Mutzenmacher ran to the farm of Anna and 

Stanisğaw Jaje in nearby village of Lubasz. Everyone in the village knew that a young man of Jewish descent was 

hiding in the Jajesô house, but nobody denounced him. He did tailoring jobs for the neighbours and other villagers, 

which contributed to the household expenses. See Jaje Family, The Righteous Database, Yad Vashem, Internet: 

<http://db.yadvashem.org/righteous/family.html?language=en&itemId=4411153>; Adam Kazimierz Musiağ, Lata w 

ukryciu (Gliwice: n.p., 2002), 344ï49. Similar reports come from the villages of Gağuszowice and ChrzŃst·w near 

Mielec. See Bartoszewski and Lewin·wna, Ten jest z ojczyzny mojej, 2nd ed., 721ï22. In the latter village, it was widely 

known among the villagers that the Markowski family was sheltering the Verstandig family, and several other Polish 

families were also hiding Jews. See Andrzej Krempa, Zagğada ŧyd·w mieleckich, Second revised edition (Mielec: 

Muzeum Regionalne w Mielcu, 2013), 98. In Majdan Nepryski, west of Tomasz·w Lubelski, several families sheltered 

a young Jewish girl thrown from a train headed for BeğŨec. See Bartoszewski and Lewin·wna, Ten jest z ojczyzny 

mojej, 2nd ed., 709ï10. A teenage boy with a Semitic appearance, the son of a Jewish beggar woman, lived openly in 

the village of Gğowaczowa near Dňbica, with the Polish farmer who had taken him in, without being betrayed. See 

Bartoszewski and Lewin·wna, Ten jest z ojczyzny mojej, 2nd ed., 640. In Grodzisk, a small community just outside 

Warsaw, an elderly Jewish teacher married to a Polish Catholic woman was able to live openly with his wife 

throughout the war: ñEverybody knew my uncle was Jewish but no one reported him to the Gestapo.ò This family took 

in other Jews, also without incident. See Sylvia Rothchild, ed., Voices from the Holocaust (New York: Nal Books/New 

American Library, 1981), 225. A foundry in Woğomin, outside of Warsaw, engaged a Jew whose appearance and 

manner of speaking readily gave him away, yet no one betrayed him. See Antoni Marianowicz, ŧycie surowo 

wzbronione (Warsaw: Czytelnik, 1995), 159ï60; Antoni Marianowicz, Life Strictly Forbidden (London: Vallentine 

Mitchell, 2004). After receiving a great deal of sporadic help from Poles as he wandered in the countryside around 

Garwolin, Meir Herc was introduced, through a Jewish friend and his Christian intermediary, to a farmer in the village 

of Jagodne who agreed to shelter him for payment. Herc was one of six Jews the farmer hid in his pigsty. Herc was able 

to pay for his upkeep with the money he received from various Poles to whom he had entrusted his property. The 

money was collected by an intermediary and delivered to Herc. The entire group of six Jews survived this way for 23 

months. Meir Herc writes: ñI only survived thanks to more than a dozen Poles who sold our goods and would send the 

money to me. They even knew the village in which I was hiding but did not betray me.ò See Meir Herc, ñMy 

Experience in September,ò in Moshe Zaltsman and Baruch Shein, eds., Garwolin yisker-bukh (Tel Aviv, New York and 

Paris: Garwolin Societies, 1972), 187ï93. Another resident of Garwolin, Chana Karpman-Rozenberg, recalled that 

when she travelled by train to Warsaw pretending to be a smuggler, she encountered many Poles from Garwolin whom 

she knew but none of them denounced her. While passing as a Pole in Warsaw she met many Poles from Garwolin, 

among them Home Army members, who were glad to see her. See Chana Karpman-Rozenberg, ñOn the Aryan Side,ò 

in Zaltsman and Shein, Garwolin yisker-bukh, 208ï15. The most frequent for of assistance was, however, casual 

assistance for short periods of time offered by many fearful but courageous Poles whose names will never be 

remembered and whose deeds are largely forgotten. A Jew from Zabğud·w made an effort to recall the numerous Poles 

who helped him to survive the German occupation in the Biağystok District: ñWe heard the shooting and immediately 

went to the path leading to the village we knew very well. Some farmers gave us flour, barley, and butter é Early in 

the morning they took us through the path where we could go to Bialystok [Biağystok] é [The Nazis] kept hitting me 

until I fainted. é I dragged myself to the road; some Christians that stood there and saw me started crying. é Other 

[Jewish families] went through back ways to the village to get some food. I managed to get a job from Vintzig 

Volnetzvick, the Christian é His son-in-law, Chashick [Czesiek], promised me that if I stayed with him I wouldnôt 

have to work for the Germans é One day Vinchick, the Christian that I lived with drove me to Bialystok é 

Zabludowôs Jewish women went to the Christianôs field to get some potatoes for the winter. é We hid in Vinchik 

Velosoviches barn deep in the hay é The helpful Christianôs wife came to the barn begging me to leave. ñThere were 

whispers in the city that you were not seen among the people in the wagons, saying that you are probably hiding.ò She 

asked that I pity her, because if I would be caught her family will be held responsible, and they will be punished 

severely. I was able to convince her to let me stay until Sunday. é I came to Novosad [Nowosady] village, I knew a 

good Christian there. My appearance scared him, and immediately he told me about the order that they have to bring 

any Jews without delay to the Nazi headquarters. ñI have to be very careful,ò he said. He gave me some food and took 

me to a place behind the barn where I could escape. When evening came I arrived at a new village. I had a friend there 

é He too took me in courteously and brought me food, but refused to let me stay. Fearfully he gave me food quickly 

and begged me to leave, I continued my wandering é later on I had the opportunity to find shelter in an agriculture 

farm of Christian people I knew. I left the place when they told me that the Germans were hunting the area and were 

planning to sleep in their house. I wandered all night through fields and forests until I got to Baranke [Baranki] village, 

where my father used to live. A farmer, a good acquaintance that we knew from the past took me in nicely. I shaved 

and bathed; they even provided me with clean clothes. I hid in the side section of the house where no one lived. é I 

stayed in the forest until the evening, and then I came back to the Christians. The Germans were not in the village 

anymore, but the farmer didnôt let me stay and take the risk. I wandered again, and soon I got to another agriculture 

farm and stayed there a couple of days. The farmer didnôt allow for me to stay with him; he was afraid the children 

might talk and risk giving me away. From there I moved to a farm near Araje. é The farmôs owners gave me shelter. I 

knew his son from the old days where we were both captured by the Germans. For a while I was able to rest. When the 
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Christiansô holiday came I took part in the ceremonies, and I acted like them. é In the forests there were a lot of 

Russian partisans é When I realized that the Nazis raided around the farm where I was staying I decided to escape. é 

I got to a big village by the name of Zavick [Zawyki]. I slipped away secretly to the barn and laid there until the 

morning. The barnôs owner found me, but he was a good man who was ready to help. He took me to his house, fed me, 

and helped me hide. It was a secret basement under the dining room. é the Nazis searched the village and came to the 

farmerôs house. é They were looking for Jews and partisans. é I stayed in the hiding place for a few days. I was 

asked to leave by his wife who had started to cry, saying that I was putting her family in danger. ñIôm a mother of six 

children,ò she said. ñIf theyôll find out that I am hiding you they will kill us. Iôll give you food and drink and be on your 

way. Have pity on us, and save your soul.ò I promised that I would leave that night. é I got to the previous farm from 

which I had escaped. The frightened Christian told me that the night I escaped the Nazis searched the house and barn. 

é It was dangerous to stay in the village, where to go? I decided to go toward Bialystok. On the way I stopped at 

different villages. é The Christian who told me the news was ready to leave the next morning with his wagon to bring 

food to Bialystok. I asked him to take me with him in his wagon. His wife gave me bread and fat. We left early in the 

morning so that nobody would see me. é When we approached Bialystok the farmer got scared and asked me to get 

off the wagon. I got off, raised my collar and continued by foot éò See the account of Phinia Korovski in Nechama 

Shmueli-Schmusch, ed., Zabludow: Dapim mi-tokh yisker-bukh (Tel Aviv: The Zabludow Community in Israel, 1987), 

an English translation of which is posted on the Internet at: <www.jewishgen.org/yizkor/zabludow/>. Other examples 

of communal assistance by Poles in central Poland are recorded in Stanisğaw WroŒski and Maria Zwolakowa, eds., 

Polacy ŧydzi 1939ï1945 (Warsaw: KsiŃŨka i Wiedza, 1971), 269 (NiedŦwiada near Opole Lubleskie), 307 (an entire 

street in the city of PrzemyŜl was aware of a Jewish hideout), 322 (Run·w near Gr·jec), 343 (Janina Tarnowska, a 

school teacher in Gorzyce near DŃbrowa Tarnowska, sheltered a Jew from Tarn·w by the name of Birkam, whom she 

held out to be her cousin; the villagers were aware that he was a Jew but no one betrayed him), 349 (Przydonica, Ubiad, 

Klimk·wka, Jelna, Sğowikowa, and Librantowa), 353 (Rakszawa near ĞaŒcut); Kowalski, Anthology on Armed Jewish 

Resistance, 1939ï1945, vol. 3 (1986), 308 (two villages near Parczew); Thomas Toivi Blatt, From the Ashes of 

Sobibor: A Story of Survival (Evanston, Illinois: Northwestern University Press, 1997), 207ff. (Mchy near Krasnystaw); 

Diane Armstrong, Mosaic: A Chronicle of Five Generations (Milsons Point, New South Wales: Random House, 1998), 

576ï81 (Piszczac near Biağa Podlaska); Roman SoszyŒski, Piszczac: Miasto ongiŜ kr·lewskie (N.p., n.p., 1993), 95 

(Kolonia Dworska near Piszczac), 97 (Piszczac); Andrzej W. Kaczorowski, ñDanusia z miasteczka Piszczac,ò Biuletyn 

Instytutu Pamiňci Narodowej, no. 8 (March 2009): 69ï73 (Piszczac and Kolonia Dworska near Piszczac); Gutman and 

Bender, The Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations, vols. 4 and 5: Poland, Part 1, 95 (villages near Lublin), 

317 (villages near Lublin), 326 (villages near Lublin), 343ï44 (villages near Skierniewice), 452 (RoŨki near 

Krasnystaw), Part 2, 647 (villages near ZamoŜĺ), 673 (villages near Radzymin), 692 (villages near Radzymin), 927 

(villages near Otwock). Several Polish families in the villages of Bobrowa, Wola Bobrowska, and Nagoszyn near 

Dňbica sheltered various members of the Knie family. Among the rescuers from Nagoszyn recognized by Yad Vashem 

are Michağ DygdoŒ and J·zef Cholewa. Although a number of villagers became aware of the Jewsô presence, no one 

betrayed them. See Adam Kazimierz Musiağ, Lata w ukryciu (Gliwice: n.p., 2002), vol. 2, 535ï37; Gutman and Bender, 

The Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations, vol. 5: Poland, Part 2, 719ï20. Public executions of Polish 

rescuers did not bring rescue activity to a hault. See, for example, Chodorska, Godni synowie naszej Ojczyzny, Part 

One, 21 (Mariampol). 

   Even in large cities like Warsaw, Jews passing as Christians have acknowledged that they unexpectedly ran into 

many Poles whom they knew without being betrayed: ñI often met people I knew who either looked at me without 

greeting me, or greeted me with open sympathy. é Occasionally, I did not even realize that the person I met knew 

me.ò See Stefan Chaskielewicz, Ukrywağem siň w Warszawie: StyczeŒ 1943ïstyczeŒ 1945 (Krak·w: Znak, 1988), 35ï

36. Marcus David Leuchter, who lived in ñAryanò Warsaw for more than two years, attested: ñHaving escaped from 

the Ghetto [in Krak·w], I assumed a Polish gentile identity. While everybody around me knew, or at least suspected, 

that I was a Jew, nobody betrayed me.ò See his ñReflections on the Holocaust,ò The Sarmatian Review (Houston, 

Texas), vol. 20, no. 3 (September 2000). Henryk Grabowski, the famed liaison officer between the Polish and Jewish 

underground who smuggled scores of Jews out of the Warsaw ghetto, often used his small, crowded home in Warsaw 

to hide Jews, a fact widely known among the neighbours. See Barbara Stanisğawczyk, CzterdzieŜci twardych (Warsaw: 

ABC, 1997), 91. Edward Reicher, who resided with a group of Jews on Walic·w Street in Warsaw, recalled: ñPetty 

incidents led us to quarrel constantly and without dignity. We fought not just with words but also with our fists.ò He 

continues: ñIt was obvious that we were living there, but days, weeks, and months went by and nobody denounced us, 

even though the entire apartment complex, which was home to several hundred people, knew of our presence. Even the 

Polish prostitutes who received German clients in the same building did not betray us.ò See Reicher, Country of Ash, 

198, 201. An entire apartment building in the working-class district of Mokot·w in Warsaw was aware that an extended 

Jewish family, some of them Semitic-looking and speaking Polish poorly, resided in their midst. See Marek Halter, 

ñTzedek,ò Wprost, June 13, 1993. The journalist Rafağ Praga and his wife were sheltered by Franciszek and 

Klementyna Olbrychski in their apartment on Nowogrodzka Street in Warsaw. Rafağ Praga, who had a distinctly Jewish 

appearance, used to frequent a nearby caf®, yet no one betrayed them even though their Jewish origin was common 

knowledge. See Justyna Kobus, ñWykoğysağ mnie Drohiczyn,ò Magazyn Sukces, March 28, 2008; Ewa Bagğaj, 

Sğoneczna dziewczyna: OpowieŜĺ o Klementynie Soğonowicz-Olbrychskiej (Warsaw: Warszawskie Wydawnictwo 
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Literackie Muza, 2007). Fryderyka Godlewska (Szulemit Karmi), then a 6-year-old child with obvious Semitic 

features, was taken in by the DomaŒski family of Warsaw and passed off as their daughter. Their entire tenement house 

in Mokot·w knew of this but no one betrayed them. See Piotr Zychowicz, ñSŃ nowi sprawiedliwi,ò Rzeczpospolita, 

December 21, 2011. Another such tenement house was located at 11 Wielka Street, in Warsaw, as well as the boarding 

house on 45 MorszyŒska Street. See Grynberg, Ksiňga sprawiedliwych, 533; Bartoszewski and Lewin, Righteous 

Among Nations, 93; Bartoszewski and Lewin·wna, Ten jest z ojczyzny mojej, 2nd ed., 208ï9. Feliks Tych, a historian at 

the Jewish Historical Museum in Warsaw, who survived the war as a teenager, recalls: ñI lived with my adopted family 

for some time until liberation in the Warsaw suburb of Miedzeszyn. There the neighbours could not have not known 

that in our house several Jews were sheltered. And nothing happened to any of them. No one was denounced.ò See ñO 

ukrywaniu siň po óaryjskiej stronieô: Z profesorem Feliksem Tychem rozmawia Barbara Engelking,ò Zagğada ŧyd·w: 

Studia i materiağy, vol. 1 (Warsaw: Centrum BadaŒ nad ZagğadŃ ŧyd·w IFiS PAN, 2005): 234; Barbara Engeling, 

ñRozmowa z prof. Feliksem Tychem,ò Zagğada ŧyd·w: Studia i materağy, no. 2 (Warsaw: Centrum BadaŒ nad ZagğadŃ 

ŧyd·w IFiS PAN, 2006): 340. A Jewish woman who had to find new lodgings in Warsaw for herself and a friend with 

a Jewish appearance recalled: ñMariaôs physician paid a house call, bringing some medication and an injection. It was 

only one of several visits for which he never asked payment or information of any kind. é We combed the 

neighborhood, asking in the storefronts if there might be a room to let. We gave many in those streets occasion to 

wonder about the two forlorn young women, one with a black-and-blue face. But no one denounced us a Jews or 

escapees from the ghetto. In fact, one morning the owner of a barber shop on Rakowiecka Street offered Maria his shop 

to stay in. All he asked was that she come late and leave early, before his help arrived.ò See Blanca Rosenberg, To Tell 

at Last: Survival under False Identity, 1941ï45 (Urbana and Chicago: University of Illinois Press, 1993), 122. Fanny 

Gothajner and her teenaged son lived with the Sğowakiewicz family on PowsiŒska Street in the Czerniak·w district. 

Many of the residents of the apartment buiding were aware she was Jewish, but no one betrayed her; in fact, they were 

favourably disposed. See the testimony of Fanny Gothajner, Archive of the Jewish Historical Institute (Warsaw), no. 

301/ 2011. Employees of the Warsaw Department of Social Services were heavily involved in the rescue of Jewish 

children, placing hundreds of them in Catholic convents. ñOnce we were informed that two boys were hidden in a 

cubbyhole in [the suburb of] Praga. One of them was running a high fever and it was imperative to move them. A nun 

took the sick boy on a streetcar and he started to scream out something in Yiddish. The driver was astute enough to 

sense the danger and yelled out: óThis streetcar is going to the depot. Everyone out.ô At the same time he signalled to 

the nun that she and the boy should remain.ò See ñTraktowağem to jako obowiŃzek chrzeŜcijaŒski i polskiò (an 

interview with Jan DobraczyŒski), SğowoïDziennik Katolicki (Warsaw), no. 67, 1993. A Jewish woman who was being 

pursued by a blackmailer in Warsaw turned to the conductor of the streetcar she had boarded with a plea, ñóSir, that 

man is an extortionist and heôs persecuting me.ô Without hesitating, the conductor went over to the intruder and slapped 

him twice across the face.ò In the ensuing confusion, she managed to jump off. See Gross, Who Are You Mr Grymek?, 

249ï50. Tomasz Prot, who was accepted into the Stefan Czarnecki Boarding School for Boys in Warsaw run by the 

Central Welfare Council, wrote: ñAt that time my looks were very characteristic. I was a dark-haired boy, the features 

of my face were clearly Semite. é seeing my looks é would hardly have any doubts on me being a hiding Jewish boy. 

Nevertheless, during my stay at the school, é none of the teachers, nor even my schoolmates made me feel that they 

knew I was Jewish.ò See Righteous Among the Nations, Warsaw, June 14, 2010. A network of Poles in the Warsaw 

suburb of ŧoliborz was engaged in finding rooms among trusted persons for Jews passing as Poles. See Marian Turski, 

ed., Losy Ũydowskie: świadectwo Ũywych, vol. 2 (Warsaw: Stowarzyszenie ŧyd·w Kombatant·w i Poszkodowanych w 

II Wojnie światowej, 1999), vol. 2, 150. As another Jew remarked, ñin the small houses in Warsawôs ŧoliborz district 

inhabited mostly by the Polish intelligentsia there were hidden many Jews who had escaped from the ghetto. I was in 

such a home which belonged to a known prewar Endek [nationalist]. Having learned that he was sheltering two 

Jewesses I asked with surprise: óYou who before the war were an anti-Semite are now harbouring Jews in his home???ô 

He replied: óWe have a common enemy and I am fighting in my way. They are Polish citizens and I have to help 

them.ò See Zdzisğaw Przygoda, Niezwykğe przygody w zwyczajnym Ũyciu (Warszawa: Ypsylon, 1994), 49. Barbara 

Abramow-Newerly did not abide by the order to relocate to the ghetto but continued to reside in her housing estate in 

the Warsaw suburb of ŧoliborz, even though her Jewish background was widely known. The only szmalcownik she 

encountered was a Jew by the name of Saul, whom she knew. Saul worked for the Gestapo ferreting out Jews in hiding 

on the ñAryanò side. He was also engaged in extorting money and visited Barbara weekly until she was penniless. 

Facing denunciation, she turned to the Home Army for assistance. Witold Pilecki, the famed escapee from Auschwitz, 

extricated her by providing money for the szmalcownik and told her not to worry. The Jewish szmalcownik did not 

return, and she continued to live in the safety of her home. See Jarosğaw Abramow-Newerly, Lwy mojego podw·rka 

(Warsaw: Tw·j Styl, 2000), 143ï52. Jews hiding in larger cities outside Warsaw also reported favourable experiences. 

Henryk Meller hid for a time on the Aryan side of Krak·w, where he was one of the street children who sold cigarettes 

for a living. According to his testimony, he made enough money to allow himself to dress properly and eat well and 

even attend the cinema in the evening. The local Polish youths viewed him as an equal, and if they were short of stocks 

they would shout to him, ñJew-boy, give us a Sportò (the brand of cigarettes). They knew he was a Jew but respected 

him and did not inform on him. See Hochberg-MariaŒska and Gr¿ss, The Children Accuse, 66. Helena Ziemba, one of 

several Jews rescued in Kalinowszczyzna, a suburb of Lublin, stated that many Poles knew she was being hidden and 

some even brought food to her hideout. A Polish housekeeper who had an illegitimate son by her Jewish employer was 
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not betrayed by anyone. See Jerzy Jacek Bojarski, ed., ścieŨki pamiňci: ŧydowskie miasto w Lublinieðlosy, miejsca, 

historia (Lublin and Rishon LeZion: Norbertinum, OŜrodek ñBrama GrodzkaïTeatr NN,ò Towarzystwo PrzyjaŦni 

Polsko-Izraelskiej w Lublinie, Stowarzyszenie środkowoeuropejskie ñDziedzictwo i Wsp·ğczesnoŜĺ,ò 2002), 35. A 

Jew who was stopped by a German official on a streetcar in Krak·w and accused of being a Jew, reported that he 

gained the support of all the passengers in the streetcar. See Stanisğaw Taubenschlag (Stanley Townsend), To Be a Jew 

in Occupied Poland: Cracow, Auschwitz, Buchenwald (OŜwiňcim: Frap Books, 1998), 32. Nine Jews lived behind a 

false wall in an attic of a flour mill in Tarn·w for two years, among them Israel Unger, then abyoung boy. Some of the 

Jewish men used to leave the hideout at night to forage for food. It is unclear how many Poles knew about the Jews in 

hiding, yet not one of them denounced the Jews to the Germans. Unger at first estimates about ten: ñWho knew about 

the Jews in the attic? I am not sure even to this day. Probably the Dagnans, and the Skorupas, and the Drozds. Likely 

about ten non-Jewish people knew about the Jews in hiding and no one told on us.ò Later he learns that the existence of 

the hidden Jews was an open secret among the Poles working at the mill. See Carolyn Gammon and Israel Unger, The 

Unwritten Diary of Israel Unger (Waterloo, Ontario: Wilfrid Laurier University Press, 2013), 14ï15, 199. Mordecai 

Peleg, who was passing as a Pole, remained in his native Tarn·w for a time and then returned on several occasions. He 

was not betrayed by anyone even though he was well known: ñAmong the Poles, as it turned out, I had no enemies and 

no-one bothered me.ò See Miriam Peleg-MariaŒska and and Mordecai Peleg, Witnesses: Life in Occupied Krak·w 

(London and New York: Routledge, 1991), 4. In PoznaŒ, a stronghold of the anti-Semitic National Democratic (Endek) 

Party, relations with the Jews imprisoned in the Stadion labour camp in 1941ï1943 were amicable. Samuel Bronowski, 

who appeared as a witness in the trial of Arthur Greiser, Gauleiter of the so-called Wartheland, made the following 

deposition before the Supreme National Tribunal: ñThe only help possible was aid in kind by supplying food. In the 

camp we received 200 grams of bread and one litre of turnip soup per day. Obviously, those who had no help from 

outside were bound to die within a short time. A committee was formed in PoznaŒ for the collection of food. This was 

no easy matter since everything was rationed under the food coupon system. Many a time, we received bigger parcels 

which reached us secretly at the construction sites where we worked and met the Polish people. Parcels were also 

thrown into the camp by night. It is not easy to describe the attitude of the civilian population outside the campðto say 

that it was friendly, would be too little. There was marked compassion. There has not been a single case in PoznaŒ of a 

Pole who would betray a Jew escaping the camp. There has not been a single case on the construction site of a foreman 

striking a Jew without immediate reaction on the part of the Polish co-workers. Those Jews who survived did so only 

thanks to the help from the Polish population of PoznaŒ.ò Maks Moszkowicz, another inmate of the Stadion labour 

camp, stated in his deposition for Yad Vashem: ñI wish to stress that the behaviour of the Polish population in PoznaŒ 

towards us, the Jewish prisoners, was very friendly and when our labour battalions were coming out of the camp, 

peopleðmostly womenðwaited for us in the street in order to throw us food in spite of severe interdictions and 

punishment.ò See Bartoszewski, The Blood Shed Unites Us, 225. People who were readily recognizable as Jews and 

spoke poor Polish were able to survive in the Western Polish countryside, without being betrayed: ñ[Alexander] said 

that he had gone through the war with a false identity. It sounds like a joke with his Yiddish accented Polish, with his 

looks. óI presented myself as a Lithuanian, I had no papers, I had no money, but I was young and strong. é I escaped 

westward, to the Poznan [PoznaŒ] region where Jews were hardly known. I worked in the village, at the farm of 

somebody é He didnôt pay me anything. é What matters is that he fed me, gave me some rags to wear, and I lived 

like a king.ôò See Ephraim F. Sten, 1111 Days In My Life Plus Four (Takoma Park, Maryland: Dryad Press, in 

association with the University of Wisconsin Press, 2006), 66ï67. Even when neighbours were displeased with the fact 

that they were put at risk because of the Jews sheltered in their midst, and justifiably fearful of German retaliation, this 

did not necessarily result in denunciations, as is shown by several cases cited in Joanna Beata Michlic, Polandôs 

Threatening Other: The Image of the Jew from 1880 to the Present (Lincoln and London: University of Nebraska 

Press, 2006), 192ï93. 

   Friendly relations between Jewish and Polish inmates also prevailed in German camps and prisons. In Radogoszcz 

outside of Ğ·dŦ, ñThe Polesô attitude to the Jews, with the exception of particular individuals, was generally good. It 

should be pointed out that there were a few dozen priests in the camp. Most of the Poles were from the intelligentsia. é 

The Jewish prisoners and the Poles made an agreement that on Christmas Day [1939], the Jews would all the work in 

the camp. The next two days, however, the Jews were not called on to do any work at all. é The Polish prisoners, 

knowing that we wouldnôt get any meal, had left us their bread and had hidden coffee for us.ò See the testimony of 

J·zef (Josef) Saks, Atchive of the Jewish Historical Institute (Warsaw), no. 301/1023. Szejndla Gutkowicz, an inmate 

of a camp in Pomiech·wek near Modlin, recalled: ñThe Polish population gathered behind the fence of the camp with 

bread and fruit, but the guards did not allow us to get too close to them. Those prisoners who were sent for water also 

collected gifts of bread, milk and whatever was available from the peasants.ò See Grynberg, ŧydzi w rejencji 

ciechanowskiej 1939ï1942, 134. Mosze Gildenman, one of 600 Jews employed in a sugar refinery in Korzec, in 

Volhynia, reported that all the Polish supervisors treated the Jews well and helped them as much as they could. See his 

account in Grynberg and Kotowska, ŧycie i zagğada ŧyd·w polskich 1939ï1945, 571ï72. Noach Zabludowicz, who 

was imprisoned in Ciechan·w, recalled: ñIn the prison where I was confined there were fifty-five people, Poles. All of 

them related to me properly and treated me like a brother. I was all beaten up and in a terrible state. Wounds and sores 

covered my body. There wasnôt an unharmed spot anywhere. For fourteen days my prison-mates applied compresses on 

my wounded body. For this they used the water that was sparingly given for drinking.ò See Noach Zabludowicz, ñMy 
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Experiences in World War II,ò in A.W. Yassini, Yisker-bukh fun der Tshekhanover yidisher kehile (Tel Aviv: Fomer 

Residents of Ciechanow in Israel and in the Diaspora, 1962), 335; translated into English as Memorial Book for the 

Community of Ciechanow, Internet: <http://www.jewishgen.org/yizkor/Ciechanow/Ciechanow.html>. Paul Trepman 

wrote: ñOn the third day we Jews were put to work in a high vegetable garden [in Falenty], where we found a number 

of Polish civilians already on the job. These Polesðall Gentilesðwere very kind to usé In the course of our work we 

became very friendly with the Poles.ò See Paul Trepman, Among Men and Beasts (New York: A. S. Barnes and 

Company, 1978), 71. Martin Zaidenstadt, a Jewish soldier in the Polish army, recalls that when he was captured at the 

beginning of the war and transferred from a prisoner-of-war camp to Dachau: ñWhen the Nazi guards said: all Jews 

step forward, my Polish comrades held me back and protected me.ò See Alan Cowell, ñA Dachau survivor who wonôt 

forget,ò Gazette (Montreal), October 27, 1997 (reprinted from the New York Times). See also Timothy W. Ryback, The 

Last Survivor: In Search of Martin Zaidenstadt (New York: Pantheon Books/Random House, 1999), 123; this book 

provides a further example at p. 161. Lea Kalin, a young Jewish woman deported to a German munitions factory at 

Telgte, stated that although her Polish fellow forced labourers in her barrack knew that she was Jewish, they kept her 

identity secret. See Martin Gilbert, The Righteous: The Unsung Heroes of the Holocaust (Toronto: Key Porter, 2003), 

410 (see also illustration no. 42). Henryk Arnold, who was deported to Brockwitz together with about fifty other Polish 

insurgents from Warsaw, stated that all of the Poles knew there were five Jews in the group and most of them behaved 

very decently. See Jakub Gutenbaum and Agnieszka Latağa, eds., The Last Eyewitnesses: Children of the Holocaust 

Speak, vol. 2 (Evanston, Illinois, Northwestern University Press, 2005), 23. Sol Pluda recalls the help he received from 

Poles in the final months of the war after his transfer from Auschwitz to other German camps: ñFrom there the trains 

continued to concentration camp Sachsenhausen. I was unable to walk, and so some Poles and Jews carried me to the 

large airplane hangers [sic] used to house the prisoners. é In Flossenburg, the Nazis no longer had their prison records 

from Auschwitz. A Polish administrator from Birkenau recognized me and é insisted I was a Christian Pole and 

registered me [and my friend Shmulik] as such.ò See Carole Garbuny Vogel, We Shall Not Forget!: Memories of the 

Holocaust, Second edition (Lexington, Massachusetts: Temple Isaiah, 1995), 386. Like a number of other Polish Jews 

in Buchenwald, Leo Bach (Leon Silberbach) exchanged his Jewish insignia (triangle) for one indicating he was a (non-

Jewish) Pole which was provided by a Polish prisoner. When someone from his hometown (Krak·w) identified him as 

a Jew, all of the other Polish prisoners affirmed that Bach was Polish and he was allowed to stay in the barrack. The 

Polish inmates confronted the culprit angrily, ñAre you helping the Germans?ò and threatened him. From that time he 

kept his mouth shut. See Leo Bach, Coming of Age during the Holocaust, Internet: 

<http://www.cheme.cornell.edu/cheme/people/profile/moreinfo/dlk15-leobach.cfm>, 299 (Chapter 6). Aleksander 

Biberstein, who authored an important chronicle of the Krak·w ghetto, describes how Polish labourers smuggled goods 

destined for Jewish inmates into the Pğasz·w concentration camp, and various other forms of assistance rendered by 

Poles inside that camp. See Aleksander Biberstein, Zagğada ŧyd·w w Krakowie (Krak·w: Wydawnictwo Literackie, 

1985), 31, 95, 134ï36. Halina Nelken, a Jewish woman from Krak·w, writes of the solidarity of Polish and Jewish 

prisoners in the Pğasz·w concentration camps, the assistance shown by Polish inmates of Auschwitz, the campôs first 

inmates, to later transports of prisoners, including Jews. These anonymous benefactors, who may well not have been 

the ñnorm,ò were known by the name of ñkochanyò (ñdarlingò). While they did not have much to offerðperhaps some 

scraps of food or clothingðtheir attitude had a great impact on the new arrivals in this bleak and infamous factory of 

death. Nelken relates similar displays of solidarity she was shown by Polish women inmates at Ravensbr¿ck. See her 

wartime memoirs, And Yet, I Am Here! (Amherst: University of Massachusetts Press, 1999), 232, 248, 272. Sigmund 

Gerson and Eddie Gastfriend, young Jews imprisoned in Auschwitz, speak of the ñlovingò attitude of Father 

Maximilian Kolbe and all the Polish priests toward the Jews in the camp. See Patricia Treece, A Man for Others: 

Maximilian Kolbe, Saint of Auschwitz (New York: Harper & Row, 1982; reissued by Our Sunday Visitor, Hutington, 

Indiana), 138, 152ï53. Ada Omieljanczuk, a Jewish woman, attributes her survival to Polish fellow prisoners of 

Auschwitz who shared their food parcels with her. See Tadeusz Andrzejewski, ñWileŒscy straŨnicy oŜwiňcimskiej 

pamiňci,ò Tygodnik WileŒszczyzny (Vilnius), February 3ï9, 2005. Jerzy Radwanek, a member of the Polish 

underground in Auschwitz, used his position as camp electrician to provide widespread assistance to fellow Jewish 

prisoners, and came to be known by them as the ñJewish uncleò of Auschwitz. See the profile of Jerzy Radwanek under 

ñPolandò in the web site of The Jewish Foundation for the Righteous, Internet: <http://www.jfr.org>. Judy Weissenberg 

Cohen, ñóThe Kol Nidre I always remember,ôò The Canadian Jewish News, September 24, 1998, mentions a Polish 

kapo in Auschwitz who agreed to Jewish inmates holding a service and guarded the entrance to the barracks to watch 

out for the SS. Another Jewish inmate of Auschwitz remembers with gratitude how her Polish ñblock trustyò tried to 

protect Jewish prisoners from being sent to the ovens. See the account of Anna (Chana) Kovitzka, posted at 

<http://voices.iit.edu/frames.asp?path=Interviews/&page=kovit&ext_t.html>. Yet another inmate praises her block 

commander, Ludwik, who protected her during her illness. See Shavti Perelmuter, ñJewish Resistance in the Ghetto and 

the Camp,ò in Deblin-Modzjitz Book, Internet: <http://www.jewishgen.org/Yizkor/Deblin.html>, translation of D. 

Shtokfish, ed., Sefer Deblin-Modjitz [Dňblin-Modrzyc] (Tel Aviv: Association of Former Residents of Demblin-

Modzjitz, 1969), 501ff. Assistance of Polish inmates at Auschwitz has been documented by Yad Vashem: See Gutman 

and Bender, The Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations, vol. 4 and 5: Poland, Part 1, 256 (Stanisğawa 

Sierzputowska); Part 2, 638 (Jerzy Pozimski), 658 (Jerzy Radwanek). Two Jewish survivors from Ciechan·w recalled 

that Polish prisoners in Auschwitz who received food parcels from home gave their camp portions away to Jews and 
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other prisoners. See Noach Zabludowicz, ñMy Experiences in World War II,ò and Moshe Kolko, ñCiechanow Jews in 

the Uprising in Auschwitz,ò in A.W. Yassini, ed., Memorial Book for the Community of Ciechanow, Internet: 

<http://www.jewishgen.org/yizkor/Ciechanow/Ciechanow.html>, translation of Yisker-bukh fun der Tshekhanover 

yidisher kehile (Tel Aviv: Former Residents of Ciechanow in Israel and in the Diaspora, 1962), 337, 382. Other 

accounts mention kind deeds by Polish kapos and block elders in various campsðsee Niewyk, Fresh Wounds, 15, 205, 

210 (Auschwitz), 218 (Majdanek); Konrad Charmatz, Nightmares: Memoirs of the Years of Horror under Nazi Rule in 

Europe, 1939ï1945 (Syracuse, New York: Syracuse University Press, 2003), 101ï102 (Auschwitz). Another tribute to 

Polish prisoners, among them doctors, in various concentration camps was authored by Zofia Hauswirtðsee WroŒski 

and Zwolakowa, Polacy ŧydzi 1939ï1945, 311ï12. In the camp in Radogoszcz outside of Ğ·dŦ. ñThe Polesô attitude to 

the Jews, with the exception of particular individuals, was generally good. It should be pointed out that there were a 

few dozen priests in the camp. Most of the Poles were from the intelligentsia. é The Polish prisoners, knowing that we 

wouldnôt get any meal, had left us their bread and had hidden coffee for us.ò See the testimony of J·zef (Josef) Saks, 

Archive of the Jewish Historical Institute (Warsaw), no. 301/1023. Even in the hostile and hardened environment of a 

reformatory in Bronowice near Krak·w (ñThey were the worst sort of louts, they would beat each other upò), when the 

identity of a Jewish boy was disclosed, that did not lead to his betrayal to the German authorities: ñUnfortunately, a boy 

who knew me from PrŃdnik recognized me and told all the boys I was Jewish. They began teasing me terribly, called 

me names and I did not know what to do. The hygienist from our ward asked the boys not to tease me and gave them 

candy and advised me to run away. But I was scared to run away and I stayed there. Two months later, my period of 

punishment in the reformatory was over and I reported back to the Central Welfare Council again. I asked them to 

assign me to a better institution, because I am an orphan. They sent me to Kochan·w to an orphanage. They took care 

of us very well there.ò See the testimony of Jerzy Andrzej Hoffman, Archive of the Jewish Historical Institute 

(Warsaw), no. 301/1520. Two Jewish sisters from Mielec who volunteered for labour in Germany posing as Poles were 

ñquickly recognized é as Jewsò by their Polish co-workers, ñwhich was very easy because they looked emaciated. To 

make matters worse, the element of Polish youth was very low, mostly adventurers and the like. é these Poles did not 

betray the two girls to the German administration. They spent two fearful years in the labor camps. They survived.ò 

Testimony of Sarah Blattberg-Cooper, ñMy Memories from the Bloodiest Era of My Peopleôs History,ò in Sefer 

zikaron le-kehilat Mielec: Sipur hashmadat ha-kehila ha-yehudit (New York: Mielec Yizkor Book Committee, 1979), 

translated as Remembering Mielec: The Destruction of the Jewish Community, Internet: 

<http://www.jewishgen.org/yizkor/mielec/Mielec.html>. 

   Assistance by Polish villagers in Eastern Galicia and in Volhynia was also plentiful. Jewish historians Tatiana 

Berenstein and Adam Rutkowski list several examples of help extended by entire rural communities. In Kretowce near 

ZbaraŨ, Tarnopol voivodship, ñseveral dozen Jews were able to move about almost freely because the whole village 

shielded them from the Nazis.ò In Woron·wka near Ludwipol, Volhynia, ñthe collusion of the peasants was cemented 

by blood ties: every villager was either a Kuriata or a TorgoŒ. The peasants in KoŜciej·w, in the vicinity of which ran 

the railway line leading to the extermination camp at BeğŨec, tended to Jews who jumped out of the ódeath trains.ô They 

not only brought them food and clothing but also sent word to Jews in the nearby village of Kulik·w to come and fetch 

the heavily injured immediately; the rest were taken by the peasants themselves to Kulik·w under cover of darkness. In 

Bar [near Gr·dek JagielloŒski] villagers supplied a group of 18 Jews hiding in the neighbouring woods with food; they 

came into the village at night for their provisions and thanks to this help were able to hold out until the area was 

liberated by the Soviet Army.ò See Berenstein and Rutkowski, Assistance to the Jews in Poland 1939ï1945, 27, 45ï46; 

Michağ Czajka, Marta Janczewska, and Apolonia UmiŒska-Keff, eds., Relacje z czas·w Zagğady Inwentarz: Archiwum 

ŧIH IN-B, zesp·ğ 301, Nr. 2001ï3000/Holocaust Survivor Testimonies Catalogue: Jewish Historical Institute Archives, 

Record Group 301, No. 2001ï3000 (Warsaw: ŧydowski Instytut Historyczny Instytut Naukowo-Badawczy, 2002), vol. 

3, 233ï34 (Kretowce). Several Jews were sheltered by Polish villagers in świňty Stanisğaw near Stanisğaw·w. No one 

betrayed them. See Paweğ Knap, ed., ñJak ci siň uda uratowaĺ, pamiňtajò: Relacje ñSprawiedliwychò i o 

ñSprawiedliwychò z wojew·dztwa zachodniopomorskiego (Szczecin: Instytut Pamiňci NarodowejïKomisja ścigania 

Zbrodni przeciwko Narodowi Polskiemu, Oddziağ w Szczecinie, 2010), 101ï3. One of the rescued Jews praises the 

ñnoble attitude of the entire population, without exception, of the Polish village of Barò (near Gr·dek JagielloŒski) who 

helped more than twenty people hiding in nearby forests to survive. See Gerszon Taffet, Zagğada ŧyd·w Ũ·ğkiewskich 

(Ğ·dŦ: Centralna ŧydowska Komisja Historyczna, 1946), 62; Bartoszewski and Lewin, Righteous Among Nations, 444; 

Chodorska, Godni synowie naszej Ojczyzny, Part Two, 115ï16. In the Polish village of Czukiew near Sambor, a farmer 

hid 18 Jews, who were not betrayed although most of the village knew about them. See Dean, Encyclopedia of Camps 

and Ghettos, 1933ï1945, vol. 2, Part A, 825, based on the testimony of Meyer Lamet, dated July 15, 1945, Archive of 

the Jewish Historical Museum (Warsaw), no. 301/4967. Almost every Polish family in the hamlet of Zawoğocze near 

Ludwipol, in Volhynia, sheltered or helped Jews. None of the Jews were betrayed. See Chodorska, Godni synowie 

naszej Ojczyzny, Part Two, 77ï78. Jews hiding in the forests in the vicinity of Berezne (BereŦne) near Kostopol, 

Volhynia, received extensive assistance from Polish villagers and partisans. See the account of Seweryn 

Dobroszklanka, Archive of the Jewish Historical Institute (Warsaw), no. 301/1222; WroŒski and Zwolakowa, Polacy 

ŧydzi 1939ï1945, 324ï25. A number of Jews lived openly in the Polish colony of świňte Jezioro near Olesk, or in the 

forests nearby and were fed by the villagers. See Suzanne Ginsburg, Noike: A Memoir of Leon Ginsburg (San 

Francisco: Avenger Books, 2012), 94ï99, 120ï23, 129ï37, 141ï54. (This book refers to the Polish colony as 
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ñPodswientneò and mentions several helpful families by name.) Polish villages in the vicinity of Korzec, Volhynia, 

helped Jews hiding in the forests. See Nyuma Anapolsky, ñWe survived thanks to the kind peopleðUkrainians and 

Poles,ô in Boris Zabarko, ed., Holocaust in the Ukraine (London and Portland, Oregon: Vallentine Mitchell, 2005), 10ï

11. After leaving the home of a Ukrainain Baptist family in the village of Charağuh, Haya Tessler, her brother Israel 

and their nephew Mordechai Tennenbaum, all from Miňdzyrzecz Korecki, ñgot to a village where Poles lived é we 

stayed in their midst for a while, and when they decided to abandon the village for the safety of the dense forests, é we 

joined them.ò See Mordechai Tennenbaum, ñThe Life History of a Holocaust Survivor from Mezirich,ò in Israel 

Zinman, ed., Memorial for Greater Mezirich: In Construction and Destruction (Haifa: n.p., 1999), Internet: 

<http://jewishgen.org/yizkor/Mezhirichi/Mezirich.html>. A report about the village of Stara Huta near Szumsk, in 

Volhynia, states: ñThe people of a small Polish village named Stara Hota welcomed a group of Jews to stay and hide in 

their homes. The Ukrainians found out about the Jewish presence in the village. They informed the Germans right 

away. The Poles had managed to help the Jews run into the fields, but they were all caught and killed during their 

escape.ò See Ruth Sztejnman Halperin, ñThe Last Days of Shumsk,ò in H. Rabin, ed., Szumsk: Memorial Book of the 

Martyrs of Szumsk, Internet: <http://www.jewishgen.org/yizkor/szumsk/szumsk.html>, translation of Shumsk: Sefer 

zikaron le-kedoshei Shumsk (Tel Aviv: Former Residents of Szumsk in Israel, 1968), 29ff. Dawid Sasower recalls: 

ñnear Zaturne [near Ğuck], there was a Polish village in which about twenty Jews lived. In the daytime they worked in 

the fields and at night the Poles gave them rifles so that they could protect themselves from the banderovtsy [Ukrainian 

nationalist partisans].ò See Rima Dulkinienǟ and Kerry Keys, eds., Su adata ġirdyje: GetȎ ir koncentracijos stovyklȎ 

kaliniȎ atsiminimai; With a Needle in the Heart: Memoirs of Former Prisoners of Ghettos and Concentraion Camps 

(Vilnius: Garnelis and Genocide and Resistance Research Centre of Lithuania, 2003), 319ï20. Regarding conditions in 

Kozowa, a predominantly Polish town near BrzeŨany, Bronia Beker states: ñMy aunt didnôt have to hide. She was so 

well loved and respected by all because she always helped the poorest of the poor, that while she was walking around 

freely, living among the ruins nobody gave her away. é The people in the town also made sure she had food at all 

times.ò See her account in ñWomen of Valor: Partisans and Resistance Fighters,ò 

www.interlog.com/~mighty/personal/bronia.htm, originally published in the Journal of the Center for Holocaust 

Studies, vol. 6, no. 4 (spring 1990). Samuel Eisen, a teenager who survived in the forest near Tğuste, recalled: ñWe had 

no money, but in the village nearby lived a lot of Poles who knew us and were good to us. They were afraid to hide us 

but they gave us food.ò See Hochberg-MariaŒska and Gr¿ss, The Children Accuse, 206. Maria Fischer Zahn, who hid 

near Zbor·w, stated: ñEverybody in the neighborhood knew we were hiding, but nobody told the Germans. The people 

in Jezierna were good people. They didnôt give us away. They helped us with food. We couldnôt have survived without 

them.ò See Vogel, We Shall Not Forget!, 280, and also 276. Shlomo Berger, who passed as a Pole in a small town near 

Czortk·w, working for Tadeusz Duchowski, the Polish director of a company, recalled: ñI rented a room in NiŦni·w 

with one of the Polish workers. I learned from him that the man who was in charge of the office was the son of a judge 

who was a Jew who had converted to Catholicism. The son was probably raised as a Christian, but by German criteria 

he was still Jewish. The people at the office knew who he was, but nobody said anything.ò See Ronald J. Berger, 

Constructing a Collective Memory of the Holocaust: A Life History of Two Brothersô Survival (Niwot: University Press 

of Colorado, 1995), 55. A number of Jews were sheltered by Polish villagers in Uğaszkowce near Czortk·w. See 

Abraham Morgenstern, Chortkov Remembered: The Annihilation of a Jewish Community (Dumont, New Jersey: n.p., 

1990), 83ï84, 98. Markus Lecker, who joined up with a large group of Jews living in a forest bunker in the vicinity of 

Borszcz·w, describes their relations with a Polish settlement that provided them with food: ñThe colony é consisted of 

six houses with six Polish families living there. é These 6 Polish families were the main support for us Jewish outcasts 

who lived in the bunker. We used to go to the Polish colony at night and exchange whatever we had left for food é 

But I must say these Polish colonists did supply us with some food é even if we didnôt have what to give them in 

return éò See Marcus Lecker, I Remember: Odyssey of a Jewish Teenager in Eastern Europe (Montreal: The 

Concordia University Chair in Canadian Jewish Studies, and The Montreal Institute for Genocide and Human Rights 

Studies, 1999), 56. Hundreds of Jews were helped by Polish villagers in Biğka Szlachecka, about 20 kilometres east of 

Lw·w, and in Hanacz·w and świrz, about 40 kilometres east of Lw·w. The remarkable story of the help extended to 

more than 200 Jews in Hanacz·w is described in Joshua D. Zimmerman, The Polish Underground and the Jews, 1939ï

1945 (New York: Cambridge University Press, 2015), 314ï17. See also Hera, Polacy ratujŃcy ŧyd·w, 483 (Biğka 

Szlachecka); Jerzy Wňgierski, W lwowskiej Armii Krajowej (Warsaw: Pax, 1989), 77ï78; Eliyahu Yones, Smoke in the 

Sand: The Jews of Lvov in the War Years 1939ï1944 (Jerusalem and New York: Gefen, 2004), 227ï28; Chodorska, 

Godni synowie naszej Ojczyzny, Part Two, 204ï207; Gutman and Bender, The Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among 

the Nations, vol. 5: Poland, Part 2, 886ï87; Testimony of Edmund Adler, Archive of Jewish Historical Institute and 

Yad Vashem Archives, file O.62/143; Testimony of Feiga Pfeffer, Archive of the Jewish Historical Institute (Warsaw), 

no. 301/1356. Further north, in Polesia, Kopel Kolpanitzky describes the helpfulness of the residents of Zahorie 

[Zahorze], a small village of Polish Catholics three kilometers from Ğachwa, which the Germans later burned to the 

ground. See Kolpanitzky, Sentenced To Life: The Story of a Survivor of the Lahwah Ghetto (London and Portland, 

Oregon: Vallentine Mitchell, 2007), 89ï96. Michael Zipper and his cousins, Maria Goldhirsh and her daughter Ruzia 

(later Rose Slutzky), and Fella Sieler were among the thirteen Jews, including five children, hidden in a forest bunker 

near the predominantly Polish village of Zabojki near Tarnopol, for a period of eight months. According to Rose 

Slutzky, ñThe whole village kept us a secret, and when they could, they shared some food with us. é good Polish 
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people who gave us a bit of food, when they themselves were hungry.ò See Testimony of Rose Slutzky in Belle Millo, 

ed., Voices of Winnipeg Holocaust Survivors (Winnipeg: Jewish Heritage Centre of Western Canada, 2010), 364; 

Testiomony of Rose Slutsky, Shoah Foundation Institute for Visual History and Education, University of Southern 

California, Interview code 23960. A group of 28 Jews took refuge in the forests near their hometown of Skağa 

Podolska, on the River Zbrucz, in Tarnopol voivodship. They turned for food and other supplies to a Polish colony 

known as Mazury: ñThere was a small village at the edge of the Skala [Skağa] forest, called Mazury. é I vividly 

remember the late June of 1943, when my two cousins and I, along with a handful of other young men and women, 

escaped to the forest during a week-long rainy weather spell. We were cold, wet and starving for days. Our first ómealô 

in the forest, was a slice of cold corn pudding we all shared, that my cousin, Nechamia Stock of blessed memory, 

brought from the Mazury colony after sneaking out of the forest and knocking at the door of a Polish colonist, a total 

stranger. Later that summer, my cousin Malcia Rothststein (nee Stock) made a deal with a woman colonist to knit 

sweaters with wool provided by her in exchange for bottles of milk, a rare luxury at the time. In the fall of 1943, after 

German troops raided our section of the forest, killing scores of Jews, we decided to build underground bunkers for the 

winter. The Mazury colonists were those who lent us the necessary construction toolsðsaws, picks, shovels and 

hammersðno questions asked. Those tools eventually made our survival possible! Regretfully, the names of those 

individual Polish colonists lie buried in the graves of the survivors who dealt with them at the time, but their deeds are 

still remembered with gratitude.ò See Max Mermelstein (Weidenfeld) and Tony Hausner, eds. Skala on the River 

Zbrucz: A History of the Former Skala Jewish Community (United States: Skala Research Group and Skala Benevolent 

Society, 2009), 397ï98, also 183ï90. Of Ostra Mogiğa near Skağat Jewish survivors wrote: ñThe people in this village 

were friendly to the Jews and provided them with whatever they could. é Twenty-nine Jews survived in Ostra-

Mogila.ò One of the Jews stated that of the ten houses on the street where his rescuers, the Firuta family lived, almost 

everyone had sheltered Jews and that the entire street merited recognition. See Abraham Weissbord, Death of a Shtetl, 

Internet: <http://www.jewishgen.org/Yizkor/Skalat1/Skalat.html>, translation of Es shtarbt a shtetl: Megiles Skalat 

(Munich: Central Historical Commission of the Central Committee of Liberated Jews in the U.S. Zone of Germany, 

1948), 65; Firuta Family, The Righteous Database, Yad Vashem, Internet: 

<http://db.yadvashem.org/righteous/family.html?language=en&itemId=4288027>. Other examples of communal 

assistance by Poles are recorded in the following publications: Bartoszewski and Lewin·wna, Ten jest z ojczyzny mojej, 

2nd ed., 1027 (Wğadysğaw·wka near Swojcz·w); WroŒski and Zwolakowa, Polacy ŧydzi 1939ï1945, 263 (KoniŒsk 

near Sarny), 265 (PaŒska Dolina near Dubno), 266 (świnarzyn near Dominopol), 307 (an entire street in the city of 

PrzemyŜl was aware of a Jewish hideout), 324ï25 (in the vicinity of BereŦne near Kostopol), 327 (Woron·wka near 

Ludwipol), 361 and 389 (Ob·rki), 386 (W·lka Kotowska near Ğuck), 392 (PrzebraŨe); Edward Prus, Holocaust po 

banderowsku: Czy ŧydzi byli w UPA? (Wrocğaw: Nortom, 1995), 82 (Zdoğbun·w), 144 (Adamy near Busk), 167 (Huta 

Brodzka); Bronisğaw Szeremeta, ñZagğada wsi Adamyðrok 1943,ò Semper Fidelis (Wrocğaw), no. 1 (14), 1993: 19 

(Adamy near Busk); Asher Tarmon, ed., Memorial Book: The Jewish Communities of Manyevitz, Horodok, Lishnivka, 

Troyanuvka, Povursk, and Kolki (Wolyn Region) (Tel-Aviv: Organization of Survivors of Manyevitz, Horodok, 

Lishnivka, Troyanuvka, Povursk, Kolki and Surroundings Living in Israel and Overseas, 2004), 39ï40, 67ï68, 74, 85 

(KoniŒsk near Sarny); E. Leoni, ed., Rokitno (Volin) ve-ha-sevivah: Sefer edut ve-zikaron (Tel Aviv: Former Residents 

of Rokitno in Israel, 1967), translated as Rokitno-Wolyn and Surroundings: Memorial Book and Testimony, Internet: 

<http://www.jewishgen.org/yizkor/rokitnoye/Rokitnoye.html>, 293ff. (BlizhovðñI must say that these peasants treated 

us fairly well. In the area of Blizhov there were no attacks or denunciations of Jews.ò); 317ff. (Netreba and Okopy near 

Kisorycze), 327ff. (Netreba), 334ff. (Netreba, Borowskie Budki, and Okopyðñin the village of Netrebe [sic], tens of 

Jews from Rokitno and the area found shelter. They were helped by the villagers who not only did not harm them but 

also hid them near the village during the day. At night they took them to their homes. Many Jews survived there until 

the liberation by the Red Army. In the Polish village of Budki some Jews survived ... In the same area, in the Polish 

village of Okopi [sic], some tens of Jews were saved thanks to two special individualsé the Catholic priest [Rev. 

Ludwik Wrodarczyk] and the village teacher. The priest used to give sermons to his followers telling them not to be 

involved in the extermination of Jews. He asked them to help the Jews to survive é The village teacher also had 

compassion for the unfortunate Jews. Their suffering touched her heart and she helped in any way possible. She was 

killed by a Ukrainian gang on the way from the village of Rokitno where she was helping a Jewish family. The priest 

was burned alive in his church.ò), 342ff. (Netreba), 351 (ñin a Polish village near Snodovich [Snodowicze], we found a 

few Jewish families working in the houses and fields of the villagersò); Engelking, Byğ taki piňkny sğoneczny dzieŒé, 

125 (after escaping from the ghetto in Rokitno, Rachela Sznuler moved from village to village surviving by sewing for 

farmers); Yehuda Bauer, ñSarny and Rokitno in the Holocaust: A Case Study of Two Townships in Wolyn 

(Volhynia),ò in Katz, The Shtetl, 273 (Okopy, Budki Borowskie, DoğhaŒ, and Netreba); Reuben Ainsztein, Jewish 

Resistance in Nazi-Occupied Poland (with a historical survey of the Jew as fighter and soldier in the Diaspora) 

(London: Paul Elek, 1974), 450ï53 (Dzwonica, Huta Pieniacka, Huta Werchobuska near Zğocz·w); Shlomo Blond, et 

al., eds., Memorial Book of Tlumacz: The Life and Destruction of a Jewish Community (Tel Aviv: Tlumacz Societies in 

Israel and the U.S.A., 1976), column clxxiv (Horyhlady or Horyglady near Tğumacz, and Wojciech·wka near Skağat); 

Alicia Appleman-Jurman, Alicia: My Story (New York: Bantam, 1988), 149, 157 (Horyhlady or Horyglady near 

Tğumacz, and Wojciech·wka near Buczacz); Etunia Bauer Katz, Our Tomorrows Never Came (New York: Fordham 

University Press, 2000), 98ï99 (Matusz·wka near Buczacz); ElŨbieta Isakiewicz, Harmonica: Jews Relate How Poles 
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Saved Them from the Holocaust (Warsaw: Polska Agencja Informacyjna, 2001), 106ï108 (DŦwinogr·d near Buczacz); 

Yehuda Bauer, ñBuczacz and Krzemieniec: The Story of Two Towns During the Holocaust,ò Yad Vashem Studies, vol. 

33 (2005), 298 (Nowosi·ğka Koropiecka near Buczacz); David Ravid (Shmukler), ed., The Cieszanow Memorial Book 

(Mahwah, New Jersey: Jacob Solomon Berger, 2006), 190ï91 (Wojciech·wka near Buczacz); Oral History Interview 

with Pepa (Sternberg) Gold, Kean College of New Jersey Holocaust Resource Center, March 26, 1987 (an unnamed 

village near Buczacz); Denise Nevo and Mira Berger, eds., We Remember: Testimonies of Twenty-four Members of 

Kibbutz Megiddo who Survived the Holocaust (New York: Shengold, 1994), 209 (Huta Sopaczewska near Sarny), 257 

(Polish villages near the village of Berezoğupy near RoŨyszcze: ñWhen I arrived in the Polish village, someone told me 

that five kilometers from there, here was another Polish village where I might find my brother é I went there and 

asked the farmers about him. They told me where to go, and I found him in a forest, with a group of six other Jews. é 

They too had spent the winter in the forest, and at night they had brought potatoes and bread from the Polish village. é 

I was accepted by an older couple é My brother also got a job with another Polish farmer, about four kilometers from 

the village where I was. é I stayed with that farmer for almost a year, until the Russians freed our area in April 

1944.ò); Yitzhak Ganuz, ed., Our Town Stepan, Internet: <http://www.jewishgen.org/yizkor/stepan/Stepan.html>, 

translation of Ayaratenu Stepan (Tel Aviv: Stepan Society, 1977), 213ff. (Karaczun near Kostopol, where both the 

Polish underground and Polish villagers were extremely helpful to Jews who hid in the forest), 287 (Huta StepaŒska); 

Stanisğaw Siekierski, ed., ŧyli wŜr·d nasé: Wspomnienia Polak·w i ŧyd·w nadesğane na konkurs pamiňci polsko-

Ũydowskiej o nagrodň imienia Dawida Ben Guriona (PğoŒsk: ZarzŃd Miasta PğoŒsk, Miejskie Centrum Kultury w 

PğoŒsku, and Towarzystwo MiğoŜnik·w Ziemi PğoŒskiej, 2001), 121 (Karaczun near Kostpol); Andrzej Leja, 

ñUrodzona w ZSRS,ò Polis: Miasto Pans Cogito, Internet: 

<http://www.polis2008.pl/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=601&joscclean=1&comment_id=843> 

(Karaczun near Kostopol); Sonya Tesler-Gyraph, ñMemories from the Nazi Period,ò in Yosef Kariv, ed., Horchiv 

Memorial Book (Tel Aviv: Horchiv Committee in Israel, 1966), 63 (a village near Horoch·w, Volhynia); Niewyk, 

Fresh Wounds, 164 (Hucisko Oleskie or Huta Olejska near Olesko: ñIt is a Polish village é The gentiles were also 

very kind. We were there. We slept in barns. We slept here a day, here a day, here a night.ò); Isaiah Trunk, Jewish 

Responses to Nazi Persecution: Collective and Individual Behavior in Extremis (New York: Stein and Day, 1979), 

250ï52 (KurdybaŒ Warkowicki, Bortnica, PaŒska Dolina, ŧeni·wka, all in Volhynia); Account of Mordechai 

Tennenbaum in Israel Zinman, ed., Memorial for Greater Mezirich: In Construction and Destruction (Haifa: 

Organization of Meziritsh Association, 1999), Internet: <www.jewishgen.org/yizkor/mezhirichi/> (a Polish village in 

the vicinity of Miňdzyrzec near R·wne, Volhynia); Daniel Kac, Koncert grany Ũywym (Warsaw: Tu, 1998), 183 

(PrzebraŨe and Huta StepaŒska, in Volhynia); Stepan Makarczuk, ñStraty ludnoŜci w Galicji Wschodniej w latach II 

wojny Ŝwiatowej (1939ï1945),ò in PolskaïUkraina: Trudne pytania, vol. 6 (Warsaw: światowy ZwiŃzek ŧoğnierzy 

Armii Krajowej, ZwiŃzek UkraiŒc·w w Polsce, and Karta, 2000), 240 (Rakowiec and Hoğosko Wielkie, both near 

Lw·w); ñLetter of Chayeh Kanner,ò Khurbn Glinyane (New York: New York: Emergency Relief Committee for 

Gliniany and Vicinity, 1946), translated as The Tragic End of Our Gliniany, Internet: 

<http://www.jewishgen.org/yizkor/glinyany1/Glinyany1.html> (ñThe few Jews of Gliniany who saved their lives were 

hiding in the woods near Zeniow [ŧeni·w]. The Polish peasants of that village supplied their food.ò); ŧbikowski, 

Polacy i ŧydzi pod okupacjŃ niemieckŃ 1939ï1945, 309 (Tresteniec, a Polish settlement near Aleksandria in Volhynia 

where all the villagers knew about and assisted the sisters Cypa and Rywa Szparberg and their father); Hersch Altman, 

One the Fields of Loneliness (New York and Jerusalem: Yad Vashem and The Holocaust Survivorsô Memors Project, 

2006), 139ff. (the Polish village of Hucisko near BrzeŨany, a Home Army base). Spontaneous assistance was much 

more frequent than is often assumed, as illustrated by the following examples. In October 1942, after the liquidation of 

the ghetto in Zdoğbun·w, the Germans and Ukrainian militiamen combed the town to locate any signs of survivors: 

ñ[Fritz] Germ would point to a certain house, always one occupied by Polish citizens, and the guards would crash 

through the door or a window, emerging with a family and the Jews whom they had hidden. The fate was the same for 

the rescuers as it was for the Jews. This occurred at four or five different homes.ò See Douglas K. Huneke, The Moses 

of Rovno: The Stirring Story of Fritz Graebe, a German Christian Who Risked His Life to Lead Hundreds of Jews to 

Safety During the Holocaust (New York: Dodd, Mead & Company, 1985), 84. Irene Gut Opdyke, a Polish rescuer 

recalled: ñThere was a priest in Jan·wka [near Tarnopol]. He knew about the Jewsô escapeðmany of the Polish people 

knew about it. é Many people brought food and other thingsðnot right to the forest, but to the edgeðfrom the 

village. The priest could not say directly óhelp the Jews,ô but he would say in church, ónot one of you should take the 

blood of your brother.ô é During the next couple of weeks there were posters on every street corner saying, óThis is a 

Jew-free town, and if any one should help an escaped Jew, the sentence is death.ôò See Carol Rittner and Sondra Myers, 

eds., The Courage to Care: Rescuers of Jews During the Holocaust (New York: New York University Press, 1986), 

47ï48. The warning soon became a terrifying reality when the town square in Tarnopol ñwas choked with a milling, 

bewildered crowd. SS men abruptly pushed me into the middle of the square, just as they had the others, with a 

command not to leave. A scaffold had been erected in the center of the square, and what appeared to be two separate 

families were slowly escorted through the crowd to the block. A Polish couple, holding two small children, were 

brought up first, followed by a Jewish couple with one child, all three wearing the yellow Star of David. Both groups 

were lined up in front of dangling nooses. They were going to hang the children as well! Why didnôt somebody do 

something? What could be done? Finally, their ócrimesô were announcedðthe Polish family had been caught harboring 
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   Notwithstanding an abundance of evidence regarding conditions in the countryside, many Holocaust 

historians are unable to shed their ethno-nationalist biases or simply havenôt done their homework. Despite 

adamant denials by historians such as Shmuel Krakowski,
109

 it is an undeniable fact that Jewish partisans 

                                                                                                                                                                             
the Jewish family! Thus we were forced to witness the punishment for helping or befriending a Jew.ò See Irene Gut 

Opdyke with Jeffrey M. Elliot, Into the Flames: The Life Story of a Righteous Gentile (San Bernardino, California: The 

Borgo Press, 1992), 139. Public executions of Poles who had helped Jews became commonplace in an effort to instil 
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Siemaszko, Ludob·jstwo dokonane przez nacjonalist·w ukraiŒskich na ludnoŜci polskiej Woğynia, 1939ï1945 

(Warsaw: von borowiecky, 2000), vol. 1, 363. In Huta Werchobuska or Werchobudzka (near Zğocz·w) and Huta 

Pieniacka (near Brody), the Polish villagers were simply annihilated and their homes and farmsteads burned down in 
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assistance provided to Jews. See ZajŃczkowski, Martyrs of Charity, Part One, 154ï55; Tsvi Weigler, ñTwo Polish 

Villages Razed for Extending Help to Jews,ò Yad Washem Bulletin, no. 1 (April 1957): 19ï20; Ainsztein, Jewish 

Resistance in Nazi-Occupied Eastern Europe, 450ï53; Na RubieŨy (Wrocğaw), no. 10 (1994): 10ï11 (Huta 

Werchodudzka); Na RubieŨy, no. 12 (1995): 7ï20 (Huta Pieniacka); Na RubieŨy, no. 54 (2001): 18ï29. Feiwel 
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Ukrainian police] all of the villagers of Huta Pieniacka and Huta Werchobuska were killed. Some of them were burned 

alive in a barn. The village was burned to the ground.ò Auerbachôs account can be found in the Archive of the Jewish 

Historical Institute (Warsaw), no. 301/1200. 

   A Jewish woman from Butrimonys (ButrymaŒce) recalled the widespread assistance of the local Polish minority in 

interwar Lithuanian territories: ñParankova [Parankowa] became known among us unfortunate Jews as a Polish hamlet 

where nobody would hand you over to the murderers; óto me Parankova is truly the Jerusalem of Lithuaniaô.ò See 

Rivka Lozansky Bogomolnaya, Wartime Experiences in Lithuania (London and Portland, Oregon: Vallentine Mitchell, 

2000), 75. See also If I Forget Theé: The Destruction of the Shtetl Butrimantz. Testimony by Riva Lozansky and Other 

Witnesses (Washington, DC: Remembrance Books, 1998), passim; and the testimony of Sarah Epstein (Sara Epshteyn) 

in Joshua Rubenstein and Ilya Altman, The Unkown Black Book: The Holocaust in the German-Occupied Soviet 

Territories (Bloomington and Indianapolis: Indiana University Press, in association with the United States Holocaust 

Memorial Museum, 2008), 297 (villages near Stakliġkǟs or Stokliszki). 
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and many Jews hiding in the forests did engage in banditry and other misdeeds which, from the perspective 

of the peasants, were indistinguishable from other forms of violent crime that plagued the countryside. 

Such activities were not, of course, the exclusive or even main domain of the Jews. Common banditry by 

individuals and various groups of diverse nationalities, sometimes partisans but often just masquerading as 

partisans (usually as Home Army or National Armed Forces members), abounded and constituted a serious 

problem for the impoverished civilian population.
110

 The Communist undergroundðboth Soviet and 

nativeðwas notorious for their robberies in the countryside. The association of Jews with these formations, 

who were understandably not welcomed by the population, only complicated matters for Jewish refugees 

hiding in the forests. 

   As Jewish survivors recall, Soviet marauders and partisans preyed on both Jewish fugitives and Polish 

villagers: 

 

é a group of comrades, who had left the ghetto [in Zambr·w], in order to join the partisans in the 

forests, came back home. This matter was kept in extreme secrecy, so that, God forbid, the news not 

pass to the Germans by way of an informer. One of the group was Yitzhak Prawda. The group went 

out of the ghetto well-dressed, shod, and provisioned with a sum of money. In the fields, they 
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encountered remnants of the Russian army, mostly Ukrainians. The Russians and Ukrainians bat 

them, took away their money, stripped them naked, and barefoot, and drove them away in shame, 

back to the Germans.111 

 

Wanka [Vanka Smirnov] described for us the group [of Soviet partisans], some were real robbers 

and killers. The two worst bandits were ñGrishkaò, who carried the heavy machine gun, and 

ñNicholaiò. Those two robbed, raped and killed all around the area of Treblinka and the rest just 

followed. Although some of these men were killers, others were not bad considering the 

circumstances. é Wanka thought that it would be best if we went to the Jews in Bransker [BraŒsk] 

forest because some of the men from this group were real killers. When farmers would not open 

doors for them, refuse to give them food or inform the Germans of their whereabouts, they would 

kill whole families and set fire to the farm. é 

   They [i.e., some of the Soviet partisans] told us what happened after we left the group in 

Hodiszewer [Hodyszewo] forest, that same night was a lot of drinking and killings. Nicholai the 

kolhaznik [kolkhoz labourer] saw how Grishka took from Haika her jewelry, a necklace, watch and 

wedding ring and then shot her and others. They then went to a polish [sic] farmer and killed the 

whole family. The killers were again Grishka and Nicolai the bandit and after the killings the group 

went to a forest near Dominowo. Polish people followed their footsteps and informed the Germans 

of their whereabouts. The Germans surrounded the forest and killed were the worst bandits from the 

group, Grishka with his machine gun, Nicholai the bandit, Nichodem and more, the rest ran away in 

different directions.112 

 

   A teenaged Jewish boy from the Warsaw ghetto who joined up with some Soviet partisans after escaping 

from a train headed for Treblinka recalled: 

 

One night we came upon a group of Jewish women hiding in a barn. The Russians ordered the 

Polish peasant to lay out plenty of hot, mashed potatoes, melted lard, sausages and vodka. The 

Jewish women, crouching with cold and fear, were invited to share in the feast. There were about 

eight of them who had escaped from nearby small-town ghettos; some came from Bransk [BraŒsk], 

others from Bielsk Podlaski. A few wore their best fur coats. They were silent and distrustful, but 

they soon warmed up after glasses of vodka which the Soviets insisted they down with them. 

   ñLetôs have some fun,ò the soldiers repeated. ñDeath to the Germans.ò 
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   Later, everyone buried himself in the fluffy hay in the large barn. 

   Food and drink filled my body and I fell asleep. 

   But during the night I half woke. I thought that I heard frantic whispers, accelerated breathing 

coming from several directions, deep moans and laughter. I even thought that I heard some Jewish 

voices praying and invoking Godôs mercy. But I was not sure. 

Next morning one of the women approached me. She had deep shadows under her eyes. 

   ñNu,ò she said, ñwhatôs a nice Jewish boy doing with a bunch of animalsðyou are Jewish, no?ò 

   ñWhat do you mean, óanimalsô?ò I retorted. ñListen, lady,òðI tried to take on the recalcitrance of 

a Gentile boy addressing a second-class citizenðñbetter watch what you are saying; these are my 

friends.ò 

   ñFriends? A choliere [cholera] should strike them,ò she swore in Yiddish. ñYou and your friends, 

takie, so now whatôs gonna happen when half these women get pregnant when theyôre on the run? 

Goteniu, Goteniu! [Dear God, my God!] Ha.ò 

   She shook her head, her sad eyes looking at me with tragic contempt. é I walked away quickly. 

   The Soviets left soon after that, first entering the forest in their customary tiralliere: each man 

walking several feet apart. Some two hours later, Petya and Alex, a pudgy partisan, stopped in the 

deep snow to relieve themselves. As Alex pulled his trousers down, he revealed his bloodstained 

long underwear. 

   ñLook, brother, got laid with a Jewess. Some great fucking, those Jewish women! Son of a bitch! 

You got laid all right?ò he asked, showing off his underthings. 

   ñDa, got fucked all right,ò smiled Petya. 

   ñLook at me,ò gloated Alex, ñson of a bitch! I got to fuck three of them. Two virgins. A real 

doubleheader. Yippee!ò 

   I looked away. I felt guilty and ashamed yet stirred with excitement and desire.113 

 

When the Soviet partisans learned that the teenaged boy was a Jew, they ejected him from their group. 

   Gangs of common criminals and oulaws also victimized the population indiscriminately. Michael 

(Mordechai or Mordka) Goldfarb, who escaped from Sobib·r, joined up with just such a gang in the 

vicinity of Wğodawa and began to rob with them in the vicinity. The gang was led by Misha Piontek, likely 

a Russian or Ukrainian, given his Russian-sounding first name, but described by Goldfarb as a Pole. The 

gang eventually turned on its Jewish members, killing seven of the ten escapees from Sobib·r in its ranks. 

 

Our group consisted of fourteen people, ten of whom were escapees from Sobibor [Sobib·r] and four 

Georgians who had escaped from the prison in Radom. After wandering in the forest we reached the 

village of Hola. We thought in this area there should be partisans and, indeed, after a short time we 

met a group of sixteen armed men under the leadership of a Pole, Miszka Piatek [spelled PiŃtek in 

Polish and pronounced PiontekðM.P.]. 

   They took us into their group and we remained together for about two weeks. However, we didnôt 

feel comfortable as they were common thieves and we sought a way to be rid of them. é One night 
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Miszka told us that we had to procure food and vodka. Five of us went out on the mission: three men 

from SobiborðYehuda [Leon] Lerner, Boris [Tarabinski], and Iðone Georgian and one of the men 

from the local group. We reached the village of Kolacze [Koğacze] and there we confiscated the food 

and liquor. é We returned to the forest, and at the first guard post of our camp we saw no one. We 

were surprised, especially when we saw that the second guard position was empty as well. We 

reached the camp. The fire was still burning and the people looked as if they were sleeping. We drew 

closer and saw that everyone had been killed. Six Jews and three Georgians were killed. Another Jew, 

Mendel the tailor, was wounded and asked that we kill him. We got away from the place quickly. We 

were afraid that Miszka was nearby and would shoot us. The local fellow who was with us 

disappeared immediately, and the Georgian also left us. We remained three wanderers. In the village 

of Kamien [KamieŒ], a farmer told us that nearby there was a group of Jewish partisans. é These 

were the people from the Jewish partisan unit of Yechiel Grynszpan. We fought there until the arrival 

of the Soviet army.114 

                                                           
114

 Yitzhak Arad, Belzec, Sobibor, Treblinka: The Operation of the Reinhard Death Camps (Bloomington: Indiana 

University Press, 1987), 346ï47. After the revolt in the Sobib·r death camp, the Germans undertook a large-scale 

search and pursuit action utilizing substantial forces numbering almost 1,000 men, as well as air force patrols, to 

capture the several hundred Jewish prisoners who managed to escape. The village heads were ordered to inform the 

residents that anyone helping the Jews would be killed. Ibid., 337, 342; Muzeum Byğego Obozu Hitlerowskiego 

Zagğady w Sobiborze, ñPoŜcig,ò Internet: <http://www.muzeum.wlodawa.metronet.pl/index_sobibor.htm>. Although 

Holocaust sources refer to Jewish escapees being turned in by Poles, according to prewar censuses, the population of 

the immediate vicinity of Sobib·r was overwhelmingly ethnic Ukrainian and of the Orthodox faith. Apart from the 

former Soviet POWs led by Aleksandr (ñSashaò) Pechersky, who headed eastward to join up with the Communist 

partisans (after taking money, gold, and jewels from the non-Soviet escapees and then abandoning them), the other 

escapees headed westward to areas populated by Poles where most of them originated. Apart from those mentioned in 

the text, other escapees from Sobib·r who survived with the help of Poles include: Fiszel Biağowicz (later Philip 

Bialowitz), Symcha Biağowicz (later Bialowitz), Leon Cymiel, Hersz Cukierman and his son, Chaim Engel and his 

wife, Selma (Saartje) Wijnberg, Leib Leon Feldhendler, Rywka Feldman (later Regina ZieliŒski), Mosze Hochman, 

Cathy Hooks (who died as a partisan), Abram (Avrum) Kohn, Josef Kopf, Salomea Leiner, Shmul (Samuel) Lerer, Eda 

Lichtman, Chaskiel Menche, Moszek Merenstein, Zelda Metz (Kelberman), Lejb Pochlebny and his brother-in-law, 

Heniek, Chaim Powroznik, Shlomo (Salomon) Podchlebnik, Lea Reisner (later Bialowitz), Hanel Salomea, Ursula 

Stern (Ilana Safran), J·zef Szerman, Shlomo (Stanisğaw) Szmajzner and two companions Yankiel and Majer (all three 

found shelter with a farmer in Tarnawa DuŨa), Ester Terner (Esther Raab), Kurt Ticho (Thomas), Adam Walk 

(formerly Avraham), Kalmen Wewryk, Meir Ziss. See Novitch, Sobibor, 102 (Lea Reisner-Bialowitz); Teresa 

Prekerowa, ñStosunek ludnoŜci polskiej do Ũydowskich uciekinier·w z oboz·w zagğady w Treblince, Sobiborze i 

BeğŨcu w Ŝwietle relacji Ũydowskich i polskich,ò Biuletyn Gğ·wnej Komisji Badania Zbrodni przeciwko Narodowi 

PolskiemuïInstytutu Pamiňci Narodowej, vol. 35 (1993): 110ï14, translated as ñThe Attitude of the Polish Population 

Towards Jewish Escapees from the Treblinka, Sobib·r, and BeğŨec Death Camps in Light of Jewish and Polish 

Testimonies,ò in Chodakiewicz, MuszyŒski, and Styrna, Golden Harvest or Hearts of Gold?, 97ï116; Gutman and 

Bender, The Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations, vol. 4: Poland, Part 1, 491ï92, 503, vol. 5: Poland, 

Part 2, 551, 691; Relacje z czas·w Zagğady Inwentarz / Holocaust Survivor Testimonies Catalogue, vol. 1, 10 (no. 

301/10, Salomon Podchlebnik, Josef Kopf), 15 (no. 301/14, Hersz Cukierman and his son), 164 (no. 301/458, Zelda 

Metz), vol. 3, 307 (no. 301/2785, Moszek Merenstein); Stanislaw Szmajzner, Inferno em Sobibor: A trag®dia de um 

adolscente judeu (Rio de Janeiro: Edi­»es Bloch, 1968), 296ï301; Arad, Belzec, Sobibor, Treblinka, 345ï46; Arnon 

Rubin, The Rise and Fall of Jewish Communities in Poland and Their Relics Today, volume II: District Lublin (Tel 

Aviv: Tel-Aviv University Press, 2007), 371, 379; Andrzej Potocki, Bieszczadzkie losy: Bojkowie i ŧydzi (Rzesz·w and 

Krosno: Apla, 2000), 171ï72; Andrew Zielinski, Conversations with Regina (Brighton, South Australia: n.p., 2003; 

Kent Town, South Australia: Wakefield Press, 2003); Mağgorzata Szlachetka, ñWywalczyli sobie wolnoŜĺ,ò Gazeta 

Wyborcza (Lublin), April 18, 2008; Adam Kopciowski, ñAnti-Jewish Incidents in the Lublin Region in the Early Years 

after World War II,ò in Holocaust: Studies and Materials, vol. 1 (2008): 190; Diatğowicki and Roszkowski, ŧydzi w 

walce 1939ï1945, vol. 1, 89ï90 (Moszek Merenstein), 210 (Zelda Metz), vol. 2, 263 (assistance from Poles in Cheğm); 

Gutman, The Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations: Rescuers of Jews During the Holocaust: 

Supplementary Volumes (2000ï2005), volume II, 609 (Avraham, later Adam Walk, Lejb Pochlebny and his brother-in-

law, Heniek); Testimony of Eda Lichtman, Yad Vashem Archives, file 03/1291, as cited in Wojciech Ğukaszun, 

ñRatunek czy niebezpieczeŒstwo? Obszary leŜne w Generalnym Gubernatorstwie jako miejsce schronienia ludnoŜci 



 75 

 

   After escaping from the ghetto in Wğodawa, Jakob Friedmann (then Rotenberg) ran into that same gang 

of criminals. Misha Piontek (PiŃtek), who was known as an armsô dealer, invited Friedmann to join his 

ñpartisanò group. Friedmann recalls: 

 

I agreed to join him; I had no alternative. There were five Poles, and I was the only Jew. Piontek 

[PiŃtek] gave me a Polish military gun which had had the barrel and stock sawn off é 

   I lived in the woods for a while with this group of Poles who were robbers rather than partisans. 

We began to rob people. About two weeks later when I saw a horse-drawn carriage approaching, I 

said, óLetôs go and hold them up.ô I knew that people travelling must have some money or 

valuables with them.115 

 

Fearful for his own life, Friedmann eventually left these ruffians and joined up with a Jewish unit affiliated 

with the Communist Peopleôs Guard. Friedmann learned that bandits such as Piontek (PiŃtek) did not 

discriminate among their victims. The partisans Freidman joined took action to eliminate this gang. 

 

We heard that this Michal Piontek [Michağ PiŃtek], who had made a lot of money from the Jews, 

was giving refuge to the Russian officers who had run away, providing them with food and vodka, 

and then he shot them all and stole any goods they had on them. 

   When I found this out I went with a small group of ten or twelve men to where Piontek was 

living. We surrounded the house and while he and his family were asleep we used bullets with 

phosphor tips, a kind of ammunition which would set fire to whatever it hit. We had machine guns 

all around the house and began firing. We heard screams but nobody could get out. No one 

survived.116 

 

   Criminal elements also posed a serious hazard for Jews hiding in the forests, but even they generally 

targeted Jewish fugitives for their possessions, and not because of their race or religion. These same 
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criminal elements often preyed on Poles as well. As the following Jewish account from the vicinity of 

BraŒsk illustrates, the conduct of those who preyed on Jews was by no means sanctioned by the local 

community: 

 

When I was working in the village of Lendowo, the people talked about Janka, that she was the 

village whore. She was greedy and for money she would do anything. For many years Janka had a 

boy friend Karik [Kazik?], who was the leader from a group of bandits who robbed and killed Jews 

who were hiding from the Germans. é When there were no more Jews, he organized the bandits to 

rob Polish farmers who were riding back with money from markets. He robbed them with a gun 

pretending to be Russian Partisans. Farmers recognized him é 

   In a certain night he went to the barn of the man from Skludy [Skğody Borowe] and hung him and 

then he married his widow é One evening Karikôs brother, Stasiec [Stasiek], came distressed to 

Pickutowska where Feigale was staying and he told her what he saw. He was riding back from the 

market in the dark, when he noticed a light was shining from the grave where the Jews were buried 

last week. He stopped and in the dark he quietly walked up to this place and he saw his brother 

Karik with Janka holding a lantern. They dug out the dead and were pulling out their teeth because 

they had gold fillings in them. Stasick Dombrowski [Stasiek DŃbrowski] was devastated to see how 

low his own brother had fallen. Stasick didnôt like to upset his parents by telling them about his 

brotherôs deplorable behavior and his greed. He rather came to Pickutowska who was religious and 

highly respected to tell her what weighed heavy on his mind.117 

 

   The Polish underground was sometimes called on to take measures against those who engaged in banditry 

regardless of their nationality. While wandering in the Cheğm area with fellow escapees from the Sobib·r 

death camp, Dov Freiberg (also known as Ber, Berl, Berek and Bolek Fraiberg) encountered acts of 

kindness from poor farmers, and sometimes hostility. (Holocaust literature stresses the hostility, and pays 

scant attention to the extensive assistance provided by many Poles.) The sporadic violence he witnessed 

was generally the work of gangs of criminals lurking in the forests. Freiberg and Semen Rosenfeld 

(Semyon Rozenfeld) met up with two brothers from Cheğm, Yozhik and Monyek Serchuk, who had built a 

bunker for themselves in the forest. Reluctant to part with the gold coins they had taken with them from 

Sobib·r, the fugitives resorted to stealing from local farmers and eventually joined a gang of violent Polish 

criminals who robbed the peasants mercilessly. In desperation, and quite understandably, some of the 

victims turned to the Polish underground and, separately, to the German authorities for protection. The 

leaders of this gang of robbers eventually met their well-deserved demise: 

 

Some of the people in the group had prepared supplies. I had a little bag of gold coins in one pocket 

and a few bullets in the other. é  
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   The four fellows bearing arms approached one of the houses. The farmer refused to open the door, 

but after they threatened to blow up his house, he obeyed. He gave them two big loaves of bread, 

some butter and some onions é  

   The next evening, our lads returned to the farmerôs house and again got more food by threatening 

him. é  

   When we got to the house, we found a large-boned, middle-aged woman. When she saw us, she 

paled. She looked at us in shock é ñYou are the ones who escaped from Sobibor [Sobib·r] é 

Good God, the Germans are searching for you everywhere. Get away from here, quickly!ò é After 

a few minutes, three men appeared, two adults and a younger man, with pitchforks and an ax in 

their hands, and from a distance they cursed us and threatened to kill us if we didnôt leave at once. 

We started to back off. é The villagers ran after us a bit, then stopped after they made sure that we 

were going. Semmen cursed those Poles and told us how he had gone with two of his friends a few 

days ago, with weapons, to ask for food, and how the farmer and his wife had given them bread and 

butter and even wished them luck. ñIf I had a gun, I would have killed all of the people who just 

chased us away [but did not harm usðM.P.],ò he said. é 

   We went down toward the valley and we neared the edge of the forest, where we saw a farmer 

plowing his field é Suddenly I saw a sack lying under a tree. The three of us walked over to it, 

opened it and found a big loaf of bread é It weighed about three kilos. There was also a big chunk 

of cheese, and next to the sack, there was a jug of milk. éWe grabbed the sack and ran off as fast 

as we could. é 

   At twilight we got up and walked to the house. As we approached, we heard the farmer working 

in the granary. é The old man looked at us, and without asking who we were and where we had 

come from, said: ñDonôt worry. You wonôt leave my house hungry.ò He called to his wife and said, 

ñMother, prepare a lot of food for supper. We have three guests and they are hungry.ò  

   The farmer finished preparing food for his single cow and told us to stay in the granary until he 

called us. ñYou understand,ò he said, ñwe have to be very careful these days.ò After about an hour, 

the farmer came out of the house, strode back and forth, looking and listening, and then came over 

to us and invited us into the hut. It was very old and small, only one room, which was a living room, 

bedroom and kitchen. The roof was made of straw. We could see signs of poverty by the light of the 

oil lamp, which was standing on the table and lit the room éWe sat down unceremoniously at the 

table and the woman brought us bowls of hot soupða milk-based soup with potatoes, pieces of 

dough and onion. é The bowls were big and they were full, but we ate everything quickly and the 

woman refilled our bowls é We stayed seated and told our hosts about Sobibor, about the revolt, 

and about what had happened to us since we left the camp. The farmer listened closely, sat for a few 

moments absorbed in thought, then finally said: ñThe war will be over soon. The Germans are being 

defeated and in retreat. We have to hold out until then. I will hide you. Weôll build a bunker inside 

the granary and you can be there during the day. Iôll bring you bread. Whatever we eat, you will 

eat!ò é 

   Suddenly there was a knock at the door. The three of us hid. One of the neighbors had come to 

announce that on the following day, the Germans would come to the village to take das Kontigentð

the tax allocation that the Germans had imposed on the farmers. Afterward the farmer looked 

embarrassed and apologized, but said that he could not hide us if the Germans were coming. é 
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   We got up to leave, but the old man asked us to stay a while longer, because they had no bread in 

the house at the moment and he wanted to send his wife out to borrow bread. He also sent his son 

out on an errand. The woman came back with two big loaves of bread, and his son brought bottles 

of milk. é When we were about to part, I took out some gold coins that I wanted to give the old 

farmer, but he refused to take them. é 

   The time we spent with the old farmer encouraged us, and the following days were lucky as well. 

We were able to get food, usually at a high price é  

   One day, we passed a solitary house, which appeared to be empty. When we approached it, an old 

couple came toward us and invited us to come in and eat. Our hosts, who seemed to be poor, didnôt 

look like farmers. é It turned out that they were Polish refugees from Poznan [PoznaŒ]. We stayed 

with them until late at night. The man taught us how to find our way at night. é 

   [Later they ran into another group of Jewish who had escaped from Sobib·r.] At the beginning, 

they were a large group, but then they split up. Most of them had gone eastward, planning to cross 

the Bug River, and these men had gone in the direction of Chelm [Cheğm], led by Shaya the 

gardener, who had known the area, where he hoped they could find a hiding place in one of the 

villages whose farmers they knew in exchange for the abundance of money they had. On the way, 

they had been joined by two Dutch Jews, and by two brothers, Yozhik and Monyek Serchuk, who 

had been in the forest for more than a year. é Their whole family had hidden in the village with a 

farmer, but another farmer had informed on them and the Germans had come and taken them away. 

Only Yozhik and Monyek were left. Their parents had had a shop selling chicken in Chelm. é 

   Yozhik and Monyek had built a bunker for themselves in the woods where they could live 

through the winter. é When the first group from Sobibor arrived, the two brothers had given them 

the bunker é At night, Yozhik would buy food from the farmers for the whole group. The people 

from Sobibor had money, and Chaim, the jeweller, had taken a large amount of gold. Yozhik would 

usually go alone, but occasionally Monyek would go with him; very infrequently, they would take 

someone from the group to help them carry sacks of food from the villages. é 

   Yozhik had good connections in all of the villages. He knew every farmer and he knew who was 

trustworthy. He also had contacts with Jews who were hiding with farmers, including his uncle, 

aunt and their child, and another uncle who had been alone since the Germans had killed his family. 

é 

   Finally, we stopped not far from a large, isolated farm, a short distance from the town. Yozhik 

said: ñI knew this farmer well before the war. Heôs a good man. His name is Karpiuk. You wait here 

I'll check out the area and quiet the dog. I'll hide you in the granary, and in the morning I'll speak to 

the farmer ï maybe we can find a place to hide with him.ò 

   When I awoke in the morning é the farmer soon entered. He was surprised to see Yozhik and 

Monyek, but immediately embraced and kissed them, speaking to them warmly. é  

   In the meantime, Yozhik had begun to attempt to convince the farmer to let us stay under his roof 

until winter had passed. He suggested that we hide in the cellar under the house, but the farmer 

didnôt agree to that. When Yozhik suggested that we build a bunker under the granary, the farmer 

refused that, as well. He then proposed that we build a bunker outside the limits of his farm. Finally, 

it was decided that we would build a bunker in the corner of the yard, near the pigpen. é  
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   The digging of the bunker presented difficulties from the outset. It was hard to dig in the frozen 

ground, and after we had overcome that obstacle, we reached an upper layer of groundwater, which 

put an end to our attempts. Karpiuk called us together and reiterated that he would like to help us, 

but he couldnôt keep us in his home, as he would be endangering his whole family. He suggested we 

find a place to hide, and from time to time we could come to his house to get food and anything else 

we might need. é Karpiuk brought us some food, and we took leave of him and his family on good 

terms and went out into the night. é 

   We kept walking we could distinguish a small house. é [Yozhik announced;] ñTwo women and a 

small child are living in the house. They are very poor and they have nothing to eat. I promised 

them that, if I stayed with them, they would eat like queens, and that from now on, they would lack 

for nothing. They are willing to do anything.ò é 

   As night was falling, we heard a knock on the door. é It was her brother, who had come to visit. 

é a tall young man in his twenties, wearing a faded leather coat and high boots, and his shoulder he 

carried a rifle with a short barrel and butt, which could be hidden under a coat. Yula hurried to 

introduce her brother, Stashek, and we shook hands éAfter a few glasses of vodka had been drunk 

é the atmosphere became lighter and conversation flowed until, at a certain moment, the guest 

asked us if we would be ready to join him in a small burglary that he and his friend Vladek were 

planning to carry out. Yozhik answered without hesitation that we would be ready to participate in 

any burglaryðand glasses were raised to celebrate the new partnership. é Stashek said that we 

would soon meet his friends, Pan Folka and Bronek, who were ñgreat guys.ò The guest then told us 

that he had his eye on a small farm belonging to two old people and their daughter. ñThere isnôt too 

much to take, but they have a pig thatôs not bad, and geese, and thatôs what we need right now. 

Their hut is some distance from the village, and the work will be easy, but we need a few men to 

carry it outðtwo or three can catch the pig, kill it and cur it up into pieces, and two will keep a 

lookout for unwanted visitors. And then, they will help us carry the pig, as itôs quite a long way.ò 

   ñWe will be there,ò said Yozhik éIt was agreed that on one of the following evenings, Stashek 

would come, accompanied by his friend Vladek, and the whole group would go together to carry 

out the small robbery. é After Yulaôs brother left, we continued to sit and drink with the two 

women. é Yanka and Yula were surprised that we had never heard of Pan Folka. ñHeôs famous. 

Heôs the greatest burglar in the whole area. Even before the war, the authorities offered a large prize 

for anyone who could lead to his capture. Heôs always the commander,ò said Yanka 

enthusiastically. é 

   ñI'll tell you about Bronek,ò said Yula. ñThat bastard was once a respected man, but he has hot 

blood, and when the blood rises to his head, he gets involved in brawls. Once, during the wedding 

in the village, a quarrel broke out. Bronek, was involved, as usual. One of the young men insulted 

Bronek, and Bronek doesnôt like being insulted. He grabbed the young man and cut off his finger 

with a knife, in front of everyone. The young man who was cut belonged to a rich and powerful 

family, and Bronek had to leave the area for a long time. After more than half a year, when it 

seemed as though the incident of the finger had been forgotten, there was another wedding in the 

village. Bronek arrived éThe young man whose finger had been cut off and his family were at the 

wedding, too. é But during the dancing the family of the young man whose finger had been cut off 

got up an attacked Bronek é they cut off three fingers of his hand. That night Bronek swore to 
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have his revenge in the family. He waited a long time, until his wounds healed, and then bought a 

gun and practiced shooting é When he was ready, he set a trap in the forest, near the path leading 

from the village to Chelm. In the evening, by the light of a full moon, when he saw the family 

returning from the fair in Chelm, he killed them allðthe father, the mother, two sons and the wife 

of one of them, and two horses. From that day, Bronek has been wanted by the police throughout 

the area, living in hiding é He became friendly with Folka and now, he is a thief, as well.ò  

   We werenôt told very much about Vladek, the third in the group or burglars. Yula just said that the 

guy had been born unlucky and had never succeeded in anything he tried. When he tried to steal 

chickens, he was caught, beaten, and sent to prison. When he managed to rob a farmer and leave his 

house with the haul, he had been shot by the farmer and his leg wounded. é 

   é we had never dreamed that their home was a hideout for burglars and murderers. é 

   One evening. Stashek and his friend Vladek, who was an older man of about forty with a terrible 

limp, came to the house, and Yozhik, Monyek and Semmen went out with them to commit the 

robbery. é 

   The five arrived back late that night, laden with sacks on their backs é ñWe have geese in the 

sacks,ò said Yozhik to the women. é As it turned out, everything had gone well. They reached the 

farm but decided not to enter the house. Two of the guarded the house and the others entered the 

pigpen to kill the pig. But the pig got away from them and ran outside. é So they went into the 

poultry enclosure where the geese were, slaughtered them and put them into the sacks. At this point, 

the farmer had awakenedðperhaps from the honking of the geeseðand came outside to see what 

was going on. Monyek and Vladek, who had been guarding the house, caught him, went into the 

house with him, ordered his wife and daughter out of bed and made them all lie down on the floor. 

The farmer was not rich. There werenôt many objects of value in his house that had been worth 

taking. Nevertheless, Vladek and Stashek took everything they could carryðclothing, the farmerôs 

boots, the top of a sewing machine. Stashek suggested that we divide up what they had taken, but 

Yozhik replied that we could do without the clothes; we would be satisfied with the geese. 

   The late-night feast that was served was wonderful. The organ meats of the geese were delicious. 

During the meal, Stashek remarked, ñIt doesnôt matter that tonight wasnôt a total success. What is 

important is that we are a good team and that together we cab do great things. Weôll plan the next 

job, to steal a pig, soon, and this time he wonôt get away from me.ò Before a week had passed, 

Stashek and Vladek appeared again, ready for action. ñBoys, weôre going out on a job,ò said 

Stashek. ñAnd this time, I picked a good farm. There are a few pigs there. One minus is that the 

farm is inside the village, but the village is close to the forest, and we have an easy walk.ò He 

seemed excited and added, ñThis time weôll need the boy.ò é  

   We reached the forest and walked along the outskirts. Stashek stopped, explained that we were 

close to the village and that this would be our meeting place after the job, whether we had 

succeeded or failed. He divided up the tasks among us: he, Vladek and Yozhik would go into the 

pigpen and slaughter the pig; Monyek, Semmen ans I would keep guard on the house. We moved 

on and passed a few farms that stood at some distance from each other. Although it was still early in 

the evening, the village was completely silent and we didnôt see the gleam of a light in any of the 

houses. We stopped by the house which that had been targeted, and Stashek went on ahead to calm 

the dogðhe had a way with themðand after a few minutes he returned and sent Monyek to guard 
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at the back of the house, placed Semmen at the door, and I was to stand at the window. Stashek, 

Yozhik and Vladek, armed with two rifles, entered the pigpen and we stood guard, holding only 

sacks in our hands. é 

   Suddenly I heard steps. I turned and saw someone walking toward the door, where Semmen was 

standing, his back up against the wall. Semmen jumped on the man with a quick movement, put the 

sack he had been holding over the manôs head and struggled with him, grasping with both hands. é 

The man had freed himself, taken out a knife and stabbed Semmen in the back, luckily a superficial 

wound, and began shouting, ñRobbers! Robbers!ò 

   From inside the house, someone had gone up to the attic and was shouting, ñHelp! Robbers!ò At 

that moment, we heard the chimes of the church. Stashek shot twice in the direction of the attic and 

the calls for help ceased. He told us to get away, abd we ran in the direction of the forest; behind us 

was the sound of bells, the shouts of people and the squealing of the pigs that had escaped the pen. 

é  

   Twice we had gone out on an important mission and twice we had failed. Getting our hands on a 

pig was imperative, as it would supply us with meat and oil for the rest of the winter. é All of a 

sudden Yozhik said, ñItôs not too late. I know of a rich farm, isolated, far away from the village, and 

there are pigs there. We could go there now. Weôve learned from our mistakes. Iôm sure that weôll 

be able to get hold of a pig; we canôt go home without one.ò 

   Stashek agreed without a momentôs hesitation. We walked for a few more kilometers until we 

reached the farm. It really did appear to be prosperous. There was a family home, two stories high, 

its tin roof galvanized, which was a rarity in the area. The yard was very large and contained a 

granary, shelter for the poultry, and barns. This Vladek and Semmen guarded the house, armed with 

rifles, and Monyek was with them, unarmed. I had no special job so I went back and forth between 

them. In the pigpen, there were five medium-sized pigs. This time, Stashek and Yozhik were able to 

kill a pig quickly and I was sent to bring sacks. I went into the granary, where sacks of grain were 

piled. I emptied the contents of one of the sacks, and I brought it to the pen, but after everything had 

been cut up and packed, Stashek and Yozhik decided to kill another pig. I took everything that was 

packed and ready to a spot some distance from the house, and I was left to stand guard while the 

four others returned to slaughter another pig. Unlike the first robbery, during which I had been 

trembling with fear, for some reason I was now calm and relaxed; even though I was guarding 

alone, I was not afraid. é When I heard the sudden squeal of a pig and then a return to silence, I 

knew that the second pig had been killed. A short time later, I saw the others coming toward me. 

   It was late and we still had fifteen kilometers to walkðwith the heavy burden of two slaughtered 

pigs and a sack full of geese, we couldnôt hope to get home by morning. é 

   We spent the next day eating until we were completely satiated. We were all happy and in good 

spirits. The night, which had begun as a complete failure, had ended in complete success. Stashek 

could not stop praising Yozhik, saying again and again that we were his best friends, and he spoke 

of our operations to come. é Now they decided to find me a purely Polish name é it was 

unanimous that I be renamed ñBolek.ò é 

   é who could have imagined that we would join a band of thieves? Robbery had always seemed 

to me such an act of cruelty and thieves were monsters, but I had participated in a burglary with no 

feeling of wrongdoing. In fact, everything had seemed simple and had even given me pleasure. é 



 82 

   And then, late one evening, after we had gone to bed, we heard people outside é Folka, Bronek, 

with his cut fingers, and Stashek had arrived by surprise é I knew who Bronek was immediately 

when I saw his right hand, which was missing a finger. He was in his twenties, short, with a 

constant smile. Pan Folka appeared to be over forty, of medium height, chubby with a small 

potbelly. He was dressed in a short leather coat and fine quality boots, and, in addition to a rifle, he 

carried a pistol under his coat. He looked serious and boastful and he gave the impression of 

complete authorityðBronek and Stashek looked like messenger boys next to him. 

   é Yozhik quickly became friendly with Folka, and the two sat together in a corner of the room 

and decided to go out on several robbery jobs in the coming days. é 

   A few days later after the meeting with Folka and Bronek, the enlarged gang, under the direction 

of Folka, began to go out on jobs at least once, and sometimes twice a week. The robberies were 

committed in a wide area é At first I was embarrassed just sitting at home and waiting for my 

friends to return late at night, relating their experiences and what they had taken in the robbery. 

Although I wasnôt too enthusiastic about stealing, any my health was still badðmy leg hadnôt 

healed, I found it hard to walk, and the scabies were al over my bodyðI wanted to be an equal 

partner with my friends in everything they did, good or bad, and not be a child who had everything 

done for him. So I begged Yozhik to convince Folka to let me join the band, and, in the end, he 

agreed. 

   From the first job I took part in with Folka, I could clearly see the difference in the quality of 

command. You could feel that an experienced man with leadership ability was directing the 

operation. From the moment we set out, no one felt the need to say anything. Folka led us calmly 

and with self-confidence. When we reached the house, he quietly gave directions to each of us; his 

orders were clear and unequivocal, and everything was done quickly. Folka had checked on all the 

details and, after surrounding the house with guards, he and Yozhik knocked at the door and 

ordered the people inside to open it. This wasnôt done immediately, and Folka gave a signal to 

Bronek and Stashek, who broke a window with the barrel of a rifle and jumped in, opening the door 

from the inside and hitting anyone who got in their way. The members of the family were gathered 

into one corner, and Bronek and Yozhik went through the rooms, checked whether anyone was 

hiding, returned and reported to Folka that the house was secured. 

   I looked at the familyða husband, wife, and four children of various ages, and one old man, 

huddling in the corner and trembling with fear, and a scene passed through my mind: the first days 

of the war. We were standing in the corner of the roomðmy mother, my sister, my little brother 

Yankele and Iðhuddling together; a German in a brown uniform had his pistol aimed at us, 

guarding us, and I was trembling with fear é 

   The job proceeded. The door of the cellar, which was in the floor of the room, was removed and 

the members of the family were forced down, one by one. Bronek took a gold ring off of the wifeôs 

finger and she burst into tears, but wordlessly went down into the cellar. Folka took the farmer 

aside, spoke to him quietly and abruptly slapped him twice. The farmer led Folka to the next room 

and the two of them returned with a package of animal skins, and Folka forced him down into the 

cellar, as well. Everything was done in a few minutes, with perfect organization, like well-oiled 

machinery. Stashek bridled the horse and hitched it to the wagon, bringing it to the door of the 

house, and we wandered through the house, taking everything of value, clothes, boots, processed 
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skins, pork steaks, a sack of flour, a few chickens that we managed to catchðand we loaded 

everything on the farmerôs wagon and left as quietly as we had come. The farmer and his family 

were left in the cellar. We put heavy furniture over the door in the floor. Who knew when the 

neighbors would discover what had happened and would discover what had happened and would 

free them from the cellar? 

   é On the way back, we stopped and Folka asked us what we wanted as our take from the haul. 

He knew, of course, that we had no need for the familyôs possessions, and we were satisfied with 

presents for Yanka and Yula, and with some of the pork. We parted as friends and went home.  

   Our band carried out one robbery after another among the area farmers. On market days, we used 

to set up an ambush along the road, close to the forest; when a wagon passed by, coming home from 

the market, we would jump out, make the people get out and take the wagon with everything in it.  

   One robbery that horrified me in particular was carried out against one of the richest of the 

farmers two days before his daughterôs wedding. The house was very far and we reached it late at 

night, but the family in the house had not yet gone to bed. There was light in the house and we 

could hear the voices of people through the window. The door wasnôt locked and we entered the 

house easily. The house was warm, with odors of freshly baked goods that had just come out of the 

oven. The whole family was awake, and as we burst in, their ruddy faces paled. As usual, Folka 

took swift control of everything. After some perfunctory blows, the family was herded into the 

cellar. Bronek and Stashek were in good humor. Bronek grabbed the bride, pulled her against him 

and tried to kiss her. The girl resisted and was slapped. The groom tried to defend her, but was also 

struck and then thrown into the cellar. Pan Folka stood like a proud father watching the antics of his 

children. Bronek dragged the bride over to a bed that stood in the corner of the room. The girl 

struggled and shouted, ñTake everything, just leave me alone!ò But Bronek hit her again, and raped 

her. Then Stashek raped her, as well. 

   Sometimes I found justification for the robberies we carried outðwhy should only the Jews 

suffer? Let these non-Jews get a taste of our suffering. I saw our deeds as a kind of retribution for 

the ñPolacksò who had helped to destroy the Jews [emphasis added], but I couldnôt stomach the 

cruelty of Bronek and his friend, Stashek, and the suffering of the girl. é I began taking things out 

of the house, running to and fro insanely. 

   We emptied the house of everything that had been prepared for the wedding. We loaded crates of 

excellent vodka onto the wagon, along with sides of smoked meat, baked goods and sweets of all 

kinds, and we left in a wagon that was filled to capacity. For a long while, I kept hearing the creams 

and sobs of the bride and reliving the scene of Bronek with his pants pulled down.  

   We came home laden down with treats, but our heats were burdened with terrible feelings. We 

didnôt exchange a word on the way home. We had shamed ourselves. We had seen our partners in 

the robbery at their cruellest, and we had cooperated in their horrible deeds. With what speed we 

had passed from one side to the other, from the robbed to the robbers! But we could think of no way 

to end this partnership before the summer, when we could go back to living in the forests. And, on 

the other hand, we were living comfortably in our present situation; we had gotten through the hard 

winter peacefully, in a warm house, eating our fill. And Folka, Bronek and Stashek had treated us as 

equalsðwe never heard them use the word ñJew.ò  
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   The next evening Folka, Bronek and Stashek came to visit, and a party began which went on all 

night. é 

   One day, Bronek came to visit and asked Yozhik to come with him to a party he had been invited 

to. é Yozhik returned that night and said that when they had arrived, they had been received 

warmly and given drinks, but there was something suspicious in the way the guests were 

behavingðhe noticed that they were waiting for other guests. ñAnd my heart told me,ò he related, 

ñthat something was going to happen. I warned Bronek and we left. The others tried to block our 

way, but he threatened them with Bronekôs rifle and with the knife I had, and we managed to get 

away.ò 

   Some time later, we found out that the Polish Armia Krajowaðright-wing partisans who were 

operating against the Germans é had had a unit operating in our area that had issued a death 

sentence for Bronek, and a few days later, they trapped him. They had given him a short field trial 

and hanged him on a tree along the main road é and posted a sign on his body announcing that he 

was being punished for ñtreason to the homeland.ò When we heard that Bronek had been killed, we 

fled into the forest. We were afraid that his murderers had managed to force him into giving 

information about us before he was hanged. 

   Two days passedðand then Stashek burst into the house and told us with tears in his eyes that 

Pan Folka had been killed. é he said that he had gone to meet Folka at the home of one of his 

mistresses, but when he had reached her village, he had been told that at dawn, policemen from the 

neighboring towns had arrived and had surrounded the house, calling on him to come out and give 

himself up. Folka opened fire on the police. There was a long battle, and at some point Folka 

jumped from the back window of the house and tried to get away, but the house was completely 

surrounded. As he ran, he was was shot, wounded and fell to the ground. He continued to fight, 

wounded, until he had used up his bulletsðbut he reserved the last bullet for himself. He shot 

himself in the head, and died. Four policemen had been killed. It was later said that one of his 

mistresses had informed on him in retribution for having left her. 

   We were in shock. Folka had been killed! It had only been a week since Bronek had been killed! 

Stashek was miserable. Folka and Bronek had been his only friends on earth. He was on bad terms 

with everyone in his villageðeveryone hated himðand now he didnôt have anywhere to go. He 

went from village to village, took part in every brawl and got himself into every dangerous situation 

he could. é in the end, the Ukrainians caught him and threw him alive into a burning house. He 

was burned to death and no one cared. After Folka and Bronek had dies, Stashek had become 

superfluous and we, who had wanted to be rid of them all and to sever our relationship with the 

thieves, were freed from them all within a month. Our feeling toward them were mixed. On the one 

hand, they had always been fair with us é and we had even felt friendly toward them; but on the 

other hand, their merciless cruelty had greatly troubled usðthey treated human life as if it were 

worthless.118 
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   Kalmen Wewryk provides a fascinating description of his travails as he roamed the countryside in the 

vicinity of his home town of Cheğm after his escape from the Sobib·r death camp. His account gives us 

considerable insight into the mentality of the peasants, their generosity, their reaction to violent robberies, 

and the turmoil, suspicion, and fear that permeated everyday life under the German occupation. 

 

My running brought me to a Polish hamlet. A Polish-speaking man with a gun accosted me. I 

started to cry. He turned out to be a decent man, however. He took pity on me, and told me where 

to hide. I followed his directions, went into a forest and made a hide-out. é I was there for about 2 

weeks é 

   I was, however, tormented by my intense desire to find and join the partisans, and this desire 

pushed me to leave that forest. é So, hiding in ditches, I left that forest refuge é I saw a farmer in 

a wagon driving down a dirt road, so I approached him. é I asked this farmer, ñDo you know 

where I can find partisans?ò é He said, ñGo ahead over there. The hamlet is called Teryesheen 

[Teresin]. An old woman living in the first house will help you. Some Jews are hiding in the 

hamlet. é 

   When I found the house I noticed an old woman sitting by the fire. She asked me who I was. I 

told her, ñIôm a Jew. Iôve been told you can help me find the partisans. I want to join them.ò The 

house was a very primitive one and the interior reeked of poverty. The old woman asked me all 

about my background, my experiences. é A 16 or 17 year old girl came over to me and started to 

talk to me. She seemed to be a typical peasant girl, but I figured out after a while that she was 

Jewish. I spoke to her in Yiddish, but she answered only in Polish. She evidently refused to believe 

my story and, as she told me later, she thought I was a provocateur, an agent sent to ferret her out. I 

still had my family photos in my pocket é She now believed me. She gave me some potatoes to 

eat and told me that I must not be seen in that house. She led me to another area of the hamlet and 

hid me in an abandoned stable. She said that she would, that very night, contact her father Moishe 

and tell him about me. 

   Late that night Moishe and his brother came to the stable. They told me that they were part of a 

family of 5 Jews in hiding. é Everybody in the hamlet knew that this family was hiding, but 

nobody knew where and they didnôt want to know where. Moishe told me how they were loved in 

that hamletðthere were decent people there. Moishe gave me a roll of bread to eat and told me 

directly that I couldnôt hide with them. They had problems enough of their own without a 

ñSobiboruò [the nickname given by the peasants to Wewryk, an escapee from Sobib·r] attracting 

more attention to them. é Moishe wished me good luck and slipped out. é I learned that they 

remained alive by stealing at night, ñvisitingò neighboring hamlets. é  

   I reached a nearby hamlet and approached a house to beg for food. This was a hamlet inhabited 

by Baptists é So every day I went to a different peasant and begged for food. They gave me small 

amounts of food and begged me not tell the neighbors. Every single one of them was living in 

terror é Their terror was contagiousðI was afraid to stay in that hamlet so I returned to 

Teryesheen and hid in another ruined Jewish house. At night, when I went to beg for food, I ran 

into somebody from Moisheôs family. é He said that the peasants were only out to scare me and 
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chase me away é They were afraid that Germans would come and burn the whole hamlet to the 

ground. é 

   As I plodded along I heard wood being cut far off in the forest. é I saw a young boy, dressed like 

a typical peasant lad. He looked to be around 13 or 14 years old. He became very, very frightened 

when I drew near. é I started to speak to him in Polish, and as I spoke I saw him becoming more 

and more uneasy. Then, on impulse, I switched to Yiddish; the color returned to his face and he 

smiled. é 

   The boy returned a short while later and led me to a deep hidden bunker made of wood. é There 

were 2 small children with her in the bunker. The boy I had found, Mendele, carried a rifle as did 

his 16 year old brother who was away at the time. There was ham and pork in that bunker; it was 

full of food. The mother told me to take whatever food I wanted; she was obviously afraid of me. 

She asked me very nervously how I had managed to find her son. She wanted to know if somebody 

had told me about this family in the woods. é 

   As if to show me that she was not a vulnerable woman, she told me that she had a husband 

nearby, named Isack. When she said that it rang a bell. He went around with a 10 or 12 man band to 

rob food, clothing, etc., from the area peasants. I had heard of him because many of the peasants 

spoke of ñNasha Isackò (our Isack). He used to rob the peasants white. He had a horrible reputation 

among them. They used to tell me: ñSobiboru, let Isack ask us for foodðweôll give him! But why 

does he come with his gang and rob us like that? Heôs a bloody thief!ò Others had told me: ñOur 

Isack, our friend from the pre-war yearsðhow could he come and rob us at gunpoint like that?ò 

Isack came from that area and he was well-known to all. Whatever his gang could steal they stole. 

His wife, as if to justify her husband and her sons, told me that from time to time they went on 

punitive expeditions to area peasants who had betrayed Jews. Her older son had returned to the 

bunker by now, so I told him and his brother that I wanted to join them. They told me straight off 

that they didnôt want me. é The woman told me to take as much food as I wanted. They had 

enough to spare, she said. I took some food from her but I didnôt want to overload myself. ... So I 

said goodbye to all of them, thanked them for the food and left. é 

   I found a hut in the woods. é When the food was finished I went out at night to return to the 

bunker. I found it easily, but it was completely deserted. é The bunker had obviously been 

abandoned. é 

   So I resumed wandering, searching for food. é  

   After five or six days I ran into Isackôs sons in the woods. They were well armed. I told them that 

I had gone to look for them in their bunker and had found it abandoned and deserted. I begged them 

to let me come to them from time to time, I promised that I would not abuse their hospitality é 

However, they absolutely refused to tell me where their new bunker was. They told me that they 

had abandoned the old bunker the night after I had come to it. They hadnôt trusted me. This is how 

it was thenðeverybody looked out for his or her own skin. é This is what the war did to ordinary 

peopleðturned them into egotistical and suspicious animals. I begged the two boys for a gun but 

they laughed at me. Finally, one said that, for gold, he would give me a gun. I still had a few pieces 

of my wifeôs jewelry, so I gave them the jewelry and they sold me a rifle. When they got up to 

leave I wanted to accompany them but they refused to allow it. 
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   I returned to the straw hut, spent several days there, and started to make the rounds of the hamlets 

where I had previously been given bread. Now that I had the rifle I even went to a hamlet where I 

had been refused bread. I smeared my face with black dust, as a disguise. And yet some peasants 

recognized me immediately. They called me ñSobiboru.ò I would point the rifle through the 

window but it didnôt seem to bring me success. Some of the peasants laughed at me, even though 

the rifle was pointed straight at them. One said: ñAh, Sobiboru, we know you! What are you 

pointing a gun at us for? You wouldnôt shoot usðyou know that.ò I returned, hungry, to my hiding 

place. 

   The next night I returned, without the rifle, to that same hamlet. That peasant who had spoken to 

me the previous night, said: ñSobiboru, youôre lucky! If you would have returned with that damn 

rifle, Iôd kill you!ò Hereôs a chunk of bread. Eat in peace. We are Baptists here and we have 

sympathy for a fellow human being in distress. If you come with a gun we wonôt give you a thing 

and weôll defend ourselves. But if you beg us for bread weôll give you. Even with your smeared 

face we knew it was you! And we know youôre not a murderer. But bandit robbers we donôt like. 

We know how to handle them.ò He even gave me a big glass of milk. I was very bedraggled and 

weak, so he had pity on me. I thanked him profusely and left.  

   About a week later I had a particularly settling experience. I was holed up in the straw hut, fast 

asleep, when I felt myself being prodded awake by a rifle butt. I looked up and saw Isackôs two 

sons glaring down at me. The 16 year old said to me: ñOK, Sobiboru, whereôs the rifle?ò I told him 

that I had bought it from them fair and square, and I had paid for it with my wifeôs precious 

jewelry. é The two boys laughed at my pleading. I then told them that I had left the rifle with a 

peasant for safekeeping. They didnôt believe me, and the 16 year-old said: ñMendele, search the 

place.ò It took Mendele less than 5 minutes to find the rifle while his brother kept me covered with 

his own rifle. They laughed when they found the gun and dashed out of the straw hut. I was once 

again defenseless. And the way I had been treated like that by fellow Jews pained me greatly. é 

Besides, I had heard that, to be accepted by partisans, one had to have oneôs own rifle. So that rifle 

represented my passport to the partisans é And now I had lost that passport. This incident left me 

deeply depressed. é 

   I saw a Kolonia house [loosely grouped houses] near a forest and went over to an elderly peasant 

standing near it. When I told him that I had come from the death camp Sobibor he became very 

frightened é He was a poor man but he brought some bread and water é He told me that his son-

in-law was a shoemaker so I showed him my ripped shoes. The old peasant took my shoes and said 

he would take them to his son-in-law, who lived nearby. He left and returned some hours later with 

my shoes repaired. I kissed him from gratitude. é [Wewryk stayed with the peasant in the attic of 

his cottage but looked for food to supplement his diet.] 

   Every night, when I went hunting for food, I asked the peasants if they knew anything of 

partisans in the area. I once came into a house and there were some armed Jews there who had 

come for food. These armed Jews didnôt want to tell me where they were hiding out. They didnôt 

want to have anything to do with me. é I begged these armed Jews to allow me to join them; I 

asked for their mercy, but it was all to no avail. 

   The peasants of the next hamlet I went to, Aleezoof [Alojz·w] é gave me milk to drink and a 

large loaf of bread. é 
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   I moved on to a hamlet I had visited before, Aleezoof. é The inhabitants of the first house I 

approached told me they had no food to spare. I went to a house that was 3 houses removed from 

that one and a woman there gave me a piece of bread and a big glass of milk. é I asked her if she 

knew of partisans in the vicinity. She replied that sheôd heard of a partisan band either in that 

hamlet or the next oneðshe wasnôt sure, she didnôt know exactly where they were.  

   My spirits were high when I left that woman. I was close now! Revenge was near! é as I left the 

hamlet and made my way to a nearby forest, far away, a group of people, a mass of men. é 

suddenly a figure shot up in front of me and barked out: ñHalt or I shoot!ò é 

   The partisans were occupying a whole house there. Some men came for me and shoved me into a 

small room which was heavily guarded. I was continuously interrogated and had to repeat 

everything é my later accounts were checked against my earlier ones for inconsistencies. All the 

while guns were pointed at me. After a while I learned that I had stumbled into a group of ñofficialò 

Soviet partisans, under the leadership of Dadia Pyetcha [Diadia Petia]. 

   After several days a doctor came to see me. He was Jewish and spoke Yiddish. é When he 

ñexaminedò me, he conversed in Yiddish with me. He was checking on the authenticity of my 

story. é People were very suspicious of each other at that time and these partisans were 

particularly wary of infiltrators.119 

 

   As Kalmen Wewrykôs account demonstrates, it would be erroneous to think that fugitive Jews resorted to 

robbing Poles, mostly impoverished farmers, at gunpoint only when they had no other means of getting 

provisions. Stanisğaw (Shlomo) Szmajznerôs group of escapees from Sobib·r entered into their first 

farmhouse by force brandishing a gun and pretending to be partisans.
120

 Other escapees also resorted to 

force to obtain food from farmers.
121

 A few days after their escape from Sobib·r, Esther Terner (later 

Raab), Samuel (Shmul) Lerer and Avrum (Abram) Kohn chanced on a farmhouse near the forest, and 

approached it to ask for food. This was the first time they had done something like this. They did so with 

trepidation and did not let their guard down even for a minute. As they discovered, these were not 

prosperous farms (like those in Western Europe), and the inhabitants lived in a state of constant fear. Yet 

despite their initial succcess, the Jewish fugitives soon changed their ways. They simply did not trust the 

ñprimitiveò peasants and did not want to take any unnecessary risks, so they resorted to terror tactics. 
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The two men waited at the side of hut, while Esther knocked on the door. It was soon opened by an 

old farmer. ñCan you help us, please?ò Esther pleaded desperately. 

   ñHow many are you?ò the farmer asked. 

   ñThree. Two men and myself.ò 

   ñDid anyone see you coming here?ò 

   ñNo,ò Esther said. ñWe just came out of the woods nearby.ò 

   The farmer looked around to see if anyone was watching. ñOkay. Come inside,ò he said quickly. 

ñThereôs no one here, but my son and I.ò 

   Esther walked in and looked around the small, one-room hut. A cow stood at one end of the 

kitchen, and behind some curtains in the corner were the beds where the man and his son slept. The 

farmer led them to the table and invited the three to sit down. 

   ñYou must be from Sobibor [Sobib·r],ò he guessed. When Esther nodded, he added, ñItôs 

incredible what you people did there. You did well. Very well.ò 

   Esther, Samuel, and Avrum exchanged glances. They were surprised to discover that their host 

approved of their actions. 

   ñCan we have some water?ò Esther asked. 

   ñCertainly.ò The farmer hurriedly brought a bucket full of water to the table. Esther gulped down 

several cups one after the other, trying to quench her overwhelming thirst. 

   ñIôd love to serve you a regular meal,ò the farmer said, ñbur I canôt right now. Today is Sunday, 

and my son and I always go to church. If we donôt show up, there will be many questions. Let me 

give you some bread and milk, and my son will take you to the barn outside. When we come back, 

weôll bring you in here again. Iôll try my best to help you then.ò 

   The three could hardly believe their good fortune. Not only had they happened upon a farmer who 

was trul decent and kind, nut he was even offering to serve them an entire meal!  

   The farmer gave them two loaves of bread and a bottle of milk. His son led them outside to the 

barn, and they sat down on a pile of straw. They quickly divided the food that the gracious farmer 

had provided and wolfed it down hungrily. As they munched on the bread, they heard the farmer 

and his son leave the farm with a horse and wagon. 

   By midday, the two men had still not returned. The three didnôt know how far the nearest church 

was, and they realized that the trip to the church and back could last almost an entire day. Still, as 

the hours passed, they couldnôt help having some doubts. 

   ñWho knows if they really went to church?ò Samuel said. ñThey may have gone to summon the 

Gestapo.ò 

   ñYouôre probably right,ò Avrum agreed. ñTheyôll be here before long and arrest us.ò 

   Although Esther realized that they might indeed be in danger, she was too tired to move. It was 

such a relief to lie on the dry straw after spending several days on the wet forest ground. 

   ñWhat will happen, will happen,ò she announced. ñAll the muscles in my body are aching, and I 

must rest. Besides, there is a slight possibility that the farmer was being truthful, and if so, I want to 

wait for that meal that he promised to serve. Do whatever you like, but Iôm not moving anywhere. 

Iôm staying right here.ò 

   ñPerhaps youôre right,ò Samuel said skeptically. ñIôm not so sure, but I think Iôll stay, too.ò 
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   It was late afternoon when they finally spotted the farmerôs wagon in the distance. As it came 

closer, the three let out a sigh of relief when they saw that it was not accompanied by any other 

vehicles. There were no Gestapo or Nazi soldiers following the farmer back to his house. 

   When they reached the farm, the two men went into their little hut. Only after it was completely 

dark outside did the farmerôs son finally come out to fetch them. ñCome on,ò he said amiably. 

ñWeôve prepared some food for you.ò 

   When Esther, Samuel, and Avrum walked in, their mouths watered at the sight of the food that lay 

on the table. There was bread, milk, and a thick borscht that had cabbage and other vegetables in it. 

   ñSit down. Eat,ò the farmer said with a smile. 

   They did not need a second invitation. After the months in Sobibor and the last few days in the 

forest, it seemed almost incredible to be sitting down at a table and eating a meal like regular human 

beings. é 

   ñThank you. You are very kind,ò Esther said. ñBefore we go, though, I must take care of my 

injury.ò [Her face had been wounded by a German bullet during her escape from Sobib·rðM.P.] 

   The farmer gave Esther a bucket of water. é 

   ñYou must put something on that gash,ò the farmer said to Esther é ñYou canôt just leave it 

untreated. I donôt have any medication, but I can give you some lard from a pig that was recently 

slaughtered.ò 

   ñLard? From a pig?ò asked Esther, trying to hide her disgust. It was obviously used as a primitive 

form of treatment, but Esther was repulsed at the idea of putting some on her face. 

   ñWe use it to treat lacerations,ò the farmer explained. ñIt always works wonders.ò 

   Esther realized that she had to do something to help the cut heal. She couldnôt risk letting it 

become infected. So stifling any words of protest, she let the farmer apply some to her would. 

Surprisingly, it did work remarkably well and the area never became infected. 

   When they were ready to leave, the farmer packed up some cheese, a couple of onions, a bottle of 

milk, and several loaves of bread. He gave it to the three grateful runaways and ordered his son to 

take them into the woods. é 

   The farmerôs son took them some distance into the forest and wished them good luck before 

turning back. The three walked on for a little while, but soon they had to stop and find a hiding 

place to spend the day. They resumed their trek on Monday night and then again on Tuesday.  

   By Wednesday night they had depleted their food supply, and they decided to knock on another 

farmerôs door and ask for food. They waited until they found a secluded farmhouse that was not 

surrounded by other huts. They agreed to present themselves as partisans, hoping that the farmer 

would be too afraid to argue with them. 

   Esther had a large flashlight in her pocket that she had taken with her from Sobibor. A short chain 

was attached to the flashlight, and it had to be pulled repeatedly for the bulb to light up. Much like a 

lawnmower, it made a grinding noise as it started up. 

   With the two men beside her, Esther knocked loudly at the door. Although her heart was racing in 

fear, she tried to put a ruthless, self-assured expression on her face. She kept her hand in her pocket, 

and when the farmer opened the door, she moved the flashlight around to make the bulge obvious. 

She pulled on the chain several times, frightening the man with its loud sound. 

   ñPlease, donôt shoot! Donôt shoot!ò the farmer begged. 
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   ñWe need some food,ò Esther said gruffly. 

   ñYes, yes. Just a moment.ò 

   As he handed them some bread and vegetables, Esther asked for directions, again giving the name 

of a village é 

   Esther and the two men continued on their journey, trying to move as quickly as they could. é 

   Because Esther wanted to be absolutely certain that she had come to the right place, she decided 

to knock on the tenantôs door. 

   Esther rapped loudly several times until a man opened it. Like before, she put her hand in her 

pocket and starting up the flashlight. ñIôm with a big partisan group,ò she said harshly. ñWe wonôt 

hurt you. We just have something to settle with your landlord. Where is the owner? Is he at the farm 

across the street?ò 

   ñN-No,ò the man stuttered. ñHis old mother lives there. Sh-Sheôs senile. He comes here every two 

weeks to visit and bring her provisions.ò 

   ñIs that so?ò Esther asked suspiciously. ñAre you telling the truth?ò 

   ñYes, yes. I am not lying. Please believe me.ò He looked at her fearfully. ñWait one moment,ò he 

said, trying to placate her. ñLet me bring you some bread.ò 

   ñWhen he returned with the promised food, Esther eagerly grabbed it out of his hands. The man 

closed the door, and she rejoined Samuel and Avrum. é 

   After dark, Esther and the men agreed to leave the farm and scavenge for food. 

   They left the barn and walked down the dirt road to one of the neighboring farmhouses. When 

they knocked at the door, it was opened by a small, elderly woman. 

   ñPlease, do not hurt me,ò she pleaded fearfully. ñHere, let me give you some bread and a bottle of 

milk.ò 

   Esther took the food and thanked the woman. The three made their way back to the barn and again 

climbed up to the loft. Their mouths watered in expectation as they sat down and prepared to eat 

their humble meal.122 

 

   Shlomo Alster, who joined up with Soviet partisans after escaping from Sobib·r, recalled that there was 

no shortage of food while he was with the partisans. The armed partisans would descend on villages and 

take from the farmers whatever food and possessions they required, and took in great quantities.
123

 Itzhak 

Lichtman, who joined up with some Jewish fugitives and partisans after escape from Sobib·r, clearly 

identified the sequence of events, and cause of retaliation by Ukrainian and Polish ñbandits,ò in the vicinity 

of the Parczew forests: 
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Life in the underground was not easy. We succeeded in buying some rifles, but we used them to 

frighten peasants and force them to give us food. We were always assailed by Ukrainian and Polish 

bandits.124 

 

   Not just a few, but hundreds of farmers were robbed, often repeatedly, in any given area of the 

countryside. Jewish gangs could be equally ruthless in pursuit of supplies. Shiye Golderg described the 

escapades of a young Jew from Majdan Tatarski, in the Lublin district, who met his end at the hands of 

some desperate local peasants: 

 

This Srulik was very adventurous. He thought that, with his pistol, he would conquer the world. I 

couldnôt go along with him. He was reckless, else he didnôt know that by taking things from the 

farmers at gunpoint caused them to hate the Jews é The farmers, if left alone, would give you a 

crust of bread or at least a drink of water. They might drive you away, but not hurt you é Srulik 

committed so many evil acts against the farmers that they finally waylaid and killed him.125 

 

A Polish account from the village of Janowice, just east of Lublin, reports that in the summer of 1942, a 

married couple en route to Jan·w by horse cart were stopped by a band of Jews who shot the husband, 

raped the wife (she was left unconscious in the forest), and stole their horse.
126

 A nun from a displaced 

convent located in ĞŃŨek Zaklikowski near Zaklik·w recalled the arrival of a group of Jewish partisans 

who abused the nuns and priest.
127

 Is it little wonder that partisans and forest dwellers developed a 

reputation as robbers and that the local population lived in fear of their nocturnal visits? 

   Rather than ask for food, which Jewish memoirs show to have been a viable option,
128

 a group of Jewish 

escapees from Treblinka variously pretended to be, somewhat transparently, both ñPolish partisansò and 
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127

 Ewa Kurek, Dzieci Ũydowskie w klasztorach: Udziağ ŨeŒskich zgromadzeŒ zakonnych w akcji ratowania dzieci 

Ũydowskich w Polsce w latach 1939ï1945 (Lublin: Clio, 2001; Lublin: Gaudium, 2004), 190. 

 
128 Examples of assistance received from farmers and railway guards by escapees from Treblinka and from trains 

headed there are plentiful, despite the manhunts carried out by the Germans and Ukrainian guards looking for Jews and 

the death penalty facing those Poles who extended any form of assistance to Jews. Short-term help was particularly 

frequent. Of the approximately 200 prisoners who managed to break out of the death camp during the revolt on August 

2, 1943, about 100 were still alive at the end of the war thanks to assistance received from Poles. According to three 

separate testimonies by Jewish escapees from the death camps of Treblinka and Sobib·r, they ñwalked about the 

villagesò where they were ñknown to everybody,ò including the farm-hands and school children, without being 

denounced. See Teresa Prekerowa, ñStosunek ludnoŜci polskiej do Ũydowskich uciekinier·w z oboz·w zagğady w 

Treblince, Sobiborze i BeğŨcu w Ŝwietle relacji Ũydowskich i polskich,ò Biuletyn Gğ·wnej Komisji Badania Zbrodni 

przeciwko Narodowi PolskiemuïInstytutu Pamiňci Narodowej, vol. 35 (1993): 100ï14, translated as 110ï14, translated 

as ñThe Attitude of the Polish Population Towards Jewish Escapees from the Treblinka, Sobib·r, and BeğŨec Death 

Camps in Light of Jewish and Polish Testimonies,ò in Chodakiewicz, MuszyŒski, and Styrna, Golden Harvest or 

Hearts of Gold?, 97ï116. See also Mark Paul, ñThe Rescue of Jewish Escapees from the Treblinka Death Camp,ò in 

ibid., 117ï37. In spite of the death penalty for the slightest Polish assistance to Jews, local Polish peasants helped 

Samuel Willenberg on no less than nine separate occasions in the first days after his escape from Treblinka. See Samuel 
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Willenberg, Surviving Treblinka (Oxford: Basil Blackwell in association with the Institute for Polish-Jewish Studies, 

1989), 143ï48. Another Jewish escapee from the Treblinka death camp recalled the help he received from peasants: ñI 

was free. I walked to a village. é I knocked to ask for bread. The peasants looked at me in silence. óBread, bread.ô 

They saw my red hands, torn jacket, worn-out slippers, and handed me some hard, gray crusts. A peasant woman, 

huddled in shawls, gave me a bowl of hot milk and a bag. We didnôt talk: my body had turned red and blue from the 

blows and the cold, and my clothes, everything proclaimed Jew! But they gave me bread. Thank you Polish peasants. I 

slept in a stable near the animals, taking a little warm milk from the cow in the morning. My bag filled with bread.ò See 

Martin Gray, with Max Gallo, For Those I Loved (Boston and Toronto: Little, Brown, 1972), 178. Abraham Bomba 

and his colleagues, Yankel Eyzner (Jacob Eisner), Moshe Rapaport (Rappaport), Yechiel Berkovitsh (Berkowicz), and 

Yechezkal Kofman (Cooperman), were assisted by several peasants in the area after their escape from Treblinka: 

ñLying in the field, we saw a peasant in a wagon go by. We called him over and told him that we had escaped from 

Treblinka and, perhaps, it would be possible if he could take us into his barn. é In the end, we convinced him and he 

showed us his barn in the distance and we went inside. But he doesnôt know of anything. And if they would ask, we 

should say that we sneaked in. That is what we did. We were there the entire day. At night, the head of the village came 

and told us that he would lead us out of the village and show us the way to go. He indeed took us to the main road, and 

we traveled all night until the morning. In the morning, we came to a village. We saw, in front of a house, that a woman 

opens the door. We went over to the house and the woman told us to come in. We were there for a week. The second 

week, we were at the friend of the peasant in the same village. I remember this peasantôs name: Piotr Supel. é This 

was in the village Zagradniki [Zagrodniki] near Ostrovek Vengravski [Ostr·wek Wňgrowski]. The peasant traveled 

with us to Warsaw.ò See A.L. Bombe, ñMy Escape from Treblinka,ò Czentochov: A New Supplement to the Book 

ñCzenstochover Yidnò, Internet: <http://www.jewishgen.org/yizkor/Czestochowa/Czestochowa.html>, translation of 

S.D. Singer, ed., Tshenstokhover: Naye tsugob-material tsum bukh ñTshenstokhover Yidnò (New York: United Relief 

Committee in New York, 1958), 57ff. After his escape from Treblinka, Chil Rajchman was assisted by a several 

farmers in the vicinity of the camp before making his way back to Warsaw, where he received help from Poles in and 

near the city. See Chil Rajchman, Treblinka: A Survivorôs Memory, 1942ï1943 (London: MacLehose/Quercos, 2011), 

106ï11; oral history interview with Chiel Rajchman, December 7, 1988, United States Holocaust Memorial Museum, 

Washington, D.C. oral history interview with Chiel Rajchman, December 7, 1988, United States Holocaust Memorial 

Museum, Washington, D.C. Hershl Sperling was part of a group of three or four Jews who succeeded in getting about 

twelve kilometres away from the camp. They turned to a family of Polish farmers who fed them and helped them 

escape towards Warsaw. See Mark S. Smith, Treblinka Survivor: The Life and Death of Hershl Sperling (Stroud, 

United Kingdom: The History Press, 2010), 251ï52. Viliam Fried, a native of Czechoslovakia, escaped with some 

other Jews as their train was pulling into Treblinka. He and a Jew from Poland ran together and took shelter in a stable 

where they were discovered by the proprietorôs son, who fed them and allowed them to stay for a day. They were then 

directed to a person in the next village, a railroad worker who was in the underground and helped escapees. Fried went 

alone and was allowed to stay in this manôs stable and was given food. When he left he was given a shovel to allow 

him to pass as a worker. He went from village to village until he arrived in Miňdzyrzec Podlaski. On the way, a village 

woman, who gave him food, warned him of the presence of German gendarmes who were looking for escapees, and 

pointed him in a different direction. See the oral history interview with Viliam Fried, April 10, 1992, United States 

Holocaust Memorial Museum, Washington, D.C., Internet: 

<http://collections.ushmm.org/artifact/image/h00/00/h0000072.pdf>. David Lieberman, from Czňstochowa, managed 

to escape from Treblinka by cutting a hole in the fence with pliers which he had stolen. He and his friend ran all night 

until they stopped in a field where they encountered a woman who recognized them as escapees and warned them to go 

farther away because the Germans were making their rounds to requisition milk and eggs from the farmers. They 

walked farther and arrived at a farmhouse: ñthe woman was very nice to me. She came out and walked with me and my 

friend almost for an hour, showed us to go to another road. Closed road where the police is not there. She was very 

nice. She came with a little baby on her back and walked and then she left us é she took her cross out and made a 

prayer, God should be with you. And we went on our way.ò They walked another mile or two and entered another 

farmhouse. ñWe told the farmer we want to go to a railroad station. He says heôs going to take us, but heôs not going to 

walk with us é [but] a distance away. And he opened a barn. He says, óIn case the SS comes, you just walked in 

yourself. I had nothing to do [with it].ô So he walked with us. é And we followed him. Finally, he came to a small 

little village. The village name was Sadowne.ò The fugitives then gave the villager some money with which to purchase 

train tickets, which he did, and they boarded the train for Warsaw. They received more help from farmers in the 

vicinity of Czňstochowa, their hometown. See the oral history interview with David Lieberman, July 10, 1990, United 

States Holocaust Memorial Museum, Washington, D.C., Internet: 

<http://collections.ushmm.org/artifact/image/h00/00/h0000132.pdf>. A Jew who had escaped from Treblinka and 

managed to return to Warsaw recalled: ñThe peasants near Treblinka didnôt want to shelter me even for just one night. 

They happily gave me food and even money, but they wouldnôt hear of my spending the night, because the Ukrainians 

who were permanently stationed in Treblinka often showed up é The local peasants told of things that were 

unbelievable but unfortunately true. é Everyone I talked to near Treblinka spoke of nothing else. They all told the 

same thing, in horror. The ones closer to Warsaw let me stay the night, but there was no question of staying there 

permanently.ò See Michağ Grynberg, ed., Words To Outlive Us: Voices From the Warsaw Ghetto (New York: 
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Metropolitan Books/Henry Holt, 2002), 210. Despite the massive German hunt for escaped Jews, some found shelter 

with farmers living nearby. The family of Jan and Aleksandra G·ral, who owned a farm near Kos·w Lacki, sheltered 

eleven Jews in their barn for some twenty months. Among those rescued were the Koenig (Koenigstein) family, the 

brothers Abram and Mendel Rzepka, and three escapees from Treblinka. See Tammeus and Cukierkorn, They Were 

Just People, 105ï12. Szymon Goldberg recalled the assistance of the farmers near Wyszk·w who took him in: ñThere 

were good people, they helped, they gave me food.ò See Prekerowa, ñStosunek ludnoŜci polskiej do Ũydowskich 

uciekinier·w z oboz·w zagğady w Treblince, Sobiborze i BeğŨcu w Ŝwietle relacji Ũydowskich i polskich,ò Biuletyn 

Gğ·wnej Komisji Badania Zbrodni przeciwko Narodowi PolskiemuïInstytutu Pamiňci Narodowej, vol. 35 (1993): 108. 

Julian and Stanisğawa Serafinowicz sheltered Shlomo (Szloma) Helman and Yeshayahu (Szyja) Warszawski after their 

escape from Treblinka, on a farm in Most·wka, a small village south of Wyszk·w. See Gutman and Bender, The 

Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations, vol. 5: Poland, Part 2, 703. After wandering in forests for about a 

month following his escape from Treblinka, Josef Czarny was warmly received by Polish farmers near Parys·w, 

northwest of Garwolin. Szymon and Helena Cağka sheltered and cared for Czarny as well as two Jewish women. See 

Gutman and Bender, The Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations, vol. 4: Poland, Part 1, 128; Paldiel, The 

Path of the Righteous, 205. After escaping from Treblinka, Szymon Goldberg made his way to the villagers of 

Kukawki, Basin·w and Kiciny, just beyond Ğoch·w, where the farmers protected and fed him. See the account of 

Szymon Goldberg, Archive of the Jewish Historical Institute (Warsaw), no. 301/656; Marek J·Ŧwik, Teresa 

Mahorowska, and Apolonia UmiŒska, eds., Relacje z czas·w Zagğady Inwentarz: Archiwum ŧIH IN-B, zesp·ğ 301, Nr. 

1ï900 / Holocaust Survivor Testimonies Catalogue: Jewish Historical Institute Archives, Record Group 301, No. 1ï

900 (Warsaw: ŧydowski Instytut Historyczny Instytut Naukowo-Badawczy, 1998), vol. 1, 227. Abraham (Abram) 

Kolski was part of a group of prisoners who escaped during the uprising in Treblinka. All nine fugitives, among them 

Gustaw Boraks, Heniek Klein, Henoch Brener (Henry Brenner), Stasiek Kohen, Albert Kohen, and Erich (Shaya) 

Lachman, were hidden for the remainder of the war on a farm in Orzesz·wka, a village south of the camp, belonging to 

Julian Pogorzelski and his elderly father Julian Pogorzelski. Throughout the entire period the Pogorzelskis provided the 

fugitives with all their needs, cared for their health, and obtained medicine for them when they fell ill. (Heniek Klein 

had tuberculosis and passed away in the hiding place.) When the fugitives emerged from hiding as the Soviet front 

passed through, their presence became known to the neighbours but no one betrayed them when the Germans returned 

for a brief period of time. See the oral history interview with Abraham Kolski, March 29, 1990, United States 

Holocaust Memorial Museum, Washington, D.C; Testimony of Abram Kolski, Shoah Foundation Institute for Visual 

History and Education, University of Southern California, Interview code 49970; testimony of Gustaw Boraks, Yad 

Vashem Archives; Gutman and Bender, The Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations, vol. 5: Poland, Part 2, 

625ï26. After his escape from Treblinka during the revolt in August 1943, Isadore Helfing was first taken in by a 

farmer, and then stayed with a partisan group until Soviet forces liberated the area. See the oral history interview with 

Isadore Helfing, September 3, 1992, United States Holocaust Memorial Museum, Washington, D.C. Henryk Poswolski, 

who was injured while escaping during the revolt in Treblinka and made his way back to Warsaw, was sheltered by 

Feliks and Marta Widy-Wirski in Podkowa LeŜna and nursed back to health. See Gutman and Bender, The 

Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations, vol. 5: Poland, Part 2, 863. According to one eyewitness, some 

Jewish escapees from Treblinka were accepted into a Home Army unit in the vicinity of Ceran·w near Kos·w Lacki. 

See J·zef G·rski, Na przeğomie dziej·w (Siedlce: Siedleckie Towarzystwo Naukowe, 2006). Yosef Haezrahi-B¿rger, 

one of the ñoperativesò of Jewish organizations who, after the war, tracked down Jewish children sheltered by Christian 

Poles described the fate of two Jewish teenagers who managed to escape from a train on its arrival in Treblinka and 

were sheltered in a village near the camp: ñin one of the transports, two siblingsða boy and a girlðwere among the 

Jews in the wagons that reached the Treblinka village railroad station before they could be moved to the extermination 

camp. While they were waiting, the people in the wagon broke through the wooden floor and several escaped. The 

guards chased and fired at them but the two children managed to reach a house in the village and hide there, terrifying 

the owner, whose own children were playing in the yard. When she saw the guards pursuing them, the woman directed 

the guards to her own house. The guards shot the womanôs children, assuming that they were the fugitive Jewish 

youngsters who were hiding in the house. The terrified woman regained her composure quickly and decided that if this 

was her fate, she had no choice but to raise the Jewish youngsters. The operative did not the source of the information 

about these children after the war but was told that emissaries had been sent to remove them several times, failing each 

time. In 1947, when he was asked to deal with their removal, the children were sixteen and seventeen years old. They 

knew they were Jewish but refused to leave their ómother,ô as they called their rescuer, since she had lost her own 

children and had saved them. The mother left the decision up to them: both persisted in their refusal and remained in 

the village.ò See Emunah Nachmany Gafny, Dividing Hearts: The Removal of Jewish Children from Gentile Families 

in Poland in the Immediate Post-Holocaust Years (Jerusalem: Yad Vashem, 2009), 202ï3, 281. Two train jumpers 

from a transport to Treblinka joined at least seven other Jews sheltered by the Postek family, farmers in Stoczek 

Wňgrowski, from the summer and fall of 1942. Stanisğaw Postek, his wife Julianna, and their sons, Wacğaw and 

Henryk, were arrested on September 5, 1943 for sheltering Jews. Stanisğaw Postek and his sons were imprisoned in 

Warsawôs Pawiak prison. The father was sent to Auschwitz, where he perished in March 1944. The sons were released 

fro Pawiak in November 1943, but re-arrested the following June. Their mother, Julianna, died on September 6, 1943 

as a result of the torture she endured at the hands of German gendarmes in Stoczek Wňgrowski. See Aleksandra 
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Namysğo and Grzegorz Berendt, eds., Rejestr fakt·w represji na obywatelach polskich za pomoc ludnoŜci Ũydowskiej w 

okresie II wojny Ŝwiatowej (Warsaw: Instytut Pamiňci NarodowejïKomisja ścigania Zbrodni przeciwko Narodowi 

Polskiemu, 2014), 261ï62. 

   Treblinka escapee Samuel Willenberg stresses the risks involved in assisting Jewish fugitives. When a revolt broke 

out in Treblinka on August 2, 1943, the Germans mobilized their forces (including the Ukrainian camp guards and 

hundreds of SS soldiers dispatched from Mağkinia, Sokoğ·w Podlaski, Kos·w Lacki, and Ostr·w Mazowiecka) and 

conducted a thorough search of the entire area, setting up checkpoints on the roads and combing nearby villages and 

searching villagersô homes. See Willenberg, Surviving Treblinka, 25, 143ï48; Treblinka Museum, Extermination Camp 

History: ñDefiance and Uprising,ò Internet: 

<http://www.treblinka.bho.pl/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&id=48&Itemid=48>. See Willenberg, 

Surviving Treblinka, 25, 144. Richard Glazer notes that bandit gangs roamed around robbing and posing as partisans, 

but had ñnothing in common with partisans than the name.ò See Richard Glazer, Trap With a Green Fence: Survival in 

Treblinka (Evanston, Illinois: Northwestern University Press, 1995), 105. Escapees from Treblinka also had to contend 

with being stripped of their money by unscrupulous fellow Jews. See Alexander Donat, ed., The Death Camp 

Treblinka: A Documentary (New York: Holocaust Library, 1979), 141ï42. After the war, when some local people 

started to dig up the site of the Treblinka camp looking for gold and other valuables, anti-Communist Polish partisan 

units carried out punitive expeditions against the robbers. See Wacğaw Piekarski, Obw·d Armii Krajowej Sokoğ·w 

Podlaski ñSňpò, ñProsoò 1939ï1944 (Warsaw: n.p., 1991); Mariusz Bechta and Leszek ŧebrowski, eds., Narodowe 

Siğy Zbrojne na Podlasiu, vol. 2: W walce z systemem komunistycznym w latach 1944ï1952 (Siedlce: ZwiŃzek 

ŧoğnierzy Narodowych Siğ Zbrojnych, 1998), 201; Kazimierz Krajewski and Tomasz Ğabuszewski, ñĞupaszkaò 

ñMğotò ñHuzarò: DziağalnoŜĺ 5 i 6 Brygady WileŒskiej AK (1944ï1952) (Warsaw: Volumen, 2002), 255; Kazimierz 

Krajewski, ĂWykreowana historia,ñ Nasz Dziennik, March 5ï6, 2011. (French peasants were also known to dig into the 

lavatories of deported Jews in search of gold.) Soviet troops stationed in nearby towns played a leading role in these 

sordid activities by forcing villagers to plant explosives, landmines and bombs that were detonated to create deep 

hollows; unearthed Jewish corpses were then robbed of any valuables. This was done without interference from the 

local Communist security officials, who also likely benfitted from the gravedigging. The number of Jews among the 

security officials in the county seat in Siedlce, as well as among Soviet soldiers, was significant. See Michağ Majewski 

and Paweğ Reszka, ñTajemnica zdjňcia z Treblinki,ò UwaŨam Rze, February 28, 2011; Kazimierz Krajewski, ñKto 

profanowağ groby ofiar Treblinki,ò Nasz Dziennik, March 16, 2011. However, these robbers did not remove gold teeth 

from Jewish cadavers, as some allege. Gold teeth were extracted from the mouths of dead Jews by a team of Jewish 

prisoners called ñdentists,ò which included prisoners who were actual dentists and doctors. 

 

The prisoner work team known as the Dentisten was located between the gas chambers and the burial 

ditches. It numbered about twenty to thirty men whose job was to extract, with pliers, the gold, 

platinum, and false teeth from the corpses. The dentists also examined the bodies, especially those of 

the women, for valuables hidden in the body orifices. Part of the team worked at cleaning and sorting 

the extracted teeth and preparing them for shipment. 

 

The clothes and belongings of Jewish prisoners were handled by a team of so-called Goldjuden:  

 

This group comprised of approximately twenty people, most of them former jewellers, watchmakers, 

and bank clerks. Their task was to receive and sort the money, gold, valuables, foreign currency, and 

bonds taken from the deported Jews. 

   Some of this group worked at the undressing area, receiving money and valuables from the victims 

on their way to the gas chambers. Members of this group had to carry out body searches on the 

women after they had stripped and before they were taken to the gas chambers. The women had to lie 

on a special table, where they would be thoroughly searched, including in their genitalia. 

   One section of this group worked at the square and stores where the belongings left by the victims 

were sorted and checked. They received the money and valuables and prepared them for shipment 

from the camp. 

   These ñGold Jewsò were considered extremely privileged, because they could secretly siphon off 

money and valuables of considerable worth, evening the camp. 

   On their part the SS personnel needed them to secure their share of the wealth that passed through 

the camp. 

 

Samuel Willenberg, an inmate of Treblinka, writes: 

  
The prisoners responsible for collecting and sorting the gold, jewellery, money and other valuables 

which had reached the transport square were known as Goldjuden, and wore yellow shoulder bands to 

distinguish them. At any one time several of them would wander about the sorting-yard collecting 

any valuables we had found in the clothing.  
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   Goldjuden were considered the elite of the prisoners, their work was relatively tranquil, they sat in a 

closed, warm hut under the supervision of SS man Franz Suchomel, a German from the Sudetenland, 

who spoke good Czech. Suchomel usually assigned Czech Jews to this kommando, who came from 

Theresienstadt. 

   Ordinary prisoners were not admitted to the hut where the Goldjuden did their work, the Goldjuden 

were better dressed, than the other prisoners, going about in elegant coats, colourful scarves and 

leather gloves. They looked more like bankers than prisoners, especially when carrying the briefcases 

in which they stored the valuables found in the clothing of people who had just then been murdered. 

 

See ñJewish Working Kommandoôs in the Aktion Reinhard Death Camps,ò Holocaust Education & Archive Research 

Team, Internet: <http://www.holocaustresearchproject.org/ar/Jewish%20Kommando/jewishkommando.html>; based 

on Arad, Belzec, Sobibor, Treblinka, 102, 108, 112, and Willenberg, Surviving Treblinka. Abraham Kolski, was part of 

a team of several hundred workers that sorted clothing, the so-called Sorting Team for Clothing and Belongings 

(Lumpenkommando), states that it was they who frequently buried in the ground money, gold, diamonds, and other 

valuables in order to keep them out of the hands of the Germans. See the oral history interview with Abraham Kolski, 

March 29, 1990, United States Holocaust Memorial Museum, Washington, D.C. 

   Escapees who managed to make it back to their towns were disbelieved. No one in Radom believed escapee Nathan 

Berkowitzôs story about the destination of the deportation trains: ñI gave a detailed report to the head of the Jewish 

Council, but he called me a liar and chased me out of his office.ò See Alfred Lipson, ed., The Book of Radom: The 

Story of a Jewish Community in Poland Destroyed by the Nazis (New York: The United Radomer Relief of the United 

States and Canada, 1963), 57. David Bayer recalled: ñMax Rosenblum was in Treblinka. He was deported from my 

hometown of Kozienice to Treblinka with all the people. He sneaked into Pionki camp where I was, because he had a 

sister who was there. He told everybody that in Treblinka, everybody was killed, and we didnôt believe him. All the 

people who the Germans took to Treblinka: gassed them. And we called him crazy: óHeôs crazy, he must be crazy. Why 

would they kill everybody, women and children, for nothing?ô And he was telling us, óBelieve it! I saw it. They killed 

everybodyðnobodyôs alive!ôò See Interview with David Bayer, First Person, 2009, United States Holocaust Memorial 

Museum. 

   Many examples of assistance for Jews who jumped out of trains headed for Treblinka have also been recorded. Hersh 

Blutman from Ciechanowiec jumped from a train heading for Treblinka when it was only three kilometres away from 

the camp. Bruised and limping, Blutman turned to his hometown, asking local farmers from whom his father used to 

buy produce for help. Although they all fed him and allowed him to rest, no one was willing to shelter him until, after 

many days of wandering, he reached the village of Winna-Chroğy where he was taken in by Helena and Aleksander 

Komiazyk. See Gutman and Bender, The Encyclopedia of the Righteous Among the Nations, vol. 4: Poland, Part 1, 

366ï67. Wacğaw Iglicki (then Szul Steinhendler) from ŧelech·w, who jumped out of a train headed for Treblinka near 

Ğuk·w or Siedlce, stated: ñPeople used to really help out. I have to say that objectively: when it came to bread or 

something else, they shared. But finding a place to sleep was a problem. People were afraid. They wouldnôt really agree 

to have us over for a night, or for a longer stay. That was understandable, because if you consider that in every village, 

in every community, there was a sign saying that for hiding, for any help given to a Jew, there was the death penalty, 

itôs hard to be surprised that people didnôt want to have Jews over and so on. They could tell by my clothes that I was a 

Jew. Because I looked poor, obviously. Ragged, dirty. Wandered around, as they say, aimlessly, didnôt know where to 

go. é Because of that, many knew immediately they were dealing with a person of Jewish origin.ò See the testimony 

of Waclaw Iglicki, September 2005, Internet: <http://www.centropa.org> under ñBiographies.ò In his account dated 

May 1994 (in the authorôs possession), Joseph S. Kutrzeba writes: ñDuring the first days of September 1942, at the age 

of 14, I jumped out of a moving train destined for Treblinka, through an opening (window) of a cattle car loaded to 

capacity with Jews from the Warsaw Ghetto. Wandering over fields, forests and villages, at first in the vicinity of 

Woğomin, and later of Zambr·w, I found myself, in late November, in the area of Hodyszewo (near ĞomŨa). 

Throughout my wandering, the peasants for the most part were amenable to put me up for the night and to feed með

some either suspecting my origins or pressing me to admit it.ò Joseph S. Kutrzeba, The Contract: A Life for a Life 

(New York: iUniverse, 2009), 50ff. Ruth Altbeker Cyprys, who jumped from a train headed for Treblinka, recalls 

various instances of assistance from railway guards, villagers, passers-by, passengers, and even a gang of robbers. See 

Ruth Altbeker Cyprys, A Jump for Life: A Jump For Life: A Survivorôs Journal from Nazi-Occupied Poland (New 

York: Continuum, 1997), 97, 102ï110. The brothers Sandor and Shalom Spector jumped out of two separate trains 

headed for Treblinka and both of them survived with the help of friendly Poles. See Sandor Spector, ñI Jumped From 

the Death Trains,ò in Yerachmiel Moorstein, ed., Zelva Memorial Book (Malwah, New Jersey: Jacob Solomon Berger, 

1992), 81ï82. Maria Bregman jumped out a train from Warsaw headed for Treblinka, injuring her head. When she 

regained consciousness, she dragged herself to a village where, posing ineptly as a Polish woman, her wounds were 

treated by villagers. When German gendarmes arrived the next day looking for Jewish escapees, she was asked to 

leave. Testimony of Fruma Bregman, Archive of the Jewish Historical Institute (Warsaw), no. 301/1984, p. 14. When 

the brothers Henry and Abe Feigelbaum ecaped from the train taking them to Treblinka, they hid in nearby forests for 

several weeks before they made their way at night to the home of Czesğaw Gğuchowski in the village of Czoğomyje, 

near their hometown of Mordy, where they survived in a bunker dug under the granary. See Gutman and Bender, The 
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Germans in order to rob Polish peasants. They immediately threatened a farmer at gunpoint and waylaid 

individual farmers who were transporting goods. According to Saul (Shlomo) Kuperhand,  

 

A farmer chopping wood nearby soon spotted us. Stefan said that we should kill the farmer so he 

would not send the Germans after us. But Hochko told him that killing an innocent man would 

accomplish nothing. In fact, Hochko went right up to the man and demanded his identification 

papers, which he then pocketed.  

   ñWe are a group of 200 escaped prisoners,ò Hochko told the frightened farmer. ñIf we have any 

trouble from the Germans we will kill you and your entire family. We know who you are. We will 

burn your farm to the ground.ò é  

   We had been without food or drink for nearly two days, since escaping from Treblinka. Only 

Shmulik and Hochko had the ability to confront people without arousing suspicion, so the two of 

them, with our one rifle, approached an isolated farmhouse. 

   Hochko knocked on the door and began speaking to the farmer in perfect Polish, which was his 

native tongue. He said that he and his men were members of the Polish underground and that the 

farmer should not fear his [German] uniform or the rifle. é The farmer responded by giving 

Hochko and Shmulik food for themselves and the ñsoldiersò in the nearby woods. é 
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   Shmulikôs leveled rifle encouraged the farmer to be generous é It occurred to us that our 

gangster friends would probably have murdered the farmer and his family and then taken 

everything they had. Perhaps their way made more sense in the hellish world we lived in? 

   We walked for many kilometers before resting again. Hochko é assembled everyone and 

addressed us. 

   ñé The safest way for us to get food is by intercepting farmers taking wagons of food to the 

market. We will wait for an individual farmer, so we donôt have to worry about several farmers 

putting up a fight.ò 

   We all listened and then approved the plan. About four oôclock the next morning we spotted a 

lone farmer coming down the road in a wagon. Hochko and Shmulik stood in the middle of the 

road and Hochko called out to him in his excellent German: ñHalt! Show me your papers!ò 

   Seeing the uniform and hearing the German orders, the intimidated farmer pulled his wagon to a 

complete halt. He cooperated with the interrogation, telling Hochko where he was going, where he 

had come from, and what he was carrying in the wagon. The farmer denied carrying contraband 

food for sale on the black market, but when he unloaded his wagon on the side of the road for 

investigation, there was bread, milk, cheese, smoked ham, salami, bacon, and even water. 

   Hochko ordered the farmer to appear at German police headquarters at nine oôclock the next 

morning to pay a fine of 200 Reichmarks. He would then have his documents returned to him. If he 

failed to appear promptly, the police would come to him. And this, Hochko assured him, would 

prove to be a most unpleasant experience. é 

   As we walked, Shloimele challenged Hochko for the rifle that Hochko had been holding. 

Shloimele assured us that he would get plenty of food for the five of us who remained together, but 

Hochko categorically refused to give him the gun. Shloimele was a street-smart thug é Hochko 

knew that Shloimeleôs efforts would bring results, but he was concerned about his methods. é 

Shloimele sneered at this suggestion [i.e., asking for food], saying that he knew the Polish people 

much better and that force was the only way to get anything from them. é 

   Shloimele left us around noon and made his way to a farmhouse. Boldly he looked through the 

windows and then went right in. He headed straight for the hearth, knowing that farmers often 

smoked meat by hanging it several feet up their chimneys. Sure enough, he found armfuls of meat. 

He filled a sack with bread and ham. He saw a pot of soup on the stove ready for the familyôs lunch 

and poured it into a pail. He even took knives, forks, and dishes. Heavily laden, Shloimele made his 

way back to us in the forest. He certainly earned his bragging rights. 

   We did not get a chance to enjoy this banquet at our leisure, however, because we suddenly heard 

a fusillade of German automatic weapon fire spraying the woods and coming toward us. The 

furious farmer must have gone right to the Nazi authorities.129 

 

On another occasion, the Jewish band held a farmer hostage.
130

 Given such events, and as word got around, 

is it surprising that Polish peasants came to see fugitive Jews as adversaries rather than merely victims? 
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Thus started a pattern that followed the following sequence: brazen robberies followed by retaliation (and 

not vice versa). Yet Kuperhand also goes on to describe the extensive assistance he received from Polish 

farmers after leaving the group he initially foraged with.
131

 Another escapee from Treblinka, Kalman 

Taigman (Teigman), also joined a group of armed Jews who stole food from Polish farmers at gunpoint.
132

  

Such testimonies, among many others, refute the contention, stridently voiced by historians like Jan T. 

Gross and Jan Grabowski, that Polish peasants preyed on defenceless Jews for their valuables or out of 

sheer malice because of an alleged social consensus or ñnormò of behaviour among Poles.
133

 

   A similar situation prevailed in the Wilno and Nowogr·dek regions where Jews survived in the forest by 

robbing farms. Armed aggression directed at peasants provoked a like response from peasants and their 
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protectors. The following account describes the activities of a group Jewish forest dwellers who acquired 

weapons and staged forays in the countryside. They were eventually ñabsorbedò by Soviet partisans, who 

had trouble finding recruits in largely Polish and Lithuanian areas. 

 

[In mid-July 1943:] Leiba [Kobrowski] insisted they should all move from their current location to 

the forest near Marcinkance [MarcinkaŒce], where a sizeable group of Jews from Druskieniki, 

Marcinkance and Pozecze [Porzecze] had gathered é They would be safer there, since the forest 

was much denser and access was more difficult. é 

   Izak [Kobrowski] came to the conclusion that they had to have weapons: their money was 

running out and the only way to survive was to take food by force. A decision had to be madeð

were they to buy weapons or use the rest of that money to buy food and hope that the war would 

soon be over? é A young Polish peasant, Longin, a friend of Izak sold them two rifles, one sub-

machine gun, grenades and some ammunition. Izak had to teach the men how to use and clean a 

weapon. é 

   The ófood operationsô now dominated their life. The men would pick a faraway village, as far as 

40 or 50 kilometres from their camp in the forest. After arriving at their destination they would 

observe the activity in the village and around the target house before going in, preferably on a dark 

night. They surrounded the house with four men, though two of them were unarmed, and Izak, with 

the sub-machine gun, was the one who demanded food. They usually took flour and dried peas; 

potatoes were too heavy. They sometimes took a calf or a pig which they slaughtered and cut into 

chunks on the spot. The roundtrip took about four to five days. é 

   Their group now comprised over 30 people. é  

   Not far from their camp, [in the spring of 1944] they encountered a detachment of regular Red 

Army partisans. Well dressed in warm foufaikas (parkas stuffed with cotton and wool), well fed 

and well armed, they were supplied through air-drops. The site of the family camp was attractive to 

them because it was well camouflaged. The partisans gave an ultimatum: óWe are here to fight the 

Germans. If you want to help us in this task, you are welcome to stay. If you donôt, get out of here, 

because you will endanger us all!ô 

   The unit was composed of some 25 men and five woman, all volunteers. The commander, 

comrade Finkel, was in his early thirties, a Jew from Moscow é The deputy commander was a 

woman. é They had all recently been parachuted into the forest in a major effort by the Red army 

to disorganize the thinly stretched Wehrmacht supply lines before a major attack was to begin in 

the summer. é 

   Finally, after much haggling [among the Jews], Izak prevailed and Commander Finkel made him 

Nachalnik Spetsyalnovo Semyeynovo Partisanskovo Otryada [Commander of the Special Family 

Partisan Detachment].134 

  

   In his memoirs Tuvia Bielski mentions a group of Jewish stragglers whom the Soviet partisans were 

allegedly intent on murdering: ñnot far from Abelkevitz [Obelkowicze near Dworzec], there was a farm on 
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which there was a group of armed Jews who robbed by night and did nothing during the day. The 

population round about were angry and complaining.ò
135

 Their leader was Israel Kesler (or Kessler), 

reportedly a thief and arsonist, who ran a brothel in Naliboki before the war. After receiving an ultimatum, 

Kesler agreed to join the Bielski group sometime around December 1942. The following are descriptions of 

the so-called Kesler group: 

 

A native of the small town Naliboki, Kesler was a professional thief. Before the war he spent 

several years in prison. é Like the Bielskis, he never became a ghetto inmate. Instead, he collected 

a group of Jews from Naliboki and from the work camp Dworzec. Though his connections to 

Belorussian peasants he acquired guns and ammunition and a place to stay.136 

 

When Abraham [Viner, also a native of Naliboki] met Kesler he asked to be accepted into his unit, 

but Kesler refused, saying, ñóYou cannot stay with us. You are not made of the proper material. 

You would not be able to kill, to fight, you are not fit to be a partisan.ô I left; I had no choice. I and 

the others were not accepted. We were of the same social background. We had no arms, nothing.ò 

   Better suited for life in the forest, Kesler looked down on Jews whom he felt did not fit in. In fact, 

most young working-class men seemed to resent and envy those who had been their social 

superiors before the war.137 

 

   Keslerôs group was able to secure a measure of autonomy during the German raids on Naliboki forest in 

the summer of 1943. It set up its own camp and became notorious for robbing peasants.
138

 The main Bielski 

group was not immune from such abuses either: 

 

Undisciplined rough behavior was not limited to Russian partisans. When most of the Bielski 

people reassembled, complaints about one of their own group leader, Kaplan, were also heard. 

Local farmers on whose goodwill they depended accused Kaplan and a few of his men of robbery. 

These forcible confiscations included money and valuables. é  

   Hersh Smolar, a prominent partisan and a member of the Soviet headquarters, knew that ñthe 

accusation was that the Jews had been robbing the peasants. They take clothes, not only bread. 

[General] Platon let me read the document. 

   ñIt was indeed true. There were some Jewish partisans who took clothes. The partisans were not 

allowed to take anything but food, but the Jews did take other things.ò139 
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Both Kesler and Kaplan, as well as other partisans, were eventually executed by the Bielski brothers for 

their communal transgressions such as insubordination, subversion, lack of discipline, disputes over stolen 

property, etc.
140

 There is no evidence that any Jew was ever punished for excesses committed against the 

local population, despite Bielskiôs claim to the contrary in a report he submitted to the Soviet supreme 

command outlining the history of the detachment.
141

 In the spring of 1944, Kesler denounced Tuvia Bielski 

to General Dubov for financial mismanagement (misappropriation of gold, jewelry and money) and asked 

for permission to form a separate detachment. Fearing that Kesler was planning to usurp his authority, 

Bielski had Kesler arrested and put to death following a quick trial. He then denounced Kesler to the Soviet 

command as a ñmarauderò and ñbandit.ò
142

 Estera Gorodejska, who was a member of Keslerôs group yet 

showered praise on Bielski for his efforts to save Jews, described the ñpower struggleò in an entirely 

different light: 

 

In 1943 Bielski surrounded himself with members of the command such as Gordon, Malbin, 

Fotasznik, etc. They played cards all day long and were never sober. The command ate very well 

when everyone else got watery soup. There was great dissatisfaction in the camp, but discipline was 

so strong that no one dared to say anything. Kesler went to see Sokolov (Dubovôs aide) to ask his 

permission to organize an independent unit. When the command found out about this, they entered 

Keslerôs zemlianka in a drunken state and arrested him. This was in March 1944. The next day they 

took Kesler out of detention and Bielski himself shot him three times. He was drunk. He said to the 

deceased Kesler: ñYouôre lying down, you scum. Why donôt you answer now?ò He shot the corpse 

two more times. The command ordered some Jews to bury Kesler. They made a small mound for 

him. The command told them to remove the mound and wipe his grave off the face of the earth. é 

A report was written that Kesler was killed because he had left the unit without the permission of 

the command (when he had gone to see Sokolov) and for robberies on the civilian population. é A 

few days before we joined up with the Red Army, retreating German units wanted to cut through 

the forest and stumbled upon us. We engaged in combat. Eight people from our unit fell, Gordon 

among them. The Germans lost 40 men. The day we marched out of the forest, Bielski killed Faivl 
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Poğoniecki, a Jew from Mir. I understand there was a dispute between Bielski and Poğoniecki over 

some [stolen] clothes.143 

 

   Anatol Wertheim describes the antics of Semen Zorin, the leader of his Soviet-Jewish unit, who had a 

habit of descending on a village with a company of men, pressuring the villagers into giving in marriage a 

peasant girl he had taken a liking to. After nuptials and celebrations that lasted for several days, Zorin 

abandoned his new bride.
144

 The most candid description, however, is that of Yakov Ruvimovich, who 

joined up with the Soviet partisans after being sheltered by a Belorussian family for over a year. 

 

About half of our people were Jews, but what kind of partisans were they? All they did was rob and 

rape. They liked taking me along with them when they went reconnoitring. ñYasha,ò they called, 

ñcome with us.ò Since I was a young boy I was afraid and did not breathe a word. They raped 

whomever they came across. Once I went to our leader, Romanov, and told him what I saw. ñYou 

better be quiet, you mother-fucker,ò he bawled me out. ñCan you prove it?ò I couldnôt because I 

usually stood watch on the street. They enjoyed taking the wives of [Polish] officers. They all 

enjoyed that.145 

 

   Examples of the activities of unprincipled Jewish bands have been recorded by Jews in other parts of 

Poland as well: 

 

Thus, in Galicia, where in the absence of an organized anti-German partisan movement groups of 

armed Jews simply tried to survive in the forests, there were cases of fratricidal murder motivated 

by the urge to obtain arms. In the Bialystok [Biağystok] region such a ówild groupô of Jews, as they 

were called, raped several Byelorussian peasant girls and stabbed to death two Jewish partisans of 

the Jewish Forois [ñForwardò] Detachment to get hold of their rifles.146 

 

[In the environs of Buczacz, Tarnopol Province:] The Jewish bandits were no better than the 

[Ukrainian] murderers. They fell on the Jews in hiding, on the Jews in the forests and robbed them 

naked. That happened to Shaul Enderman and others.147 
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To Buczacz they brought Jews from the town of Tğumacz. Among the youth from Tğumacz was a 

so-called band. This was a group of young, armed boys. Brave and determined for anything, they 

were the scourge of the area. They even robbed their well-off brethren.148 

 

A group of Ukrainian ñpartisansò counting Jews among their members are known to have pillaged 

and murdered in the vicinity of KopyczyŒce east of Tarnopol.149 

 

[In Volhynia:] A group of Jewish families called ñThe Tenthò possessed guns and boldly raided 

Ukrainian farmers for food and clothes, dividing the loot among themselves. To be part of their 

group became a privilege with many benefits. Gershon wanted to join them, but Moishe did not. As 

chance would have it, Gershon found a gun without bullets. Ignoring Moisheôs advice, Gershon 

approached the leader of The Tenth, asking to join. They turned him down. 

   The Tenth became a power to be reckoned. Originally thought of as an elite group of Jews, it was 

discovered that their acts of force were motivated by their own selfish needs and gratification. It 

was while hundreds of Jews were hiding in an area known as Abluva, that the true character of the 

Tenth was realized. The Tenth became aware that the Germans had discovered where the Jews 

were hiding. Instead of informing everyone of the intended raid, they left unannounced for Russia, 

leaving the others unprepared for the assault that followed.150 

 

   Robbing peasants with the use of firearms was a common occurrence.
151

 A Jewish-led band of eight Jews 

and Ukrainians (the latter may have been Jews posing as Ukrainians) invaded the convent of the Sisters of 

the Immaculate Conception of the Blessed Virgin Mary in NiŨni·w near Stanisğaw·w, in Eastern Galicia, 

in the early morning hours of April 16, 1944, as the German-Soviet front was advancing nearby, on the 

pretext of looking for German officers. After robbing the nuns, the assailants proceeded to force them into 

the chapel, beating them mercilessly on their heads with the butts of their guns until blood flowed. Some of 

the younger nuns managed to escape and hide, and the bandits directed their wrath against the elderly nuns 

whom they abused physically.
152

 

   After leaving the ghetto in Miňdzyrzec Podlaski for the nearby forests, Elias Magid and several Jews 

formed a group that robbed farmers, threatening to shoot them if they did not provide them with food. They 
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moved eastward after the farmers complained to the authorities and the Germans organized a raid. They 

came across several others Jews and ñbegan to conduct the life of real bandits, plundering and robbing.ò
153

 

Such occurrences were not unique to that area but were widespread.154 In some cases, members of Jewish 

forest groups turned on each other. The following account is from the Ğuk·w area: 

 

There was a 14-year-old boy in our group, Itche Meir, whose parents had owned the paint factory 

in Lukow [Ğuk·w]. After explaining that his parents were dead, he confided that he knew where 

the family gold was buried in an old cast-iron pot. Two of our group, brothers-in-lawðone a little 

shoemaker and the other a strapping hulk of a man who had worked in a slaughterhouseð

volunteered to go with him to find the gold. 

   After a few days, the men came back alone and told us that Itche Meir had changed his mind and 

run away. At first we believed them, but I soon became suspicious because of the way they were 

behaving. I started to worry as to what really happened to the young boy. 

   A few days later, as I peddled my wares, one of my customers told me heôd found a fresh grave 

near the road. That night I took two men with me to find the grave. é Digging it up, my fears 

became a reality: there was poor Itche Meirôs body with his head bashed in. é Returning to the 

camp, we found the suspected murderers. We said, ñWe found Itche Meirôs body. Why did you kill 

him?ò 

   The shoemaker started crying and confessed. ñI begged my brother-in-law not to kill the kid, but 

he didnôt listen.ò He pleaded with us and cried. é  

   The big guy, on the other hand, was a different story. He didnôt seem to react to his brother-in-

lawôs accusation, he just sat there with his rifle é When he finally fell asleep, however, we took 

his rifle away. The next day, one man was assigned to take him deep into the forest and execute 

him. Our judgment was swift, his execution just.155 
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   Individual Jews were also known to murder non-Jews without provocation. Majer Rubinfeld shot and 

killed an unknown person he happened to run across while hiding in a forest near Rohatyn; afterwards, he 

stole his gun and money.156 Rescuers of Jews could also find themselves among those robbed by Jewish 

forest groups: 

 

Another Pole complained bitterly that his household was stripped bare of its belongings by a Jewish 

partisan group. Learning that he was actually involved in a Jewish network, they returned some of 

his possessionsðñbut only a fraction,ò he said.157 

 

   Northwest of Lublin, a largely Jewish gang known as the ñMorelò gang, but headed by a Polish bandit 

named Kapica, became notorious for pillaging in the countryside near the village of Garb·w. Its members 

included Solomon (Shlomo) Morel,
158

 who eventually joined the Peopleôs Guard (Gwardia Ludowa), the 

Moscow-directed Communist underground which was later transformed into the Peopleôs Army (Armia 

Ludowa), an organization whose record of robbery and violent crimes against the civilian population and 

killing Jewish refugees was second to none.
159

 Jewish bands were responsible for extensive plundering and 
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murders in the Podlasie region, north of Lublin.
160

 In the vicinity of Oszmiana, west of Wilno, small bands 

consisting of Soviets (former German prisoners of war) and Jews robbed and murdered the civilian 

population. The Jewish bands were known for their cruelty, especially one under the command of a Jewish 

woman from Smorgonie.
161

 

   Throughout Poland Jews connected to Communist partisan formations clashed repeatedly with the anti-

Communist underground and the civilian population, and in many cases robbery came to the forefront. A 

Jewish unit of the Peopleôs Guard known as the ñLions,ò led by Izrael Ajzenman (Israel Eisenman), a 

prewar Communist Party member convicted prewar robber (who victimized both Poles and Jews), did little 

else but plunder widely in the vicinity of Kielce. The local population undertook self-defence. Incensed, 

following out instructions from Moscow to clear the area of ñreactionaries,ò Ajzenmanôs partisans 

murdered seven Poles in Drzewica on January 20, 1943, and robbed their homes. Among the victims were 

five members of the National Armed Forces (Narodowe Siğy ZbrojneðNSZ). At least a dozen other Poles 

on their hit list were spared because they fled and could not be found. As could be expected, this was 

followed by retaliation by the National Armed Forces against the perpetrators, however, Ajzenman himself 

eluded punishment. This was to be a major turning point in relations between the National Armed Forces 

and the Communist partisans. Ajzenman was sentenced to death by the Peopleôs Guard for common 
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banditry but again escaped punishment. (After the war, Ajzenman entered the state security service and 

embellished his partisan unitôs war record by making fantastic claims of combat actions against the 

Germans. He continued to commit crimes such as robbery and rape, for which he lost his position and 

served a sentence of less than a month. Under the assumed name of Julian Kaniewski, he was employed in 

various positions.) 
162

 

   In vicinity of the Wyszk·w forest, the Polish population was terrorized by raids conducted by Soviet and 

Communist Peopleôs Guard partisans. The latter included some well-to-do gravediggers who had escaped 

from the Warsaw ghetto alongside members of the Jewish Fighting Organization (ŧydowska Organizacja 

BojowaðŧOB). According to Communist sources, the gravediggers were rapacious plunderers who even 

aroused the enmity of their fellow Jews to the point of the latter wanting to ñget rid of them at any price and 

to liquidate them.ò According to another Communist source, one of the Jewish groups (likely the Growas 

group mentioned below), which contained many former ghetto policemen, broke away and behaved like 

bandits. It is not surprising that relations with the local population and Home Army partisans proved to be 

problematic. The killing of some Jewish partisans in the Wyszk·w forest has been attributed in Holocaust 

literature to the Home Army or alternatively to the National Armed Forces, even though the latter did not 

operate in the area. Merdek Growasô group was most probably murdered by a band of partisans belonging 

to ñMiecz i Pğug,ò a radical organization that turned bandit and was later eliminated by the Home Army. 

However, Jewish sources do not mention that it was the Communist partisans who initiated the conflict 

with the Polish partisans by joining in a treacherous assault on a Home Army commander, which was 

followed by Polish retaliation. Another source of problems for both the Jews and Poles were the Ukrainian 
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guards who, after deserting their posts at the Treblinka death camp, were recruited by the Peopleôs Guard 

based near Wyszk·w.
163
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food and other provisions, open conflict developed between Jewish and Polish partisans. The conflict was not 

inevitable. According to one report, two young Jewish men who were passed from farmer to farmer in the village of 

Zdzieb·rz near Wyszk·w were accepted into the Home Army. See Krystian Brodacki, ñMusimy ich uszanowaĺ!ò 

Tygodnik SolidarnoŜĺ, December 17, 2004. Strangely, the claim, often repeated in Holocaust literature, that the murder 

of Merdek Growasôs group was the work of the National Armed Forces (NSZ) came into being despite the fact that 

Jewish testimonies clearly alleged problems with the Home Army, and not the NSZ, which had no bases in that area. In 

all likelihood, it was the work of a band of partisans belonging to extremist ñMiecz i Pğugò who turned bandit and was 

later eliminated by the Home Army. See Dariusz Libionka, ñPolska konspiracja wobec eksterminacji ŧyd·w w 
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dystrykcie warszawskim,ò in Engelking, et al., eds., Prowincja noc, 475 81. In fact, the source of the problems 

encountered by the Jewish partisans was manifold. Pninah Papier (Grynszpan-Frymer), who survived the failed 

Warsaw ghetto revolt, provides a more complex, albeit disjointed and at times confusing, account of her experience as 

a partisan in the Wyszk·w forest: ñIt was said that there, the Russian partisans would take us on. é Captured Russian 

soldiers who escaped from captivity wandered aimlessly around the forests é They took weapons from us and ran 

away. Even Kshatshek [Wğadysğaw Gaik ñKrzaczekò, the GL contact who brought the Jews to Wyszk·w forestðM.P.] 

did not know these woods. Under his guidance, we once raided a police station and got weapons. But it was a failure, 

because on the next day the Germans started shelling and there were casualties.ò Papier continues: ñOur entire group 

was banged around quite a bit over time and was broken up among various partisan groups. A group from Hashomer 

Hatzair was sent to one partisan outfit and murdered there. Chaim Greenspan (Frimer) went with a group to Czerwony 

Bor [B·r] and we lost all contact with him. On the paths, the Russians attacked us and took our weapons. We did not 

know the woods and by the time we familiarized ourselves with them, only 14 of our group of 60 remained alive. é 

But the situation became increasingly complex. The PPR wanted us, the óAKô wanted us. However both accused us of 

crimes and tried to liquidate us. We fought independently as a group of fighters from the Warsaw Ghetto but being 

isolated, we saw only one solution, which was to return to Warsaw.ò See Pninah Papier [later Grinshpan], ñIn the 

Warsaw Ghetto and in the Wyszkow Forests,ò in Aryeh Shamri and Dov First, eds., Pinkas Novi-Devor (Pinkas Novy-

Dvor) (Tel Aviv: The Organizations of Former Novy-Dvor Jews in Israel, the United States, Canada, Argentina, 

Uruguay and France, 1965). The aforementioned ñKrzaczekò or Wğadysğaw Gaik (sometimes mistakenly referred to as 

Gajek), who had arranged for a truck to collect Jewish escapees from the Warsaw ghetto at a Prosta Street manhole and 

to take them to a Peopleôs Guard base in a forest outside the city, near Ğomianki, helped Jews at various times for free 

and at other times for money. Suspected of being a double agent, ñKrzaczekò is said to have lured Jews out of the 

ghetto to rob and kill them, to have incited the GL command against the Jews, and to have led them on suicidal 

missions. He was eventually executed, according to one source, by the Germans in the ruins of the ghettoðsee Sğownik 

biograficzny dziağaczy polskiego ruchu robotniczego (Warsaw: KsiŃŨka i Wiedza, 1987), vol. 2, 166. Vladka Meed 

(Miedzyrzecki), a courier for the Jewish underground, presents another distorted picture of conditions in Wyszk·w 

forest. While acknowledging that most of the killings of Jewish partisans were occasioned by German raids, she alleges 

that the deterioration of relations with the local villagers was caused by the activities of a ñwild Polish-Ukrainian 

detachment,ò who were actually the aforementioned Ukrainian Treblinka guards taken in by the Peopleôs Guard. They 

ñhad appeared in the neighbouring woods, plundering the houses and raping the women of the villages. As a result, the 

peasants lumped all the partisans together as common criminals. Thus their attitude towards the Jewish partisans also 

changed, and this made the lot of the Jewish fighters even worse than it had been before.ò Meed does not mention that 

Jewish partisans also plundered widely and, typically, lays the ultimate blame for the failure of the Jewish partisan unit 

on the ñtreachery of the Polish underground.ò See Vladka Meed, On Both Sides of the Wall: Memoirs from the Warsaw 

Ghetto (Israel: Beit Lohamei HagettaotïGhetto Fightersô House and Hakibbutz Hameuchad Publishing House, 1972), 

203, 277ï86; Vladka Meed, On Both Sides of the Wall: Memoirs from the Warsaw Ghetto (New York: Holocaust 

Library, 1979), 161, 179, 219ï25, 252. The recollections of Jacob Celemenski, a Bund activist and courier for the 

Jewish underground (ŧOB) who travelled to Wyszk·w forest several times, bringing money for the Jewish partisans 

from the coordinating committee of Bundists and Zionists, contain rather curious information. Celemenski confirms 

that the Jewish partisans suffered severe casualties because of frequent German raids and that a group of Russian 

partisans ñsneaked into the villages every night to find what they could, thereby terrorising the local peasants. This 

gave all partisans, Jewish included, a bad name. Nevertheless, the Jews maintained contact with their Russian 

colleagues.ò According to Celemenski, ñConscience kept them [i.e., the Jewish partisans] from looting peasant villages 

for food; they chose instead large estates or the houses of the wealthy.ò They were also said to be in touch with Polish 

Home Army partisans who were billeted among local peasants. Celemenski does not mention the connection of these 

Jewish partisans to the Communist Peopleôs Guard. However, he does note the following: ñA group of men, women 

and children affiliated with the Pinkert funeral parlor [in Warsaw], had paid Polish communists to settle them in the 

woods. They were faithfully transported, but then the organisers stripped them of their money, food and clothing and 

left them to wander aimlessly. They were helped out by being given some of our own meagre food supply, as well as 

by a peasant woman who was friendly with one of the Pinkert family.ò Reportedly, the woman was his mistress. By the 

spring of 1944, of the original eighty partisans, only thirty remained. The others had either perished or returned to 

Warsaw. According to Celemenski, ñAt this point, both the Russian partisans and some Polish AK insurgents wanted 

the bedraggled ghetto heroes to join their ranks, and threatened to kill them if their proposal was rejected.ò Celemenski 

and Simha Rathaiser (ñKazikòðlater Rotem) were dispatched to Wyszk·w forest early in May 1944, by the Jewish 

Fighting Organization (ŧOB), to come to the aid of the partisans. There they learned that the peasants despise the 

partisans because the partisans raid them for food. They were also told that the Soviet partisans wanted the Jewish 

fighters to join them. ñAbove all, they insisted on the services of two doctors, Zygmund Skurnik and Jurek, as well as 

those of the nurses. They threatened to enforce their will by using their military might if they were refused.ò 

Celemenski goes on to state: ñAt the same time the Polish fighters from AK, with whom we had a friendlier 

relationship, also delivered a strong demand for the Jewish fighters to join their forces, with the same ultimatum: if 

notðbear the consequences. The Jewish partisans, who wanted to belong to neither the Russians nor the Poles, 

understood that the demands of both groups were coming from higher up the command é Perceiving the Russians to 
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be more amenable to compromise, I felt it would be best to first talk the Polish AK out of this plan.ò Celemenski and 

ñKazikò then met with the Polish Home Army representative, a local commander and his party to convey the Jewish 

groupôs refusal to accede to these demands. The Poles would not budge: Proceedings were cordial, but as far as the 

Poles were concerned, there was nothing to bargain over, either we joined or we suffered the consequences. The 

commander expressed, in however comradely a fashion, strict military sentiments. We were going to have to approach 

the top brass in Warsaw, so we asked for three more days to consider our position. The commander consented. Kazik 

took pictures with a small camera, ófor posterityô.ò Celemenski and ñKazikò returned to Warsaw the following day. ñIn 

Warsaw we reported to our people, who immediately went to the AK headquarters and persuaded the command to 

rescind the ultimatum about joining their forces.ò See Celemenski, Elegy For My People, 167ï75. On the other hand, 

Simha Rotem, a representative of the Jewish Fighting Organization (ŧOB), describes these events rather differently and 

doesnôt even mention the Russian partisans. He states that he was assigned to meet representatives of the Home Army 

in the Wyszk·w area ñto try to settle relations between the AK and the ZOB in the forest. The ZOB group had called us 

in and complained bitterly that the AK were conspiring against them, and in fact wanted to destroy them. With Antekôs 

[Yitzhak Zuckerman] intervention, we got in touch with someone from headquarters who was in charge of the area. He 

gave us data and details about holding a meeting with the AK underground commander, who would settle relations 

between the two sides. é Accompanied by several armed companions, I went to the meeting place. é After a few 

polite words, I brought up the problem. To reinforce what I said, I introduced myself as a member of the AK in 

Warsaw, working on their behalf, which was only partly correct, since I é hadnôt been appointed by them. é I 

explained that the AK command wanted them to make peace with the ZOB, and I scolded them for what they had done 

in the past. é my interlocutors promised to make every effort to ensure the safety of our people. In return, they asked 

the members of the ZOB not to pester the peasants in the area. In fact, things did calm down in the area for some time, 

which made our companions feel safer.ò Rotem refers to correspondence from Zuckerman from that period which adds 

yet a different dimension. Reportedly, the AK representative that Rotem met with wanted to check into the affiliation of 

the ŧOBò group. If it belonged to the Polski ZwiŃzek PowstaŒczy (a cryptonym for the Home Army), ñthey would 

leave them alone.ò Zuckermanôs letter goes on to say that the ñ[communist] PPR treats our group as óits own people,ô 

who have a certain autonomy. Recently, they carried out an armed attack in cooperation (with us). The PPR thinks the 

group is acting correctly (they donôt know about their contacts with the AK) otherwise (itôs the AK), they would have 

destroyed them.ò Apparently, Zuckerman wanted to obtain from the AK headquarters a letter confirming the ŧOB 

group affiliation with the Home Army. See Simha Rotem (ñKazikò), Memoirs of a Warsaw Ghetto Fighter: The Past 

Within Me (New Haven and London: Yale University Press, 1994), 87ï95. 
   Other crimes directed at Jews which have been attributed to the non-Communist Polish underground by Jewish 

historians and authors have also been called into question. For example, the alleged murder by a National Armed 

Forces (NSZ) unit of 30 Jews at 25 Dğuga Street in Warsaw, sensationalized by Gazeta Wyborcza on the 50th 

anniversary of the Warsaw Uprising of 1944, was thoroughly discredited by historians. See ŧebrowski, Paszkwil 

Wyborczej, passim; Engelking and Libionka, ŧydzi w powstaŒczej Warszawie, 191. A group of Jews allegedly killed by 

the NSZ in Zakrz·wek near Jan·w Lubleski was, based on Jewish reports from 1946, actually murdered by the 

Germans. See Leszek ŧebrowski, Narodowe Siğy Zbrojne: Dokumenty, struktury, personalia (Warsaw: Burchard 

Edition, 1996), 2: 6, 21ï22 n.4. Contradictory Jewish sources claim that members of the NSZ killed 120 Jews in 

Worczyn, in Volhynia; however, there was no NSZ base in that area and the events themselves are in doubt. See 

Piotrowski, Polandôs Holocaust, 95, 329; Wğadysğaw Siemaszko and Ewa Siemaszko, Ludob·jstwo dokonane przez 

nacjonalist·w ukraiŒskich na ludnoŜci polskiej Woğynia 1939ï1945 (Warsaw: von borowiecky, 2000), vol. 1, 912. See 

also Chodakiewicz, Tajne oblicze GL-AL i PPR, vol. 2, 39ï40 n.18 (concerning the activities of the GL in Rzeczyca, 

falsely attributed to the Home Army), 143ï44 n.17 (concerning the activities of the Peopleôs Army [AL] near 

Lubart·w, falsely attributed to the Home Army); vol. 3: 14, 221ï22 (concerning the activities of GL commander Leon 

Plichta ñWronaò near KraŜnik, falsely attributed to the Home Army); Marek Jan Chodakiewicz, ñLogika fakt·w,ò and 

Leszek ŧebrowski, ñóOdpowiedŦô prof. Krzysztofa Dunin-WŃsowicza, czyli o potrzebie dekomunizacji nauki,ò Zeszyty 

Historyczne WiN-u, no. 9 (December 1996): 275ï92; Gontarczyk, Polska Partia Robotnicza, 318ï19 n.52. The murder 

in June 1944 of Professor Ludwik Widerszal and Jerzy Makowiecki, two officers of Jewish origin serving in the Home 

Army Bureau of Information and Propaganda, is falsely attributed to the NSZ by Piotr Wr·bel, Historical Dictionary of 

Poland, 1945ï1996 (Westport, Connecticut: Greenwood Press, 1998), 203, as is the betrayal of Professor Marceli 

Handelsman (who was arrested by the Gestapo in 1944) by Gunnar S. Paulsson, Secret City, 45. The murder of 

Widerszal appears to have been the work of a counter-intelligence unit led by Andrzej Popğawski (aka Sudeczko), 

attached to the supreme Home Army command, who suspected Widerszal of contacts with the Communists; whereas 

the execution of Makowiecki, who was in favour of reaching a compromise with the Soviets, and his wife may have 

been carried out by the Kripo (criminal police). See Jerzy Janusz Terej, Na rozstajach dr·g: Ze studium nad obliczem i 

modelem Armii Krajowej, 2nd revised and expanded edition (Wrocğaw: Zakğad Narodowy im. OssoliŒskich, 1980), 288; 

Leszek ŧebrowski, ñO polskim sŃdownictwie podziemnym,ò Zeszyty Historyczne WiN, nos. 2ï3 (JanuaryïJune 1991): 

23ï25; (Communist historian) Ryszard Nazarewicz, Armii Ludowej dylematy i dramaty (Warsaw: Oficyna Drukarska, 

1998), 218ï24; and Gontarczyk, Polska Partia Robotnicza, 381 n.64; Marek Strok and Mariusz Olczak, ñKto zabiğ 

Makowieckich?ò Rzeczpospolita, October 10, 2009. One of the members of the group of assassins of Ludwik 

Widerszal was Tobiasz Berkal, a Betar member who served in the Home Army under the name of Paweğ Ostrowski. 
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Although Berkal survived the war, there is no record of his having alleged that Widerszalôs execution had anything to 

do with his Jewish origin. See Dariusz Libionka and Laurence Weinbaum, Bohaterowie, hochsztaplerzy, opisywacze: 

Wok·ğ ŧydowskiego ZwiŃzku Wojskowego (Warsaw: Stowarzyszenie Centrum BadaŒ nad ZagğadŃ, 2011), 38. 

According to another version, the perperators were an unaffiliated extremist radical group. See Tomasz Strzembosz, 

Rzeczpospolita podziemna: SpoğeczeŒstwo polskie a paŒstwo podziemne 1939ï1945 (Warsaw: Krupski i S-ka, 2000), 

317; Janusz Marszalec, ñNa obrzeŨach legendy: Kontrowersje wok·ğ dziağalnoŜci podziemia w latach 1939ï1944,ò in 

Sğawomir Poleszak and Adam Puğawski, eds., Podziemie zbrojne na LubelszczyŦnie wobec dw·ch totalitaryzm·w 

1939ï1956 (Warsaw: Instytut Pamiňci NarodowejïKomisja ścigania Zbrodni przeciwko Narodowi Polskiemu, 2002), 

90, 93ï94; Grzegorz Mazur (interviewed by Jan Tomasz Lipski), ñNarodowe Siğy Zbrojne,ò Gazeta Wyborcza, March 

30ï31, 2002; Janusz Marszalec, ñMorderstwo na Makowieckich i Widerszalu: Stara sprawa, nowe pytania, nowe 

wŃtpliwoŜci,ò in Zagğada ŧyd·w: Studia i materiağy, vol. 2 (2006): 23ï53. For other theories see Gondek, Polska 

karzŃca 1939ï1945, 75ï76; Piotr LipiŒski, ñRaport Rzepeckiego (2),ò Gazeta Wyborcza, December 28ï29, 2002; 

Sebastian Bojemski, ñLikwidacja Widerszala i Makowieckich, czyli Janusz Marszalec widzi drzewa, a nie widzi lasu,ò 

Glaukopis: Pismo spoğeczno-historyczne (Warsaw), no. 9ï10 (2007ï2008): 364ï72. Historian Robert Kuwağek alleged, 

erroneously, that in July 1944, Polish partisans, either the Home Army or the National Armed Forces, killed a group of 

some 70 Jews hiding in a forest near Uchanie, near Hrubies·w. See Robert Kuwağek, ñŧydowski ruch oporu,ò Internet: 

<http://archive.is/zC6g>. In fact, six or seven Jews were killed by a band of criminals, who soon after joined the 

Communist Citizenôs Militia. See Anna Ambroziak, ñPrzeprosiny tylko lokalne,ò Nasz Dziennik, January 28, 2014. 

Al though the National Armed Forces has become a convenient scapegoat, about 90 percent of the references in Yad 

Vashem accounts to alleged misdeeds committed by Polish partisans refer to the Home Army as perpetrators, not the 

NSZ. See Gutman and Krakowski, Unequal Victims, 217ï20. The same holds true for the post-ñliberationò period, at 

least in the province of Lublin, where the anti-Communist underground was particularly active. According to research 

by historian Rafağ Wnuk, the vast majority of altercations with Jews, in various capacities, are attributable to the Home 

Army and its successor underground organization, Freedom and Independence (WolnoŜĺ i NiepodlegğoŜĺðWiN). See 

Rafağ Wnuk, Lubelski Okrňg AK DSZ i WiN, 1944ï1947 (Warsaw: Volumen, 2000), 268ï453. The tendency to lay 

blame on the NSZ for most crimes committed against Jews is a remnant of postwar Stalinist propaganda which took 

every opportunity to vilify that movement. See Dariusz Mağyszek, ñNarodowe Siğy Zbrojne w PRL i na emigracji w 

latach 1945ï1989 w Ŝwietle historiografii, publicystyki, literatury oraz filmu,ò Pamiňĺ i SprawiedliwoŜĺ, no. 2 (10) 

(2006): 245ï46.  

   Some of the most outrageous chargesðwhich have been thoroughly discreditedðpertain to the Warsaw Uprising of 

August 1944. According to Reuben Ainsztein, the Home Army told Yitzhak Zuckerman, the commander of the Jewish 

Fighting Organization (ŧOB), that ñthere was no room for his men in the Home Army.ò Ainsztein also claims: ñThe 

Polish fascists probably killed more Jews than Germans during the uprising é Many of the Polish Nazis [sic] were 

former officers and as such were given command of Home Army units, where they did their best to intensify anti-

Jewish hatreds by telling their men that the reason why the Red Army had stopped on the eastern bank of the Vistula 

was because it was commanded by Jews responsible for the Katyn massacre, who now wanted to take revenge on the 

Poles for the Warsaw ghetto. In view of the bad conscience of many of their soldiers on this subject, their propaganda 

was not without success.ò See Ainsztein, Jewish Resistance in Nazi-Occupied Europe, 674, 676, and generally, 674ï81. 

Similar charges were repeated by Shmuel Krakowski, in his The War of the Doomed, 275ï91. Marysia Warman (n®e 

Bronisğawa or Bronka Feinmesser), a Jewish activist and liaison officer on the ñAryanò side of Warsaw who was 

married to Zygmunt Warman, a ŧOB fighter who escaped from the ghetto together with Yitzhak Zuckerman and Marek 

Edelman, denies this blanket refusal: ñWhen the Polish uprising broke out, Antek [Zuckerman] and Marek [Edelman] 

went to the higher officers in the Polish [Home] army and asked them to take us as a group, as the Jewish Fighting 

Organization. They refused. óIndividually, please come, but not as a group; we wonôt give you any commander.ôò See 

Gurewitsch, Mothers, Sisters, Resisters, 288. See also Gustaw Kerszman, Jak ginŃĺ, to razem (Montreal: Polish-Jewish 

Heritage Foundation, 2003), 123. This attitude on the part of the Home Army should not be surprising given that the 

ŧOB remnants were, at the same time, negotiating with the Communist underground (where Zuckerman admits their 

loyalities layðZuckerman, A Surplus of Memory, 523, 534) and had themselves refused to merge with the anti-

Communist Jewish Military Union (ŧZW) on the eve of the April 1943 revolt in the Warsaw ghetto, agreeing only to 

accept ŧZW members individually, and not as a group. Many of Ainsztein and Krakowskiôs charges were challenged 

or toned down in Gunnar S. Paulssonôs Secret City, 168ï98. Polish historians have examined the charges more 

rigorously and have marshalled compelling evidence to discredit most of them. Janusz Marszalec believes that some 

15ï20 Jews were killed by criminal elements (some of them Home Army members) during the course of the uprising. 

See ŧebrowski, Paszkwil Wyborczej, passim; Teresa Prekerowa, ñŧydzi w Powstaniu Warszawskim,ò in Marian Marek 

Drozdowski et al., eds., Powstanie Warszawskie z perspektywy p·ğwiecza: Studia i materiağy z sesji naukowej na 

Zamku Kr·lewskim w Warszawie 14ï15 czerwca 1994 (Warsaw: Instytut Historyczny PAN, 1995), 84ï94; Janusz 

Marszalec, Ochrona porzŃdku i bezpieczeŒstwa publicznego w Powstaniu Warszawskim (Warsaw: Rytm, 1999), 251ï

61. As Norman Davies rightly concludes, the accusations that had been repeated for decades are grossly exaggerated 

and, by and large, Jews served in the ranks of the Polish underground without incident. See Davies, Rising ô44, 287. In 

some cases, the Polish underground had merely liquidated Gestapo or Kripo agents and informers who happened to be 

Jewish. See, for example, Marszalec, Ochrona porzŃdku i bezpieczeŒstwa publicznego w Powstaniu Warszawskim, 369 
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(a Gestapo agent named Haman). In fact, there were quite a few Jewish agents and informers not only in Warsaw, but 

also in virtually every ghetto and town throughout occupied Poland. They constituted a source of danger not only for 

Jews in hiding but also for the Polish underground. Historian Yehuda Bauer concedes that Jewish collaborators caused 

ñtremendous damage.ò See Yehuda Bauer, Rethinking the Holocaust (New Haven and London: Yale University Press, 

2001), 148. For some examples of Jewish testimonies confirming this phenomenon see: Levin, Fighting Back, 115, 280 

(Wilno), 311 (Kaunas), 314 (Wilno, Oszmiana), 346 (Kaunas); Grynberg and Kotowska eds., ŧycie i zagğada ŧyd·w 

polskich 1939ï1945, 7ï8 (Krak·w), 131 (Wğodawa), 181, 184, 187 (Czňstochowa), 191 (Kielce), 254 (Skierniewice), 

283 (Lw·w), 392 (Biağystok), 409 (ĞomŨa), 540, 551 (Wilno). Numerous other examples can be found in the Mark 

Paulôs study, Patterns of Cooperation, Collaboration, and Betrayal: Jews, Germans and Poles in German-Occupied 

Poland during World War II, 2012, Internet: <http://www.kpk-toronto.org/archives/Collaboration.pdf> and 

<http://glaukopis.pl/pdf/czytelnia/PatternsOfCooperationCollaborationAndBetrayal.pdf>. 

   In actual fact, many members of nationalist organizations came to the assistance of Jews during the German 

occupation. Some Jews even fought in the ranks of the National Armed Forces (Narodowe Siğy ZbrojneïNSZ), despite 

its reputation in Holocaust literature as being virulently anti-Semitic. A number of Jews came forward as witnesses on 

behalf of their wartime benefactors who were members of the Home Army or National Armed Forces when the latter 

were put on trial by the Communist authorities after the war. The number of false charges levelled against Poles for 

crimes against Jews, doubtless motivated by blind revenge, ran very high. See Hera, Polacy ratujŃcy ŧyd·w, 88ï89. In 

one case, Jews testified on behalf of National Armed Forces officers who had sheltered them and were charged with 

killing some Soviet partisans; the latter, it turned out, had murdered a Polish family and raped and plundered in the 

Ğuk·w area. See Chodakiewicz, Tajne oblicze GL-AL i PPR, vol. 2, 92ï93; Leszek ŧebrowski, ñóOdpowiedŦô prof. 

Krzysztofa Dunin-WŃsowicza, czyli o potrzebie dekomunizacji nauki,ò Zeszyty Historyczne WiN-u, no. 9 (December 

1996): 284ï85. For additional examples of Jews testifying on behalf of NSZ members see: Chodakiewicz, ŧydzi i 

Polacy 1918ï1955, 427ï32; Marek Jan Chodakiewicz, After the Holocaust: Polish-Jewish Conflict in the Wake of 

World War II (Boulder, Colorado: East European Monographs, 2003), 189ï90, 194ï96 (many examples); Leon Guz, 

Targowa 64: Dziennik 27 I 1943ï11 IX 1944, 2nd edition (Warsaw: Czytelnik, 2001), 94ï95; Krystyna KabziŒska, ed., 

Sylwetki kobiet-Ũoğnierzy (ToruŒ: Fundacja Archiwum i Muzeum Pomorskie Armii Krajowej oraz Wojskowej SğuŨby 

Polek, 2003), 237ï40 (Maria Krystyna Nachtman, an NSZ liaison officer, rescued Dr. Zachariasz Frank of Woğomin); 

Ğukasz KamiŒski and Jan ŧaryn, eds., Reflections on the Kielce Pogrom (Warsaw: Institute of National Remembrance, 

2006), 95ï96; Jan ŧaryn, ñElity obozu narodowego wobec zagğady ŧyd·w,ò in ŧbikowski, Polacy i ŧydzi pod 

okupacjŃ niemieckŃ 1939ï1945, 393; Ğukasz KamiŒski and Jan ŧaryn, eds., Wok·ğ pogromu kieleckiego, vol. 1 

(Warsaw: Instytut Pamiňci NarodowejïKomisja ścigania Zbrodni przeciwko Narodowi Polskiemu, 2006), 90; Daniel 

Wojciechowski, ñDwukrotny wiňzieŒ Mokotowa: Ks. Mieczysğaw Poğoska (1896ï1981), Nasz Dziennik, January 5ï6, 

2008; KamiŒski and ŧaryn, eds., Reflections on the Kielce Pogrom, 95ï96; Wojciech Jerzy MuszyŒski, ñóCzarny 

mecenasô,ò Biuletyn Instytutu Pamiňci Narodowej, no. 3 (2009): 53ï56 (Jerzy Zakulski from Krak·w rescued Maria 

Bernstein, Mirosğaw Ostromňcki, Jerzy Regulski, Edward Kemnitz); Hera, Polacy ratujŃcy ŧyd·w, 192 (Czesğaw 

Fabisiak), 210 (Rev. Bolesğaw GrudzieŒski), 262 (Janina Sabina Konopacka), 344 (Mirosğaw Ostromňcki). On Jews 

who served in the NSZ, especially during the Warsaw Uprising, and NSZ members who came to their assistance, see: 

Chaim Lazar Litai, Muranowska 7: The Warsaw Ghetto Rising (Tel Aviv: MassadaïP.E.C. Press, 1966), 327; 

Friedman, Their Brothersô Keepers, 115; Bartoszewski and Lewin, eds., Righteous Among Nations, 590ï91 (Wğadek 
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   Robbery and the use of violence, as Jewish partisans themselves concede, were widespread. This 

occurred even when the partisans had money to acquire food and no need to resort to brutal tactics. A 

partisan in the Jewish ñAdolfò partisan unit in the southern part of the Lublin province presents the 

situation is a succinct and clear light: 

 

Jews from the nearby villages made up the bulk of the unit. They often fought battles, they robbed 

in order to gain provisions. The food was generally good, due to the energy of the partisans.164 

 

In the summer of 1943, a Jewish band came at night to rob a Polish estate near Ryki, northwest of Lublin, 

belonging to a landowner named Kuszel. When he came to the defence of his daughterôs honour, he was 

murdered. In the environs of KraŜnik groups of Jews attacked well-to-do Polish families. Not only did they 

rob their homes, but they killed some of them and made off with a few young women.
165

 Violence begot 

                                                                                                                                                                             
Poland (Edinburgh and London: Mainstream, 2002), 184ï208. Stanisğaw Ostwind-Zuzga, the NSZ commander in the 

county of Wňgr·w, who was of Jewish origin, was executed by the Communist authorities in 1945. See Mariusz 

Bechta, éMiňdzy BolszewiŃ a Niemcami: Konspiracja polityczna i wojskowa Polskiego Obozu Narodowego na 

Podlasiu w latach 1939ï1952, Second revised edition (Warsaw: Instytut Pamiňci Narodowej and Rytm, 2009), 519. 

Several NSZ officers in the Podlasie region rescued Jews during the German occupation, among them Stanisğaw 

MiodoŒski, and Jerzy Wojtkowski. Ibid., 142, 529. Staszek Kotok, a musician from Wilno living in Warsaw, obtained 

forged documents from the National Radical Camp (Ob·z Narodowo-RadykalnyïONR) and became its liaison officer, 

travelling by train and playing folk tunes like a beggar, while passing on instructions, secret orders, and documents to 

the units of the underground organization. See Severin Gabriel, In the Ruins of Warsaw Streets (Jerusalem and New 

York: Gefen, 2005), 46 47. On May 5, 1945, the NSZôs Brygada świňtokrzyska (Holy Cross Brigade), under the 

command of Colonel Antoni Szacki (ñBohun-DŃbrowskiò), rescued about 1,000 prisonersðincluding 280 Jewsðwhen 

they loberated the womenôs concentration camp in HolĨġov near PlzeŔ (Pilsen), in Bohemia. (This rescue operation, 

which was more daring and effective than any undertaken by Jewish partisans, was reported in the June 19, 1986 issue 

of The Jewish Voice.) When the Stalinist security forces went on a killing spree that targeted opposition political 

activists, Stanisğaw Radkiewicz, the Minister of Public Security, publicly blamed ñthe NSZ thugsò for the murders. See 

Piotr LipiŒski, ñKto zabiğ Bolesğawa ñściborka?ò Gazeta Wyborcza, April 17ï18, 2004. The charge that the NSZ 

collaborated with the Nazis, which was a staple of postwar Stalinist propaganda and is found in many Jewish memoirs, 

has been authoritatively discredited by secret Gestapo reports that unequivocally reject this notion based on the NSZôs 

anti-German wartime record. See Leszek ŧebrowski, ñNarodowe Siğy Zbrojne,ò in Encyklopedia ñBiağych Plamò 

(Radom: Polskie Wydawnictwo Encyklopedyczne, 2003), vol. 12, 288. In fact, it was the NSZ who was responsible for 

the death of General Kurt Renner, the only German general assassinated by the Polish underground during the 

occupation. See Gontarczyk, Polska Partia Robotnicza, 269. Although the NSZ is often also blamed for killing more 

Peopleôs Guard members than the Home Army, the available data simply does not support that claim either. Ibid., 300, 

n.77. These examples, among many, illustrate how inadequate and unreliable the present state of research is. For a 

comprehensive assessment of relations between the Polish underground and the Jews in the county of Jan·w 

Lubelski/KraŜnik see the recent study by Marek Jan Chodakiewicz, Between Nazis and Soviets: Occupation Politics in 

Poland, 1939ï1947 (Lanham, Maryland: Lexington Books, 2004), chapters 4 and 5. That author shows that far more 

Jews died at the hands of the Communist underground and bandit groups individually than at the hands of the Home 

Army and National Armed Forces combined. Ibid., 153, 155, 177 n.100. 

 
164

 Hersz Bronerôs testimony is cited in John Lowell Armstrong, ñThe Polish Underground and the Jews: A 

Reassessment of Home Army Commander Tadeusz B·r-Komorowskiôs Order 116 Against Banditry,ò The Slavonic 

and East European Review 72, no. 2 (April 1994): 273. Tuwie Miller, the commander of the Jewish police in Parys·w 

near Garwolin, used threats to obtain weapons from villagers and then forced them to supply his forest group with food. 

A local Home Army commander protected him nonetheless. See Dariusz Libionka, ñPolska konspiracja wobec 

eksterminacji ŧyd·w w dystrykcie warszawskim,ò Engelking, Leociak and Libionka, eds., Prowincja noc, 491ï92.  

 
165

 Janusz Gmitruk, Arkadiusz Indraszczyk, and Adam Koseski, eds., Pro Memoria (1941ï1944): Raporty 

Departamentu Informacji Delegatury RzŃdu RP na Kraj o zbrodniach na narodzie polskim (Warszawa and Puğtusk: 

Muzeum Historii Polskiego Ruchu Ludowego w Warszawie and WyŨsza Szkoğa Humanistyczna im. Aleksandra 

Gieysztora, 2004/2005), 399. 



 115 

violence. On September 7, 1943, in Kozice Dolne, south of Lublin, a Jewish forest group set fire to eight 

farmhouses and murdered the wife and young child of a certain Kasprzak, who had killed a Jewish family 

from Piaski sheltered by the village head man for some time.
166

 

   A group of Jews who escaped from RadzyŒ Podlaski formed a partisan group led by Yitzhak Kleinman, 

and lived in bunkers in a forest not far from the village of Stara WieŜ. In March 1942, they robbed a small 

dairy processing plant located on a landownerôs estate near that village and killed the German-appointed 

director. Containers of cheese and butter were hauled away by horse and wagon and shared with their 

comrades in the forest. Soon after, German gendarmes captured one of the bunkers and shot the Jews 

hiding there. Kleinmanôs group decided to take revenge on the peasant believed to have reported the bunker 

to the Germans. One night armed partisans descended on his home, locked everything from the outside and 

set it on fire. The peasant and his entire family perished in the flames.
167

 

   Leibl (Lejb) Goldberg, a native of Miňdzyrzec Podlaski, describes a pattern of robberies his Jewish forest 

group engaged in, pretending to be Russian partisans (unpersuasively), which sometimes descended to the 

level of outright terrorization of the impoverished local population. Ocasionally, they met with defiance 

from peasants who were being robbed and encountered partisans who came to protect the villagers from 

repeated raids.  

 

We headed toward a lone house standing in the field. A lamp was lit in one of the windows. I 

stopped near the house and my colleagues stood a little farther away. With feigned energy I started 

knocking on the door and called out [in Russian], ñOpen up.ò The window opened and a frightened 

voice answered, ñPlease, please.ò A woman handed two five-kilo loaves of bread through the 

window.ò I yelled, ñToo little, give more.ò é Leaving I asked the woman whether Russians came 

here. She answered that they did and that people were afraid of them. Now we knew how to behave. 

We went away. We had 12 kilos of bread. My colleagues became bolder. We approached the next 

house which was also located off the beaten track. Here too I yelled [in Russian], ñOpen upò and 

knocked loudly. I entered the house first, and behind me Moshe Sztajbnerg. The rest stood sentry 

outside. In order to scare the residents I said in Russian, ñWe have automatic weapons. Iôll shoot 

anyone who leaves the house.ò When the householders were sufficiently frightened, we searched 

the house. The house was well off. We found bread, half a metre of buckwheat, and flour. é In the 

same way we worked our way through five more houses. We took away full bags. Each one 

weighed at least 150 kilos. They were full of food with a large quantity of bread. We marched back 

with joy and pride. é 

   We decided to secure coal for the entire winter. Observing the surroundings we noticed that a 

worker from the power station é had amassed many bricks of coal. We calculated that we needed 
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1,000 bricks for three months. We went to his house. é It was dark in the house é We went to the 

stable which was near the house, tore off the lock with a staple and entered inside. é Most of all we 

took potatoes and garlic and hid them not far from our hideout. I stood sentry when the others left 

with the potatoes. Suddenly it became light in the house. Apparently the householders had heard us. 

Thinking what to do now I said loudly and emphatically, ñIôll at one shoot anyone who leaves the 

residence.ò It became dark in the house. My colleagues returned. é Everyone again loaded up 

some bricks [of coal] and we went back and forth three times. We set the bricks not far from our 

hideout. Standing sentry I noticed there was an opening in the stable leading to the attic. I 

understood that there must be something there. When my colleagues returned I said, ñMoshe, climb 

up and see whatôs there.ò He climbed up and said that there was about a meter of onions, two down-

filled pillows and some underclothes. I ordered abruptly, ñTake everything down.ò é We took 

everything to that same place. é 

   We decided to make our third round in a remote colony of the same village. We heard the sound 

of music in the village which was coming from one house. é Lozer [PotaŨ] and I looked through 

the window into the house while the others waited at a distance. Through the window I saw some 

couples dancing. é Suddenly someone left the house and started to call his dog. é The Christian 

became visibly frightened of us and asked us not to cause a commotion. He brought us some milk 

but we didnôt want to drink. You could hear music from a record player in the house é I entered 

inside. Fear descended on all those gathered in the residence. The girls went to another room. é 

Moshe and Lozer also entered the residence holding their hands on their holsters to give the 

impression that they had weapons. I saw that it made an impression on everyone. I yelled, ñPlay a 

tango.ò They played a tango right away but the girls were afraid of dancing with me. The boys 

pushed them toward me by force. After dancing with one for a few minutes I said, ñThereôs 

something wrong with her, give me another.ò Moshe also wanted to dance. I gave an order, ñWeôre 

leaving!ò 

   We went to the first better looking cottage and knocked on the door. It was opened immediately. 

We took a sack of buckwheat and bread and left. Not far from us we heard yelling, ñHurrah, Jews, 

hurrah,ò but no one had the courage to come closer to us. We realized that it would not be good to 

work in this village. é 

   We kept returning to the village of Sitno. We felt more sure of ourselves with a rifle. Entering a 

house we asked the owner, ñWhatôs your name?ò He answered Jan, for example. Then looking deep 

into his eyes, I said, for example, ñNo, your name is Wacğaw.ò In order to frighten him some more I 

took a German cartridge out of my pocket and inserted it into my Russian rifle é This always 

worked. The Christian in these cases would always fall on his knees in front of me and cry, ñSir, my 

name is Jan,ò and he would show me various documents to convince me. I waited precisely for that. 

Then I said politely, ñIf you are Wacğaw, you will live.ò In these situations his wife and children 

would also cry a great deal. When everyone was sufficiently terrified I conducted a search during 

which we always found some flour, grease, and buckwheat. é When the Christian saw us on the 

other side of his door he thanked God and bid us farewell for the road. é 

   Our next raid was in Sitno, for meat. I stood sentry with my rifle. My colleagues entered the 

cowshed and tied up a pig. Suddenly, at a distance of 20 steps, I noticed someone lighting a 

cigarette. I aimed the rifle in his direction but the dim light immediately disappeared. I went to my 
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colleagues and said, ñWe have to be careful, theyôre getting something ready for us.ò é Suddenly I 

heard a voice and a shot from a pistol in my direction. I ran to my colleagues and yelled, ñWe have 

to run, theyôre going to shoot at us!ò We left the pig that was tied up and ran away. They kept 

shooting at us. All of the roads were staked out. We chanced on a side road which we took in the 

direction of the town. Thinking that we came from the forest, they had not staked out that road. We 

didnôt return to that village anymore. Not wanting to return home empty-handed, we made a detour 

from the main road to several houses and again brought back some food, grease and vodka. é 

   Two days later we went on another foray. We decided to start in a remoter colony of the same 

vill age. We arrived at the first cottage. They opened [the door] for us. We took some bread, some 

food and went to the next house. They didnôt want to open [the door] for us. But when the owner 

looked out the window and saw a rifle he softened and opened right away. I entered the house with 

Moshe. Here we also took bread and meat. We heard a strange pounding. I thought that someone 

was in the attic and that it was the echo of their footsteps, but suddenly the peasant threw himself on 

his knees in front of us and yelled, ñRun away, save us!ò They though that Germans were coming. 

They were afraid that if they encountered Jews they would kill them too. But these were Polish 

partisans. We left. They shot many rounds of gunfire at us. They were evidently waiting for us 

because the previous night we had taken a pig here. We escaped through the courtyard. é 

   At night we went to RogoŦnica to [Lozer Potazôs] friend, a Christian. We thought we would get 

something more from him but he only gave us a small piece of bread, saying he didnôt have more. 

We rested in his barn all day and at night we went out to look for bread. We knocked on [the doors 

of] several homes. They handed us bread through the window. We had enough for ourselves. We 

approached a cottage where we had been several times. As usual, after knocking, we asked for a 

piece of bread. The inhabitants started to yell, ñThese are the Jews.ò Immediately people appeared 

from all ends and started to run in our direction. We went into the grain and from there into a small 

forest where there were enormous pools. We threw our sack into a ditch and ran farther. As we ran 

we heard a few shots.168 

 

   Initial friendly relations often withered away over time, as was the case in the area northwest of Lublin, 

where the familiar cycle was repeated. Alter Roset, who together with his family was hidden in a dug-out in 

the barn of a Polish farmer, recalled: 

 

Apart from our family which was composed of six people, there were several other Jewish families 

who, like us, survived the war in hideouts in Pğouszowice. é 

   In the vicinity of Pğouszowice several Jews started up a partisan group under the leadership of one 

Mordechaj [Ki ersztenbaum or Kirszenbaum], called Marcinek from Markusz·w. Marcinek and his 
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partisan group, which included Jews from Lublin, kept attacking [the cottages of] peasants and 

forced them to hand over arms and food. The peasants had to carry out their orders but looked for 

ways to get rid of him.  

   One day when the entire partisan group came to the home of one of the peasants, that peasant sent 

his daughter to inform the Germans é 

   The Germans immediately surrounded the house and started to shoot the partisans with their 

machine guns. Only Marcinek, the leader, managed to escape the gunfire and hide in a nearby barn. 

é 

   When Marcinek saw that the Germans had left, he left the barn several hours later. Then some 

peasants armed with axes and scythes threw themselves at him, but, with the help of a few grenades 

he had on him, Marcinek killed around fifteen peasants, and forced the others to flee. Then, out of 

revenge, he set fire to several cottages. 

  Fleeing from there, he came across of the members of his partisan group named Icchok, who also 

managed to escape the Germansô gunfire. 

   They learned about our hideout and came to us. We hid both of them. But the peasants found out 

about this and wanted to force our host to turn all of us over. 

   Our peasant did not want to turn us over, and only later when he and his family started to get 

threats did he tell us to leave the hideout. é 

   We remained in the village wandering around for six weeks until the peasant took us back.169  

 

   In his memoir, Samuel Gruber (ñMietekò), the leader of a Jewish partisan group in that same area, wrote: 

 

Why not see what we could get from these peasants? 

   We followed Genekôs suggestion with dispatch. Some of the peasants gave us a little difficulty. 

They belonged to the Armja [Armia] Krajowa é The result was that we had to administer a few 

good beatings to those peasants before we could get any weapons at all. But in some instances my 

one pistol, brandished with the proper gestures into a slow-witted peasantôs face, was sufficient. 

Our forays into the countryside near the Garbowky [Garb·w] Forest yielded us a grand total of ten 

rifles and about a dozen rounds of ammunition. é 

   Not long before, we had lost another one of our group: Kaganovich. He had gone with Szengut, 

Tolka, and some of the Markuszow [Markusz·w] men to get weapons from the Poles. They were 

stopped by a German patrol. é Among the dead was Kaganovich. The next morning we went into 

the forest to bury him. We took away with us his personal possessions, his gun, his wrist watch, his 

cigarette lighter and some gold coins. é 

   Worse, the peasants in the area became increasingly hostile. é [they] did not take kindly to the 

idea that they should be called upon to feed Jews. More often than not, our men approaching a 

farmhouse would be met by ferocious dogs. Some of the peasants organized themselves into a self-
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defense force to keep the Jewish partisans away. [In actual fact, these measures were taken against 

all marauders without distinction.ðM.P.] é 

   One night two of our men, [Yitzhak] Morel and Shmuel Topper carrying his precious machine 

gun, led a small group on a food-gathering mission to a village where we had always been given a 

friendly reception. But this time our comrades suddenly found themselves surrounded by Poles and 

a pack of vicious, snarling dogs. Before they could regain their wits, Morel and Shmuel had their 

machine gun taken from them and found themselves forced against a wall. The Poles opened fire 

on them. The others in the group escaped, but Morel and Shmuel were killed. 

   The news sent our whole camp into an uproar. We decided to take drastic action. Jaeger and I led 

a patrol of 20 men, including a band of Markuszow boys under Sever Rubinstein, to the village. We 

ordered all the villagers out of their houses and herded them together into the village square. é 

After we had cleared the village of its entire population, including horses, cows and birds, we set 

fire to the barns and houses. Within hours, the village had been reduced to a pile of rubble. On the 

way back to our camp, we scattered some crudely lettered on the road, telling what we had done to 

that particular village, and why. é 

  And so, on February 9, 1943, é we left Dropôs farm [a helpful PolishðM.P.] and plodded 

through the snow to the nearby village of Pryzcowa-Gura [Pryszczowa G·ra]. There we knew 

several peasants who had, in fact, given us shelter on other occasions. We were in luck, for this 

time, too, they readily took us in for the night. é 

   It seems that the villagers [in Pryszczowa G·ra, where the Jewish partisans had killed a Polish 

boy whose father allegedly reported their presence to the GermansðM.P.] took the words of their 

priest [who urged the villagers to provide food to the partisans and not to report them to the 

Germans, as they were enjoined to, until they left the villageðM.P.] to heart, for the next day they 

treated us with unusual deference and hospitality. They gave us food, clothing, and even shoes é 

However, this was not enough for some of our men. They went out on their own and, instead of 

asking peasants for what they wanted, acted the part of thieves and holdup men. 

   One of our boys was in the habit of going out, armed with a revolver and rifle, to hold up 

farmsteads in the area, demanding food, clothing and money. é But even our friends did not like 

being held up for what they might have given us of their own free will, and they gave us a full and 

angry report of his activities. é 

   We had made friends also with some Polish non-Jews, particularly in a hamlet called 

Przypisowka [Przypis·wka, a village whose inhabitants were known for their pillagingðM.P.]. 

Nearly every boy from that village had, at one time or other, gone out into the woods to help the 

partisans. These youngsters were quite a different breed é170 

   Early in the summer of 1943 we had an unpleasant incident with the ñA.K.ò A small group of our 

men, including Jaeger and myself, had gone into one of the villages [pillaging] for food é 

Somehow, the ñA.K.ò unit in the area got wind of our whereabouts and they opened fire on us é 

We returned the fire and the shooting went on for almost half the day. é At any rate, luck was with 
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us, and none of our men was hurt. But we wanted to find out who had put the ñA.K.ò on our trail. 

We had our answer. é 

   We called on our Polish friends from the village of Przypisowka for help. They promptly came to 

our aid and before long we had flushed out all the troublemakers. The man [who had been robbed] 

who had caused our recent trouble with the ñA.K.ò confessed without too much prodding. We shot 

him right then and there, and buried him in the woods. As for the other spies, our men tracked them 

down to their homes, where they made short shrift of them. é 

   Another time, we found that we were being followed by a group of boys on bicycles. é We gave 

the boys a proper grilling and proceeded to beat them up. In no time at all, they broke down and 

told us that they had been under orders from a German task force set up expressly for spying on 

partisans. They said that they were not Poles but Ukrainians. é 

   But at the moment these young Ukrainians who had trailed us apparently had little heart for 

killing. They turned tail. Yet we captured them all and shot them. Zelazny Eisenberg, who was 

strong as an ox, picked up one of them bodily, lifted him above his head and flung him to the 

ground before putting a bullet through him. 

   After this incident, we moved to another locality é Here, the Poles actually behaved as friends, 

keeping us informed of all German movements in the neighborhood. é 

   é Another one of our men, Issar, asked to be let loose in Markuszow, where he had quite a few 

friends. There, he said, he would have a field day roughing up any Germans or ñA.K.ò members he 

might find. é 

   We took David and his wife Bela and her sister Blimka to the village of Wola-Przybyskowska 

[Wola Przybysğawska] where friendly farmers would take care of our wounded. é 

   I proposed that my own small group should look for a farmstead and stop there for a rest. Before 

long, we saw a likely place. We knocked at the door and were invited in at once [likely by a fearful 

farmerðM.P.] 

   Inside we settled down to an impromptu party as we usually did after a successful operation. We 

always carried in our baggage a supply of sausage and vodka, obtained as gifts, or loot, from 

affluent farmers é 

   We had in our unit a young man who happened to be a cousin of Franek [Efraim] Blaichman. 

Somehow, this young man had got hold of a bicycle from one of the farm boys in the area, and took 

to riding around on it. é bicycles were not often seen about those regions during that period. é 

And so it happened that one of our men [Jankel Klerer], seeing Blaichmanôs cousin from a distance 

riding on a bicycle, mistook him for a Nazi spy and opened fire. Luckily, the manôs aim was not 

accurate, and Franek Levin [Froim Lewin] was only wounded in the arm. é The wound was very 

serious, and Franek Levin never regained the full use of his arm. é  

   Mietek [i.e., Communist partisan leader Mieczysğaw Moczar] borrowed some of our men for a 

special mission: to teach a lesson to a gang of Ukrainian and Lithuanian collaborators who were 

ambushing partisans in the village of Jamne [Jamy]. The men picked for the mission included Sever 

Rubinstein, Franek Blaichman and Bolek Alef [Bolkowiak] é There had been a full-scale battle, in 

which many of the Germans and their collaborators were killed. None of our own men had been 

hurt. é  
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   Some of our men volunteered to go back to our former bases west of Wieprz [River], raid some 

of the more affluent farmers and take the horses. é I felt they would be risking their lives for no 

good reason. Still, a large group of our men disregarded my advice and went out to look for horses. 

They took some fine saddled horses é and set out to rejoin us.171 

  

   Unlike Samuel Gruber, the aforementioned Franek (Frank) Blaichman, whose partisan group joined 

Gruberôs group in June 1943, does not mention in his memoir taking part in any robberies of local farmers 

or the use of force to obtain arms from them (allegedly the farmers provided arms willingly). He does recall 

that his group was accused of such robberies by the local leaders of the Home Army, ñwhich was fiercely 

anti-Semitic.ò
172

 From his description of the encounters with the Home Army, however, one can infer that 

the measures taken against the Jewish partisans were in response to raids on farms, which the Home Army 

tried to curtail, and not because of alleged ñorders from London that no Jew should be permitted to 

survive,ò which historians know never existed. 

 

About ten days after this meeting, thirty of us were traveling from one village to another in five 

horse-drawn carriages. There were some trees and houses about fifty feet off to one side of the 

road. Suddenly, shots rang out. Someone was shooting at the lead wagon. We all jumped down, 

spread out, and started to return fire, though it was hard to make out where the shooters were. The 

exchange of fire went on for maybe a quarter of an hour. Then we waited, listening, and heard 

people running. We ran after them, shooting as we ran. We killed two of themðwe saw their 

bodies sprawled on the ground as we ranðand flushed out the others, who had tried to hide behind 

a couple of sheds. When they saw that they were outnumbered, they dropped their guns. We had 

expected men. These were just young punks. 

    Under questioning, they said that they were members of the AK, the anti-Semitic Home Army. 

They had been ordered to kill us because we were Jews and because we robbed farms. They said 

that their local leaders had received orders from London that no Jew should be permitted to survive 
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to bear witness to the events of the war. We persuaded the punks to tell us who their leaders were. 

When we were done with our interrogation, we decided not to kill them because they were so 

young and we had suffered no casualties. We let them go, warning them that, if we caught them 

again, they wouldnôt escape so lightly.173 

 

Moreover, not all the problems the Jewish partisans experienced were occasioned by Polish partisans. One 

of their main foes were informers employed by the Germans as spies.
174

 These informers also struck fear in 

the local population. Any informant who fell into the hands of the Jewish partisans was, according to 

Blaichman, executed after breaking down during interrogation. 

 

é we were raided again from the Germans, and there were 3 Polish collaborators spearheading the 

raid. They were walking with baskets, and make believe that they are looking for mushrooms or 

things like that in the forest, and looking for partisans. They didnôt know that we have firearms. 

And the Germans were several hundred yards behind them. é we captured 2 out of 3, one escaped. 

é At night we began to interrogate those guys, and we uncovered from them a gold mine of 

information. They told us everything what we wanted to know é Those guys were recruited by the 

Germans, and put in place before prior to the deportations, and they were supposed to report to the 

Germans who is helping a Jew first, and then who is selling off illegal farm products é and then, 

whoôs a communist. They were involved in everything. So they went undercover, they were 

walking around everyday to the villages, and threatening people that anybody who will help a ew 

will be killed on the spot with [his] whole family. They also gave us addresses for others who were 

working with them together. é 

   And we captured that time as many as 8. 6 plus those 2. And we interrogate them, and we found 

that they all were involved in those raids, and capturing Jews, and killing Jews, and we punished 

them, accordingly. And from that day on, é the whole neighborhood had changed, the whole area. 

We é sent a message to those killers, that they cannot escape without being punished what [for] 

they were doing. There was a mixed reaction among the people because the Poles knew exactly 

who those guys were. But they were handicapped, they couldnôt do nothing. They were afraid for 
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